

# E. Al Gtewi

# Exploring the Experiences of Individuals with Head and Neck Cancer Using Online Support Groups

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirement for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Dentistry

2015

# Exploring the Experiences of Individuals with Head and Neck Cancer Using Online Support Groups

Eamar Elhadar Faraj Al Gtewi

# A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirement for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Dentistry

The Academic Unit of Dental Public Health School of Clinical Dentistry The University of Sheffield

October 2015

## Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to Allah (God) for allowing me to complete this work. I am grateful to many people for their help, both directly and indirectly. The process of writing a thesis is a collaborative experience involving the efforts and responses of many people. I wish to express my gratitude to my family who have supported me and kept me going through the completing of this work and to my country (Libya) that supported me financially.

I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation to my supervisors Dr Sarah Baker and Dr Janine Owens for giving me the opportunity to carry out this thesis under their expert supervision. I have greatly appreciated their encouragement, advice, support, expertise and knowledge which made studying towards a PhD such a great experience for me.

I would like to thank the administrators of the head and neck cancer websites from which our data was collected, and the users of these websites who gave me their valuable time and took part in my research. This thesis would not have been possible without them.

I would like to thank the staff of The Academic Unit of Dental Public Health and my friends in research at The School of Clinical Dentistry, The University of Sheffield for their support.

My apologies if I have inadvertently omitted anyone to whom acknowledgement is due. None of the above can be held responsible for mistakes, errors of judgement, misrepresentation of the facts or at other failings off this work, for which I accept responsibility. I hope that this thesis will be an easy read and thoroughly informative.

> Eamar Al Gtewi October 2015

# **Table of Contents**

## page

| List of Tab | les   | 1   |
|-------------|---|-----|
| List of Fig | ures  | 3   |
| Abbreviati  | ons   | 4   |
| Abstract    |   | 7   |
| 1 Introd    | luction   | 10  |
| 2 Head      | and neck (H&N) cancer- overview                         | 13  |
| 2.1 D       | efinition   | 13  |
| 2.2 R       | isk factors   | 15  |
| 2.3 D       | escriptive epidemiology                                 | 18  |
| 2.3.1       | Incidence by geography                                  | 20  |
| 2.3.2       | Incidence by gender                                     | 22  |
| 2.3.3       | Incidence by age  | 22  |
| 2.3.4       | Incidence by ethnicity                                  | 23  |
| 2.4 N       | lanagement  | 24  |
| 2.4.1       | Control and primary prevention                          | 24  |
| 2.4.2       | Treatment   |     |
| 2.4.3       | Side effects of treatments                              | 34  |
| 2.5 C       | putcomes  |     |
| 2.5.1       | Prognosis   |     |
| 2.5.2       | Physical and psychosocial consequences                  | 42  |
| 2.5.3       | Effect of head and neck cancer on quality of life (QoL) | 50  |
| 3 Copir     | g, social support and online support groups             | 61  |
| 3.1 C       | oping with head and neck cancer                         | 61  |
| 3.2 S       | ocial Support   | 73  |
| 3.2.1       | Definition  | 73  |
| 3.2.2       | Subtypes of social support                              | 75  |
| 3.2.3       | Causes of perceived support                             | 75  |
| 3.2.4       | Theories of social support                              | 76  |
| 3.2.5       | Mechanisms of social support                            | 78  |
| 3.2.6       | Dimensions of social support                            | 80  |
| 3.2.7       | Social support and health                               |     |
| 3.2.8       | Social support and social networks                      | 102 |
| 3.3 C       | nline support groups (OSGs)                             | 115 |
| 3.3.1       | Background  | 115 |
| 3.3.2       | Internet communication tools                            | 116 |

|   | 3.3 | .3    | Demographics of online support group users                       | 118      |
|---|-----|-------|--|----------|
|   | 3.3 | .4    | Advantages and disadvantages of online support groups            | 119      |
|   | 3.3 | .5    | Face-to-face versus online support groups                        | 123      |
|   | 3.3 | .6    | Mechanism by which OSGs may be beneficial                        | 124      |
|   | 3.3 | .7    | Ethical considerations in internet research                      | 134      |
|   | 3.4 | Sun   | nmary of the literature review                                   | 141      |
|   | 3.5 | Rat   | ionale for the research  | 144      |
|   | 3.6 | Ain   | n of the research  | 147      |
|   | 3.7 | Obj   | ectives of the research  | 147      |
| 4 | Stu | idy 1 | : Exploring online social support in head and neck cancer groups | 150      |
|   | 4.1 | Intr  | oduction   | 150      |
|   | 4.2 | Ain   | 1  | 151      |
|   | 4.3 | Obj   | ectives  | 151      |
|   | 4.4 | Stra  | tegic choices for method   | 152      |
|   | 4.5 | Met   | hod  | 154      |
|   | 4.5 | .1    | Study design   | 154      |
|   | 4.5 | .2    | Sampling   | 154      |
|   | 4.5 | .3    | Ethics   | 163      |
|   | 4.5 | .4    | Data collection  | 163      |
|   | 4.5 | .5    | Data analysis  | 164      |
|   | 4.5 | .6    | Pilot study  | 167      |
|   | 4.6 | Res   | ults   | 169      |
|   | 4.6 | .1    | Social support offered: Analysis of support-offering messages    | 169      |
|   | 4.6 | .2    | Social support sought: Analysis of support-seeking messages      | 193      |
|   | 4.7 | Dis   | cussion  | 206      |
|   | 4.7 | .1    | What types of social support are available in OSGs for H&N can   | cer? 206 |
|   | 4.7 | .2    | Who uses OSG for head and neck cancer?                           | 209      |
|   | 4.7 | .3    | New items and modifications                                      | 212      |
|   | 4.7 | .4    | Study limitations  | 213      |
|   | 4.7 | .5    | Study strengths  | 216      |
|   | 4.8 | Cor   | nclusion   | 217      |
| 5 | Stu | idy 2 |  | 219      |
|   | 5.1 | Stu   | dy 2 - Part 1: (quantitative component)                          | 219      |
|   | 5.1 | .1    | Introduction   | 219      |
|   | 5.1 | .2    | Aim  | 220      |
|   | 5.1 | .3    | Objectives   | 221      |
|   | 5.1 | .4    | Strategic choices for method                                     | 221      |

|   | 5.1             | .5               | Method  | 223         |
|---|-----------------|------------------|---|-------------|
|   | 5.1             | .6               | Results   | 239         |
|   | 5.1             | .7               | Discussion  | 272         |
|   | 5.2             | Stuc             | ly 2 - Part 2 (qualitative component)   | 281         |
|   | 5.2             | .1               | Introduction  | 281         |
|   | 5.2             | .2               | Aim   | 281         |
|   | 5.2             | .3               | Objectives  | 281         |
|   | 5.2             | .4               | Strategic choices for method  | 282         |
|   | 5.2             | .5               | Method  | 284         |
|   | 5.2             | .6               | Results   | 301         |
|   | 5.2             | .7               | Discussion  | 318         |
| 6 | Gei             | neral            | discussion  | 323         |
|   | 6.1             | Intro            | oduction  | 323         |
|   | 6.2             | Mai              | n findings of the thesis  | 324         |
|   | 6.3             | Diff             | erent online methodologies for OSGs   | 326         |
|   | 6.3             | .1               | Change in using OSGs with the development in the technology   | 327         |
|   | 6.4             | Who              | o uses OSGs for H&N cancer?   | 329         |
|   | 6.5             | Adv              | antage of OSGs  | 330         |
|   | 6.6             | Disa             | advantage of OSGs   | 332         |
|   | 6.7             | Stre             | ngths   | 334         |
|   | 6.8             | Lim              | itations  | 334         |
|   | 6.9             | Futu             | ıre work  | 336         |
|   | 6.9             | .1               | Implications  | 336         |
|   | 6.9             | .2               | Future research   | 338         |
|   | 6.10            | Con              | clusion   | 340         |
|   | 6.11            | Key              | advances in the field of OSGs   | 341         |
| R | eferend         | ces              |   | 344         |
| A | ppendi          | ices             |   | 419         |
|   | Apper<br>1998;  | ndix<br>Scal     | 1: Types and ingredients of alcohol (adapted from; Mosedale and Pu<br>bert and Williamson, 2000)            | ech,<br>419 |
|   | Apper<br>dispar | ndix 2<br>rities | 2: Brief descriptions for studies conducted on the issue of racial in survival for patients with H&N cancer | 421         |
|   | Apper           | ndix (           | 3: List of head and neck cancer OSGs available in 2011  | 425         |
|   | Apper<br>1992)  | ndix<br>.429     | 4: Brief definitions of Social Support Behaviour Code (Cutrona and  | Suhr,       |
|   | Apper<br>Couls  | ndix :<br>on, 2  | 5: A modified version of Social Support Behaviour Code (Mo and 008)   | 431         |

| Appendix 6: A modified version of Social Support Behaviour Code (Mo and Coulson, 2008) after Pilot study                 |
|--|
| Appendix 7: Coursaris and Liu (2009) coding scheme for support-seeking messages  |
| Appendix 8: A modified version of Coursaris and Liu (2009) coding scheme after pilot study                               |
| Appendix 9: List of head and neck cancer Facebook groups available in 2013439  |
| Appendix 10: Brief description of the OSGs used for sample recruitment in Study 2 441                                    |
| Appendix 11: Invitation message for participation in the online questionnaire443   |
| Appendix 12: Information sheet for Study 2445  |
| Appendix 13: Consent form for Study 2  |
| Appendix 14: Instruction leaflet for the online questionnaire and interview451   |
| Appendix 15: Questionnaires for study 2, Part 1  |
| Appendix 16: Ethical approval for Study 2  |
| Appendix 17: Scatterplot of Regression Standardised Residuals against Regression<br>Standardised Predicted of each model |
| Appendix 18: Regression plots between the variables in the models  |
| Appendix 19: Histogram for the residuals of each regression model  |
| Appendix 20: Normal Propability Plot P-P Plot) of Regression Standardised<br>Residuals of each regression model          |
| Appendix 21: Box Plot of Regression standardised residuals of each regression model 492                                  |
| Appendix 22: Normal Q-Q Plot of Standardised Residual for each regression model  |
| Appendix 23: Leverage Value and Cook's Distance labelled by the ID of candidates   |
| Appendix 24: Histograms of shape of the distribution for each variable501  |
| 6.12 Appendix 25: Aide memoir used for the interviews for study 2, Part 2504   |

# List of Tables

| P   | 'age       |
|---|------------|
| Table 1: International Classification of Diseases (Revision 10) locations of hea      | d          |
| and neck cancers (adapted from the WHO, 2007)"  | .14        |
| Table 2: Age Standard incidence Rates (ASR) of head and neck cancer in the            |            |
| world (data from IARC, 2008 and 2012)   | .22        |
| Table 3: Presenting symptoms for upper aero-digestive tract (adapted from Rid         | ge         |
| et al., 2004; Lokker et al., 2010)  | .29        |
| Table 4: Suitability of different treatment for different stages and sites of head    |            |
| and neck cancer (adapted from Marur and Forastiere, 2008)                             | .31        |
| Table 5: The most common complications of surgery for head and neck cancer            | 34         |
| Table 6: Incidence of complications of surgery for head and neck cancer (adapt        | ted        |
| from Sakai <i>et al.</i> , 2008)  | .35        |
| Table 7: The side effects of radiotherapy for head and neck cancer                    | .36        |
| Table 8: The common side effects of chemotherapy for head and neck cancer             | .37        |
| Table 9: The incidence of side effects in patients with head and neck cancer          | •          |
| treated with radiochemotherapy (adapted from Givens <i>et al.</i> , 2009)             | .38        |
| Table 10: Physical and psychosocial problems reported to be experienced by            | 10         |
| head and neck cancer patients (adapted from Pruyn <i>et al.</i> , 1986; Penner, 2009) | .42        |
| Table 11: Possible predictive factors for quality of life outcomes in patients with   | th         |
| head and neck cancer (adapted from Murphy <i>et al.</i> , 2007)                       | .52        |
| Table 12: Systematic reviews about psychological distress in H&N cancer               | .38        |
| Table 13: Studies on coping and H&N cancer  | .09        |
| Table 14: Social support dimensions by different authors                              | .01<br>.do |
| of Cutrons and Subr. (1002)   |            |
| Table 16: Studies on the relationship between social support and head and neck        | .04        |
| cancer  | 100        |
| Table 17: Studies related to the relationship between social networks and cance       | r<br>P     |
| Tuble 17. Studies related to the relationship between social networks and cane        | 111        |
| Table 18: Beneficial aspects of OSGs  | 133        |
| Table 19: Ethical guidelines for researching internet communities (established        | bv         |
| Flicker <i>et al.</i> , 2004. P:132)"   | 139        |
| Table 20: Ethical guidelines for researching internet communities (British            |            |
| Psychological Society, 2013. P: 5)."  | 140        |
| Table 21: List of OSGs generating the sample for Study 1                              | 156        |
| Table 22: Age distribution of the support providers who provided their own age        | es         |
|   | 169        |
| Table 23: The distribution of participants among countries                            | 170        |
| Table 24: Identities of support providers   | 171        |
| Table 25: Distribution of number of support- offering messages                        | 172        |
| Table 26: Joining time of members to the selected OSGs                                | 172        |
| Table 27: Different cancer sites reported by the support providers                    | 173        |
| Table 28: Stages of cancer as provided by support providers                           | 174        |
| Table 29: Treatment stages as provided by support providers                           | 174        |
| Table 30: Number of types of social support within the 307 messages                   | 177        |
| Table 31: Frequency of each social support dimension and sub-dimension1               | 178        |
| Table 32: Age distribution of the support seekers within 6 age groups                 | 193        |
| Table 33: Location of support seekers   | 194        |

| Table 34: Identities of support seekers  | 195  |
|--|------|
| Table 35: The total number of support-seeking messages                           | 195  |
| Table 36: Joining time of the support seekers                                    | 196  |
| Table 37: Different cancer sites reported by the support seekers                 | 197  |
| Table 38: Stages of cancer as provided by support seekers                        | 197  |
| Table 39: Treatment stages as provided by support seekers                        | 198  |
| Table 40: Frequency of sought subcategories of social support within the supp    | ort- |
| seeking messages   | 198  |
| Table 41: Frequency of sought and expressed social support in support-seekin     | g    |
| messages   | 199  |
| Table 42: Coding of the psychosocial variables                                   | 238  |
| Table 43: Demographic data of the study participants                             | 241  |
| Table 44: Illness-related demographic  | 243  |
| Table 45: OSGs demographics: Frequency, duration, membership and activity        | 245  |
| Table 46: OSGs demographics: Reason for participation, any differences and a     | any  |
| problems   | 246  |
| Table 47: Reliability, mean and standard deviation of the questionnaires         | 248  |
| Table 48: Relationship between OSG measures and quality of life                  | 249  |
| Table 49: Durbin-Waston value for each regression model                          | 251  |
| Table 50: Tolerance and the variance inflation factor (VIF)                      | 253  |
| Table 51: Skewness and Kurtosis of the residuals in each regression model        | 255  |
| Table 52: z value for skewness and kurtosis for the residuals in each regression | n    |
| model  | 256  |
| Table 53: Cook's Distance and Centred Leverage Value for each model              | 257  |
| Table 54: Regressing QoL on TsU  | 258  |
| Table 55: The relationship between OSG (TsU) and the six proposed mediator       | rs   |
| (b-path)   | 260  |
| Table 56: Indirect effect of the OSGs on QoL (b-path)                            | 261  |
| Table 57: Indirect effect of the OSGs on QoL, result of bootstrapping Confide    | nce  |
| Interval   | 261  |
| Table 58: Indirect effect of the OSGs on depression (b-path)                     | 263  |
| Table 59: Indirect effect of the OSGs on depression, result of bootstrapping     |      |
| Confidence Interval  | 264  |
| Table 60: Indirect effect of the OSGs on adjustment (b-path)                     | 264  |
| Table 61: Indirect effect of the OSGs on adjustment, result of bootstrapping     |      |
| Confidence Interval  | 264  |
| Table 62: Indirect effect of the OSGs on anxiety (b-path)                        | 265  |
| Table 63: Indirect effect of the OSGs on anxiety, result of bootstrapping        |      |
| Confidence Interval  | 265  |
| Table 64: Indirect effect of the OSGs on self-efficacy (b-path)                  | 266  |
| Table 65: Indirect effect of the OSGs on self-efficacy, result of bootstrapping  |      |
| Confidence Interval  | 266  |
| Table 66: Indirect effect of the OSGs on empowerment (b-path)                    | 267  |
| Table 67: Indirect effect of the OSGs on empowerment, result of bootstrappin     | g    |
| Confidence Interval  | 267  |
| Table 68: Sample characteristics of the qualitative component                    | 285  |
| Table 69: Initial table of emotions, feelings and behaviours that became         |      |
| important in the data  | 293  |

# **List of Figures**

| Р | <b>'</b> 9 | σ | р |
|---|------------|---|---|
|   | a          | Ľ | C |

# Abbreviations

| AIDS            | Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome                     |
|-----------------|---|
| AJCC            | The American Joint Committee on Cancer                  |
| ASR             | Age Standard incidence Rate                             |
| AR              | Attributable Risk                                       |
| BDI             | Beck Depression Inventory                               |
| BSNI            | The Berkman-Syme Social Network Index                   |
| CBI             | The Cancer Behaviour Inventory                          |
| CBI-B           | The Cancer Behaviour Inventory-Brief version            |
| CES-D           | The Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale |
| CESD-R          | The Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale-  |
|                 | revised   |
| CG              | Caregiver   |
| CI              | Confidence Interval                                     |
| CMSG            | Computer-Mediated Support Group                         |
| CT scan         | Computed Tomography Scan                                |
| D/M             | Number of Days of Using Online Support Groups Per       |
| FRV             | Month<br>Epstein Barr virus                             |
| EDV             | Epstein Dail vilus                                      |
| EOC             | The European Organization for Descents and Treatment of |
| EUKIC           | Cancer  |
| EORTC OLO-C30   | The European Organization for Research and Treatment of |
|                 | Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core-30            |
| EORTC QLQ-H&N35 | The European Organization for Research and Treatment of |
|                 | Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire -Head and Neck     |
| EPO             | The Evsenck Personality Questionnaire                   |
| EPS             | The Empowering Processes Scale                          |
| FACT            | The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale       |
| FACT-G          | The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale       |
|                 | (General cancer)  |
| FACT-HN         | The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale       |
| aus             | (Head and Neck cancer)                                  |
| GHQ             | The General Health Questionnaire                        |
| H&N             | Head and Neck   |
| HADS            | Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale                   |
| НСР             | Health Care Professional                                |
| HIV             | Human Immunodeficiency Virus                            |
| HNCI            | Head and Neck Cancer Inventory                          |
| HPV             | Human Papilloma Virus                                   |
| HR              | Hazard Ratio  |

| HRQoL                   | Health- Related Quality of Life                        |
|-------------------------|--|
| IARC                    | International Agency for Research on Cancer            |
| ICD                     | The International Classification of Disease            |
| ICT                     | Information and Communication Technology               |
| LOT                     | The Life Orientation Test scale                        |
| LOT-R                   | The Life Orientation Test- Revised scale               |
| MAC                     | The Mental Adjustment to Cancer                        |
| MCF                     | Mouth Cancer Foundation                                |
| MINI-MAC                | The Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer                   |
| MOS-HIV                 | The Medical Outcome Study -Human Immunodeficiency      |
|                         | Virus Health Survey                                    |
| MOS-SSS                 | The Medical Outcomes Study Social Support Survey       |
| MRI                     | Magnetic Resonance Imaging                             |
| MSN                     | The Microsoft Network                                  |
| NRT                     | Nicotine Replacement Therapy                           |
| OCF                     | Oral Cancer Foundation                                 |
| OR                      | Odd Ratio  |
| OSG                     | Online Support Group                                   |
| OSGs                    | Online Support Groups                                  |
| PET                     | Positron Emission Tomography                           |
| POC                     | Problem Oriented Coping                                |
| PSS                     | Performance Status Scale                               |
| PSS-HN                  | Performance Status Scale for Head and Neck Cancer      |
|                         | patients   |
| Pwc                     | Person with cancer                                     |
| QoL                     | Quality of Life  |
| RCT                     | Randomised Control Trial                               |
| RR                      | Relative Risk  |
| SEER (program)          | Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results program    |
| SES                     | Socioeconomic Status                                   |
| SF (health survey)      | The Short Form health survey                           |
| SSBC                    | The Social Support Behaviour Code                      |
| SSC                     | Squamous Cell Carcinoma                                |
| SUPPH                   | The Strategies Used by Patients to Promote Health      |
| THANC                   | Thyroid Head and Neck Cancer Foundation                |
| TNM (staging system)    | Tumour, Node, Metastasis staging system                |
| TsU                     | Times since Starting Using online support groups       |
| UADT                    | Upper Aero-Digestive Tract                             |
| UCLA (loneliness scale) | University of California, Los Angeles loneliness scale |
| UICC                    | The Union for International Cancer control             |
| UREC                    | University of Sheffield Research Ethics Committee      |

| UW-QOL | University of Washington Quality of Life Questionnaire |
|--------|--|
| WHO    | World Health Organisation                              |
| WOC    | The Worry Of Cancer                                    |
| WOCC   | The Ways of Coping Checklist                           |

## Abstract

**Objectives:** Head and neck (H&N) cancer is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours with potentially severe impacts on quality of life (QoL). Social support is increasingly recognised as playing an important role in helping people cope with the diagnosis, progression, and outcomes of cancer, including H&N cancer. Using online support groups (OSGs) has been found to be associated with a range of positive psychosocial outcomes in relation to several health conditions. The aim of this thesis was three-fold; firstly, to assess the types of social support, sought and offered, within OSGs for H&N cancer. Secondly, to explore the relationship between using OSGs and QoL and examine the psychosocial factors that may influence this relationship and, thirdly, to explore, in depth, the OSGs experiences of people with H&N cancer.

**Methods:** Two studies are reported in this thesis: Study 1 was a content analysis of posted messages within H&N cancer-OSGs. A total of 312 support-offering messages and 87 support-seeking messages (in a one year period) were randomly selected from 18 H&N cancer OSGs. The content of the support-offering messages were analysed using a modified version of Social Support Behaviour Code and the content of the support-seeking messages were analysed using a modified version of social Support a modified version of the Coursaris and Liu coding scheme.

Study 2 was a cross-sectional study consisting of two parts; the first was an online questionnaire using six pre-validated measures for social network, self-efficacy, anxiety and depression, adjustment, empowerment and quality of life. In addition, socio-demographic as well as illness-related and OSGs-related information were collected. This questionnaire was completed by 199 persons with H&N cancer using four OSGs within a 6 month period. The second part of Study 2 was an unstructured online interview in which, 30 people from the previous 199 were interviewed synchronously online using Facebook, Email, Skype, Yahoo messenger and MSN, and a narrative thematic experience analysis was conducted on the data.

**Results:** The content analysis of Study 1 showed that the most frequently offered types of social support by members of OSGs were informational (43.4%) and emotional (32.4%), followed by esteem (15.65%) and network support (6.04%), whereas little tangible assistance was offered (2.47%). The content of messages seeking support included OSGs members sharing personal experience (31.52%), with the most frequently sought support being informational support (25.54%).

In the quantitative part of Study 2 a series of multiple linear regression analyses indicated that longer use of OSGs was related to better QoL (p= 0.02), and lower levels of depression and anxiety, lower endorsement of negative adjustment behaviour (p = 0.00 for each), greater self-efficacy (p = 0.02) and higher levels of empowerment (p = 0.01). Additional analysis of mediation effects suggested that depression and adjustment were direct mediators of the relationship between OSGs and QoL, whilst anxiety, self-efficacy and empowerment were indirect mediators. The narrative thematic analysis of the qualitative part of Study 2 showed that one main theme emerged (*Trust*) which included four subthemes: (1) distrust, (2) institutional trust, (3) identification based and relational trust (4) power relationships and normalisation.

**Conclusion:** The advantages of cancer related-OSGs appear to be inclusive; regardless of location, access, availability or user characteristics. The results of the studies tentatively suggest that OSGs could benefit H&N cancer patients by providing support and information related to their condition, enhance empowerment processes and patient's beliefs in their control over their H&N cancer, as well as reduce anxiety, depression, and negative adjustment behaviours and subsequently improve quality of life. Moreover, these results support previous research on other types of cancer in importance of trust in managing online relationships and further emphasises the complexity of online social relationships.

# **Chapter I: Introduction**

## **1** Introduction

Despite extensive research regarding head and neck (H&N) cancer, which is a heterogeneous group of malignant neoplasms usually originate from the surface layer of the upper aerodigestive tract [UADT] with a wide range of pathological, biological, clinical and phenotypical behaviour (Haddad and Shin, 2008), the incidence of some types of this cancer remains high and many patients with H&N cancer throughout the world still experience a range of psychosocial consequences. The consequences of living with head and neck cancer negatively influence quality of life (QoL) and wellbeing (Rogers *et al.*, 2007; Penner, 2009; So *et al.*, 2012). The literature suggests that several factors may mitigate or aggravate the impact of cancer on psychological status (McDonough *et al.*, 1996). These factors include coping strategies, social support, social networks, self-efficacy, anxiety, and depression.

Recently, an increasing number of people have used the internet for support, information and advice related to many aspects of health, including cancer (Leimeister *et al.*, 2008). Online support groups (OSGs), which has been defined as "*a topic-specific electronic mailing list where narrative messages are exchanged by a usually cohesive set of individuals that typically share a common ailment, problem, or concern*" (Agnew, 2001. P: 4), are also used for many health conditions including H&N cancer. Several studies have investigated these groups and suggested that they have many advantages over conventional face-to- face support groups and can be beneficial to users; offering a range of social support, and enhancing empowerment (Mo and Coulson, 2010a). To date, no study has explored the role of OSGs for people with H&N cancer. Yet, such groups may be of particular importance to those with H&N cancer since many might not be able to use face-to-face groups for a number of physical and/or psychological reasons.

The main aim of the present research was: exploring online social support groups for people with head and neck cancer.

To address this aim, two studies were carried out using different methods. The first study was a content analysis of the different types of social support contained in posted messages within H&N cancer-OSGs. The second study was a cross-sectional study consisting of two parts; the first part was a cross-sectional study utilising a range of pre-validated questionnaires to assess H&N cancer patient's quality of life, social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment. The second part was a qualitative exploration of people's experiences of using H&N cancer OSGs using unstructured online interviews.

The thesis is structured as follows: Chapter Two provides an overview of the literature related to H&N cancer including its definitions, risk factors, epidemiology, management, and outcomes.

Chapter 3 consists of three sub-sections; the first sub-section details literature on coping with H&N cancer. The second sub-section provides an overview of literature on social support including definitions, types of social support, social support theory, mechanisms, and dimensions. The chapter includes a review of literature on social support and health, with a particular focus on relationships between social support, cancer and H&N cancer specifically. The third and final subsection focuses on literature on the use of OSGs including users of OSGs, advantages and disadvantages of OSGs, mechanisms for their potential effects and concludes with a discussion of ethics of internet-based research.

Chapter 4 details the first study of the thesis which was a content analysis of types of social support contained in posted messages within H&N cancer-OSGs.

Chapter 5 details the second study of the thesis which included two parts. The first was a cross-sectional study which examined H&N cancer patient's quality of life in relation to their social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment. The second part was an exploration of patient's experience of using H&N cancer OSGs using unstructured online interviews.

Chapter 6 brings together the findings of the two studies, highlighting the key aspects of social support provided and sought through OSGs, the relationships between using OSGs and patient's quality of life, and patient's experiences of using OSGs. It then discusses recommendations and suggestions for future research.

# Chapter II: Head and Neck Cancer-Overview

## 2 Head and neck (H&N) cancer- overview

## 2.1 Definition

There is significant variability in the definition of head and neck (H&N) cancers within the literature internationally (Davies and Welch, 2006). Head and neck cancer belongs to a heterogeneous group of malignant neoplasms with a wide range of pathological, biological, clinical and phenotypical behaviour (Haddad and Shin, 2008).

The term "head and neck cancer" is a collective term identified on topographicalanatomical foundations to illustrate malignant cancers in specific sites in the head and neck region (Dobrossy, 2005). These sites usually originate from the surface layer of the upper aerodigestive tract [UADT], which comprises of three major parts; the oral cavity, pharynx, and larynx.

Cancers of the oral cavity originate from the mucosa of mouth i.e. the palate, floor of the mouth, gum, tongue, base of the tongue, and the lip. Cancers of the pharynx include the nasopharynx, oropharynx, and hypophaynx and represent the superior part of the throat and respiratory system. The third region of H&N cancers is the larynx, which represents the main vocal area (CRD, 2004; Dobrossy, 2005; Locate *et al.*, 2007; Ragin *et al.*, 2007; Sturgis and Cinciripini, 2007; Marur *et al.*, 2010).

Cancer of other structures located in the H&N region such as salivary glands, parathyroid glands, paranasal sinus, bone, thyroid, nasal cavity, neurovascular bundle, ear, skin, scalp, and muscle have also been included under the classification of H&N cancer (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995; CRD, 2004; Adeyemi *et al.*, 2008; Yu *et al.*, 2008; Gil and Fliss, 2009; Marur *et al.*, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010).

The International Classification of Disease (ICD-10) uses separate codes to differentiate anatomical sub-sites for H&N cancers (World Health Organisation [WHO], 2007), see Table 1.

| "Anatomical sites                      | ICD-10 codes |
|--|--------------|
| Lip and Oral cavity                    | C00 – C06    |
| - Lip                                  | - C00        |
| - Base of tongue                       | - C01        |
| - Other parts of tongue                | - C02        |
| - Gum                                  | - C03        |
| - Floor of mouth                       | - C04        |
| - Palate                               | - C05        |
| - Other parts of the mouth             | - C06        |
| Parotid                                | C07          |
| Major salivary glands                  | C08          |
| Tonsils                                | C09          |
| Pharynx                                | C10-C13      |
| - Oropharynx                           | - C10        |
| - Naspharynx                           | - C11        |
| - Sinus pyriformis                     | - C12        |
| - Hypopharynx                          | - C13        |
| - Other sites the lip, oral cavity and | - C14        |
| pharynx                                |              |
| Larynx                                 | C32"         |

Table 1: International Classification of Diseases (Revision 10) locations of head and neck cancers (adapted from the WHO, 2007)"

Cervical oesophagus, thyroid and parathyroid glands, salivary gland, nose and paranasal sinus are less frequently listed within classification of H&N cancers. Malignant cancers originating from skin, haematopoietic tissue (lymphoma and leukaemia), mesenchymal tissue (blood vessels and muscles) and central and peripheral nervous system are generally excluded from the definition of H&N cancer (Locate *et al.*, 2007).

From the ICD10 as well as previous studies, for the purposes of this research, we have included malignant tumours arising from mucosa of upper aerodigestive tract [UADT] from nasopharynx to larynx including the oral cavity, i.e. pharynx, lip and oral cavity and larynx.

Given these differing definitions and types, in the following literature review, specific types of cancer are noted when they have been mentioned in the original study (e.g. oral cancer, pharyngeal cancer). However, where no specific type(s) have been referred to, the generic term 'head and neck cancers' has been used.

## 2.2 Risk factors

The causes of H&N cancer appear to be complex and multi-factorial, and epidemiological evidence has indicated that several different risk factors may be involved. Although they may not be direct casual factors, they are thought to have a relationship, individually or in combination, with an increased probability of developing H&N cancer (Dobrossy, 2005).

Although there are several factors implicated to be risk factors for H&N cancer, only few were classified as major risk factors such as smoking, alcohol and the use of Betel quid. The remaining were classified as emerging risk factors such as human papilloma virus (HPV) and diet, controversial factors with limited evidence such as ethnicity and pollution, and any other factors considered to be controversial because they present inconsistent evidence, for example hereditary factors or the use of marijuana (Warnakulasuriya, 2009b).

For example, tobacco is thought to be implicated in approximately one fourth of oral cancers (Hashibe et al., 2007). The authors found that among never drinkers, Odd Ratio (OR) for ever versus never smoking = 2.13 (95% Confidence Interval (CI) = 1.52 to 2.98) which means that the odds of being diagnosed with oral cancer was 2.1 times higher for those that smoked compared to those that never smoked. In relation to oropharyngeal cancers, Blot et al. (1988) suggested that tobacco and alcohol consumption together were implicated in more than three quarters of cases in their study. In this case-control study, the measure of association between oropharyngeal cancer risk and tobacco and/or alcohol intake had an odds ratio of 37.7 (population-Attributable Risks "AR" were 80%). The relationship between smoking and H&N cancer has been widely indicated in the literature, for example, recently, a systematic review (Radoï and Luce, 2013) has been conducted on risk factors of oral cancer using PubMed database to access relevant articles published between 1980 and 2010. It included papers reporting quantitative data on the association between the cancer of the oral cavity and the following risk factors: alcohol drinking, tobacco smoking, smokeless tobacco, betel chewing, marijuana smoking, human papilloma virus and sexual behaviour s, oral health, familial history of cancer and occupational exposures.

One hundred and two studies met the inclusion criteria. The results of this review indicated that smoked tobacco seems to be a stronger risk factor for oral cavity cancer than alcohol. The population -attributable risk (AR) related to smoked tobacco alone was approximately 25% for oral cavity cancer and 52% for larynx cancer. Among never drinkers, the risk of oral cavity cancer was 1.4–1.7 times higher in smokers than in never smokers. This relative risk was lower than that for pharyngeal (OR 1.9–3.1) and laryngeal cancers (OR 6.8–11.0). In addition, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) completed a review of the more than 100 chemicals, occupations, physical agents, biological agents, and other agents that it has classified as carcinogenic to humans. In this review smoking has been classified as a carcinogenic agent for all the sites of H&N cancer (oral cavity, pharynx and Larynx) (Cogliano *et al.*, 2011).

Alcohol alone is made up of many different chemicals and acids (see Appendix 1) and it may be that the interplay between these differing constituents is in itself a risk factor (Mosedale and Puech, 1998; Scalbert and Williamson, 2000). Heavy alcohol consumption, by itself, was found to be associated with the development of H&N cancers, especially for cancer of hypopharynx and mouth (Bagnardi et al., 2001). Bagnardi and colleagues meta-analysis of case-control and cohort studies from 1966 to 2000 found that there was 25 case control and one cohort study which included 7954 cases of cancers of the oral cavity and pharynx. To analyse the modifying effect of tobacco, pooled estimates based on unadjusted and adjusted Relative Risks (RR) were compared for studies providing relevant information. Across these studies, the pooled RRs (95% Confidence Interval (CI) associated with alcohol intake was 1.75 (1.70, 1.82) for 25g day, 2.85 (2.70, 3.04) for 50g day and 6.01 (5.46, 6.62) for 100g day. Twenty of the case control studies also included 3759 cases of laryngeal cancer and showed that the pooled RR (and 95% CI) associated with alcohol intake was 1.38 (1.32, 1.45) for 25g day, 1.94 (1.78, 2.11) for 50g day and 3.95 (3.43, 4.57) for 100g day.

In relation to other risk factors, areca nut, which is the main constituent of betel quid (Merchant *et al.*, 2000) has been categorised by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) as another oral carcinogen (IARC, 2004), and an increased risk of developing oral cancer has been reported among users of the areca nut (vanWyk *et al.*,

1993; Merchant *et al.*, 2000). vanWyk and colleagues, in a retrospective study (1983-1989) of oral cancer and concomitant oral habits suggested that for chewing areca nut only, the odds ratio of oral cancer was 43.9 (AR = 89%). With tobacco, the odds ratio increased to 47.42 and the AR to 91%. Merchant *et al.*'s (2000) case-control study included 79 cases (people with oral cancer) and 149 controls (people who did not have a past or present history of any malignancy) and found that in the univariate analysis, cases were more likely than controls to have oral cancer (OR = 23.46; p < 0.001), to report ever using alcohol (OR= 2.70; p = 0.036), naswar "tobacco and lime" (OR = 3.42; p = 0.011), paan "areca nut and lime" with tobacco (OR = 12.45; p < 0.001) and paan without tobacco (OR = 5.17; p < 0.001).

In summary, the aetiology of H&N cancer appears complex and multi-factorial, and many different etiological factors are thought to work directly or indirectly, individually, or in combination, to increase the likelihood of developing H&N cancers.

## 2.3 Descriptive epidemiology

Reliable and high quality data concerning the incidence and mortality of H&N cancers are readily available from the cancer registries based on population and death certificates in developed countries such as Europe and Northern America. For global rates of H&N cancer, we need to take into account that incidence rates are merely estimates and directly related to the poor quality of reporting or absence of cancer registries in some other regions of the world (Dobrossy, 2005). Based on this, the trend of the worldwide incidence and mortality of H&N cancer is still difficult to determine with precision. However, the results of some research and cancer statistics appeared to be consistent with each other. For example, some research and cancer statistics showed that there has been a reduction in the overall percentage of laryngeal cancer with a corresponding increase in pharyngeal cancer (especially nasopharynx) whilst no dramatic changes to oral cancer rates have occurred worldwide (Ridge et al., 2004; IARC, 2008; IARC, 2012). However, these trends can be different for specific countries, for example, it appears that there has been an increase in the incidence of oral cancer in the UK throughout the last few decades (Cancer research, 2013) (see Figure 1).

Other researchers (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 2013) suggest that there was a significant increase in the incidence of oral and oropharyngeal cancer between 1983 and 2002, mainly in developed countries. This increase appears to be consistent with data taken from UK Cancer Research statistics (Figure 1) in which the age-standardised incidence rates of oral cancer has steadily increased during 1975 to 2011. It seems that despite the dramatic development and progress in cancer therapies and management over recent years, the trends in some categories of H&N cancer (oral and pharyngeal) is still increasing, which might indicate that H&N cancer statistics have not significantly changed for the better.



Year of Diagnosis

Figure 1: European age-standardised incidence rates of oral cancer per 100,000 populations, by Sex, UK (1971 – 2011) (Taken from Cancer Research, 2013)



#### Year of Death

Figure 2: European age-standardised mortality rates of oral cancer per 100,000 populations, by Sex, UK (1971 – 2011) (Taken from Cancer Research, 2013)

The literature suggests that more than half a million new cases of H&N cancer are diagnosed each year (Fan, 2004; Dobrossy, 2005; Vermorken, 2005; Adeyemi *et al.*, 2008; Altumbabic *et al.*, 2008; Boyle *et al.*, 2008; Haddad and Shin, 2008; Marur and Forastiere, 2008; Pai and Westra, 2009; Michl *et al.*, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010) with approximately two thirds of these cases originating from developing countries. Head and neck cancers (oral and pharyngeal) are amongst the six most prevalent cancers in the world (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995; Fan, 2004; Dobrossy, 2005; Altumbabic *et al.*, 2008; Marur *et al.*, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010) and there is a high mortality rate from some types of this cancer (particularly Oropharyngeal cancer) (Price, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010).

The definition of head and neck cancer in this thesis comprises malignant tumours arising from mucosa of upper aerodigestive tract [UADT] (larynx, pharynx and oral cavity), and the most frequent histological type of cancer in this anatomical region, is squamous cell carcinoma (SSC), which represents 90% of cancers diagnosed with varying grades; from undifferentiated non keratinised to well differentiated keratinised (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995; Dobrossy, 2005; Vermorken, 2005; Sturgis and Cinciripini, 2007; Marur and Forastiere, 2008; Pai and Westra, 2009; Marur *et al.*, 2010; Polz *et al.*, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010).

#### **2.3.1 Incidence by geography**

There are broad disparities in the incidence of H&N cancers amongst different geographical regions in the world. These geographical disparities may reflect the differences in the frequency of aetiological factors between the different regions and countries (Bagnardi *et al.*, 2001; IARC, 1986).

More than sixty percent of oral and pharyngeal tumours occur in developing countries, since elevated incidence rates of cancerous tumours have been reported in the Indian subcontinent followed by tropical regions of South Africa and South America (Dobrossy, 2005).

The percentage of incidence of H&N cancer in the world in 2008 and 2012 for each anatomical sub-site can be seen in Figure 3, with cancer of the lip and oral cavity as

the most prevalent subcategory of H&N cancer in both years. While there was no significant change in the percentage of cancer of the lip and oral cavity and pharyngeal cancer (other than nasopharynx), there was a clear decrease in the percentage of cancer of the larynx, which may attributed to changes in patterns and exposure to tobacco and alcohol (Bosetti *et al.*, 2006) and a clear increase in the percentage of nasopharyngeal cancer. Some researchers attribute this change to variation in the data quality from divergent sources (Wei *et al.*, 2010); however, the exact reason is not clear. In contrast, the Age Standard incidence Rate (ASR) does not show significant changes between these two years, (see Table 2) which is probably related to the way the data was collected.



Figure 3: The percentage of each sub-site of head and neck cancer in the world, (data from IARC, 2008 and 2012)

| Cancer           | ASR (2008) | ASR (2012) |
|------------------|------------|------------|
| Lip, oral cavity | 3.8        | 4.0        |
| Nasopharynx      | 1.2        | 1.2        |
| Other pharynx    | 2.0        | 1.9        |
| Larynx           | 2.2        | 2.1        |

Table 2: Age Standard incidence Rates (ASR) of head and neck cancer in the world (data from IARC, 2008 and 2012)

#### 2.3.2 Incidence by gender

In relation to H&N cancer specifically, Ridge (2004) reported that 66% to 95% of cases of H&N cancer occur in men. In addition, Warnakulasuriya (2009a) reported that the worldwide incidence of oral and oropharyngeal cancer is more prevalent in males than in females in the majority of countries. The ratio of males to females diagnosed with cancer, however, was about 1.5:1 for oral cancer and 2.8:1 for oropharyngeal cancer. The author attributed this difference to more exposure or participation of males in riskier habits than females, even though the incidence of oral cancer in males to that in females has dropped over the decades. However, the reasons for this are unclear at present given no existing studies examining the complex interplay of social, psychological and biological factors that may be implicated in the differential development of H&N cancer between sexes.

#### 2.3.3 Incidence by age

The incidence of H&N tumours (particularly oral cancer) appears to increase with age particularly after 50 years (SEER, 2004; Ries *et al.*, 2005; Chidzonga and Mahomva, 2006; Warnakulasuriya, 2009a). However, recently, research indicates that H&N tumours (particularly oropharyngeal cancer) do increasingly occur in young people (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Dobrossy, 2005). Some investigators argue that the reason for this change in oropharyngeal cancer may be due to the increasing prevalence of Human papillomavirus (HPV) especially in developed countries, as well as the increased prevalence of oral sex and multiple sexual partners (Marur and Forastiere,

2008). However, caution needs to be exerted here because the exact factors and mechanisms in oropharyngeal cancer have yet to be fully identified.

#### 2.3.4 Incidence by ethnicity

There have been some studies within the United States (Ridge *et al.*, 2004) which suggests that there is no predominance of H&N cancers by ethnicity and the incidence presents equally in white and black men. Others (Hayat *et al.*, 2007) suggest that the incidence rates for men with oral and pharyngeal cancer were higher for black than white men. It has also been reported that the survival rates associated with these cancers (oral and pharyngeal) among African Americans were lower than that of white populations for similar cancer stages (62.6% in white, 43.7% in African-Americans) (Du and Liu, 2010). However, the reason for these differences is still not well understood. It may be that differences in exposure to risk factors or participation in riskier habits, rather than genetic factors, might be implicated in observed disparities in populations and higher rates of H&N cancers in some ethnic groups (Warnakulasuriya, 2009b).

### 2.4 Management

#### 2.4.1 Control and primary prevention

Increasing trends, especially in developing countries, and a simultaneous rise in the worldwide incidence in some types of H&N cancer (particulary oral and pharyngeal cancer), has resulted in a call for making this disease a high priority (Boyle, 1993; IARC, 2008; IARC, 2012). Given that there may be a relationship between H&N cancer, tobacco smoking, and alcohol consumption, then theoretically, control of these risk factors may contribute to prevention of these tumours. However, incidence reduction through a primary prevention agenda such as health promotion and health education is likely to be a long term task and may not be very promising (Horowitz *et al.*, 1996; Petersen *et al.*, 2005). There may also be other determinants that perpetuate the proliferation of H&N cancer when joined with other risk factors such as excessive use of alcohol and tobacco. This complexity creates uncertainty when addressing the issue and trying to implement health promotion.

#### 2.4.1.1 Potentially malignant disorders

The working group of WHO have classified 'precancer' into 'lesions' and 'conditions' since four decaded ago with following definitions (WHO, 1973):

• A precancerous lesion is "a morphologically altered tissue in which oral cancer is more likely to occur than in its apparently normal counterpart"

• A precancerous condition is "a generalized state associated with a significantly increased risk of cancer".

At that time, it was considered that the origin of a malignancy in the oral cavity of a patient known to have a precancerous lesion would correspond with the site of precancer. On the other hand, in precancerous condition, cancer may arise in any anatomical site of the mouth or pharynx. It is now known that even the clinically 'normal' appearing mucosa in a patient harboring a precancerous lesion may have dysplasia on the contralateral anatomic site (Thompson, 2002) or molecular aberrations in other oral mucosal sites suggestive of a pathway to malignant

transformation and that cancer could subsequently arise in apparently normal tissue (Bremmer *et al.*, 2005).

The current Working Group of WHO (2005) did not favor subdividing precancer to lesions and conditions and the consensus view was to refer to all clinical presentations that carry a risk of cancer under the term 'potentially malignant disorders' (PMD) and elimination of the term 'precancer' to reflect their widespread anatomical distribution (Warnakulasuriya *et al.*, 2007). The latest WHO monograph on head and neck tumors (2005) uses the term 'epithelial precursor lesions' (Barnes *et al.*, 2005) and defined it as "*altered epithelium with an increased likelihood for progression to squamous cell carcinoma*".

### 2.4.1.2 Screening

The previous thought that most oral cancers are preceded by a lesion that can be detected clinically (WHO, 1984) appeared to support the justification for their early detection by screening although it has been found that many of the oral cancers can arise de novo "from the beginning" (Scully and Bagan, 2009; van der Waal, 2009).

Screening programmes for the most common tumours such as cervical and breast tumours have effectively reduced mortality rates and helped in decreasing their incidence (Sasieni *et al.*, 2003; NHSBSP, 2006). This would appear to suggest that screening may be important in reducing mortality rates for some types of H&N cancers which have not altered for fifty years (Comprehensive Cancer Centre, 2011).

Whilst some studies have recommended regular examination of the oral mucosa by dental clinicians throughout the course of their daily work as a primary screening method that might identify pre-cancerous lesions (Parkin *et al.*, 1985; Field *et al.*, 1995), studies on other H&N cancers (i.e. larynx and pharynx) have produced scant evidence on the possibility and efficacy of screening (Alho *et al*, 2006). This is because the majority of laryngeal and pharyngeal lesions cannot be detected by visual examination. This inconsistency in detection means that organised population based screening is seen as impractical as a public health measure for some types of H&N cancer (Boyle, 1993, Speight *et al.*, 2006).

Given the high incidence and mortality rates related to oral cancer, it is important to assess the effectiveness of screening, particularly as there has been detailed debate about its introduction. A systematic review by Downer et al. (2006) was conducted to investigate measures of effectiveness in screening for oral cancer and precancer in primary care. In this review, nine databases were searched for studies reporting a range of measures on the effectiveness of screening for oral cancer and precancer. Criteria for considering studies for the review covered types of studies, participants, interventions and outcome measures. Ninety full text articles have been screened and only 28 were included after applying the exclusion criteria. There was a substantial heterogeneity between the studies regarding study objectives, design, setting and location as well as characteristics and numbers of participants, screening personnel, procedures of recruitment and types of data collected. Only one randomised controlled trial, from the India, has been reported: interim results showed 14.9% of intervention subjects died after 3 years compared with 56.3% of non-intervention controls. The review generally produced no evidence for or against the potential benefits of an oral cancer screening programme, since there was insufficient available data to make an unequivocal determination as to the effectiveness of oral cancer screening programmes at that time.

Another systematic review by Kujan and colleagues (2003), updated three times (Kujan *et al*, 2006; Brocklehurst *et al.*, 2010; Brocklehurst *et al.*, 2013) aimed to assess the effectiveness of current screening methods in decreasing oral cancer mortality. The latest update of the review (Brocklehurst *et al.*, 2013) used electronic databases including MEDLINE via OVID (up to July 2013) CANCERLIT via PubMed (up to July 2013), the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (The Cochrane Library 2013, Issue 6), The Cochrane Oral Health Group Trials Register (up to July 2013) and EMBASE via OVID (up to July 2013) and incorporated randomised controlled trials of screening for oral cancers and precancerous oral lesions using common screening methods such as visual examination, toluidine blue, brush biopsy or fluorescence imaging.

The review did not find a statistically significant difference in the oral cancer mortality rates for the screened group and the control group (RR = 0.88; 95% CI= 0.69

to 1.12) and there also was no statistically significant difference in incidence rates. However, regarding specific groups, the results revealed that the mortality rate of oral cancer in high-risk groups (those who use tobacco or alcohol or both) was reduced (RR= 0.76; 95% CI= 0.60 to 0.97), and a statistically significant reduction in the number of individuals diagnosed with stage III or worse oral cancer was found for the screened group (RR= 0.81; 95% CI =0.70 to 0.93). In addition, the survival rate among the whole population was improved (five-year survival rate = 55.5% for screened group and 43.4% for the control; p = 0.003) through a population based screening strategy (visual examination). However, these findings were based on one study (four reports) (Sankaranarayanan et al., 2000; Ramadas et al., 2003; Sankaranarayanan et al., 2005; Sankaranarayanan et al., 2013) which included 191,873 apparently healthy adults from 13 clusters divided into intervention (7 clusters, 96,517) and control (6 clusters, 95,356) in Kerala, India. The consequence of cluster randomisation was not taken into account in the analysis which may lead to risk of bias. The review could not find any strong evidence to support the use of toluidine blue, fluorescence imaging or brush biopsy as a screening tool to reduce oral cancer mortality due to lack of randomised controlled studies associated with brush biopsyand fluorescence imaging, and the poor methodology for the study that investigated toluidine blue.

The only RCT included in the systematic review was conducted in a developing country (India) with high incidence and mortality rates of H&N cancer (WHO and IARC, 2008). To date, there have been no RCTs conducted in developed countries or countries with low incidence and mortality rates.

Despite the lack of RCTs in the area, there have been suggestions that opportunistic screening by a general dental or medical practitioner for high risk groups though oral examination could be a cost-effective screening strategy (Speight *et al.*, 2006). In this study, the authors used a decision analysis model to simulate the cost-effectiveness of oral cancer screening programmes in a number of primary care settings by conducting hypothetical screening programmes in these settings and comparing eight strategies; (one "No screening" three "invitational screening"; two "opportunistic screening" and two "opportunistic high risk screening") in both general medical and general dental

practices. The main outcome measures were Quality- adjusted Life years (QALYs), life time cost and incremental cost effectiveness ratios (ICERs). The result suggested that the cherapest option seen in "No screening strategy" and none of the invitational screening was cost effective. However, for the opportunistic strategies, the ICER for the whole population (age 49–79 years) ranged from £15,790 to £25,961 per QALY. Modelling a 20% reduction in disease progression always gave the lowest ICERs. The authors concluded that there were difficulities with the use of the simulation model because of a lack of available data, as the model does not allow for the potential negative effects of screening and cannot allow for possible positive psychosocial effects of screening.

#### 2.4.1.3 Diagnosis of frank malignancy

While some categories of H&N cancer (e.g. nasopharynx) have no symptoms at the early stages (Wei *et al.*, 2010), others (e.g. oral and pharyngeal) often do have early symptoms (Cancer.net, 2013; NHS, 2014; ADA, 2014). Thus, the stage at which the diagnosis takes place appears crucial in treatment decision-making and prognosis, since more complicated treatments and a poorer prognosis is expected in the advanced stages, while easier treatment and better prognosis is expected in the initial stages (Moor and Durden, 2010).

Head and neck cancer symptoms often appear as changes in upper aero-digestive tract including changes in speech, swallowing, respiration and hearing (Ridge *et al.*, 2004). Table 3 shows symptoms that a patient may be aware of.

- Dysphagia (swallowing difficulty)
- Odynophagia (painful swallowing)
- Hoarseness of voice
- Epistaxis (nosebleeds)
- Otalgia (earache)
- Epiphoria (excessive tear production)
- Hemoptasis (coughing up of blood from the larynx, trachea, or lungs)
- Oral ulceration
- Trismus (restriction in opening the mouth)
- Changes in ability to form words
- Chronic sore throat
- Nasal obstruction
- Headache
- Numbness of the face

Table 3: Presenting symptoms for upper aero-digestive tract (adapted from Ridge *et al.*,2004; Lokker *et al.*, 2010)

A detailed history that reviews risk factors, signs and symptoms of all H&N cancers should be taken from the patient and a thorough physical examination performed on the H&N region including eyes, nose, cranial nerves, skin, ears, oral cavity and neck, (CDC, 2011). Diagnostic imaging such as plain x-ray, angiography, Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), Computed Tomography (CT scan) or Positron emission Tomography (PET), direct and indirect laryngoscopy and endoscopy can be helpful for some types of the cancer, but definitive diagnosis requires biopsy (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; CDC, 2011). In addition, early presentation and early diagnosis seems to be one of the most important factors in improving cure rates of cancer, and prognosis of cancer depends greatly on early diagnosis and immediate treatment (Alsos, 1960; Rich and Radden, 1984).

The inaccessibility of many abdominal and intrathoracic tumours creates practical difficulties (Oishi *et al.*, 2004; Immanuel, 2011), and similar difficulties can be found
in the case of pharyngeal and laryngeal cancer, whereas many sites of oral cancer are readily accessible (Ensley, 2003). Head and neck cancers tend to stay localised in their tissue of origin for a long time and even after metastasis, they remain limited to the lymphatic tissue of H&N area for months (Shaw, 1976). This can facilitate the early diagnosis and theoretically the eradication of many H&N tumours, although some sites such as the nasopharynx, base of tongue and palatine tonsils exhibit difficulty in detection because in the early stages they can be tiny and hidden in folds of mucosa or the crypts of lymphoid tissue (Lore, 1995). What is not possible to account for is whether H&N cancers are primary or secondary sites, and even with early diagnosis and eradication of the tumours, the patient may still die.

It is easy to assume that a delay in diagnosis leads to more advanced cancer and a decrease in survival. For example, some researchers (McGurk *et al.*, 2005; Kokat, 2010) have reported five year survival rates for initial H&N cancers (particularly oral cancer) of up to 80%, whereas survival rates show a decline to 30% for more advanced stages. Yet, delay in diagnosis can be due to the patient, professional or both (Dimitroulis *et al.*, 1992; Jovanovic *et al.*, 1992; Kerdpon and Sriplung, 2001b).

#### 2.4.2 Treatment

Surgery and radiotherapy were the main treatment for H&N cancer in the period between 1960 and 1980 (Marur and Forastiere, 2008). Single treatment modality or combined treatment (surgery and radiotherapy) were used according to the severity and stages of cancer and, in spite of this approach, recurrences occur in 60% of patients, 20% with metastasis and risk of secondary sites (Al-Sarraf and Hussein, 1995).

Systemic chemotherapy was introduced as part of combination therapy (Al-Sarraf, 1988; Al-Sarraf and Hussein, 1995). Chemotherapy has been used in cases of recurrent or metastatic H&N tumours and its role was mainly palliative for alleviation of symptoms rather than survival (Jacobs *et al.*, 1992; Clavel *et al.*, 1994). The positive impact of chemotherapy on the survival rate has become clear after three decades of research on the combination of radiation therapy with chemotherapy (radio-chemotherapy) (Munro, 1995; Browman *et al.*, 2001a).

Chemotherapy is used either as a single modality or as concurrent (chemoradiotherapy) according to the stage and operability of cancer. For example, single modality was used for those with metastatic and/or recurrent cancers but it can also be used for treatment of locally advanced tumours, while concurrent chemotherapy was used in cases of inoperable or unresectable locally advanced H&N tumours (Al-Sarraf, 1988; Al-Sarraf and Hussein, 1995; Vokes *et al.*, 2000; Argiris, 2002; Manam and Al-Sarraf, 2002). Table 4 indicates the suitability of each treatment for different stages and types of H&N cancer.

| Treatment                                  | Cancer                                 |
|--|--|
| Multimodality with surgery or radiotherapy | Early-stage tumour                     |
| Concurrent chemotherapy                    | Locally advanced unresectable tumour   |
|  | - Nasopharyngeal carcinoma             |
|  | - Unresectable H&N cancer (not site    |
|  | specified)                             |
|  | - Locally advanced laryngeal tumour    |
|  | (for larynx preservation).             |
|  | - High risk post-operative H&N         |
|  | cancer (not site specified).           |
|  |  |
| Palliative chemotherapy with combination   | Recurrent and metastatic disease       |
| to cytotoxic chemotherapy.                 | - Brief response in about one third of |
|  | the patients.                          |
|  | - No survival benefits over single     |
|  | patient.                               |

Table 4: Suitability of different treatment for different stages and sites of head and neck cancer (adapted from Marur and Forastiere, 2008)

The choice of treatment for patients with H&N cancer depends on varying factors related to the cancer, patient and physician. The most important cancer factors appear

to be the site and stage of the disease. For example, for cancers of the oral cavity whether the tumour is located anteriorly or posteriorly are important, as the anterior tumour can be easily detectible and accessible (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995; Al-Sarraf, 2002).

Patient factors that influence the choice of treatment include age and general physical health of the patient. These factors can influence the ability of patients to tolerate optimal treatment. Other factors such as socioeconomic status, acceptance, occupation and compliance are believed to play a role in treatment selection for specific cancers (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995; Al-Sarraf, 2002).

Physician or health care provider's factors include optimal skills in medical oncology, radiotherapy and oncologic surgery. In addition, certain cancers require rehabilitation skills such as prosthodontics and other prosthesis. This may mean complex dentures that replace not only teeth but parts of the mouth structure, or eyes, or other parts of the facial structures and for successful results it would appear crucial to provide support services for emotional, psychological and occupational rehabilitation (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995). Social support for H&N cancer patients is discussed in detail later in the thesis (see Chapter 3).

The need for a wide range of specialist support services is generally accepted and although there is agreement that dieticians (Flynn and Leightty, 1978; Piquet *et al.*, 2002), speech and language therapists (Minear and Lucente, 1979; Lehmann and Krebs, 1991) and specialist nurses (Seikaly *et al.*, 2001) can play critical roles, the poor quality of previous studies in this area and the lack of definitive conclusions limits the strength of the evidence to date.

Recent systematic reviews (Glenny *et al.*, 2010; Furness *et al.*, 2011; Oliver *et al.*, 2011) reviewed the different treatment modalities available for H&N cancer and associated survival rates. Regarding surgical treatment, Oliver *et al.*, (2011) found only weak evidence that elective neck dissection (removal of neck nodes that influenced by cancer) at the time of removal of the primary cancer resulted in reduced cancer recurrence (RR = 0.42; 95% CI = 0.18 to 0.96). In addition, they could not find sufficient evidence that this strategy increased overall or disease free survival and

could not find evidence that radical neck dissection increased overall survival compared to conservative neck dissection surgery.

Glenny *et al.*, (2010) review of studies relating to radiation therapy suggested that altered fractionation radiotherapy was associated with an improvement in overall survival in patients with oral and oropharyngeal cancers (Hazard Ratio (HR) of mortality = 0.86, 95% CI = 0.76 to 0.98). Furness *et al.*, (2011) review of chemotherapy treatment suggested that chemotherapy, in addition to radiotherapy and surgery, were associated with improved overall survival in patients with oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers (HR of mortality= 0.84; 95% CI = 0.72 to 0.98, p = 0.03). However, both Glenny *et al.*, and Furness *et al.*'s reviews could not find sufficient evidence as to which regimen was associated with better overall survival rates.

#### 2.4.3 Side effects of treatments

#### 2.4.3.1 Complications of surgery for head and neck cancer

Surgical treatment for H&N cancer may also produce complications which are usually divided into surgical and medical complications and for medicine most of them are temporary and correctible (Zabrodsky *et al.*, 2004; Paydarfar and Birkmeyer 2006) as seen in Table 5.

| Surgical complications                  | Medical complications         |  |  |  |
|---|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| - Flap re-exploration                   | - Respiratory tract infection |  |  |  |
| - Haemorrhage                           | - Gastric or duodenal ulcers  |  |  |  |
| - Wound dehiscence                      | - Cardiac insufficiency       |  |  |  |
| - Infection                             |                               |  |  |  |
| - Fistula formation                     |                               |  |  |  |
| - Seroma (pocket of clear serous fluid) |                               |  |  |  |
| - Skin necrosis                         |                               |  |  |  |
|   |                               |  |  |  |

Table 5: The most common complications of surgery for head and neck cancer

Head and neck tumours and their treatment can have profound effects on the main functions of life including difficulty in respiration, speech, eating, and mastication (Sakai *et al.*, 2008). It has been reported that several post-surgical complications such as flap necrosis and fistula formation have been found to be more common after surgery followed by radiation therapy than in cases of surgery alone (Sassler *et al.*, 1995; Sarkar *et al.*, 1990). Other factors such as blood loss, operation time (Girod *et al.*, 1995) and the use of chemotherapy (Corey, 1986) may have role in the development of post-surgical complications, which may increase the period of hospitalisation and in turn reduce quality of life (QoL) for patients.

The general incidence of H&N cancer-related post-operative complications has been found to be 39.4% (Sakai *et al.*, 2008) and the incidence of each complication observed is shown in Table 6.

| Complication          | %    |
|-----------------------|------|
| Wound infection       | 14.1 |
| Fistula formation     | 9.9  |
| Hematoma              | 4.2  |
| Necrosis of free flap | 4.2  |
| Skin necrosis         | 18.3 |
| Serous retention      | 1.4  |

Table 6: Incidence of complications of surgery for head and neck cancer (adapted from Sakai *et al.*, 2008)

#### 2.4.3.2 Side effects of radiation and chemotherapy

In spite of the development of radiation and chemotherapy treatments, numerous patients still experience debilitating side effects that significantly influence their quality of life (QoL) (Heron, 2005). Many side effects are common with both radiation therapy and chemotherapy, and the side effects of each treatment alone and the combination of both treatments are briefly summarised below.

#### 2.4.3.2.1 Side effects of radiotherapy

Although the beams of radiotherapy usually target the cancer site as accurately as possible, and the quality has improved with advances in technology (Bucci *et al.*, 2005), radiotherapy frequently harms the normal tissues that surround the site of the cancer inadvertently restricting the dose of radiation that would be used to devastate tumour cells effectively (Heron, 2005).

Macmillan Cancer Support (2010) reported that the side effects of radiation treatment for H&N cancer (all types) can differ in severity according to the length of treatment and dose of radiotherapy, and generally become noticeable two weeks from treatment onset. Table 7 shows the possible side effects of radiotherapy.

| General side effects | Local side effects           | Long-term side effects |
|----------------------|------------------------------|------------------------|
| - Loss of appetite   | - Mouth effects (sore, dry)  | - Disturbed growth and |
| - Tiredness          | - skin effects (sore, dry or | development            |
| - Drowsiness         | itchy)                       | - Uneven development   |
|                      | - Loss of taste              | of muscle of the neck  |
|                      | - Dental decay               | - Asymmetrical face    |
|                      | - Hair loss                  |                        |
|                      | - Nausea                     |                        |
|                      | - Trismus (restriction in    |                        |
|                      | opening the mouth)           |                        |
|                      | - Bad breath                 |                        |
|                      | - Voice change               |                        |
|                      | - Endocrine problems         |                        |
|                      | - Osteoradionecrosis         |                        |
|                      | (necrosis of bone as a       |                        |
|                      | result of radiation)         |                        |
|                      |                              |                        |

Table 7: The side effects of radiotherapy for head and neck cancer

Although the majority of these side effects appear to be temporary, it has been argued that some of them may remain for months after the end of treatment, or may be permanent as in the case of osteoradionecrosis, which is where the bone dies and there is a 'dead area' which may prove difficult to repair because the cells, blood supply and nerves may be too badly damaged (Clatterbridge Centre for Oncology, 2009). It has been suggested that some of these side effects such as dental decay, trismus, osteoradionecrosis and endocrine problems may not appear until after a relatively long term of treatment (Addenbrooke's Hospital, 2006).

#### 2.4.3.2.2 Side effects of chemotherapy

The side effects of chemotherapy for H&N tumours can be debilitating (Honor Cancer Nursing, 2011; Master, 2011) as seen in Table 8.

| General side effects |                            | Loc | Local side effects     |   | ng-term side effects |
|----------------------|----------------------------|-----|------------------------|---|----------------------|
| -                    | Loss of appetite           | -   | Sore mouth (mucositis) | - | Fertility problems   |
| -                    | Malaise                    | -   | Loss/ change of taste  | - | Hearing problems     |
| -                    | Fatigue                    | -   | Hair loss              |   |                      |
| -                    | Anaemia                    | -   | Nausea                 |   |                      |
| -                    | Diarrhoea                  | -   | vomiting               |   |                      |
| -                    | Constipation               |     |                        |   |                      |
| -                    | Increase susceptibility to |     |                        |   |                      |
|                      | infection                  |     |                        |   |                      |
| -                    | Allergic and               |     |                        |   |                      |
|                      | dermatological reaction    |     |                        |   |                      |

Table 8: The common side effects of chemotherapy for head and neck cancer

A biomedical explanation of some of these side effects is that chemotherapy usually destroys all actively growing cells such as bone marrow, hair follicle and digestive tract (Honor Cancer Nursing, 2011).

#### 2.4.3.2.3 Side effects of radio-chemotherapy

It has been suggested that the primary side effects of radio-chemotherapy for H&N tumours might include acute dermatitis (inflammation of skin), acute mucositis (inflammation of mucous membrane), dysphagia (difficulty in swallowing) and xerstomia (dry mouth) (Elsbruch, 2011).

There is no fixed list of the side effects of radio-chemotherapy for H&N cancer, indicating that there may be differences in recording methods of the side effects between clinicians or researchers or there might be many factors determining their development. It is not clear whether these side effects are caused by radiation therapy or chemotherapy or they appear as a result of the combination of both treatments.

| Table 9   | demonstrates  | the  | incidence | of | side | effects | in | patients | with | H&N | cancer |
|-----------|---------------|------|-----------|----|------|---------|----|----------|------|-----|--------|
| treated w | ith radiochem | othe | rapy.     |    |      |         |    |          |      |     |        |

| Side effect                          | %    |  |
|--------------------------------------|------|--|
| - Mucositis                          | 92.3 |  |
| - Hematologic toxicity               | 59.6 |  |
| - Neurotoxicity                      | 26.9 |  |
| - Severe nausea and vomiting         | 26.9 |  |
| - Severe dehydration or malnutrition | 26.0 |  |
| - Pneumonia                          | 25.0 |  |
| - Severe fever                       | 18.3 |  |
| - Trismus                            | 7.7  |  |
| - Osteoradionecrosis                 | 3.8  |  |
| - Treatment-related death            | 1.9  |  |
|                                      |      |  |

Table 9: The incidence of side effects in patients with head and neck cancer treated with radiochemotherapy (adapted from Givens *et al.*, 2009)

Table 9 suggests that the majority of patients had mucositis and more than half had hematologic toxicity. However, the study from which these results were taken is limited by incomplete data resulting from the retrospective nature of the study. As medical reports were used, inconsistency of the results are to be expected, since numerous methods for reporting these side effects have been developed, and this may result in inconsistencies in reporting between different staff (Fromme *et al.*, 2004).

A combination of chemotherapy and radiotherapy for H&N cancer may cause changes in swallowing and nutritional intake that might have long- term consequences (Morphy, 2006). Impaired swallowing may occur as a result of tissue loss, fibrosis and inflammatory changes, while the nutritional disruption may take place as a consequence of xerostomia (dry mouth), altered taste, mucosal sensitivity or pain, problems with the dentition, and altered swallowing sensation (Morphy, 2006).

#### 2.5 Outcomes

Survival rates for H&N cancer vary, and as can be seen from the previous sections, many survivors may be left with persistent problems that can have an impact on their QoL. This section discusses the prognosis of H&N cancer, the possible physical and psychosocial consequences, and their potential influence on QoL.

#### 2.5.1 Prognosis

Cancer stage is thought to be an important factor in determining prognosis (Nicolson, 1986; Patel, and Shah, 2005). The staging systems for H&N cancer have been established by consensus panels in Europe (the Union for International Cancer control "UICC") (Hermaneck and Sobin 1987) and America (the American Joint Committee on Cancer "AJCC") (Beahrs *et al.*, 1992). These staging systems try to set standard criteria for research and to establish prognostic categories for cancer (Iro and Waldfahrer, 1998).

The staging system for many types of cancers including H&N cancer is called the Tumour, Node, Metastasis (TNM) staging system, where T- refers to the features of cancer at primary location and usually based on size or site of the cancer or both of them; N- refers to the extent of regional lymph node involvement and M- indicates the presence and absence of distant metastases. The stages of cancer are produced as result of combination of T, N and M features (Iro and Waldfahrer, 1998; Deschler and Day, 2008).

The TNM staging system is effective in evaluating the basic features of the tumour such as size, regional distribution and distant metastasis (Brown *et al.*, 1998; Costa *et al.*, 2002). Advanced TNM stage (stage III and stage IV) are usually associated with poor prognosis in patients with oral cancer (Nicolson, 1986), and it is suggested that patients with oral cancer with a bilateral metastasis of the cervical ganglia have a poorer prognosis than those with unilateral metastasis (Kerdpon and Sriplung, 2001a).

Another important prognostic factor is the level of lymph node inclusion, since multiple contra-lateral involvement of lymph node can significantly reduce patient survival (Woolgar and Scott, 1995; Iro and Waldfahrer, 1998). The advanced stages (III and IV) of oral carcinoma are usually associated with lymphatic and neural involvement. This is why patients with stage IV usually appear with active or recurrent cancer and a low survival rate (Dib *et al.*, 1994; Numata *et al.*, 2000), while those with stage I and II usually survive after 5 years follow-up (Araujo Junior *et al.*, 2006). Figure 4 shows an overview of H&N cancer survival by stages measured within 10 years from 1992 to 2001. The more extensive cancers (stages 3 and 4) appear to have a poorer survival rate.



Figure 4: Head and neck cancer survival by stage (taken from Merseyside Regional Head and Neck Cancer Center, 2014)

Anatomical site of cancers can also be viewed as a prognostic measure, because cancers have different behaviours in different anatomical sites (Urist *et al.*, 1987; Martinez-Conde *et al.*, 2001). For example, tongue cancer has a tendency to recur and has a high risk of metastasis because of its proximity to the cervical lymph nodes, and these cancers usually have a high histological malignancy score (Martinez-Conde *et al.*, 2001; Costa *et al.*, 2005).

Whilst many studies suggest that there is a significant correlation between TNM classification and prognosis in association with the different anatomical sites of oral cancer (de Araujo *et al.*, 2008), other studies suggest a number of additional predictive factors for survival in oral and pharyngeal cancers (Ping *et al.*, 2007). Factors include ethnic group, age at diagnosis, period of diagnosis, anatomical location, gender, morphological type and treatment. For example, some studies suggest racial disparities in survival for patients with H&N tumours (details of these studies are available in Appendix 2).

Briefly, the most common example is the disparity between African Americans and white Americans. Whilst some researchers attribute these disparities to the differences in access and use of health services (Shavers *et al.*, 2003; Shiboski *et al.*, 2007; Goodwin *et al.*, 2008) others relate the issue to quality of health care, incidence of co-morbid conditions and diet (Goodwin *et al.*, 2008), or suggest that exposure to risk factors or carcinogens and genetic factors are implicated (Ho *et al.*, 2007; Goodwin *et al.*, 2008). In contrast, Molina *et al.*, (2008) argue that significant disparities by race and socio-economic status are not completely explained by undertreatment, co-morbid conditions or demographics, suggesting that the issue is far more complex.

There appear to be broad disparities in the mortalities and survival rates related to H&N cancer among different geographical regions in the world. These disparities might be related to differences in case mix of anatomical sub-sites (Berrino *et al.*, 1998), since the anatomical site of cancer has been recognised as one of the prognostic factors (Urist *et al.*, 1987; Martinez-Conde *et al.*, 2001). After adjusting for distribution of different sub-sites, disparities are found to still exist. This is possibly because of delayed diagnosis and/or delayed referral (Berrino *et al.*, 1998; McGurk *et al.*, 2005), differences in the quality of health care, poor accessibility of patients to well commissioned treatment between countries (Berrino *et al.*, 1998; Goodwin *et al.*, 2008), and the persistence of genetic or other risk factors (Ho *et al.*, 2007; Goodwin *et al.*, 2008).

#### 2.5.2 Physical and psychosocial consequences

Beside the physical impact, cancer has psychological and social effects on patients (Goldberg and Cullen, 1985; Pruyn *et al.*, 1986; Penner, 2009). A range of psychosocial consequences experienced by H&N cancer patients can be seen in Table 10.

| Physical problems                  | Psychosocial problems              |  |  |
|------------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|--|
| - Swallowing difficulties          | - Anxiety                          |  |  |
| - Chewing difficulties             | - Depression                       |  |  |
| - Impaired speech                  | - Fear of relapse                  |  |  |
| - Problems in physical appearance  | - Feeling embarrassed by physical  |  |  |
| - Loss of sense of smell           | appearance                         |  |  |
| - Mucous discharge                 | - Uncertainty about the future     |  |  |
| - Problems related to coughing     | - Loss of self-esteem              |  |  |
| - Problems related to blowing nose | - Sorrow                           |  |  |
| - Having colds more frequently     | - Isolation from friends           |  |  |
| - Breathing difficulty             | - Social and sexual tension within |  |  |
|                                    | family                             |  |  |
|                                    | - Difficulty in re-employment      |  |  |
|                                    | - Financial affairs                |  |  |
|                                    | - Feelings of shame                |  |  |
|                                    | - Feelings of less attractiveness  |  |  |
|                                    | - Feelings of uselessness          |  |  |
|                                    | - Irritability                     |  |  |
|                                    | - Suicidal thoughts                |  |  |

Table 10: Physical and psychosocial problems reported to be experienced by head and neck cancer patients (adapted from Pruyn *et al.*, 1986; Penner, 2009)

Patients with advanced stages of H&N cancer may experience intensive changes to physical and fundamental characteristics of life and these changes might have effects on their psychosocial care (Penner, 2009). In the next section, the most common physical and psychosocial problems are explored.

#### **2.5.2.1** Physical appearance

Treatment for H&N cancer (particularly oral cancer) frequently leads to an alteration in the patient's facial appearance because of surgery and/or other treatment modalities or as result of the tumour itself (Rathmell *et al.*, 1991; Gamba *et al.*, 1992). A crosssectional study (Katz *et al.*, 2003) included a sample of 112 H&N cancer patients (most of them with oral cancer) and found that higher level of depression, measured by Centre for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff, 1977), was experienced by patients with greater facial impairments (measured by Observer-Rated Disfigurement Rating Scale (Katz *et al.*, 2000) (B = 0.25; *p* < .01). This study also suggested gender differences in the level of depression with women reporting higher levels than men. This difference was statistically significant (t [80] = -2.308, p < .024).

#### 2.5.2.2 Speech and communication problems

Complex communication impairments may arise in patients with H&N cancer and is dependent upon a range of factors such as surgery (Logemann *et al.*, 1993; Pauloski *et al.*, 1993). In these studies, speech and swallowing performance was assessed preoperatively and one and three months post-operatively. Speech tasks included an audio recording of a brief conversation and of a standard articulation test (The Fisher Logemann Test of Articulation Competence); swallowing function was examined using videofluoroscopy. The results suggested that patients demonstrated a significant (P < 0.05) impairment in speech and swallowing after surgery.

In other studies it has been found that a tracheostomy or post-operative laryngeal or oral swelling can lead to impaired speech (Jianga and Morrison, 2003; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2006). Surgical removal of oral cancer and its subsequent repair may alter the oral anatomy and interfere with the patient's original communication style. Verbal articulation in particular could be impaired or lost in patients who have undergone a laryngectomy (Penner, 2009).

Although it seems that impaired speech or loss of verbal expression is distressing for patients, some researchers suggest that permanent loss of speech is not necessarily

interpreted as a chief disadvantage for the life style of patients and may not be their main determinant of QoL (Ramirez *et al.*, 2003; Semple *et al.*, 2008). This is possibly because of numerous possible methods recently available for voice rehabilitation after laryngectomy (Penner, 2009).

#### 2.5.2.3 Swallowing and chewing

More than half of patients with H&N cancers experience difficulties in eating and drinking after treatment, especially those with advanced stages of cancer (Pauloski *et al.*, 2000, Hanna *et al.*, 2004). For example, one of the side effects of treatment can be sticky viscous saliva, which can lead to difficulty controlling food in the mouth, initiating swallowing, coughing, and frequent bouts of pneumonia (List *et al.*, 2002; Becker *et al.*, 2006). There is also the issue of a limited diet because some foods will be impossible to eat as a direct result of reduced or extremely sticky saliva (Teichgraeber *et al.*, 1986; List *et al.*, 1997; Huguenin *et al.*, 1999).

Swallowing difficulties have multiple impacts on the patient's life and on their families (Penner *et al.*, 2007). For example, difficulties with food and eating is further influenced by alteration in the social, physical and emotional aspects of the normal routines because patients may need longer to eat, choose food that they can eat, and experience impaired physical ability to chew food adequately (McQuestion *et al.*, 2006). Some patients report altered taste sensations or may need a specific texture of diet, which limits the enjoyment that is normally coupled with eating and drinking, both at home and socially (Larsson *et al.*, 2003; McQuestion *et al.*, 2006).

#### 2.5.2.4 Employment

Cancer has an impact on the everyday lives of patients, particularly when they are in employment. Complex treatment modalities for H&N tumours usually interfere with the daily activities of patients, and may result in physical discomfort, changes in appearance, general fatigue, stopping or changing employment, and early retirement (Short *et al.* 2005; Liu 2008). This may then create a significant financial burden because the inability to work may persist for a long time after treatment completion (Taylor *et al.*, 2004).

Indeed, patients treated with chemotherapy are reported to be 3.5 times likely to experience the inability to work and those who have experienced a neck dissection are twice as likely to lose or leave employment (Taylor *et al.*, 2004).

#### 2.5.2.5 Sexual performance

The psychological and physical influences of H&N tumours can critically influence patient's sexual relationships. For example, radiotherapy can contribute to erectile dysfunction and chemotherapy can cause loss of libido for both males and females and vaginal dryness in women (American Cancer Society, 2010; Iliades, 2010; American Cancer Society, 2011). In addition, loss of sexual libido in H&N cancer patients may also contribute to psychological concerns around appearance changes including surgical scars, hair loss, depression and stress (Iliades, 2010).

Approximately 20% of patients who have undergone laryngectomy report serious problems with sexual performance (De Boer *et al.*, 1999a; Gritz *et al.*, 1999). Patients undergoing surgery for hypopharyngeal or laryngeal tumours frequently experience reduced sexual enjoyment and libido (Singer *et al.*, 2008). In spite of the importance and prevalence of reports about this issue, it is rarely investigated in clinical practice and only a few studies appear to have been carried out (Penner, 2009).

#### 2.5.2.6 Psychological distress

Head and neck cancer is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours (Dropkin, 2001). This may be because facial appearance can alter dramatically, and as previously discussed, pleasure in eating and drinking may be significantly impaired (reference). In addition, treatments for H&N cancer are often prolonged and highly invasive creating a multidimensional impact on patients' lives (List *et al.*, 2002; Elani and Allison, 2011).

Psychological distress experienced by H&N cancer patients may also be related to a number of other factors including low socioeconomic status (with associated lack of resources), and poor social networks with diminished support (Breibart and Holland,

1988). Psychological distress may also be related to some physical factors resulting from the cancer itself or from the side effects of the treatment or both, as some side effects and complications of treatment are chronic and visible. These may include dry mouth, permanent impairments or scarring and partial loss of some functions such as eating and taste (Bjordal and Kaasa, 1995). In Bjordal and Kaasa's study, 204 H&N cancer patients (mainly laryngeal and oral cancer) completed a questionnaire 7 to11 years after treatment. The questionnaire consisted of the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), and the EORTC Core Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30). The authors found significant relationships between psychological distress and physical factors resulting from H&N cancer and its treatment such as dry mouth (p = 0.002), problems in taste (p= 0.004), swallowing (p<0.001) and mucous production (p<0.001).

Changes in physical appearance, impaired speech and communication, eating and drinking problems as well as employment problems may induce feeling of sadness, vulnerability and fear, with many patients worrying about tumour recurrence (Semple et al., 2008; Penner, 2009). Semple et al., (2008), for example, employed semistructured interviews with 10 patients who had completed treatment 6-12 months for H&N cancer (oral, pharyngeal and laryngeal). Following the thematic analysis, five themes emerged which covered areas of change and challenges to participant's lifestyles after treatment. These were: physical changes, work and day-to-day tasks, concerns about cancer, social functioning and interpersonal relationships. Physical changes experienced as a result of treatment for H&N cancer included nine subthemes, namely appearance, eating and drinking, saliva, speech, taste, chewing, shoulder movement, sense of smell and drooling. For many interviewees, the diagnosis and treatment of H&N brought about major changes to their normal sphere of work and ability to do day-to-day tasks; however some were still able to maintain normality.

Kissun *et al.* (2006) aimed to evaluate the timing of outpatient review appointments in relation to tumour recurrence by retrospectively reviewing 278 consecutive previously untreated persons with oral and oropharyngeal cancer between 1995 and 1999. Information on the recurrence time, presentation, site, treatment and outcome was

collected and the study suggested that recurrence of these cancers had been experienced by 19% of patients especially within the first two years.

The 5 year survival rate for patients with advanced stages of some types of H&N tumours is still poor and relatively not improved during the last few decades, despite extensive research conducted on treatment modalities for H&N cancer (Jemal *et al.*, 2008; Merseyside Regional Head and Neck Cancer Center, 2014) (see Figure 4 which illustrates H&N cancer survival by stage). Jemal *et al.* (2008), in their study, collected data on 5-year relative survival rates for different cancers in USA from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program of the National Cancer Institute (SEER, 2007) covering the period from 1975 – 2003. They found that trends in 5-Year Relative Survival Rates for Laryngeal cancer during that time had declined from 67% (1975-1977) to 66% (1984-1986) to 64% (1996-2003).

Recent research also suggests that fear of cancer recurrence dramatically influences the psychological morbidity of patients (Humphris et al., 2003, Hodges and Humphris, 2009). Humphris and his colleagues were aimed to evaluate fear of recurrence and psychological morbidity in patients with oro-facial cancer in two samples (87 and 100) of participants using a single question item to assess fear of recurrence as well as Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS). The results of their study suggested that there was a significant positive association between fears of recurrence and psychological morbidity at the majority of data collection points (3, 7 and 24 months). In addition, for anxiety and depression at 3 months (p=0.008 and 0.009) respectively. However, only anxiety was significant at 7 months and follow up (p=0.006 and p=0.003 for the two points respectively). More recently, Hodges and Humphris (2009) conducted a study to systematically investigate illness and distress concerns among H&N cancer patient-carer dyads in a sample of 202 participants (101 patients and 101 carers) using two questionnaires (HADS and the Worry Of Cancer (WOC). The results indicated that fear of cancer recurrence was reported in both patients and carer groups. However, significantly higher recurrence concerns were recorded among carers than among patient group (p < 0.001).

It has been suggested that people with H&N cancer experience levels of debilitating distress such as depression and anxiety (Archer *et al.*, 2008; Haman, 2008). Depression and anxiety are reported to be more prevalent in patients with H&N tumours than in patients with other types of cancer (Zabora *et al.*, 2001; Massie, 2004) and may have a negative impact on the treatment and rehabilitation of the patient (Zwahlen *et al.*, 2008).

Some types of head and neck cancers are thought to be associated with psychiatric problems (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1996), such as symptoms of depression which have been reported in 86% of H&N cancer patients (de Leeuw *et al.*, 2001) and the general prevalence rates of depression in these patients are reported to be ranging between 13 and 57% (Massie, 2004; Haisfield-Wolfe *et al.*, 2009). This percentage was estimated in some studies to be 46% of patients (Zabora *et al.*, 2001; Duffy *et al.*, 2002; Duffy *et al.*, 2007). The difference in the results may be attributed to differences in method of assessment or to the cancer type.

Some researchers interpret this high frequency of depression as a response to cancer therapy (Faberow *et al.*, 1971; Davies *et al.*, 1986). Others conclude that the high rates of depression might be linked to lack of social support (Baile *et al.*, 1992). Other factors such as discomfort, pain, and nutritional deficits because of the alteration in diet, may also play a role in the onset of depression (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1996).

It appears that after six months of diagnosis, anxiety and depression scores tend to improve, although symptoms can still be reported in approximately 80 % of patients up to 3 years later (Karnell *et al.*, 2006). A number of factors were related to continuity of these symptoms in H&N cancer patients including larger cancer mass at diagnosis, smoking, young age, male gender, single, lower level of education and reduced level of physical activity Haisfield -Wolfe *et al.*, (2009).

Several studies dealt with H&N cancer survivors in the early stage of adjustment when the trauma of the surgery, chemotherapy, or radiotherapy, as well as inability to attend the treatment, were the most common features in the findings (Blank *et al.*, 1989). The first three months were the most stressful and were different from the later stages (Weisman and Worden, 1977; DeHaes and Van Kippenberg, 1985). For example, studies on the long-term effects of cancer in patients show that stress decreased in the few weeks after diagnosis (Manuel *et al.*, 1987) but that mental health declined after longer periods (Ell *et al.*, 1989) and a range of problems occurred (Holland, 1986; Baider *et al.*, 1988).

#### 2.5.2.7 Social distress

Head ane neck cancer patients may also encounter alteration in social relationships such as stigma related avoidance from others because of their altered physical appearance, or a reduction in their ability to be able to communicate effectively (Rogers *et al.*, 1999; Terrell *et al.*, 1999). These changes may in turn, influence their capacity to cope with the unpleasant side effects of cancer (List *et al.*, 2002).

Compared to other cancers, it could be argued that patients with H&N cancers justify special consideration, since these cancers are located in a prominent visible region of the body, and for many cultures the face is one of the sites of identity, and acts as the conduit for communication with others through facial expressions as well as audible speech (Dropkin, 2001).

The proximity of vital structures such as tongue, salivary glands, tonsils, teeth, and throat in this relatively small area, means that the necessity of surgery as treatment of choice of advanced stages may be radical, such as mandibulectomy which is resection of any portion of the mandible (Shah, 1992; Dubner and Heller, 1993; Shah and Lydiatt, 1995). The more radical the approach implies a possible increase in the negative social and personal experiences of H&N cancer (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1996; Van Cann *et al.*, 2005). Overall QoL (see Sub-section 2.5.3 below) can be reduced due to these negative occurrences resulting in withdrawal from social interaction, and coupled with loss of verbal communication for some individuals, may impact greatly on personal and social relationships (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1996; Van Cann *et al.*, 2005). These experiences, alongside the potential for permanent speech and facial impairments means that people with H&N cancers may have numerous unique psychosocial impacts in social situations (Dropkin, 2001).

#### 2.5.3 Effect of head and neck cancer on quality of life (QoL)

QoL is a vague and difficult concept to define and measure. Nevertheless, it is becoming widely used within the cancer field as a key patient-reported outcome. It is outside the scope of this PhD to review the quality of life literature. Rather, the PhD will use the definition of QoL from a recent systematic review of H&N cancer quality of life assessment instruments which was "a multi-dimensional construct of an individual's subjective assessment of the impact of an illness or treatment on his or her physical, psychological, social, and somatic functioning and general well-being" (Ojo et al., 2012. P: 923).

Head and neck cancers may have a negative influence on QoL (Morton and Izzard, 2003). This group of cancers usually originate from the oral cavity, pharynx and larynx, which are all anatomically complex and functionally critical areas for vital activities such as swallowing and speech and may also affect facial integrity and appearance (Murphy *et al.*, 2004). Patients with H&N cancers may also be more susceptible to psychosocial crisis as a result of the impact on emotions and social interaction, which in turn have a negative impact on the patient's QoL (Kazi *et al.* 2007).

Concerns about the immediate and late consequences of H&N cancer and its different treatment modalities have provided a driver for the increase in studies assessing QoL in patients treated for H&N cancer (Moore *et al.*, 2014). However, many studies in the area have been limited by their method; for example, they are often cross-sectional and retrospective or used small sample sizes (Sayed *et al.*, 2009). This has been further complicated by the absence of a consensus on a fixed definition for QoL and the use of inconsistent measures to evaluate such outcomes in patients with H&N cancer (Farguhar, 1995; Murphy *et al.*, 2007). For example, a plethora of health- related quality of life (HRQoL) instruments have been used to measure HRQoL in patients with H&N cancer. Murphy *et al.*, (2007) have categorised these instruments under four main classes: symptom specific, disease specific, treatment specific and generic. However, it appears that there is little consensus as to which instrument is the most reliable.

Regardless of which measure has been used, generally, QoL of patients treated for H&N cancer appears to decrease after treatment, and then it improves gradually over time to

reach baseline levels. For example, a cross-sectional study conducted by Hammerlid *et al.*, (2001) investigated HRQL of patients with H&N cancer from diagnosis until three years post-diagnosis, using a sample of 232 patients to complete a set of questionnaires including:

- The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core-30 (EORTC QLQ-C30) (Aaronson *et al.*, 1993).
- The EORTC QLQ-Head and Neck Cancer module (QLQ-H&N35) (Bjordal *et al.*, 1994)
- The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983).

The findings of this study suggested that the greatest change in HRQoL for patients with H&N cancer were observed within one year after diagnosis, with a major decrease just after treatment stopped. After that, QoL and anxiety and depression return to pre-treatment levels.

A recent study (Moore et al., 2014) aimed to systematically review the literature describing quality of life (QoL) outcomes and support needs in patients with oral cancer along the cancer trajectory. The following electronic databases were searched; Cochrane, PubMed, Embase, Scopus, CINAHL, PsycINFO and Web of Science and articles were included if they described patient-reported QoL outcomes that were translatable to support needs in patients with oral cancer. Data were extracted and synthesized according to the identified support needs and their relative influence on QoL. Methodological quality was evaluated using the Effective Public Health Practice Project (EPHPP) Quality Assessment Tool. This review included studies that described patient-reported QoL outcomes that were translatable to support needs in patients with oral cancer as swell as studies reporting QoL findings from heterogeneous H&N cancer samples that include oral cancer. Thirty-one studies met the inclusion criteria, most of them were of cross-sectional design (n = 21), followed by smaller number of longitudinal or prospective designs (n = 7). Two studies were designed as case–control, and one study used a retrospective chart review methodology. In this review, anxiety, depression and malnutrition were recognised as having a significant influence on QoL. However, most of the included studies were cross sectional in design and no RCT included. Furthermore, the systematic review included no detail or information on the statistics, for example, odds ratios or significance levels.

## 2.5.3.1 Demographic and clinical factors which influence quality of life in people with H&N cancer

Murphy *et al.*, (2007) suggested several possible demographic and clinical factors influencing QoL outcomes in patients with H&N cancer as can be seen in Table 11.

| Patient features | Tumour related features | Treatment related features |
|------------------|-------------------------|----------------------------|
| Age              | Stage                   | Extent of surgery use      |
| Gender           | Site                    | Adjuvant chemotherapy      |
| Race             |                         | Radiation therapy          |
|                  |                         | Neck dissection            |
|                  |                         |                            |

Table 11: Possible predictive factors for quality of life outcomes in patients with head and neck cancer (adapted from Murphy *et al.*, 2007)

In addition to those factors above, Terrell *et al.* (1997 and 2004) indicated that introducing feeding tubes and presence of co-morbid disease are also major predictors of QoL outcomes. They implied that patients with these tubes might have incomplete nutrients, which may result in weakness, and some symptoms such as leakage, nausea, and vomiting are frequently associated with tube feeding which in turn impacts on QoL.

It seems that variability in these demographic and clinical factors might influence QoL differently. However, the mechanism through which H&N cancer and its treatment exerts an impact on the QoL of the patients can be seen from the influence of the cancer on some functional and psychological aspects as can be seen below.

#### 2.5.3.2 Effect of functional issue and symptoms control on quality of life

There is a limited amount of current data on assessing patient's priorities, experiences, and perceptions, although researchers and clinicians set a great significance on functional outcomes for patients with H&N cancer (Murphy *et al.*, 2007). Some studies suggested that eating and speech are independently linked to QoL and that psychosocial outcomes may have greater importance for the patient than clinical

outcomes (Karnell *et al.*, 2000, Rogers *et al.*, 2002). In addition, some factors such as symptom intensity, time course and intrinsic patient related factors influence the relationship between functional issues/ symptom control and QoL (Murphy *et al.*, 2007) (See below for examples).

#### 2.5.3.2.1 Dysphagia

Patients with advanced stages of H&N cancer may experience continuous swallowing difficulties and social disturbances despite the type of treatment received (El-Deiry *et al.*, 2005). Although the impact of swallowing difficulty on QoL is uncertain and usually based at the point in the disease course on which the evaluation was performed (Murphy *et al.*, 2007), patients with moderate to severe swallowing difficulty may experience or report a dramatically lower QoL than those with mild or reduced difficulty (Nguyen *et al.*, 2005).

Campbell *et al.* (2004) evaluated the relationship between QoL and swallow function/weight change in 62 patients who had been originally treated for H&N cancer at least 5 years prior to entry to the study. Different types of measures were used; three objective measures such as weight history, and four subjective measures, for example the University of Washington QOL questionnaire "UWQOL". The outcomes of this study suggest that there is a strong relationship between aspiration and questions related directly to swallowing in most of the subjective measures.

#### 2.5.3.2.2 Speech and communication

The relationship between speech and QoL has been explored in several studies (Meyer *et al.*, 2004; Low *et al.*, 2009; Flapper *et al.*, 2011). Some studies (Meyer *et al.*, 2004) suggest a strong correlation between word and sentence intelligibility and QoL (questions of speech from University of Washington Quality of Life Questionnaire (UW-QOL) (Hassan and Weymuller, 1993; Weymuller *et al.*, 2001; Rogers *et al.*, 2002) and Performance Status Scale for H&N cancer patients (PSS-HN) (List *et al.*, 1996). Such that lower word intelligibility and sentence intelligibility scores were related to reduced self-perceived Speech (on UWQOL) and understandability of Speech (on PSS-HN).

However, this correlation did not exist in patients who had undergone a laryngectomy, which might be attributed to an alteration in the expectation of a greater functional decline for this group of patients. The authors could not find any association between speech intelligibility and QoL when measured by the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale (General cancer "FACT-G" or H&N cancer "FACT-HN") (Cella *et al.*, 1993; Cella *et al.*, 1994), which may indicate a difference in the methods of assessment of QoL (Smith *et al.*, 2006; Ferrans, 2007).

#### 2.5.3.2.3 Other oral symptoms

Oral symptoms such as dry mouth, which has a huge impact on eating and speaking (Silverman, 1993; List *et al.*, 1997; de Graeff *et al.*, 1999a; de Graeff *et al.*, 1999b; Epstein *et al.*, 1999), taste change, mucosal sensitivity and dental decay that result from treatment of H&N cancer may influence the general QoL of patients (Epstein *et al.*, 1999; Epstein *et al.*, 2001; Duke *et al.*, 2005).

#### 2.5.3.2.4 Neck and shoulder dysfunction

Neck dissection for patients with H&N cancer often leads to several late effects such as reduced range of neck and shoulder movements as well as neck and shoulder pain (Murphy *et al.*, 2007; Dedivitis *et al.*, 2011).

For example, in a prospective study conducted by Laverick *et al.* (2004) to evaluate the impact of selective surgery on neck function and QoL, 278 patients were treated surgically for cancers of oral cavity or oropharynx. Patients completed the UWQOL four times with six months duration between each assessment. Outcomes of the study suggested that patients who underwent extensive neck dissection had a significant decrease in QoL when compared to those who did not have "or had limited" neck dissection. Similar results have been observed in other studies (Kuntz and Weymuller, 1999; Shah *et al.*, 2001).

#### 2.5.3.2.5 Psychological effects

Psychological effects such as anxiety, depression, avoidance and social phobia have been recognised as important psychological problems in some groups of patients with H&N cancer (de Leeuw *et al.*, 2001; Massie, 2004; Archer *et al.*, 2008; Haman, 2008; Haisfield -Wolfe *et al.*, 2009).

Recent research suggests that fear of recurrence reduces QoL in patients (Humphris *et al.*, 2003; Mellon *et al.*, 2006; Hodges and Humphris, 2009). Although the majority of the research reports symptoms of depression as measured by standard psychiatric tests and depression symptoms might be brought about by the tumour or its associated treatment (Murphy *et al.*, 2007), some studies suggest that depression and anxiety have an adverse effect on QoL (Kohda *et al.*, 2005; Zwahlen *et al.*, 2008).

Patients may have several concerns about their cancer and ensuing treatments, leading them to experience a reduction in QoL. These concerns range from the routine daily functional activities such as communication, chewing and eating, to more subjective concerns such as dependence and self-esteem (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1996). The commonest concerns recorded amongst patients with H&N cancers were worries about the future, finances, subjective evaluations of their physical appearance, being upset, and ability to communicate (Vidhubala *et al.*, 2006).

Whilst it is clear that H&N cancer and its treatments can have a significant impact on QoL for the patient in different ways, some researchers suggest that patients with H&N cancer do not necessary experience depression and reduced QoL, which raises questions as to the consistency and reliability of the measurements and indicates the possibility of other factors being important (Garzaro *et al.*, 2007).

A numbers of studies have investigated the psychological distress of H&N cancer; these studies have been reviewed by a number of researchers (Frampton, 2001; Luckett *et al.*, 2011; Lang *et al.*, 2013; Semple *et al.*, 2013).

Frampton (2001), for example, suggested that there is an increased incidence of psychological distress in patients with H&N cancer as a result of the cancer itself or its

treatment. This review suggests a list of factors to be related to psychological distress in patients with H&N cancer including; social stresses, premorbid factors, pain, change to body image, treatment, prognosis, addiction to tobacco and alcohol, and history of psychiatric disease. In addition to this list, the review implicates a number of co-existing factors, for example, a high frequency of depression (40%) reported in people with H&N cancer was not necessarily the result of the cancer or its treatment but might have been related to other factors such as nutritional insufficiencies and lack of social support.

The above review also reveals that psychological distress is usually underdiagnosed and undertreated probably because patients do not disclose openly to their doctors particularly the emotional symptoms of distress. In general, the review recommended that in order to diminish the impact of H&N cancer, and improve QoL, psychological support for patients and their caregivers is essential from diagnosis and throughout treatment.

Three recent systematic reviews have been conducted on the psychological distress of H&N cancer patients; one reviewed the experience of people with H&N cancer (Lang *et al.*, 2013) and two investigated the effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for this group of people (Luckett *et al.*, 2011; Semple *et al.*, 2013) (see Table 12 for details).

Lang *et al.* (2013) suggests that individuals with H&N cancer experience excessive disruption to their ordinary daily activities, because of the emotional and physical effects of H&N cancer and its treatment. The review indicates that daily challenges were linked to existential and social changes and a physical loss of the person's sense of self and perception of the future which is influenced by their views of life having changed by the experience of cancer.

Although Luckett *et al.* (2011) in their systematic review suggest that it may be possible to recruit individuals with H&N cancer to psychological interventions and to use repeated-outcome measures to assess their progress. However, evidence for interventions is restricted due to the small number of studies (9), poor comparability and methodological problems. Two studies were designed as RCT whereas the

remaining used pre and post measures with or without controls. Samples included in these studies were patients with various H&N cancer diagnoses and the interventions used were; education/psycho-education, stress management training, cognitive–behavioural therapy, behavioural therapy, communication skills training, supportive-expressive group therapy, cognitive therapy, support group, family therapy/ counselling, problem-solving therapy. Intervention delivery has been carried out by a nurse (67%), psychologist/therapist (22%) and multi-disciplinary team (22%).

In contrast, another systematic review (Semple *et al.*, 2013) failed to find any evidence that psychosocial interventions enhance QoL for people with H&N cancer. There was also no significant change in levels of depression and anxiety after the intervention. This review had a small number of studies (7 studies) but all of them were RCTs. Samples included in these studies were patients with any type or stage of H&N cancer and psychosocial interventions (individual or group interventions) included were; cognitive behavioural training, psycho-educational, psychotherapy and supportive interventions. These interventions were delivered by lay or trained personnel.

| Author                                      | Aim   | Study                | Sample     | Country              | Method   | Result  |
|---|---|----------------------|------------|----------------------|--|---|
| /date<br>Luckett<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2011) | To review the<br>evidence of<br>psychological<br>interventions for<br>individuals with<br>H&N cancer                          | Systematic<br>review | 9 studies  | Sydney/<br>Australia | <ul> <li>Searching CENTRAL, Medline,<br/>PsycINFO, Embase and CINAHL</li> <li>From conception until December<br/>2009</li> </ul>   | - The studies that been included in the<br>review suggested that is possible to<br>recruit individuals with H&N cancer<br>to psychological interventions and to<br>assess their conditions through<br>repeated- measures of the outcome.  |
| Lang <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(2013)      | To review patients'<br>experiences of<br>H&N cancer by<br>examining the<br>results of the<br>available<br>qualitative studies | Systematic<br>review | 29 studies | Dundee /<br>UK       | <ul> <li>Searching CINAHL, MEDLINE,<br/>Embase, ASSIA, Citation Index,<br/>Social Science, PsycINFO and the<br/>British Nursing Index and Archive<br/>(BNI)</li> <li>From conception until September<br/>2011.</li> <li>Included qualitative studies only</li> </ul>   | - Six themes emerged — disruption to<br>daily life, uncertainty and waiting,<br>making sense of the experience, the<br>diminished self, finding a path and<br>sharing the burden.   |
| Semple<br>et al.<br>(2013)                  | To explore the<br>value of<br>psychosocial<br>interventions to<br>improve QoL for<br>people with H&N<br>cancer.               | Systematic<br>review | 7 studies  | Belfast/<br>UK.      | <ul> <li>Searching the Cochrane; the<br/>Cochrane Central Register of<br/>Controlled Trials (CENTRAL);<br/>EMBASE; PubMed; CINAHL;<br/>Cambridge Scientific Abstracts;<br/>Web of Science; BIOSIS Previews;<br/>ICTRP and other sources for<br/>published and unpublished trials.</li> <li>From conception to 17 December<br/>2012.</li> <li>Included randomised controlled<br/>trials and quasi-randomised<br/>controlled trials of psychosocial<br/>interventions for adults with H&amp;N<br/>cancer.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>No evidence to advocate that<br/>psychosocial intervention<br/>encourages QoL for people with<br/>H&amp;N cancer after an intervention</li> <li>The five functional scales of the<br/>(EORTC QLQ-C30) which are<br/>physical, cognitive, social, role and<br/>emotional, did not show evidence<br/>that psychosocial intervention offers<br/>a medium-term or immediate<br/>improvement on any of these five<br/>functional scales</li> <li>no significant change in levels of<br/>depression or anxiety after<br/>intervention</li> </ul> |

Table 12: Systematic reviews about psychological distress in H&N cancer

Given the increased attention paid to quality of life (QoL) outcomes among patients with H&N cancer (Gotay and Moore, 1992; Elani and Allison, 2011), it is not surprising that there has also been research into the factors which may mitigate or aggravate the impact of the disease on patient's psychological wellbeing (McDonough *et al.*, 1996). Coping is one of these mediating variables that have been found to have a critical influence on a range of health outcomes (Sherman *et al.*, 2000).

People who live with H&N cancer and experience the different consequences of this cancer and its treatment tend to use varying coping strategies (Rogers *et al.*, 1999; Vidhubala *et al.*, 2006; Elani *et al.*, 2009). Social support is widely considered to be the most significant factor implicated in coping and some studies have suggested that social support seeking behaviours represent the highest component (25%) of the whole coping effort for people with H&N cancer (List *et al.*, 2002).

In more recent years, the literature suggests that using online support groups (OSGs) may be associated with a variety of positive psychosocial outcomes including better health, a reduced feeling of social isolation, better management of the disease and better use of active coping strategies (Fogel *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2005). The next chapter will overview in more detail the role of coping, social support and OSGs in H&N cancer.

# Chapter III: Coping, Social Support and Online Support Groups

### **3** Coping, social support and online support groups

#### 3.1 Coping with head and neck cancer

Since H&N cancer is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours (Dropkin, 2001) and a relatively high percentage of patients report a range of physical and psychosocial consequences, this raises challenges in investigating QoL outcomes among patients with this cancer and factors which influence QoL. One factor which has been shown to have a critical influence on health outcomes generally is coping (Sherman *et al.*, 2000).

One well known theoretical framework for coping is that by Lazarus and Folkman (1984) who define coping as "*constantly changing cognitive and behavioural efforts to manage specific external and/ or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person*" (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984, p.141).

According to Lazarus and Folkman (1984), coping comprises of two principal strategies; one is problem-focused coping strategies, which are based on altering or managing the problem or the situation causing distress. These are comprised of social skills and problem-solving. The other is emotion-focused coping strategies that are based on regulating the physical and emotional responses to stress (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984). Since their original work, more than 500 coping strategies have been identified and the taxonomy of these schemes has become more complex. Yet, common differentiations exist such as emotion-focused versus problem-focused; behavioural versus cognitive and engagement versus disengagement. More recently, Weiten and Lloyd (2008) have supplied a useful review of three broad categories of coping strategies; problem-focused (adaptive behavioural), emotion-focused and appraisal-focused (adaptive cognitive).

Problem-focused strategies occur when individuals try to adjust to the cause of their crisis, for example by learning new skills or looking for information to cope with the problem. In general, these types of coping strategies are aimed at eliminating or changing the source of the stress.

Emotion-focused strategies include the release of pent-up emotions, managing hostile feelings, distracting oneself and meditating or employing regular relaxation procedures. Generally, this type of coping is directed toward administrating the emotions associated with the perception of stress (Brannon and Feist, 2009).

Appraisal-focused strategies happen when people modify the way they think about the problem; for example, utilizing distancing or denial oneself from the issue. Some individuals may modify their way of thinking about an issue by altering their values and goals, such as the use of humour, which has been believed to have a role in moderating stress (Worell, 2001).

In general, people appear to use a mixture of all types of coping schemes, and their coping skills usually modify with time. Although all coping techniques can be useful, some researchers claim that people using problem-focused strategies will adjust better and may lead people to have greater perceived control over their crisis, whilst emotion-focused coping may occasionally lead to a decrease in perceived control; often termed maladaptive coping (Taylor, 2006). This suggestion was supported by other studies which indicated that problem-focused coping leads to better adjustment and subsequently better QoL for cancer patients (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 1996), whilst, emotion-focused coping appears to be related to higher depression and anxiety levels and poorer QoL (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984; Burgess *et al.*, 1988; Friedman, 1988; Classen *et al.*, 1996). Although problem-focused strategies deal with the root source of the problem and may provide a longer term solution, they are not always the best as they work effectively only when the individual can control the cause of stress. It is not a productive method for all persons. For example, individuals with low self-esteem usually use emotion-focused strategies (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984; Lazarus, 1991).

The ability to utilise successful coping strategies may affect emotional wellbeing (e.g. anxiety and depression) and adjustment (Endler and Parker, 1990). For example, using a specific coping strategy has been found to frequently link with a decrease in perceived stress and enhancement in psychological adjustment (Petrosky and Birkimer, 1991; Dunkel-Schetter *et al.*, 1992). On the other hand, behaviours such as heavy smoking and alcohol consumption, which are the most important risk factors for

H&N cancer, have been associated with maladaptive coping strategies and failure to adjust habitual behaviours (Dropkin, 1989).

A great deal of attention has been paid to coping with cancer and better adjustment to the disease has been observed in patients who use problem-focusing strategies or who reach a level of acceptance in relation to their disease (McGoldrick, 2001). Coping has been investigated among patients with different cancers especially breast cancer (Stanton *et al.*, 2000; Petticrew *et al.*, 2002) and has been found to be significantly related to HRQoL (Ell *et al.*, 1989; Carey *et al.*, 1993), distress (Carver *et al.*, 1993; Stanton and Snider, 1993; Stanton *et al.*, 2000) and sometimes immune activity (Lutgendorf *et al.*, 2002). Coping has been suggested to be a stronger predictor of QoL outcomes than medical factors such as degree of disease or treatment type (Stanton and Snider, 1993; Manne *et al.*, 1994; Sherman *et al.*, 2000).

It has been indicated that patients with breast cancer use various coping strategies to adjust to their illness (Stanton *et al.*, 2000). For example, women with breast cancer using emotional expression; such as talking about their negative emotions to a significant other were found to exhibit lower degrees of psychological distress (Stanton *et al.*, 2000). However, the quality of the relationship with the significant other may also play an important part in the reduction of psychological distress. Reviewing the literature showed that people with H&N cancer also use several coping strategies to adjust to their disease. Table 13 shows the results of research conducted to investigate how people with H&N cancer deal with symptoms and invasive treatments or how coping influences adjustment.

| Author/  | Aim   | Study                          | Sample          | Country                     | Method  | Result   |
|--|---|--------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------------|---|--|
| date<br>Demadda<br>lena, and<br>Zenner<br>(1991) | To understand the<br>conditions that cause<br>anxiety, coping with<br>anxiety, reaction to<br>anxiety, and anxiety-<br>reinforcing<br>conditions in H&N<br>cancer patient | design<br>Cross -<br>sectional | 50<br>patients  | Germany                     | <ul> <li>The COPE Inventory (<i>Carver et al., 1993; Carver et al., 1989</i>).</li> <li>HADS (<i>Zigmond and Snaith, 1983</i>)</li> </ul>   | - Higher levels of anxiety was<br>related positively to the coping<br>strategies "giving up" and "intake<br>of nicotine, alcohol and<br>medication, "  |
| Chaturve<br>di etal<br>(1996)                    | To investigate the<br>coping mechanisms<br>and concerns<br>of patients<br>with H&N cancer<br>and assess their QoL   | Cross -<br>sectional           | 50<br>patients  | Bangalore/<br>India         | <ul> <li>Interviewed using a coping and concerns checklist and a semi structured interview</li> <li>HADS (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983)</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Concerns about the future were the most common concerns (64%), followed by subjective physical evaluation (60%), finances (56%), being upset (54%), communication (54%), current illness (52%) and inability to do things (50%).</li> <li>Helplessness and fatalism were the most commonly used coping strategies.</li> </ul>   |
| de Leeuw<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2000)              | To assess whether<br>pre-treatment factors<br>can be used to<br>predict<br>depression at 6 and<br>12 months later in<br>patients with H&N<br>cancer                       | Cross -<br>sectional           | 155<br>patients | Utrecht/ The<br>Netherlands | <ul> <li>Social Support List Interactions<br/>(Van Sonderen, 1991)</li> <li>The Inventory of Socially<br/>Supportive Behaviours (Barrera et<br/>al.,1981)</li> <li>The Social Provisions<br/>Scale (Cutrona and Russel, 1987)</li> <li>The Utrecht Coping List<br/>(Komproe and Rijken, 1995)</li> <li>The Cancer Locus of Control<br/>Scale (Pruyn et al., 1988; Watson et<br/>al., 1990)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>The result suggested that it predicting patients who would have symptoms at 6 (81%) and 12 months (67%) after treatment may be possible using 5 factors (emotional support, physical symptoms, extent of the social network, avoidance coping and depressive symptoms)</li> <li>Example: more depressive symptoms at follow-up were related to more avoidance coping before treatment.</li> </ul> |

|                                    |  |                     |                  |                   | <ul> <li>Center for Epidemiologic<br/>Studies—Depression scale<br/>(<i>Eaton et al., 2004</i>).</li> <li>European Organization for<br/>Research and Treatment of<br/>Cancer QoL Core Questionnaire<br/>C30+3 (<i>Aaronson et al., 1993</i>)</li> </ul>   |  |
|------------------------------------|--|---------------------|------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| Sherman<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2000) | To explore coping<br>patterns among H&N<br>cancer patients at<br>different stages of<br>disease  | Cross-<br>sectional | 120<br>patients  | Arkansas/<br>USA  | <ul> <li>The COPE questionnaire (Carver et al., 1993; Carver et al., 1989)</li> <li>Profile of Mood States (McNair et al., 1992)</li> <li>Impact of Events Scale (Horowtiz et al., 1979)</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Use of specific coping responses<br/>differed among the groups.</li> <li>Behavioural disengagement<br/>(giving up or withdrawing),<br/>Denial, suppression of competing<br/>activities and emotional<br/>ventilation were most<br/>characteristic of patients who<br/>were treated for H&amp;N cancer</li> </ul>          |
| List <i>et al.</i><br>(2002)       | To identify how<br>patients cope with<br>the debilitating and<br>exhaustive treatment<br>and the functional<br>and physical residual<br>effects of H&N<br>cancer | Cross-<br>sectional | 79<br>patients   | Chicago/<br>USA   | <ul> <li>The Functional Assessment of<br/>Cancer Therapy-H&amp;N (<i>Cella et al., 1993 and 1994</i>)</li> <li>The Performance Status Scale<br/>for H&amp;N Cancer Patients (<i>List et al., 1996</i>)</li> <li>The Ways of Coping-Cancer<br/>Version (<i>Dunkel-Schetter et al., 1992</i>)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>There are many of coping<br/>strategies used by people with<br/>H&amp;N cancer.</li> <li>Social support seeking<br/>behaviours representing the<br/>highest percentage of total coping<br/>(25%).</li> <li>The use of both behavioural and<br/>escape avoidant coping strategies<br/>was related to worse QOL.</li> </ul> |
| Aarstad<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2005) | To study self-<br>reported coping style<br>and the association to<br>received treatment,<br>TNM stage, and<br>HRQoL in a people<br>with successfully             | Cross-<br>sectional | 122<br>survivors | Bergen/<br>Norway | <ul> <li>The European organization for research and treatment of cancer QoL questionnaire (<i>Aaronson et al., 1993</i>)</li> <li>The COPE questionnaire (<i>Carver et al., 1993 ; Carver et al., 1989</i>)</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>In survivors of H&amp;N cancer,<br/>degree of problem focused coping<br/>strategy was linked to neck<br/>radiotherapy and the T stage.</li> <li>Score of avoidance coping was<br/>negatively linked to HRQoL.</li> <li>Score of emotional coping was</li> </ul>   |
|   | treated H&N cancer   |                      |                 |                       |  | linked to HRQoL in a complex manner   |
|---|--|----------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--|---|
| Kohda <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (2005)    | To identify factors<br>affecting the QoL in<br>people undergoing<br>radiation therapy for<br>H&N cancer  | Cross -<br>sectional | 35<br>patients  | Tokyo/ Japan          | <ul> <li>Full psychiatric interviews</li> <li>Functional Assessment of<br/>Cancer Therapy [General and<br/>H&amp;N] (FACT-G and H&amp;N)<br/>(<i>Cella et al., 1993, 1994</i>)</li> <li>The Hospital Anxiety<br/>and Depression Scale (HADS)<br/>(<i>Zigmond and Snaith, 1983</i>)</li> <li>the NEO-Five Factor Inventory<br/>(NEO-FFI)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>QOL was related to an emotional<br/>part of a coping</li> <li>Interventions including physical<br/>management of pain and<br/>psychiatric management of<br/>depression appear to be essential<br/>for preserving QOL of people<br/>with H&amp;N cancer</li> </ul>                |
| Vidhubal<br>a, <i>et al</i> .<br>(2006) | To evaluate the<br>coping preferences of<br>patients with H&N<br>cancer.   | Cross-<br>sectional  | 176<br>patients | Chennai/<br>India     | <ul> <li>Jalowiec coping preference<br/>scale (<i>Jalowiec et al., 1981</i>)</li> <li>The variables chosen were<br/>treatment, site, education,<br/>survival, age and gender</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Patients with H&amp;N adapt both problem oriented (POC) and emotional oriented coping (EOC) throughout the course of the decrease</li> <li>Males, literate patients, and patients subjected to different types of treatment preferred more POC of compared to others.</li> </ul> |
| Becker <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (2006)   | To investigate the<br>role of religion in<br>coping with disease<br>symptoms and<br>treatment-related<br>side effects in people<br>with H&N cancer<br>who are currently<br>under radiotherapy. | Cross-<br>sectional  | 105<br>patients | Freiburg/<br>Germany. | - EORTC QLQ-H&N35 (Bjordal et al., 1994)   | <ul> <li>Believers felt better for all types<br/>of side effects before, during and<br/>after therapy.</li> <li>Religious faith appeared to play<br/>an significant role in coping style<br/>of patients treated with<br/>radiotherapy</li> </ul>   |
| Aarstad<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2008)      | To explore to what<br>extent choice of<br>coping and<br>personality predicted  | Cross-<br>sectional  | 96<br>patients  | Bergen/<br>Norway     | - The European Organization for<br>Research and Treatment of<br>Cancer Quality of life<br>Questionnaire (EORTC-QLQ)  | - Low QoL was directly predicted<br>by coping by problem solving,<br>coping by humor and high<br>neuroticism. While neuroticism   |

|  | self-reported QoL in<br>successfully treated<br>H&N cancer patients  |                     |                 |                           | <ul> <li>C30/HN35 (Aaronson et al., 1993)</li> <li>The Eysenck Personality<br/>Inventory (Eysenck and Eysenck,<br/>1964)</li> <li>The COPE questionnaire (Carver<br/>et al., 1993; Carver et al., 1989)</li> </ul> | was also related to QoL through avoidance coping.   |
|--|--|---------------------|-----------------|---------------------------|--|---|
| Elani <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (2009<br>) | To explore the<br>relationship between<br>levels of depression<br>and anxiety and<br>different coping<br>strategies in patients<br>with H&N cancer | Cross-<br>sectional | 157<br>patients | Montreal/<br>Canada       | <ul> <li>HADS (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983)</li> <li>The Ways of Coping Checklist<br/>(WOCC) (Folkman and Lazarus,<br/>1980).</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>71.3% of the participants had a low levels of and depression anxiety</li> <li>7% had a high levels of depression and anxiety</li> <li>The most frequently used coping by the whole participants was Problem focused coping"</li> <li>head and neck cancer</li> <li>patients use a variety of coping strategies to deal with their disease and that their level of anxiety and depression is related to the type of coping strategies they use</li> </ul> |
| Agarwal<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2010)       | To assess the<br>common coping<br>strategies used by<br>African American<br>H&N cancer<br>survivors and to<br>examine them in<br>relation with QoL | Cross-<br>sectional | 50<br>patients  | North<br>Carolina/<br>USA | <ul> <li>Coping questionnaire</li> <li>QoL Questionnaire</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>The most commonly used coping<br/>styles were seeking support from<br/>God, helping others and seeking<br/>emotional support from family<br/>and friends,</li> <li>These coping styles had strongest<br/>relationship with QoL and<br/>relationship well-being.</li> </ul>   |
| Horney <i>et al</i> . (2011)             | To explore whether<br>depression and<br>anxiety are related to   | Cross-<br>sectional | 103<br>patients | Sussex/ UK                | <ul> <li>HADS (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983)</li> <li>SF12v2 Health Survey (Ware et al., 2002)</li> </ul>  | - QoL explained a great percentage of the variance in pre-treatment depression and anxiety.   |

|  | dispositional<br>optimism. coping<br>styles and QoL in<br>H&N cancer patients   |                                      |                 |                     | <ul> <li>Brief COPE (<i>Carver</i>, 1997)</li> <li>The Revised Life Orientation<br/>Test (<i>Scheier and Carver</i>, 1987)</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Using negative coping strategies<br/>was associated with high levels of<br/>anxiety</li> <li>Low levels of optimism were<br/>associated with higher levels of<br/>depression.</li> </ul>  |
|--|---|--------------------------------------|-----------------|---------------------|---|--|
| Elani and<br>Allison<br>(2011)                     | To investigate how<br>patients with H&N<br>cancer 6-12 months<br>after diagnosis cope<br>with their illness and<br>how their coping<br>strategies are related<br>to their levels of<br>depression and<br>anxiety          | Cross-<br>sectional                  | 157<br>patients | Montreal/<br>Canada | <ul> <li>Ways of Coping Checklist<br/>(Folkman and Lazarus, 1980)</li> <li>HADS (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983)</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>There was a relationship between<br/>anxiety and depression levels and<br/>the type of the used coping<br/>method</li> <li>People with higher levels of<br/>depression and anxiety used more<br/>"wishful thinking", "blamed self",<br/>and "avoidance" coping methods</li> </ul> |
| Haisfield-<br>Wolfe <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (2012) | To explain coping<br>among people with<br>oropharyngeal and<br>laryngeal cancer<br>during definitive<br>radiation with or<br>without<br>chemotherapy.   | Cross-<br>sectional<br>(qualitative) | 21<br>patients  |                     | - Interviews with open-ended questions  | <ul> <li>Patients cope to deal with the<br/>uncertainties of psychological and<br/>physical aspects of their issues</li> <li>Patients commonly usedfamily<br/>and friends support as a common<br/>coping strategy</li> </ul>   |
| Aarstad<br>et al.<br>(2012)                        | To explore to what<br>extent personality,<br>choice of coping,<br>TNM stage, mood,<br>treatment level and<br>HRQoL scores<br>predicted distress as<br>measured by general<br>health questionnaire<br>in patients with H&N | Cross-<br>sectional                  | 96<br>patients  | Bergen/<br>Norway   | <ul> <li>The Eysenck personality<br/>inventory (Eysenck and Eysenck,<br/>1964)</li> <li>The COPE questionnaire (Carver<br/>et al., 1993; Carver et al., 1989)</li> <li>EORTC QLQ questionnaire<br/>(Aaronson et al., 1993)</li> <li>Beck depression inventory<br/>(BDI) (Beck, 1972)</li> </ul> | - Low mood, low QoL, high<br>neuroticism, high alcohol<br>consumption, coping by problem<br>solving directly, and by<br>avoidance, predicted worse<br>distress.  |

| Beisland<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2013) | cancer who are<br>successfully treated<br>To explore distress<br>stability and HRQoL<br>as related to choice     | Cross-<br>sectional | 162<br>patients | Bergen/<br>Norway. | - The general health<br>questionnaire (GHQ) (Goldberg<br>and Williams, 1988)   | <ul> <li>Neuroticism, smoking history, T<br/>stage and avoidant coping pattern,<br/>these factors predicted the</li> </ul> |
|-------------------------------------|--|---------------------|-----------------|--------------------|--|--|
|                                     | of coping response<br>and neuroticism in<br>patients with H&N<br>cancer during a 4<br>years period follow-<br>up |                     |                 |                    | <ul> <li>The EORTC QLQ-C30<br/>(Aaronson et al., 1993)</li> <li>The Eysenck Personality<br/>Questionnaire (EPQ) (Eysenck<br/>and Eysenck, 1964)</li> </ul> | scores, HRQoL, and distress  |
|                                     | սբ   |                     |                 |                    | - The COPE Inventory (Carver et al., 1993; Carver et al., 1989)  |  |

Table 13: Studies on coping and H&N cancer

Sherman *et al.* (2000) suggest that patients who were treated for H&N cancer or were less than 6 months post-treatment used more inhibition of competing actions, rejections and behavioural disengagement as coping methods compared with those who were more than 6 months post-treatment or had not commenced their treatment yet. This study led Sherman and colleagues to argue that whilst Lazarus and Folkman (1984) interpret coping as a dynamic process that undergoes alteration over the course of disease, the stages of disease may be vital in shaping patients' reactions to invasive diseases, and patients use various coping strategies according to stage of treatment (Sherman *et al.*, 2000).

In relation to QoL, a cohort study by Kohda *et al.* (2005) investigating the QOL of H&N cancer patients who were only treated by radiotherapy, identified a positive relationship between emotion-oriented coping and patients' general HRQoL. However, the study sample was relatively small (only 35 patients) and used different cancer sites and stages which may have different influences on the outcomes of the study.

One suggestion is that teaching coping strategies for patients with H&N cancers may lead to an improvement in social and physical functioning and overall QoL, and decrease in sleeping disturbances, fatigue and depression, leading to more positive outcomes for the patient (Friedman, 1988).

Head and neck cancer patients were found to use a series of coping strategies during their cancer journey. These strategies can be categorised as emotion or problem-focused coping (Rogers *et al.*, 1999; Vidhubala *et al.*, 2006). Although some studies suggest that generally problem focused coping was the most frequently used strategy by the H&N cancer patients (Elani *et al.*, 2009), other studies identify specific coping strategies to be the most commonly used by this cohort of patients. For example, whilst Chaturvedi *et al.* (1996) found that helplessness and fatalism were the commonest coping mechanisms used by H&N cancer patients and thought that these unsuccessful emotion-focused coping strategies result in deficient resolution of the most common concerns recognised in this cohort of patients, Sherman *et al.* (2000) suggest that denial, focusing on the illness, emotional ventilation, and behavioural disengagement such as giving up or withdrawing were most characteristic of these

patients. More recently, Agarwal *et al.* (2010) suggest that helping others, seeking emotional support from friends and family, and coping through support from God were the most commonly used strategies. However, these studies used different methodologies and different participant samples which may explain the difference in results.

Some researchers tried to explore the relationship between different coping strategies and levels of depression and anxiety in H&N cancer patients; indicating that the type of coping strategy used is related to the level of anxiety and depression experienced by the person with cancer (Elani et al., 2009; Elani and Allison, 2011). However, the nature of these studies (cross-sectional) does not allow directional inferences for this relationship. Indeed, negative coping strategies such as "giving up" and "intake of alcohol, nicotine and medication" were positively related to higher levels of anxiety (Demaddalena, and Zenner, 1991; Horney et al., 2011). In addition, "avoidance", blamed self" and "wishful thinking", coping strategies were noticed to be used by patients with higher levels of anxiety and depression (Elani and Allison, 2011; Beisland et al., 2013). Avoidance coping seems to exert longer term influence, since more avoidance coping before treatment was found to be associated with more depressive symptoms at follow-up (de Leeuw et al., 2000a), this negative coping strategy was also found to be associated with reduced QoL in more than one study (List et al., 2002; Aarstad et al., 2005; Aarstad et al., 2008; Aarstad et al., 2012; Beisland *et al.*, 2013).

Positive coping strategies such as being strong, self-reliant, engaging in distracting activities with others such as family and friends, having emotional support, seeking help from God, assistance from church, and helping others, were associated with increased QoL and well-being (Agarwal *et al.*, 2010). Indeed, some studies suggested that social support seeking behaviours represent the highest component (25%) of the whole coping efforts in people with H&N cancer (List *et al.*, 2002) and social networks play an increasingly important role in coping as family support could enhance the coping ability of the patient by enabling concentration on problem-focused coping strategies (Relic *et al.*, 2001). In addition, others conclude that the high rates of depression reported in people with H&N cancer may be linked to lack of social support (Baile *et al.*, 1992). In spite of these few studies on coping with H&N

cancer which suggest that patients with this type of cancer adjust using both emotion and problem focusing strategies during the cancer journey, to date no study has investigated in depth the role and mechanisms of social support and coping for people with H&N cancers. Therefore, the next section includes details about social support; definitions, types, theories, mechanisms and dimensions, as well as the relationship of social support and social networks with cancer in general and with H&N cancer.

# **3.2 Social Support**

As can be seen from the previous section, people with H&N cancer use a series of strategies to cope with their conditions with social support representing the highest component (25%) of the whole coping efforts (List *et al.*, 2002). Social networks appear to play an increasingly important role by enhancing the coping ability of the patient (Relic *et al.*, 2001). In the same way, the higher rates of depression reported in people with H&N cancer have been linked to lack of social support (Baile *et al.*, 1992). This chapter will provide more details about social support, social networks and their relationships with cancer, and particularly H&N cancer.

#### 3.2.1 Definition

Although the idea of social support has become, to some extent, a standardised concept used to assess the impact of social surroundings on health-related areas over the past four decades, there is no consensus concerning its meaning, and there are a variety of debates about the nature of social support and its dimensions.

Cohen and Mckay (1984) identify social support as the mechanisms by which interpersonal relationships may buffer an individual against stressful situations, whilst Friis and Seller (1999) have identified the concept of social support as the supportive relationships that develop with the person and family members, friends or with another individual. Similarly, Kim (2010, P: 255) argues that "the term of social support refers to positive reinforcing attitudes generated by individuals in social relations to each other". However, both of the definitions raise more questions than they answer, because the failure to adequately define what is meant by 'social relations' and this leaves the area open to interpretation.

One suggestion is that although supportiveness appears to occupy the core of the concept, it has been used synonymously with 'social bond', 'social network' and 'social integration' in many studies leading to chaos in the theoretical definition of social support (Kim, 2010). This lack of clarity arising from the phrase 'nature of support', which is used interchangeably with 'source of support' (social network and

social relation), means that some researchers view social support as the degree to which an individual is integrated into the social networks in which he/she is a member (Antonovsky, 1979). Social support is also conceived as the availability of people for an individual to confide in (Miller and Ingham, 1976) or the depth of social relationships (Cassel, 1976). In addition, Lynch (1977) conceptualise social support as human relationships and Henderson (1980) present the concept as a social bond, while Mueller (1980) and Norbeck (1981) view it as social network. All of these concepts have been used to establish inferences about social support, but do not actually give concrete definitions about the constructs of social support.

Schwarzer and Rieckmann (2002) suggest that the concept of social support can be used both in a broad and narrow sense. In the narrowest sense, social support has been recognised in a variety of ways. For example, it may be viewed as coping assistance; resources supplied by others or as reciprocity of resources. However, when it is used in a broad sense the term social support includes social networks and social integration, although the three concepts are internally different. They suggest that social networks denote the objective base for social support and social integration. The latter two are viewed as theoretical constructs and refer to the extent to which people are socially surrounded, have a sense of intimacy and belonging and meet their tangible needs. They also differentiate social support and social integration in that social integration represents the quantity and structure of social relationships including density and size of networks and rate of the interaction. Nevertheless it sometimes refers to a subjective perception of embeddedness. In contrast, social support represents the quality and function of social relationships including perceived availability of assistance or actually obtained support. Social support appears to be established through an interactive process and can be linked to sense of obligation, altruism and the perception of reciprocation (Schwarzer and Leppin, 1989; Schwarzer and Leppin, 1991; Schwarzer and Leppin, 1992).

Social support has previously been defined in terms of information which divides into three types; information of worthiness (being valued and esteemed, or being viewed with positive regard), affective information (being loved and cared for) and information of partisanship (belonging to mutually influenced social relations) (Cobb 1976, Turner 1981). In a similar manner, social support has been defined as the extent to which a person exhibits the need for trust, security, affection, succour, intimacy, affiliation, belongingness and approval (Kaplan *et al.*, 1977). Whilst other definitions take a more social approach and look at what society can provide the individual in terms of social ties to others, groups, and society as a whole (Lin *et al.*, 1979). Therefore, the concept is defined in terms of the extent of social relations, participation, and the stages of social adjustment.

#### 3.2.2 Subtypes of social support

Social support has three distinctive subtypes and each one exhibits a different relationship with health. The three subtypes are; enacted support, perceived support and social integration (Barrera, 1986). Perceived support refers to a subjective judgment from the recipient that providers will supply (or have supplied) useful assistance during difficult times. Enacted support, sometimes called received support, refers to particular supportive activities such as reassurance or advice supplied by providers during difficult times, while social integration is the degree to which a recipient is tied inside a social network such as friends, family relations, organisation and club membership. It should be noticed that these three subtypes of social support are not strongly associated to each other, and each correlate differently with health, personal relationships and personality (Barrera, 1986, Uchino, 2009). For example, social integration has been related to physical health such as heart disease and mortality and not related to improved mental health, which is has been linked to perceived support (Barrera, 1986, Uchino, 2009). Contrastingly, enacted support has not been related consistently to either mental or physical health (Barrera, 1986, Uchino, 2009), instead, it has been related to a decline in mental health (Bolger et al., 2000).

#### 3.2.3 Causes of perceived support

Perceived support appears as a result of three major types of causes; provider influences, recipient trait influences and relational influences (Lakey *et al.*, 1996; Lakey, 2010).

Provider influences consider disparities amongst providers and reflect the recipients' agreement that providers differ in their supportiveness. In other words, provider influences reflect the degree to which providers are supportive objectively, according to recipient agreement. Recipient influences reflect disparities among recipients in their perception towards providers. For example, some recipients might perceive providers to be more supportive than other observers. As some providers are being rated by recipients, average disparities between recipients do not accurately reflect providers' characteristics. Instead, these disparities rather reflect the trait-like recipients' personality characteristics. Relational influences reflect organised disagreement between recipients on the providers' relative supportive than another provider, but another recipient may perceive the second provider as more supportive than the first one.

As regards the strength of each type of causes, it has been suggested that 60% of perceived support accounts for relational influence and about 25% for recipient trait influence, but only 5 -10% account for provider influence (Lakely , 2010). So, the personal tastes of recipients are reflected by the largest portion of perceived support. However, only a small portion reflects the recipients' personality.

Sometimes, social support is viewed as available support and perceived support; available support is represented by the availability of someone to offer the level of support required by the respondents. Perceived support refers to the quantity of support people feel. This measure can be more accurate than available support in relation to the amount of support the respondent receives (Komproe *et al.*, 1997). However, in cross sectional studies, there is a probability that it may measure support obtained as a consequence of ill health rather than support, or the absence of support leading to ill health (Marmot and Wilkinson, 2006).

# **3.2.4** Theories of social support

Numerous theories have been suggested to explain the link between social support and health. The commonest theories are stress and coping theory (Cohen and Wills, 1985)

which clarifies the buffering effects of stress; life span theory (Uchino, 2009) which is designed to show the link between trait-like aspect of social support and physical health; and relational regulation theory (Lakey and Oreheck, 2011) which deals with the relational side of perceived support and is designed to illustrate the major effect between mental health and perceived support.

Stress and coping social support theory (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Barrera, 1986; Thoits, 1986, Cutrona and Russel, 1990) strengthens research on social support. This theory hypothesises that social support protects people from poor health resulting from the stress of harmful events and is related to how people cope with and think about these effects. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) present stress and coping as a result of how people view stressful events; so if people think bad things will occur, they will view everything in a more negative light, creating a more stressful environment, and leading to ineffective coping. Coping includes planned and conscious activities such as relaxation and problem solving, as applied to social support which is a coping strategy that enables people to be more positive. Enacted support enhances coping and appraisal, while perceived support indicates a history of receiving enacted support.

Stress and coping theory appears in Cohen and Wills' (1985) study and describes the stress buffering action of social support. However, one limitation in this study is that enacted support is not related to better outcomes (Barrera, 1986, Uchino, 2009).

Life span theory (Uchino, 2009) deals with the way that trait-like features of social integration and perceived support can clarify relationships with physical health. This theory suggests that social support is generated throughout the life span, but is particularly important in early childhood being developed through the attachment of children with their parents. Social support in later life is generated in correspondence with some personality aspects such as low neuroticism, low hostility, and high optimism, in addition to coping and social skills. Support and other features of personality largely impact on health by enhancing healthy activities such as weight control and exercise, and by reducing stressors that impact on health (Uchino, 2009; Lakely, 2010).

Relational regulation theory (Lakely and Orehek, 2011) developed to illustrate the major effects between perceived support and mental health that come from relational effects. Lakey (2010) suggest that perceived support is mainly relational, while previous studies (Barrera, 1986) have indicated a weaker correlation between enacted support and perceived support. This weaker correlation has been interpreted by Lakely and Orehek (2011) as correlations of perceived support with mental health and is built on other processes such as regulating emotions through shared activities and normal conversations rather than conversations about stress and coping. Thus, relational regulation theory infers that individuals control their emotion across normal conversations and shared activities. However, this regulation is relational, since the conversation areas, support provider and the activities that assist in emotion control are basically a matter of personal taste.

## 3.2.5 Mechanisms of social support

Social support has direct and indirect effects in defending against stressful situations (Cohen and Syme, 1985; Cohen and Wills, 1985; Stellman, 1998). The direct mechanism reveals that individuals with higher levels of social support are in better health than those with lower levels despite the stress, while the indirect mechanism suggests that social support protects individuals against unpleasant impacts of stressful life events.

### **3.2.5.1** The direct effect of social support

This direct effect is the main effect of social support and can be felt from its role as an obstacle to the consequences of the stressor (Cohen and Syme, 1985). This defensive action may appear as a result of encouragement that patients may receive when they experience stressful conditions. Encouragement can appear in various forms such as kind words from a friend or supplying suitable feedback or knowledge to overcome the stressor (Cohen and Wills, 1985). The defensive effects may also develop from tangible assistances such as money or other resources comprising of group membership to provide assistance and self-confidence (Cobb, 1976; Stellman, 1998). It appears that social support can enhance the ability of individuals to deal with inevitable problems or changes.

Cohn and Syme (1985) suggest a different explanation to the direct influence of social support in that lack of social support leads to ill health rather than that presence of social support leads to better health. Social support may therefore be said to directly affect the health in more than one pathway, for example this effect may be established through health-related behaviours such as encouraging people to take exercise, reduce fat consumption or stop smoking (Cohen *et al.*, 2000). However, this only appears to partially describe the direct effect of social support on health and the support from other individuals may be worthwhile if they themselves (the others) follow healthy behaviours and, then, this behaviour is applied by the patients (Marmot and Wilkinson, 2006).

Another pathway for the direct effect of support can be viewed from the potential ability of support to increase the perception of control over the environment and provide the premise of self-worth, which subsequently may improve health (Bisconti and Bergeman, 1999). In general, this mechanism suggests that both the lack of support due to social isolation and the positive effects of support have a direct impact on health.

## **3.2.5.2** The buffering effect of social support

Buffering is sometimes called the moderating effect and it suggests that the impacts of stressors are relieved by the existence of social support. In addition, the consequences of stressful situations are associated with the lack of social support (Cobb, 1976; Kaplan *et al.*, 1977; LaRocco *et al.*, 1980). Therefore, it seems that this model of social support indicates that social support acts as a buffer between the unpleasant stimulus and its reaction in order to reduce its consequences.

Evidence for this mechanism appears when the relationship between unpleasant situations and poor physical and mental health is weaker for individuals with high levels of social support than for those with low levels. The weak association between health and stress for individuals with high levels of social support can be interpreted as social support and has a protective effect against stress (Cohen and Wills, 1985). Buffering can improve the coping abilities of persons or alter their ideas toward the

stressor so as to lesser its consequences. In addition, social support may contribute in soothing the neuro-endocrine system of the subject leading to a decrease in his/ her reaction to stimuli (Stellman, 1998). However, according to the type of the stressor, social support buffers some stressors more successfully than others (Mitchell *et al.*, 1982).

The mechanism through which social support affects the stressor was also explained by Marmot and Wilkinson (2006) who documented that the buffering effects of social support may work in a number of ways. For example, discussion of a prospective hazard with a supportive individual may assist in reappraising the hazard hidden in the stressor, therefore making it more avoidable or manageable. Another way is that emotional support or tangible aid may help to control the effects of stressor and assist in the individual dealing with the harmful outcomes of the stressor. The stress buffering mechanism is more likely to be viewed in cases of perceived support rather than for social integration or enacted support (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Barrera, 1986).

# 3.2.6 Dimensions of social support

Numerous possible dimensions of social support have been identified by researchers (Hirsh, 1980; House, 1981; Sherbourne and Stewart, 1991; Cutrona and Suhr, 1992). Table 14 illustrates the components of each dimension and gives a brief description of how each dimension of social support has been coded in the different frameworks.

| Support<br>Dimension        | Author                          | Description of coding   |  |  |  |  |  |
|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Informational               | Cutrona and Suhr, 1992          | Advice/ suggestions- Referral- Situation appraisal- Teaching  |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | Sherbourne and<br>Stewart, 1991 | Offering (advice, information, guidance and feedback)   |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | House, 1981                     | Advice - Suggestion – Directive   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Emotional                   | Cutrona and Suhr,<br>1992       | Relationships - Physical affection -<br>Confidentiality -Sympathy - Listening - Empathy<br>- Encouragement - Prayer |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | Sherbourne and<br>Stewart, 1991 | The extent of positive effect - Empathetic understanding - Encouragement of expressions of feelings.                |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | House, 1981                     | Empathy - Concern - Caring - Love - Trust   |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | Hirsh, 1980                     | Care - Comfort - affection - Love - Sympathy  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Esteem                      | Cutrona and Suhr, 1992          | Compliant - Validation - Relief of blame  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Network                     | Cutrona and Suhr, 1992          | nr, Access - Presence - Companions  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Tangible                    | Cutrona and Suhr, 1992          | Loan - Direct task - Indirect task - Active participation - Express willingness                                     |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | Sherbourne and<br>Stewart, 1991 | Provision of (material aid and behavioural assistance)  |  |  |  |  |  |
|                             | Hirsh, 1980                     | Money - Aid with tasks (the extent to which a person feels relieved of burdens)                                     |  |  |  |  |  |
| Instrumental                | House, 1981                     | Money - Time - In-kind assistance - Performing<br>task  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Appraisal                   | House, 1981                     | Affirmation - Feedback - Social comparison  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Positive social interaction | Sherbourne and<br>Stewart, 1991 | The availability of other persons to do fun things with you   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Affectionate                | Sherbourne and<br>Stewart, 1991 | Expression of love and affection  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Encouragement               | Hirsh, 1980                     | Praise - Compliment ( <i>the extent to which a person feels inspired by supporter to feel courage</i> )             |  |  |  |  |  |
| Advice                      | Hirsh, 1980                     | Useful information to solve problem ( <i>the extent to</i> which person feels informed)                             |  |  |  |  |  |
| Companionship               | Hirsh, 1980                     | Time spent with supporter ( <i>the extent to which a person does not feel alone</i> )                               |  |  |  |  |  |

 Table 14: Social support dimensions by different authors

As it can be seen from Table 14, within each of the author's coding systems, types or dimensions of social support overlap. For example, while Hirsh (1980) has indicated five possible dimensions of social support (emotional, encouragement, advice, companionship and tangible aid), House (1981) and Sherbourne and Stewart (1991) used frames that can be seen as a modification of Hirsh's frame (Hirsh, 1980). For instance, the "encouragement" element in Hirsh's frame has been substituted by "appraisal" support that comprises information which is usually evaluative, whilst Sherbourne and Stewart (1991) separate tangible support into a separate category in its own right.

One of the most commonly used frameworks is the social support behaviour code (SSBC) (Cutrona and Suhr, 1992). This framework has been used to assess the frequency of 23 communication behaviours related to support. These behaviours have been categorised under five main classes (emotional, informational, esteem, network and tangible assistance). The social support behaviour code (SSBC) of Cutrona and Suhr, (1992) has been used effectively by many researchers (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu 2009) in investigating social support online. Details of studies used the Social Support Behaviour Code in investigating social support in OSGs are available in Table 15.

| Author  | Aim   | Study               | Sample           | Country                      | Method   | Result   |
|---|---|---------------------|------------------|------------------------------|--|--|
| /date   |   | design              |                  |                              |  |  |
| Braithw<br>aite <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(1999) | To investigate the<br>extent and types of<br>messages of social<br>support exchanged by<br>individuals with<br>disabilities who<br>participated in a<br>computer-based<br>support group | Cross-<br>sectional | 1472<br>messages | Nebraska-<br>Lincoln/<br>USA | A modified version of Social<br>Support Behavior Code (Cutrona<br>and Suhr's, 1992)  | <ul> <li>The highest percentage of the support messages provided emotional and informational support</li> <li>Messages directly rectified challenges and limitations associated with disability-related mobility, self-care and socialization</li> </ul> |
| Coulson<br>(2005)                                 | To explore the nature<br>of social support<br>communication that<br>exchanged within a<br>computer-mediated<br>support network for<br>persons with Irritable<br>Bowel Syndrome          | Cross-<br>sectional | 572<br>messages  | Nottingham<br>/ UK           | <ul> <li>Deductive thematic analysis was carried out using the guidelines set out by Boyatzis (<i>Boyatzis, 1998</i>)</li> <li>The data was examined using <i>Cutrona and Suhr's (1992)</i> coding system</li> </ul> | The principal function of this group<br>was the exchange of informational<br>support, particularly within the areas of<br>illness management, symptom<br>interpretation, and communication<br>with health care professionals                             |
| Coulson<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2007)                | To investigate the<br>offered social support<br>in messages posted to<br>individuals with<br>Huntington's disease<br>in an OSG bulletin<br>board.                                       | Cross-<br>sectional | 1313<br>messages | Nottingham<br>/ UK           | A modified version of the Social<br>Support Behavior Code (Cutrona<br>and Suhr 1992)   | Informational and emotional support<br>were the main function of<br>Huntington's disease OSG followed by<br>the remaining dimensions of support<br>with less frequency.  |

| Mo and<br>Coulson<br>(2008)               | To explore the<br>dimensions of social<br>support offered within<br>messages posted to<br>HIV/AIDS related-<br>OSGs | Cross-<br>sectional | 1138<br>messages | Nottingham<br>/ UK | A modified version of the Social<br>Support Behavior Code ( <i>Cutrona</i><br>and Suhr 1992) | The most frequently offered types of<br>support are informational and<br>emotional support, followed by<br>esteem, network support then tangible<br>assistance.   |
|---|---|---------------------|------------------|--------------------|--|---|
| Coursar<br>is and<br>Liu<br>(2009)        | To investigate, in<br>depth social support<br>exchanged in<br>HIV/AIDS related-<br>OSGs.                            | Cross-<br>sectional | 5000<br>messages | Michigan/<br>USA   | A modified version of the Social<br>Support Behavior Code (Cutrona<br>and Suhr 1992)         | <ul> <li>The most frequently exchanged<br/>support were Information and<br/>emotional followed by network and<br/>esteem support whereas tangible<br/>assistance was rare.</li> <li>Three other types of interactions in<br/>the group (offering congratulations,<br/>expression of gratitude and sharing<br/>experience) can facilitate exchanges<br/>of social support</li> </ul> |
| Coulson<br>and<br>Greenw<br>ood<br>(2012) | To investigate the role<br>of OSGs in supporting<br>families affected by<br>childhood cancer                        | Cross-<br>sectional | 487<br>messages  | Nottingham<br>/ UK | A modified version of the Social<br>Support Behavior Code (Cutrona<br>and Suhr 1992)         | <ul> <li>All the five dimentions of social support indicated in SSBC (i.e. information, emotional, esteem, network and tangible assistance) were existing.</li> <li>The two most frequent dimentions were emotional and informational support</li> </ul>  |

Table 15: Studies using a modified version of the Social Support Behaviour Code of Cutrona and Suhr, (1992)

Given the usefulness of this coding system to online social support, and given it is the coding system used in the present thesis, the five categories of the system are discussed in more detail below.

### **3.2.6.1** Informational support

Informational support refers to the support that others may offer through supplying information, since it supplies data and advice concerned with different types of stress, and also provides ways of coping. According to Cutrona and Suhr (1992) this kind of support can be coded as *suggestions* and *advice* to suggest guidance or actions and offer ideas, *referral* to supply assistance in guiding the subjects to other sources of assistances such as experts, *teaching* provides information, news or facts concerned with the skills or condition needed to cope with it. It can also be coded as *situation appraisal* by reassessing or redefining the condition in a manner that helps in making the recipients more positive or disclose new helpful knowledge.

This dimension of social support has also been listed under two other frameworks, one is House's framework House (1981), in which informational support has been subcategorised into advice, suggestions or directives that help the individual to respond to situational or personal dimensions. The other framework was established by Sherbourne and Stewart (1991) in which the informational support was subcategorised into advice, information, guidance and feedback.

An example of this dimension of social support can be seen from the patient-physician interaction in which physician supplying information has been related to many outcomes of physical and psychological care, including improved functional conditions (Greenfield *et al.*, 1985; Greenfield *et al.*, 1988; Maly *et al.*, 1999), reduced hospital stay and post-operative pain (Egbert *et al.*, 1964; Langer *et al.*, 1975; Fortin and Kirouac, 1976) and improved psychological outcomes (Orth *et al.*, 1987).

Informational support was found to be helpful before and after treating compromising illness such as cardiac disease (Cupples, 1991; Kattainen *et al.*, 2004). In addition, effective informational support is thought to improve health self-care skills, decision making and compliance to treatment and recommendations, and also is active in

reducing anxiety, fear and cancer morbidity and increasing employment and hope (Broeders *et al.*, 2002; Gornick *et al.*, 2004; Lambert and Loiselle, 2007). This kind of support might also have an effect on access to and utilisation of health care services (Berg *et al.*, 2004).

## **3.2.6.2** Tangible assistance

Tangible assistance is sometimes called instrumental support, and offers goods or services that are necessary in dealing with stressful situations (Langford *et al.*, 1997). According to Cutrona and Suhr (1992) tangible support can be coded as '*loan*' by providing money or similar things to recipients, '*direct task*' to perform tasks related directly to the recipient's need or '*indirect task*' to perform some of the recipient's tasks during their stress period. In addition, it can also be coded as '*willingness*' by expressions of willingness to provide help or as '*active participation*' by leading the recipient to participate in activities valuable in coping with stress.

Tangible support has been defined in similar ways in other models, for example Hirsh (1980) has presented tangible support as the extent to which an individual feels relieved of burdens by provision of money and/ or assistance with tasks, while Sherbourne and Stewart (1991) have identified tangible support as provision of material aids and behavioural assistance. In a similar manner, House (1981) has defined tangible assistance as instrumental support and coded it as money, time, in-kind assistance, and performing tasks. Previous studies have indicated that tangible support from family is one factor that is closely related to compliance with medical treatment (DiMatteo, 2004).

#### **3.2.6.3** Emotional support

Emotional support refers to a person's efforts to prevent or alleviate a negative impact on another (Heller and Rook, 1997). It provides love, care, and concern when in contact with recipients. According to Cutrona and Suhr (1992) emotional support can be coded as a '*relationship*' that emphasises the role of love and proximity in relationships with subjects, '*physical affection*' provides physical contact such as hugs, hand holding, kissing and shoulder patting. Moreover, it can also coded as 'confidentiality' certifying that the problems of recipients are kept in confidence, 'empathy' expresses similarity of the recipient's problem and understanding the situation, 'sympathy' includes expression of distress, grief or unhappiness at the condition of the recipient, 'listening' compromises of sympathetic comments on the recipient's words. Emotional support can also be coded as 'prayer' including praying with the recipient or as 'encouragement' providing hope and confidence to the recipient.

Emotional support has also been listed as a dimension of social support within other models (Hirsh, 1980; House, 1981; Sherbourne and Stewart, 1991). Hirish (1980) divided emotional support into five subcategories; affection, care, comfort, love and empathy. House (1981) suggests that emotional support is the commonest identified dimension of social support and it is usually provided by family and close friends. He shares two subcategories with Hirsh (love and caring) and added three other subcategories, which are empathy, concern and trust. In addition, Sherbourne and Stewart (1991) have expressed emotional support as the extent of positive effect, empathetic understanding and encouragement of the expression of feelings.

Emotional support has an effect on health, for example previous studies have found a relationship between emotional support and high positive impact and lower negative impact in people living with HIV/AIDS (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2004). There also appears to be an association between emotional support from a partner and patient adjustment to disease (DeLongis *et al.*, 2004; Revenson *et al.*, 2005), and numerous studies have found that emotional support from a spouse is related to coping and recovery from cancer (Helgeson, 1993; Revenson, 1994).

# 3.2.6.4 Social network support

Social network support includes interactions with individuals who share similar interests and concerns. It is usually coded as '*access*' by ascertaining accessibility of subjects to new members, and '*presence*' which includes reminding the recipient that someone is listening to them and ready to provide support. This kind of support can also be coded as '*companion*'s, which includes reminding the recipients about the

availability of companions of individuals who have the same concern and experience (Cutrona and Suhr, 1992).

### 3.2.6.5 Esteem support

This kind of support comprises of confidence, ability and communication respect. It is usually coded as '*validation*' by expressing similar concern and agreement with the recipient, '*compliment*' by highlighting and positively assessing the ability of the recipients, or it can be coded as '*relief of blame*' by reducing the blame and feeling of guilt that might be expressed by the recipient about the situation (Cutrona and Suhr, 1992).

In summary, the classification of social support depends on the way it is expressed, since it can either refer to particular supportive actions such as "enacted support" or refer to the presence of particular people who have the ability to offer the required help, termed "perceived support".

# 3.2.7 Social support and health

A great deal of research has investigated the influence of social support on health (Lin *et al.*, 1985; Cohen, 1988; Heitzmann and Kaplan, 1988; Bloom, 1990) and a range of observational and intervention studies have evaluated the relation between social support and consequent outcomes (Helgeson and Cohen, 1996).

These studies appear to suggest that social support has been constantly linked to physical and mental health. For example, more sub-clinical symptoms of anxiety and depression have been reported amongst individuals with low levels of social support than amongst those with high levels of support (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Barrera, 1986;) with higher degrees of major mental disorders were reported in those with lower levels of support. These higher degrees of mental disorders comprise; social phobia (Torgrud *et al.*, 2004), post-traumatic stress disorder (Brewin *et al.*, 2000), severe depressive disorders (Lakey and Cronin, 2008), panic disorders (Huang *et al.*, 2010), eating disorders (Grisset and Novell, 1992; Stice *et al.*, 2002) and dysthymic disorders (Klein *et al.*, 1988).

People with lower levels of social support may also experience more suicidal thoughts (Casey *et al.*, 2006) and more drug and alcohol problems (Wills and Cleary, 1996, Stice *et al.*, 1998) and comparable results have also been recorded in children (Chu *et al.*, 2010). In addition, people with lower levels of social support who have Schizophrenia may exhibit more symptoms (Norman *et al.*, 2005).

In relation to physical health more cardiovascular diseases were recorded in people with low levels of social support (Uchino, 2009, Hoit-Lunstad *et al.*, 2010), with reported lower rates of immunity and higher levels of infection (Kiecolt-Glaser *et al.*, 2002; Uchino, 2006).

Cobb (1976) reports that socially supported people experience the feeling of being cared for/ or being a part of reciprocal interpersonal promise system, so this appears to implicate the quality of interactions with others. This is supported by Craighead *et al.*, (2002) who propose that there is a relationship between emotional support and social contacts, since emotional support increases with developing social contact, and individuals who are socially supported address stressful or unpleasant conditions more effectively than those who lack social support. Their final caveat suggests that those who lack social support may be more vulnerable to poorer mental and physical health.

Social support has been studied widely from the perspective of psychosocial reactions to many medical conditions including cancer, and since this thesis is related to people with H&N cancer, more details on the relationships of social support with cancer in general and H&N cancer in particular are discussed below.

# 3.2.7.1 Social support and cancer

The social environment may be an essential area in cancer research, since its features have been shown to encourage well-being and reduce the impact of stressful life events (Cohen and Will, 1985). Although the experience of cancer depends on several factors such as patient's demographics, cancer site and stage and type of treatment, it is suggested that cancer patients face a group of common psychosocial problems and

similar requirements that can be organised by individuals in their social environment (Helgeson and Cohen, 1996).

The varying definitions of the concept of social support as well as the inconsistent classification of its types and dimensions has led to inconsistent and mixed findings regarding the role of social support in cancer progress (Nausheen *et al.*, 2009). A relatively large number of studies have been conducted on the relationship of social support and cancers from many aspects throughout the last few decades. This body of work has recently been reviewed by several researchers (De Boer *et al.*, 1999b; Hoodin and Weber, 2003; Thaxton *et al.*, 2005; Falagas *et al.*, 2007; Nausheen *et al.*, 2009).

De Boer et al. (1999b) reviewed the literature on the psychosocial relationship of cancer relapse and survival in the period from 1979 to 1995. The reviewed studies have illustrated that the factors most commonly assessed were anxiety, depression, helplessness, marital status, hostility and social involvement, but results were inconsistent. However, the strongest verification for an association between psychosocial variables and prognosis was observed for social support (social involvement) in seven of the 15 studies reviewed. A positive association (that social support related to better prognosis) was established whereas no negative relationships were observed. As regards the inconsistent results, a number of methodological limitations related to sample size, study design, and statistical analysis were listed. For example, small sample sizes were apparent in many studies and sometimes patients in different stages of cancer and with different types of cancer were studied In numerous studies, the outcome variables differed and unsuitable together. statistical methods were used in several studies for analysis. Moreover, although several studies were longitudinal /prospective in design, follow-up times were often short and varied considerably across studies. Furthermore, most studies lacked any substantive theoretical framework to guide the choice of variables, hypotheses or subsequent data analysis.

Hoodin and Weber (2003) reviewed the databases for studies of psychosocial variables that influence survival in patients who undergo bone marrow transplants. The authors suggest that although some studies found an association between psychosocial factors

and survival, the most methodologically sound studies indicate that survival in patients with bone marrow transplantation is essentially influenced by psychopathological factors or social support.

Another review of cancer support groups conducted by Thaxton *et al.* (2005) focus on prostate cancer. Before this study, there were several studies dealing with support groups for females with breast cancer suggesting that support groups can improve the psychological functioning dramatically and may increase longevity in some cases. What the Thaxton *et al.* study adds to the existing knowledge base is that informational support was especially valued by men with prostate cancer who were members of a support group, especially if it was open-ended large group and efficiently structured in the presence of a healthcare professional.

More recently, a systematic review (Falagas *et al.*, 2007) was conducted to analyse the evidence concerned with the influence of psychosocial factors on the survival of women with breast cancer. In this review, 31 studies of psychosocial relationships through cancer relapse and survival and on the effect of psychological interference on survival were reviewed between 1979 and 2006. More than 80% of the studies showed a significant association between at least one psychosocial variable and cancer outcomes. Social support was one of the factors that related to better prognosis of breast cancer, while depression and constraint of emotions were related to decreased survival of breast cancer. However, not all the studies verified the role of these parameters. The actual psychosocial factors that linked to survival were not consistently measured among the studies, and results for many factors with recurrence/ survival were not uniform.

The previous reviews have not addressed many of the concerns related to social support in detail possibly due to the involvement of a series of psychosocial factors and the limited availability of associated studies. A recent systematic review conducted by Nausheen *et al.* (2009) partially addresses the concerns in recognising and summarising the evidence for the properties of social networks represented by the structural aspects of social and functional support. In this review, a thorough search was established through Web of Science, Medline and PsycINFO electronic data bases for the relationship of social support and cancer to include articles from 1970 to 2008.

Due to the high number of articles that deal with breast cancer, the studies were subcategorised into breast cancer, other cancers rather than breast cancer and mixed cancers which include articles with more than one kind of cancers. A number of 31 longitudinal prospective studies were included, and classified social support into functional and structured support.

Results of the above review indicated sufficiently strong evidence for the association between support and cancer progression for females with breast cancer. However, the evidence appeared unconvincing for other cancers or for studies that included more than one kind of cancer. This review found that structural support indices were more commonly related to cancer progression than that of functional support in cases of breast cancer. In addition, the role of psychosocial variables in cancer-related results is dependent on many cancer related factors such as treatment site, severity and metastasis. It has been suggested that the functional features of social support (for example emotional support), the structural features and social network (such as size), all have been linked to cancer mortality (Reynolds and Kaplan, 1990; Glanz and Lerman, 1992).

Social support has also been related to QoL of patients, since single studies and reviews have suggested that emotional support is positively related to HRQoL outcomes in a number of patients with cancer (Courten *et al.*, 1996; Helgeson and Cohen, 1996), with a number of researchers reporting positive correlations between the level of support and the degree of emotional and psychological well-being (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Ell *et al.*, 1992; Krishnasamy, 1996; de leeuw *et al.*, 2000b), since social support can buffer or diminish the negative effects of diagnosis and treatment of cancer (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Komproe and Rijken 1995; Ruiter, 1995). However, some studies reported that social support might also have negative effects (Wortman, 1984; Komproe *et al.*, 1997). This may include unfavourable forms of support such as overprotection or reinforcement of health-damaging actions.

Although the results are general and not specific, the literature has indicated that greater levels of social support were related to improved adjustment in cancer patients generally (Weisman *et al.*, 1980; Bloom, 1982; Bloom and Spiegel, 1984; Dunkel-Shetter 1984; Neuling and Winefield, 1988; Zemore and Shepel, 1989; Robers *et al.*,

1994). Improved psychological adjustment together with social support itself have been indicated in many studies to have an impact on QoL of patients with various cancers (Watson *et al.*, 1984; Di Clement and Temoshock, 1985; Greer, 1985; Watson *et al.*, 1991; Stanter and Snider, 1993; Roberts *et al.*, 1994; Hann *et al.*, 1995; Thomas and Mark, 1995, Wagner *et al.*, 1995), and some researchers have suggested that they can also influence survival in patients with some types of cancer such as melanoma (Fawzy *et al.*, 1993) and breast cancer (Greer *et al.*, 1990; Ell *et al.*, 1992; Maunsell *et al.*, 1995).

Many of the studies that have been conducted on the relationship between social support and cancers (other than H&N cancer) have highlighted the role of social support in improving patient outcomes. For example, Goodwin (2005) suggests that support groups can improve the psychological outcomes of patients with metastatic breast cancer. Social support has also been found to be beneficial for cancers in adolescence and childhood. For example, Decker (2007) reviewed 17 studies, although mainly exploratory and descriptive in nature, and concludes that support, from both family and friends, was valued for adolescent cancer survivors, with support from parents being of greater importance and more significance. One suggestion is that social support is an important factor in determining QoL in adolescent cancer survivors, although the relationship seems to be complex (Spangler, 2009).

To sum up, although the varying definitions of the concept of social support, as well as the inconsistent classification of its types and dimensions, has led to contrasting and conflicting findings regarding the role of social support in cancer. Social support appears to be beneficial for cancer patients for many reasons. It has been associated with reducing the impact of stressful life events including the cancer itself, reducing mortality rates, improving psychological functioning and adjustment of patient's with cancer, encouraging well-being and HRQoL as well as improving patient survival and prognosis, and it may well increase longevity.

# 3.2.7.1.1 Social support and head and neck cancer

In spite of the large body of studies that investigate the relationship of social support to cancer, a relatively few studies have been conducted on the relationship between social support and H&N cancer. Social support might be of particular importance for this group of patients due to the anatomically sensitive location of these cancers in the H&N region and their functional and physical influences such as their effects on speech, swallowing and facial appearance. Details of the studies that have been conducted to date can be seen in Table 16.

| Author                                | Aim  | Study               | Sample              | Country                | Method   | Result   |
|---------------------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------------|------------------------|--|--|
| /date                                 |  | design              |                     |                        |  |  |
| Baker<br>(1992)                       | To evaluate the<br>effect of social<br>support,<br>disfigurement,<br>dysfunction and<br>mode of<br>treatment on<br>rehabilitation<br>outcomes                          | Cross-<br>sectional | 51<br>participants  | OHIO/<br>USA           | <ul> <li>The Sickness Impact Profile - 136-<br/>Item (<i>Gilson et al., 1975</i>) (Dependant<br/>variable rehabilitation outcomes)</li> <li>Personal Resources Questionnaire<br/>(<i>Brandt and Weinert, 1981</i>). (Perceived<br/>social support).</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>No siginificant relationship between<br/>facial disfigurement and<br/>rehabilitation outcomes</li> <li>Perceived social support was<br/>significantly related to rehabilitation.</li> <li>Different modes of treatment did not<br/>show significant differences in<br/>rehabilitation outcomes</li> </ul>   |
| Ma<br>(1996)                          | To evaluate the<br>perceived and<br>desired social<br>support from<br>family, friends<br>and health<br>professional in<br>patients with<br>nasopharyngeal<br>carcinoma | Cross-<br>sectional | 125<br>participants | Hong<br>Kong/<br>china | <ul> <li>Self-constructed scale (social support)</li> <li>Likert Scale (the degree of satisfaction)</li> <li>Anxiety and depression subscales of symptom check list (<i>Derogatis, and Savitz, 2000</i>) (Psychological distress )</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Patient's desire for social support<br/>was moderately strong during<br/>treatment and post treatment stages</li> <li>Patients sought support most<br/>frequently from health professional<br/>followed by family then friends</li> <li>Patients' satisfaction for 4 types of<br/>support (emotion, information,<br/>instrumental and affiliational) was<br/>moderately high.</li> </ul>  |
| Mathies<br>on <i>et al.</i><br>(1996) | To investigate<br>whether social<br>support play a<br>role in<br>improvement of<br>psychological<br>state and QoL of<br>H&N cancer<br>patients                         | Cross-<br>sectional | 45<br>participants  | Halifax/<br>Canada     | <ul> <li>Structured questionnaire contains <ul> <li>Demographics</li> <li>Medical variables</li> <li>The Social Support questionnaire (Sarason et al., 1983) (social support)</li> <li>Functional Living- Index Cancer Scale (Schipper et al. 1984; Schipper and Levitt, 1985) (for QoL)</li> <li>The Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff, 1977; Devins et al., 1988) (Psychological status)</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Four factors predicted quality of life:<br/>(severity of cancer, satisfaction with<br/>family physician support, type of<br/>cancer and sex of patient).</li> <li>Three predictors of psychological<br/>state: (family physician support, loss<br/>of appetite, and sex of patient).</li> <li>Social support, especially from<br/>family physician, have a great role in<br/>improvement of psychological state<br/>and QoL in H&amp;N cancer patients</li> </ul> |

| De<br>Leeuw<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2000 a) | To evaluate the<br>effect of<br>different<br>features of<br>social support in<br>depression<br>symptoms in<br>patients with<br>H&N cancer<br>treated with<br>surgery and /or<br>radiotherapy. | Cross-<br>sectional | 208<br>participants | Utrecht/<br>The<br>Netherlan<br>ds | - | Social Support List Interaction<br>(received support).<br>Social Provision scale ( <i>Cutrona and</i><br><i>Russel, 1987</i> ) (Available support).<br>CES- D Scale ( <i>Radloff, 1977; Devins et</i><br><i>al., 1988</i> ) (Depression symptoms)<br>EORTC and QoL Core<br>questionnaire ( <i>Aaronson et al., 1993</i> )<br>(General health complaints)   | - | Clear relationship between social<br>support and depression symptoms<br>was noticed particularly in patients<br>with few complaints.<br>The availability of social support is<br>advantageous for all cases.<br>The effect of perceived support was<br>unclear.<br>4. Provision of support should be<br>modified according to patient's need.  |
|--|---|---------------------|---------------------|------------------------------------|---|--|---|--|
| De<br>Leeuw<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2000b)  | To evaluate<br>whether pre-<br>treatment<br>variables are<br>valued in<br>predicting<br>depression 6 and<br>12 months later   | Cross-<br>sectional | 155<br>participants | Utrecht/<br>The<br>Netherlan<br>ds | - | Social Support List Interaction (Van<br>Sonderen, 1991)<br>The Inventory of Socially Supportive<br>Behaviors (Barrera et al., 1981).<br>Social Provision Scale (Cutrona and<br>Russel, 1987) (Social support)<br>Utrecht coping List (Komproe and<br>Rijken, 1995) (Coping)<br>Cancer Locus of Control Scale.<br>(Pruyn et al., 1988; Watson et al., 1990)<br>(Locus of control)<br>Center for Epidemiologic Studies—<br>Depression scale (Eaton et al., 2004).<br>(Depression symptoms)<br>European Organization for Research<br>and Treatment of Cancer Quality of<br>Life Core Questionnaire (EORTC)<br>C30+35 (Aaronson et al., 1993)<br>(General physical symptoms and<br>physical functioning) | - | Emotional support and extent of<br>social network before treatment are<br>factors in determining which patients<br>are at risk of suffering from<br>depression symptoms after<br>treatment.<br>It was possible to predict patients<br>who would have symptoms at 6<br>(81%) and 12 months (67%) after<br>treatment by using five variables<br>(emotional support, depressive<br>symptoms, physical symptoms,<br>avoidance coping and extent of the<br>social network). |

| Hassane<br>in<br>(2001)                | To investigate<br>the relationship<br>between<br>functional status<br>and depression,<br>anxiety, coping<br>style and the<br>quality and<br>quantity of<br>social support  | Cross-<br>sectional | 68<br>participants | Manchest<br>er/ UK. | - | UW- QoL questionnaire (Hassan and<br>Weymuller, 1993) (Patient evaluation)<br>Hospital Anxiety and Depression<br>scale (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983)<br>(Anxiety and depression)<br>Mental Adjustment to Cancer<br>Questionnaire (Watson et al., 1988)<br>(Patients' adjustment)<br>Short Form Questionnaire (Sarason et<br>al., 1987) (Perceived social support)  | - | While the worse functional domain<br>was associated with depression,<br>anxiety, and ineffective coping, level<br>of social support and satisfaction<br>with that support was associated with<br>better functional score.   |
|--|--|---------------------|--------------------|---------------------|---|---|---|---|
| List <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(2002) | To explain the<br>pre-treatment<br>coping<br>approaches of<br>H&N cancer<br>patients who<br>were receiving<br>concentrated<br>radio-<br>chemotherapy<br>and to<br>investigate the<br>relation between<br>coping and<br>demographics<br>and QOL | Cross-<br>sectional | 79<br>participants | Chicago/<br>USA     | - | <ul> <li>Ways of Coping -Cancer Version<br/>(Dunkel-Schetter et al., 1992)</li> <li>Function assessment of cancer<br/>therapy-Head and Neck (Cella et al.,<br/>1993 and 1994)</li> <li>Performance status Scale for H&amp;N<br/>Cancer Patients (List et al., 1996)</li> <li>Karnofsky Performance Status</li> <li>Rating Scale (Karnofsky and Burchenal,<br/>1949)</li> <li>5. The GAGE (Ewing, 1984)</li> </ul> | - | Patients with H&N cancer used a<br>variety of coping strategies, the<br>greatest portion of whole coping<br>effort (25%) was represented by<br>social support seeking behaviours.<br>Using avoidant coping strategies was<br>associated with poorer QOL.                        |
| Katz <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(2003) | To assess the<br>psychosocial<br>impact of<br>gender,<br>disfigurement<br>and social<br>support after<br>surgical  | Cross-<br>sectional | 82<br>participants | Toronto/<br>Canada  | - | Disfigurement Rating Scale ( <i>Katz et al., 2000</i> ) (Disfigurement)<br>Standardised Coping Sheet<br>(Abstracting medical variable)<br>The Medical Outcome Study Social<br>Support Survey ( <i>Sherbourne and Stewart, 1991</i> ) (Social support)<br>Three other measures were used to  | - | Women who experienced facial<br>disfigurement and low levels of<br>social support were at highest risk<br>for psychosocial dysfunction.<br>It seems that social support buffers<br>the influence of high levels of<br>disfigurement on well-being for<br>women but not for men. |

|                                   | treatment for<br>H&N tumour  |                      |                     |                          | assess subjective QoL.   | - | Participants with greater<br>disfigurement were more depressed   |
|-----------------------------------|--|----------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|--|---|--|
| Karnell<br>et al.<br>(2007)       | To investigate<br>the association<br>between social<br>support and<br>H&N cancer<br>specific- QoL<br>outcomes  | Cross-<br>sectional  | 394<br>participants | Iowa/<br>USA             | <ul> <li>Patients filled out surveys addressing<br/>HRQoL</li> <li>Social Provisions Scale (<i>Cutrona and</i><br/><i>Russel</i>, 1987) (Perceived social<br/>support)</li> <li>Head and Neck Cancer Inventory<br/>and Beck Depression Inventory (<i>Beck</i><br/>, 1972)</li> <li>(HRQoL outcome)</li> <li>The Medical Outcomes Study Short-<br/>Form 36 (<i>Ware and Sherbourne 1992</i>)</li> </ul>               | - | Greater levels of social support were<br>significantly linked to greater scores<br>in general mental health, speech,<br>social disruption, aesthetics, and<br>some depression symptoms<br>Given this association between<br>social support and HRQoL<br>outcomes, adjustment of perceived<br>social support by clinical<br>interventions might improve the<br>survival rate in the H&N cancer<br>patients. |
| Chueh<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2009)  | To identify the<br>influence of<br>social support<br>on depression<br>and anxiety in<br>patients with<br>oral cancer                                   | Randomise<br>d trial | 134<br>participants | Chang<br>Gung/<br>Taiwan | <ul> <li>Patients take part in 3 arms randomised<br/>trial and were evaluated for depression<br/>and anxiety status by:</li> <li>Hospital Anxiety and Depression<br/>Scale (<i>Zigmond and Snaith, 1983</i>)</li> <li>Social Support Questionnaire<br/>(<i>Sarason et al., 1983</i>)</li> <li>Patients were evaluated 3 times (pre<br/>surgery, 2 weeks after surgery and at<br/>discharge from hospital)</li> </ul> | - | Patients with oral cavity experience<br>depression and anxiety from<br>admission to discharge. However,<br>concentrated social support care can<br>significantly improve this condition<br>during admission.   |
| Howren<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2011) | To understand<br>the influence of<br>social support at<br>diagnosis<br>(before<br>treatment) on<br>HRQoL<br>outcomes in<br>H&N cancer<br>patients at 2 | Longitudin<br>al     | 366<br>participants | Iowa /<br>USA            | <ul> <li>Beck Depression Inventory<br/>(depression Symptoms)</li> <li>SF- 3 (HRQoL)</li> <li>Patients evaluated at diagnosis and then<br/>at 3 and 12 months post treatment</li> </ul>   | - | The score of social support available<br>before commencement of treatment<br>can have a significant effect on<br>depression and HRQoL with time in<br>patients with H&N cancer.  |

|  | particular post-<br>treatment point<br>of time.  |                     |                     |                   |   |   |   |  |
|--|--|---------------------|---------------------|-------------------|---|---|---|--|
| Deno <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(2012) | To investigate<br>how self-<br>efficacy and<br>social support<br>mediate the<br>relationship<br>between<br>emotional<br>distress and<br>social distress in<br>patients with<br>H&Ncancer                         | Cross-<br>sectional | 225<br>participants | Tokyo /<br>Japan. |   | Social Support Scale (Okabayashi et al.,<br>1997)<br>The Self-Efficacy for Advanced<br>Cancer measure (Hirai et al., 2001)<br>Social Distress Scale (Deno et al., N.D)<br>EORTC QLQ-H&N35 (Bjordal et al.,<br>1994)<br>Hospital Anxiety and Depression<br>Scale (HADS) (Zigmond and Snaith,<br>1983)  | - | The negative impact of social<br>distress on emotional distress was<br>strongly buffered by self-efficacy<br>Direct or indirect influence on<br>emotional distress caused by social<br>support from family members<br>Lower social distress and higher<br>emotional distress were related to<br>support from friends |
| Milbury<br>and<br>Badr<br>(2012)       | To study the<br>relationship<br>between actual<br>observed<br>support<br>behaviours and<br>avoidance and<br>cognitive<br>intrusion in<br>patients newly<br>diagnosed with<br>H&N cancer<br>and their<br>partners | Cross-<br>sectional | 60<br>participants  | Texas/<br>USA     | - | An explicit measure of cognitive<br>intrusion and avoidance included in<br>baseline questionnaires<br>A problem-solving discussion task<br>immediately in the laboratory<br>The Social Support Interaction<br>Coding System (SSICS) ( <i>Floyd et</i><br><i>al.,1987</i> ) for coding video-recorded<br>discussions.<br>An implicit measure of cognitive<br>intrusion (Cancer Stroop Task<br>(CST). | - | Receiving more positive support<br>behaviours related to slower reaction<br>times on the CST which indicate<br>greater cognitive intrusion.  |
| Penedo<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2012)      | To assess<br>alterations in<br>perceived<br>availability of<br>social support  | Cross-<br>sectional | 32<br>participants  | Florida,<br>USA   | - | The ENRICHD Social Support<br>instrument (ESSI) (perceived social<br>support)<br>The Functional Assessment of<br>Cancer Therapy-Head & Neck   | - | Perceived social support reduced<br>significantly from pre-treatment to<br>post- treatment<br>Change in perceived social support a<br>significant predictor of post-   |

|                                   | from pr-<br>etreatment to<br>post-treatment<br>and to identify<br>whether declines<br>in perceived<br>social support<br>predicted worse<br>post- treatment<br>disease-specific<br>QoL among<br>people with<br>H&N cancer |                     |                     |               | (FACT-H&N) (Cella et al., 1993, 1994)<br>(Disease-Specific- QOL).  | treatment and disease-specific- QOL<br>After adjusting for related covariates<br>and pre-treatment disease-specific<br>QOL,                                  |
|-----------------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------------|---------------|--|--|
| Howren<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2013) | To explore<br>whether pre-<br>treatment social<br>support<br>predicted QOL<br>outcomes up to<br>12 months later<br>in survivors of<br>H&N cancer   | Cross-<br>sectional | 364<br>participants | Iowa /<br>USA | <ul> <li>The Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) (Ware and Sherbourne, 1992)</li> <li>Head and Neck Cancer Inventory (HNCI) (Funk and Karnell, 2003)</li> </ul> | - More perceived social support at<br>diagnosis significantly predicted<br>better global and H&N cancer-<br>specific HRQoL at follow-up (3 and<br>12-month). |

Table 16: Studies on the relationship between social support and head and neck cancer

Since H&N cancer may interrupt the normal daily activities of patients as a result of changes to normal eating, speech and facial aesthetics (Pruyn *et al.*, 1986; Penner, 2009), social support may be of particular importance for this group. As can be seen from Table 16, outcomes of the studies that have investigated this area suggest that social support does appear to exert a positive influence for patients with H&N cancer, especially in relation to reducing the impact of anxiety, depression or depressive symptoms. For example, a higher degree of patient-reported available social support was linked to lesser depressive symptoms (de leeuw *et al.*, 2000a). In addition, social support care could significantly improve the levels of depression and anxiety during admission to hospital (Chueh *et al.*, 2009). Regarding the timing of support, level of pre-treatment social support could have a significant effect on level of depression and score of QoL of the H&N cancer patients over time (with progress of time) (List *et al.*, 2002; Howren *et al.*, 2011). In addition, pre-treatment support may also determine which patients are at risk of depression after treatment.

The studies in the table also indicate that social support might play an important role in improving both psychosocial (Mathieson *et al.*, 1996) and functional states (Hassanein *et al.*, 2001) of patients with H&N cancer, and is significantly associated with better HRQoL outcomes (Karnell *et al.*, 2007; Howren *et al.*, 2011, Penedo *et al.*, 2012; Howren et *al.*, 2013). Contrasting studies have investigated the role of social support in adjustment to H&N cancer and suggest that perceived social support relates to positive adjustment (Baker, 1992; de leeuw *et al.*, 2000a), particularly amongst females where better adjustment to disfigurement is reported (Katz *et al.*, 2003).

However, the majority of these studies are retrospective or cross-sectional and the findings of some of them were equivocal with no statistically significant findings. In addition, some of them depend on relatively small samples and none of the studies have examined online support. Online support may be of great benefit to this group of patients, because of the issues around visual impairment and communication. This is explored in more depth in Chapter 3, Section 3.3.
#### Summary

Although there is an extensive amount of research concerning the nature of social support and its dimensions, there appears to be no consensus concerning its meaning. Some researchers have identified three distinctive subtypes of social support; perceived support, enacted support and social integration, each having a different relationship with health. Numerous theories have also been suggested to explain the link between social support and health. The most common of these are stress and coping theory, life span theory, and relational regulation theory. Moreover, several frameworks have been established to identify the possible dimensions of social support, under which social support has been divided into many subcategories.

Research has investigated the influence of social support on health and suggested that social support has been consistently linked to both physical and mental health outcomes. Social support has been studied widely from the perspective of psychosocial reactions for many medical conditions, including cancer, and a relatively large number of studies have been conducted on the role of social support in cancer. In contrast, only a few studies have been found in relation to H&N cancer, and these suggest that social support does appear to exert a positive influence.

#### **3.2.8** Social support and social networks

The Social network of the individual is differentiated from social support because whilst social support refers to the received emotional support that a person can obtain from social relationships, social network ties represent the amount, pattern and configuration of ties that connect the individual with another or with organisations (Craighead *et al.*, 2002). One of the most important differences is the quality and type of support supplied by network members (Marmot and Wilkinson, 2006).

Social network can be subdivided into the number of primary group contacts (a group of individuals to which the person is most attached) and more distant contacts are not expected to supply significant support (Seemnan and Syme, 1987; Marmot and Wilkinson, 2006).

Density of the network is considered as another important measure, which subsequently provides an overview about the integration of network members (Yogt *et al.*, 1992; Marmot and Wilkinson, 2006). These network measures are characterised by their relative ease of measure, recall by respondents in surveys, and verification by external evaluators. In addition, these measures can give an indicator of social integration, but do not supply any index regarding the quality of the interaction occurring in social contacts (Berkam and Syme, 1979, Kawachi *et al.*, 1996; Marmot and Wilkinson, 2006).

## 3.2.8.1 Social network and cancer

Several studies have been conducted on the relationship between social networks and cancer (Goodwin *et al.*, 1991; de Ruiter *et al.*, 1993; Guidry *et al.*, 1997; Michael *et al.*, 2002; Sapp *et al.*, 2003; Bauer *et al.*, 2005; Kroenke *et al.*, 2006; Beasley *et al.*, 2010; Pinquart and Duberstein, 2010). However, none of them have dealt specifically with H&N cancer. A brief description of the studies on social networks and cancer can be seen in Table 17.

| Author                                  | Aim   | Study               | Sample   | Country                        | Method  | Result  |
|---|---|---------------------|--|--------------------------------|---|---|
| Goodwi                                  | To evaluate the   | Cross-              | 799  | Milwaukee/                     | Patients were assessed for  | - Having a poor social network was  |
| n <i>et al.</i><br>(1991)               | social networks and<br>functional status of<br>old people newly<br>diagnosed with<br>cancer                                       | sectional           | participants   | USA                            | functional limitations and social<br>support network  | <ul> <li>Flaving a poor social network was predicted by being non-Hispanic white ethnicity, advanced age, low income, and being a recent migrant to the area.</li> <li>More likely to see poor social support networks in individuals with functional limitations than individuals without such limitations.</li> <li>The destructive combination of restricted social support network and impaired functional status can clarify the cause of increased risk in oldercancer patients for not receiving proper treatment</li> </ul> |
| Welin<br>et al.<br>(1992)               | To investigate the<br>association between<br>social network and<br>activities and some<br>causes of mortality<br>including cancer | Prospecti<br>ve     | 989<br>participants                                    | Gothenburg<br>/ Sweden.        | The sample attended a health<br>examination and completed two<br>questionnaires. The procedure<br>was repeated after 10 years for the<br>existing patients, who had been<br>followed 12 years later.                          | <ul> <li>Cancer mortality was associated with<br/>few number in a household, reduced<br/>levels of social activities and poor<br/>perceived health,</li> <li>A good social network (measured as a<br/>high level of activities socially, at home,<br/>and outside home) for middle aged men<br/>can protect them against non-cancer<br/>mortality</li> </ul>  |
| de<br>Ruiter<br><i>et al.</i><br>(1993) | To investigate the<br>influence of social<br>network and social<br>interaction on QoL<br>of patients with<br>cancer               | Cross-<br>sectional | 409<br>participants<br>Surgery<br>(N=109)<br>Chemother | Groningen/<br>Netherland<br>s. | <ul> <li>Scale constructed with a four<br/>point Likert Index to measure<br/>social network support</li> <li>Tempelaar Scale (Tempelaar et<br/>al., 1987) for +ve and -ve<br/>experience in social<br/>interaction</li> </ul> | Social network and social relations was<br>related to better quality of life. However,<br>variations in QoL related to these<br>components were very small.   |

|  |  |                     | apy (N=<br>108)<br>Ex- patients<br>(N=192) |                  | - Social constructed<br>questionnaire for components<br>of QoL  |   |
|--|--|---------------------|--|------------------|---|---|
| Guidry<br>et al.<br>(1997)             | To investigate the<br>role of formal and<br>informal social<br>network among<br>different racial<br>groups of cancer<br>patients | Retrospec<br>tive   | 593  | Texas/<br>USA    | Patients were intended to<br>complete self-constructed survey<br>regarding their participation in<br>social network groups.   | The patients of all ethnic/ racial groups<br>indicated that formal support groups<br>supplies emotional help. In addition,<br>Hispanics and Blacks reported that informal<br>social network were more helpful   |
| Michael<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2002)     | To evaluate the<br>effect of social<br>network on HRQoL<br>in breast cancer<br>survivors   | Cross-<br>sectional | 708  | Portland/<br>USA | <ul> <li>Women completed questionnaire<br/>in average 4 years post diagnosis<br/>include:</li> <li>Cancer Rehabilitation<br/>Evaluated System Short Form<br/>(Schag et al., 1991 and 1993)<br/>(HRQoL)</li> <li>Modified Berkman- Syme<br/>Social Network Index (Berkman<br/>and Syme, 1979) (social network<br/>ties)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>The most socially integrated women<br/>were less adversely affected by breast<br/>cancer compared to socially isolated<br/>women</li> <li>Social interaction at pre-diagnosis level<br/>is a significant factor in the future<br/>HRQoL among breast cancer patients<br/>and it seems to explain more of the<br/>variations in HRQoL than tumour<br/>features or treatment.</li> </ul> |
| Sapp <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(2003) | To investigate the<br>HRQoL among<br>females with long-<br>term colorectal<br>cancer survivors in<br>relation to social          | Cross-<br>sectional | 307  | Madison/<br>USA. | <ul> <li>Short Form health survey (SF-<br/>36) (Ware and Sherbourne, 1992)<br/>(HRQoL)</li> <li>A modified version of<br/>Berkman- Syme Social<br/>Network Index (Berkman and</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Mental health was positively associated<br/>with:</li> <li>Individual measures of social network<br/>(number of friends and relatives)</li> <li>Composite measures of network<br/>(number of ties viewed at least once<br/>monthly, network size and overall social</li> </ul>   |

|   | network  |                                     |       |                       | <i>Syme, 1979)</i> (social network)   | connectedness)  |
|---|--|-------------------------------------|-------|-----------------------|---|---|
| Bauer <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i><br>(2005) | To explore the<br>topology of social<br>network and<br>perceived social<br>support in<br>American Indian<br>cancer survivors | Case-<br>control                    |       | Rochester,<br>NY/ USA | Exploring the social network<br>topology and perceived social<br>support in both cases (American<br>Indian cancer survivors and<br>control)   | <ul> <li>Expressive social supports (eg, friendship, moral support, companionship, advice and encouragement) were highly ranked through each component of the network. However, there were no significant variations between case and control groups.</li> <li>The family appeared to be the main source of social support compared with community /church or the best/ closest friend.</li> </ul>  |
| Kroenk<br>e <i>et al.</i><br>2006       | To evaluate social<br>support, networks<br>and survival in<br>women after being<br>diagnosed with<br>breast cancer           | Prospecti<br>ve<br>Longitudi<br>nal | 2,835 | Oakland,<br>CA/ USA.  | <ul> <li>Data on social network and social support was collected from women diagnosed with breast cancer from 1992 to 2002.</li> <li>Social networks were assessed 3 times with 4 years period apart using Berkman-Syme Social Network Index (<i>Berkman and Syme, 1979</i>)</li> <li>Social support was assessed two times with 8 years period</li> <li>Cox Proportional Hazards Models (<i>Cox, 1972</i>) was used to analysis of social support and network</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Socially isolated women (before diagnosis) had a two-fold increased risk of mortality due to breast cancer and a 66% increased risk of mortality due to all causes compared with women who were socially integrated.</li> <li>Women without children, close relatives or friends had high risks of all-cause mortality and breast cancer mortality compared with the most socially integrated women.</li> <li>Neither participation in community or religious activities nor having a confidant was related to the results.</li> <li>Women who were socially isolated had a high risk of mortality after being diagnosed with breast cancer</li> </ul> |

| Leimeis                                      | To study whether  | Cross-            | 301          | Kassel/              | Influencing factors on the   | - | Online relationships for patients took   |
|--|---|-------------------|--------------|----------------------|--|---|--|
| Cagliar                                      | OSGs meet their<br>theoretical potential<br>to offer an<br>atmosphere in<br>which social<br>relationships can<br>take place and help<br>people with cancer<br>to cope with their<br>conditions. | sectional         | participants | Germany.             | <ul> <li>formation of virtual relationships<br/>and their effect in the form of<br/>social assistance are researched<br/>using an explorative approach.</li> <li>An explorative research<br/>approach (<i>Bortz and Doering</i>,<br/>2002).</li> <li>Online questionnaire<br/>(<i>Leimeisteret al.</i>, 2008)</li> </ul> | - | place in OSGs and play an essential role<br>in accessing the social needs of the<br>patients<br>The perceived disadvantages of OSGs<br>and the intensity of general internet<br>usage (active posting vs. lurking) are<br>important factors for the formation of<br>online relationships for patients<br>More than 61% of the changes of<br>perceived social assistance of cancer<br>patients were explained by cancer-<br>related online relationships.   |
| Gagliar<br>di <i>et al.</i><br>(2009)        | To assess the areas<br>of anxiety,<br>depression and<br>social support in<br>patients with breast<br>cancer and healthy<br>control respondents  | Case -<br>control |              | Ancona/<br>Italy.    | A sample of patient with breast<br>cancer was compared with<br>healthy control respondents using<br>structural model of social network   | - | Women with breast cancer exhibited<br>denser and smaller networks and higher<br>degrees of depression and anxiety<br>compared with healthy women,<br>Social support and social network<br>measures correlated in a difference<br>ways with anxiety and depression in the<br>two cohorts.   |
| Pinquar<br>t and<br>Duberst<br>ein<br>(2010) | To analyse the<br>association of<br>social network with<br>cancer mortality   | Meta-<br>analysis | 87 studies   | Marburg/<br>Germany. | Samples of studies identified from<br>electronic database (Cochrane,<br>PSYNDEX. MEDLINE and<br>Psyclit)<br>- The variable has been coded<br>- Random- effects Models was<br>used for meta-analysis  | - | Divorced, widowed and /separated<br>patients had lower mortality rates than<br>never married patients<br>Younger patients exhibits stronger<br>relationships of mortality with social<br>network whereas associations of<br>mortality with marital status were<br>stronger in early-stage cancer in studies<br>with shorter time intervals<br>Relationships differed by cancer site,<br>since stronger relationships of social<br>support were noticed in studies of<br>patients with lymphomas and leukemia |

| Beasley<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2010) | To investigate the<br>association between<br>elements of social<br>interaction and<br>survival in a large<br>group of women<br>survived from<br>breast cancer   | Cross-<br>sectional | 4,589        | Seattle,<br>WA/ USA | <ul> <li>Berkman- Syme social<br/>Network Index (Berkman and<br/>Syme, 1979) (measure social<br/>support)</li> <li>Date for mortality was based<br/>on a national death index</li> </ul> | - | and stronger relationships with the size<br>of network were noticed in studies of<br>breast cancer<br>Elevated degrees on a measure of social<br>connectedness as measured by the rate<br>of attendance of religious services,<br>contacts with friend and family, and<br>contribution in the activities of<br>community was related to a 15-28% less<br>risk of mortality from any cause<br>Reverse trends were seen between all-<br>cause mortality and number of hours per<br>week occupied in community activities<br>as well as rate of attendance at religion<br>services<br>No relationship between breast cancer-<br>specific mortality and social networks<br>were identified<br>Participation in different activity outside<br>the home was related to lower general<br>mortality rates. |
|------------------------------------|---|---------------------|--------------|---------------------|--|---|--|
| Sjoland                            | To identify the   | Cross-              | 17           | Lund/               | An interview.  | - | The key attribute of the social support  |
| er <i>et al</i> .<br>(2012)        | meaning of social<br>support networks<br>for close family of<br>adult people with<br>gastrointestinal or<br>lung cancer in their<br>early stage of<br>treatment | sectional           | participants | Sweden.             | (The data has undergone<br>qualitative latent content analysis<br>and validated through identifying<br>critical attributes and antecedents)  | - | network was shown by the theme<br>"Confirmation through togetherness"<br>derived principally from<br>encouragement, spiritual community,<br>information, understanding and<br>involvement<br>As antecedents to social support, three<br>subthemes were emerged: Network to<br>turn to, Desire for a deeper relationship<br>with relatives and Need of support.<br>Social support contains reciprocal<br>exchange of information, verbally and  |

| non-verbally o   | ffered generally by lay    |
|--|----------------------------|
| persons.   |                            |
| MenezeTo describe theCross-69Sao Carlos/Convoy of Social Support (Kahn-Patients support                                      | sed that they offered      |
| s social support sectional participants Brazil. <i>and Antonucci, 1980</i> ) more support t                                  | han they received, except  |
| Rodrigu  | mon form of support        |
| es et al offered and rec   | ceived was "Respect" and   |
| the least comm   | non was "Caring in a       |
| (2012) situation of dis  | sease."                    |
| - The study show   | wed the relevancy of       |
| affective bolids   | imitation of families as   |
| the only suppo   | ortive bonds.              |
| KroenkTo clarify how bothProspecti4,530Oakland,Data collected from women- Being married                                      | was associated with        |
| e et al. social support and ve participants CA/USA. diagnosed with breast cancer from reduced all-cau                        | use mortality among        |
| (2012) social burden 1993 to 2009 on: women with hi  | igh but not low social     |
| (2012) influence the Longitudi - Social networks (spouse or By contract, m   | ora of first dagraa        |
| relationship nal intimate partner, religious ties, relatives com   | prising children parents   |
| between size of club ties, and number of first-<br>and siblings, h   | ad greater breast cancer   |
| social networks and degree relatives) before and all-cause r   | nortality among women      |
| level of breast diagnosis. with high but r   | not low social burden      |
| cancer mortality - Similar relation  | nship by social strain was |
| achieved althout   | ugh it was not influenced  |
| by level of soc  | stal support.              |
| not related to r   | nortality                  |
| Purinthr         To explore the         Case         5         Hat Yai/         Qualitative interview         - Women's pers | onal social networks were  |
| apibal characteristics of study participants Thailand (interviews, conversations, mainly family                              | work place-based and       |
| personal social personal social participants and observations, social network family-based o                                 | only with some overlap.    |
| <i>et al.</i> networks among Palmerston North (Now mapping and document analysis) - The majority o                           | of the relationships       |
| (2012) women with breast Zealand before diagnost   | ork members formed         |
| cancer in southern continued thro  | high the cancer course     |

|                                      | Thailand   |                                     |                       |                      |  | <ul> <li>Some women identified temporary relationships with health professionals in their social networks.</li> <li>Relationships with other breast cancer patients were mainly established during treatment phases and some continued after treatment.</li> <li>Characteristics of the network were influenced by illness experiences of the patients, the prior personal health and the network members.</li> </ul>  |
|--------------------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|--|--|
| Kroenk<br>e <i>et al.</i><br>(2013a) | To evaluate how<br>levels of social<br>support and burden<br>influence the<br>relationship<br>between size of<br>social networks and<br>breast cancer<br>mortality | Cohort<br>/study                    | 2264<br>participants  | Oakland,<br>CA/ USA. | <ul> <li>Data was taken from the Life</li> <li>After Cancer Epidemiology</li> <li>cohort study (<i>Caan et al.</i>, 2005)</li> <li>about womem diagnosed with</li> <li>breast cancer from 1997 to 2000</li> <li>and provided data on</li> <li>Social support,</li> <li>Social networks <ul> <li>(religious/social ties, spouse</li> <li>or intimate partner, number of</li> <li>first-degree female relatives</li> <li>volunteering and time</li> <li>socializing with friends)</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Women with both levels of support and<br/>small networks low had a considerably<br/>higher risk of death than women with<br/>high levels of support and larger<br/>networks</li> <li>No higher risk of death observed in<br/>women with high levels of support and<br/>small networks</li> <li>Depending on the burden and quality of<br/>family relationships, larger social<br/>networks can predict better prognosis<br/>after breast cancer.</li> </ul> |
| Kroenk<br>e <i>et al.</i><br>(2013b) | To examine<br>mechanisms<br>through which<br>social relationships<br>influence QoL in  | Prospecti<br>ve<br>Longitudi<br>nal | 3,139<br>participants | Oakland/<br>USA.     | <ul> <li>Data collected from women</li> <li>diagnosed with breast cancer</li> <li>between 2006 and 2011 on:</li> <li>Social support (informational support, emotional/ affection,</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Women who were characterized as<br/>socially isolated had significantly lower<br/>QoL, physical well-being, functional,<br/>social, and emotional scores and higher<br/>breast cancer symptoms compared with<br/>socially integrated women.</li> </ul>  |

| Ju et al. | survivors of breast<br>cancer<br>To investigate the  | Cross-    | 57  | Cleveland/ | <ul> <li>tangible support, positive<br/>social interaction)</li> <li>Social networks<br/>(religious/social ties, the<br/>presence of a spouse or<br/>intimate partner, numbers of<br/>close friends and relatives as<br/>well as volunteering)</li> <li>QoL, measured by the FACT-<br/>(<i>Cella et al., 199 and, 1994</i>) (2<br/>months post diagnosis)</li> </ul> | - | Every member of social network<br>predicted higher QOL independently.<br>Adjustment for social support and social<br>networks simultaneously, decreased<br>relationships between social networks<br>and QoL partially<br>QoL outcomes were predicted mostly<br>by "Positive social interaction"<br>Higher levels of social networks and<br>higher scores of social support were<br>related to better QoL after a diagnosis of<br>breast cancer  |
|-----------|--|-----------|---|------------|--|---|---|
| (2014)    | dynamics and<br>scope of the<br>support network of<br>African American<br>cancer patients and<br>to recognize<br>variables that may<br>influence social<br>support for African<br>American cancer<br>patients,<br>specifically those<br>who have<br>depression | sectional | participants<br>(34<br>depressed ,<br>24 non-<br>depressed) | USA        |  | - | American indicated who are African<br>American indicated that their social<br>network involves friends, family<br>members, colleague, professional<br>encounters with therapists or support<br>group peers and church members.<br>More depressed patients (compared to<br>non-depressed patients), significantly<br>reported that they did not receive family<br>support and they did not have a support<br>system<br>Peple with cancer who are African<br>American exhibited a significant<br>relationship between a lack of social<br>support and depression, mainly the<br>family support. |

Table 17: Studies related to the relationship between social networks and cancer

De Ruiter *et al.* (1993) claim that only a small proportion of QoL can be explained by social networks. However, the evidence for social networks establishes that social isolation increases the risk of mortality after being diagnosed with breast cancer, with the buffering effect for reduction being provided by relatives or friends and participation in activities outside the home (Kroenke *et al.*, 2006, Beasley *et al.*, 2010). This is supported by studies with younger people with lymphoma and leukaemia, and older males with cancer (Welin *et al.*, 1992; Pinquart and Duberstein 2010). Further support comes from the literature around older patients with cancer who experience greater levels of impairment which can be directly related to restricted social networks (Goodwin *et al.*, 1991). In addition, Sapp *et al.* (2003) have found an association between social networks and HRQoL, especially mental health in female colorectal cancer survivors. Moreover, Michael *et al.* (2002) has also concluded that social interaction at pre-diagnosis level is a significant factor in future HRQoL among females who experienced breast cancer and it appears to describe more of the differences in QoL than tumour features or treatment.

Although women with breast cancer appear to exhibit denser and smaller networks and higher degrees of depression and anxiety compared with healthy women, social support and social network measures correlate in different ways with anxiety and depression in the two cohorts (case and control) of breast cancer (Gagliardi *et al.*, 2009). Social networks also appear to have a mediating effect on anxiety and depression amongst cancer patients with family appearing to be the main source of social support compared to the community/ church or closest / best friend (Bauer *et al.*, 2005). The positive effect of social networks also applies cross-culturally with Hispanic and black ethnic groups who report that informal social networks such as civic clubs or extended family can supply more emotional help than formal support groups which enable them to continue treatment (Guidry *et al.*, 1997). In general, it appears that social networks can be more helpful in supporting recovery after diseases have arisen than in preventing the occurrence of new illness (Vogt *et al.*, 1992).

Sjolander (2012) suggests that social networks are one of three main antecedents to social support together with the need of support and the desire for a deeper relationship with relatives. He also suggested that the meaning of the social network for close family of cancer patients was expressed by a theme "Confirmation through

togetherness" derived mainly from encouragement, understanding, information, spiritual community and involvement. The importance of family support for patients with cancer patients was identified by Ju *et al.* (2014) who found a lack of family support to be significantly related to higher levels of depression, whereas Menezes Rodrigues *et al.* (2012) demonstrated the suitability of affective bonds for patients and argued about the limitations of families as unique supportive bonds.

The size of the social network in terms of improved prognosis and QoL of patients with breast cancer appears to be of importance (Kroenke *et al.* 2012; 2013a and 2013b). The same studies also suggest that social relationships may have both beneficial and adverse influences on breast cancer survival. However clarifying these findings may require understanding the context of the relationships between women. In addition, the network characteristics might be influenced by other factors such as the illness experiences and the network members of the women as well as their prior personal health (Purinthrapibal *et al.*, 2012). Online support groups appear to play a significant role in meeting patients' social needs, especially patients with cancer (Leimeister *et al.* 2008).

## Summary

Head and neck cancer is commonly considered as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours and has a multidimensional impact on patients' lives due to a series of functional and psychosocial impacts or consequences, with approximately half of patients reporting depression.

Recently, increased attention has been paid to the factors that may be linked to the risk for poorer psychological outcomes. Coping is one variable that might have a critical influence on health outcomes and it has been investigated widely among patients with different cancers especially breast cancer. However, only a few studies have been conducted on coping with H&N cancers.

The high rate of people experiencing depression might also be linked to pre-morbid factors such as lack of social support, which represents the highest percentage of the total coping effort. A considerable number of researchers have investigated the

influence of social support on health and found that social support has been consistently linked to physical and mental health. Social support has been studied widely from the perspective of psychosocial reactions to many medical conditions including cancer in general. However, only a few studies have been conducted on the relationship between social support and H&N cancer. These suggest that social support does appear to exert a positive influence for patients with H&N cancer, especially in relation to reducing the impact of anxiety, depression or depressive symptoms.

There have been relatively few studies conducted in relation to social networks and cancer and none of them deal specifically with H&N cancer. Social networks have been related to HRQoL and also appear to have a mediating effect on anxiety and depression amongst cancer patients. In relation to social support and H&N cancer, no studies so far have dealt with online social support for this group of patients although several H&N-OSGs and groups are available online.

# **3.3** Online support groups (OSGs)

### 3.3.1 Background

In the beginning of 20<sup>th</sup> century, support groups and group therapy appeared as a method of managing psychological issues. Group therapy for psychological problems was introduced in the 1930s to facilitate solving interpersonal disagreement. During the 1940s and 1950s, the use of this kind of group therapy increased as a means of supporting soldiers who experienced psychological problems after the Second World War (Fobair, 1997).

The health benefits of participation in face-to-face support groups have been reported in several studies (DiMatteo and Hays, 1981; Cohen and Syme, 1995; Sarason *et al.*, 1997). Examples of the reported benefits include favourable symptoms changes and adaptation to diagnosed illness (Spiegel *et al.*, 1981; Berger, 1985; Taylor *et al.*, 1988; Spiegel *et al.*, 1989).

Cancer support groups have been developing for more than 40 years and were originally delivered in the form of traditional face-to-face groups and led by a medical practitioner (Klemm *et al.*, 2003). Studies on face-to-face cancer support groups, in particular, reveal that these groups can diminish unpleasant emotional responses to cancer, promote coping, and assist members in resuming their everyday activities (Yossef, 1984, Taylor *et al.*, 1988).

Alongside traditional face-to-face groups, there are also the rise of online support groups (OSGs) which is related to the recent development in the Internet and technology and its use for health purposes. Since approximately half of Internet users report searching for support and health information and with the rise in technology, the percentage of users appears to have increased dramatically over the past thirty years (Rice, 2001). Indeed, searching for health information has become one of the most prominent reasons for Internet use (Christensen and Griffiths, 2003), and an increasing number of people with cancer are reportedly using the Internet as a method of support. The rise in internet use has been accompanied by a corresponding increase in the

number of online cancer support groups (Madara and White, 1997; Klemm *et al.*, 1999). Whilst other studies suggest that the Internet has modified the manner in which people work, learn, and find health-related information; it has become a part of their life (Madden and Fox, 2006).

The accessibility of the World Wide Web has led to ways of providing new opportunities for people with particular illnesses to communicate with each other and with health care professionals (Sullivan, 2003). In 2003, approximately 39% of people with cancer in the developed countries were using the Internet and approximately 2.3 million individuals with cancer worldwide are online (Eysenbach, 2003) and by 2005, hundreds of online cancer groups were existed with thousands of members in each (Im *et al.*, 2005). The internet has also been proposed as a facilitator in coping, offering support, and for making significant decisions after discussion with others online (Horrigan and Rainie, 2006). In general, OSGs for people with cancer appear to be effective sources of social support (Fogel *et al.*, 2002 and 2003).

# 3.3.2 Internet communication tools

There are numerous electronic communication tools available to people who live with cancer, these are discussed in more detail below:

#### **3.3.2.1** Internet Discussion Groups

Considered as wide spread form of communication through the Internet usually called a Listserv. This is a subscription service to an existing discussion on a particular topic such as treatment or type of cancer. The subscription takes place either by filling an online subscription form or by posting an email to a central computer. The member will then be given an email address to communicate with all other subscribers. This service allows users to send or receive messages 24 hours a day (Sharp, 2000). Web forums work by posting messages though a website on a specific topic to be read by others. These messages appear immediately on the website after being posted and are usually classified under a specific topic and sometimes termed as "threads".

Members of web forums have the opportunity to post their individuals stories. This may have a potential benefit in the form of therapeutic value to the survivors who write their stories and provide a means of validation from other readers who have similar experiences (Sharp, 2000).

# 3.3.2.3 Chat rooms

These rooms are also a popular form of online communications, but unlike the previous tools, depend on live communications through the web, so there is an opportunity for numerous individuals to explain specific issues at the same time. Sometimes they are administrated by an expert or health professional to provide answers for member's questions at a scheduled time (Sharp, 2000).

The tool that will be used in the current study is Web forums, and since online support is exchanged within these forums, they are sometimes called online support forums (or online support groups "OSGs"). This kind of online communication tool has been chosen because it offers an opportunity for the members to post their stories. Although some OSGs require subscription or registration to view, post and receive messages, many OSGs are available to the public and even people who are not registered can benefit from messages in the form of stories that illustrate diversity and a range of experiences.

The administrators of online cancer support groups usually aim to provide a range of functions; comprising of psychological understanding and support, offering hope and encouragement for people with cancer and their families, discussing different treatments for cancer and distributing information on the latest updates of treatment and their side effects (Finfgeld, 2000; Han and Belcher, 2001; Henderson and Fogel, 2003; Klemm *et al.*, 2003).

A review of the literature indicates that cancer support groups do not use special moderators, but they are usually owned or facilitated by a person who has expertise in using computers and may sometimes be a cancer survivor (Klemm *et al.*, 2003). The responsibility of the moderator is to subscribe and unsubscribe members, solve technical problems and reply to enquiries related to the forum (Klemm *et al.*, 2003).

# **3.3.3 Demographics of online support group users**

Fisher *et al.* (2009) suggests that the demographics of web tool users indicate that users were within a wide range of ages from 30 - 70, which illustrates the use of Internet by both younger and older people, and this was also the case for OSGs (Seçkin, 2011).

In terms of gender, it is not clear whether there are differences by gender in OSGs use. Reviewing the literature showed that the majority of OSGs users were female in some studies (Sullivan, 2003; Kraan *et al.*, 2006; Lieberman, 2008; Fisher *et al.*, 2009), while others found the opposite.

One researcher claims that the under representation of men might be explained by suggesting that men experience greater fear and anxiety (Lieberman, 2008), while others argue that men have the tendency to hide personal details and stories that may exhibit them as vulnerable or weak (Tannen, 1990). In addition, Wood and Inman (1993) suggest that, in general, males do not value conversations about problems and feelings as much as real activities or assistance that may divert them from their issues. Women do seem to have more concern for a wider network of people and a greater tendency to be engaged in assistance providing activities than men (Kessler and Mcleod 1985).

It appears that using OSGs can differ by race, for example, Im *et al.*, (2005) revealed that ethnic minorities were rarely users of OSGs. In addition, African Americans were found to be under-represented in OSGs compared to their white counterparts (Fogel *et al.*, 2008). This difference was also noticed in more recent studies investigating the use of OSGs by Asian and White persons (Im *et al.*, 2010; Im *et al.*, 2011). This under representation might be related to three possible reasons; preference to culture-specific

online groups or face-to-face groups, digital inequality/ digital divide (that a health inequality exists with regard to the use of information that can be achieved from OSGs) and trust concerns (that African Americans appeared to have an issue in trusting information and users of OSGs) (Fogel *et al.*, 2008).

With regard to other socio-demographic factors, different studies exhibited varying characteristics for the users of cancer OSGs. Im and Chee, (2004) suggest that people with cancer who use OSGs tend to be white, of high income and highly educated, but also seriously unwell (the majority of them in advanced stages of cancer). However, another study advocated that users of cancer OSGs appeared to be white males who were of high income and highly educated and were healthier compared with their counterparts in the face-to-face groups (Fawcett and Buhle, 1995). Others suggested that participants on OSGs can be influenced by many factors such as type of disease culture, need, background and Internet use factors (Im, 2011). Therefore, it is difficult to draw conclusions from studies to date, as the characteristics of OGGs users are not clear in the literature, and further research is required.

# 3.3.4 Advantages and disadvantages of online support groups

A review of the literature suggests that OSGs have a set of advantages and disadvantages some of which are included below:

### 3.3.4.1 Advantages

1. OSGs for people with cancer offer personal and professional support, information, patient advocacy and shared experiences (Bastian, 2008).

- 2. Reducing barriers associated with face-to-face support groups:
  - a. Geographic distance; people who live in remote places can receive and give support from the comfort of their homes (Scott, 1999).
  - b. Members do not have to be physically present in a particular place and at a certain time with others, and there is no need to wait for a weekly group meeting

as they can post their messages at any time, even out of the normal working business hours. Online groups were found to be more active between 7:00pm and 1:00am (Ferguson, 1996). Members, therefore, can still receive support even when they are alone at night which is usually the time when doubts and fears surface (Hoybye, 2002; Weis, 2003; Winzelberg *et al.*, 2003).

- c. Visual distractions such as gender, age, dress and socioeconomic status which are common drawbacks in conventional face-to-face support groups are not found in OSGs (Madara and White, 1997; Martin and Youngren, 2002).
- d. Size of the group no longer represents a barrier to the members (Scott, 1999). In addition, other barriers such as children and baby sitters, health condition of the participants, parking, accommodation and any related social anxiety are also eliminated (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Sullivan, 2003; Winzelberg *et al.*, 2003).
- 3. Online support groups provide an accessible and convenient environment for participants (Fernsler and Manchester, 1997; Sharf, 1997) for example:
  - a. Beside the 24 hours accessibility and availability of communication with people enrolled in OSGs, another benefit is the opportunity to participate selectively without any pressure (Klemm *et al.*, 1999; Han and Belcher, 2001).
  - b. The anonymity provided by OSGs appears to enable participants to discuss their anxieties and difficult feelings in a less stressful way (Sharp, 2000), since they can raise "taboo topics" or express negative emotions without embarrassment of fear of rejection (Scott, 1999). In addition, some researchers suggest that anonymity can provide safer surroundings to the participants to undertake creative and non-conforming examples of support such as poetry writing (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999).

4. OSGs are connected with reduced costs compared to face-to-face groups, since fewer resources are needed for managing online groups (Finfgeld, 2000; Winzelberge *et al.*, 2003). Online groups may reduce the economic expense of phone calls for people with cancer looking for cancer-related information. They may also develop

feelings of connectedness between people with cancer and their support environment (Fisher *et al.*, 2009).

5. The ability to share ideas and feelings in virtual or real time can act as a way of sharing information and help people with cancer to become more conscious of the disease and its treatments (Smith, 1998). The informational support that members receive from others with the same disease may supply members with a sense of control over their experiences (Martin and Youngren, 2002).

6. The flexibility provided by OSGs can allow users to read others' postings without making an immediate response, deciding on what is of relevance to them, and the amount of time and support they feel they require (Finfgeld, 2000; Sullivan, 2003).

7. Participation in OSGs allows people with cancer to avoid being looked at particularly if there is a lot of surgery that alters their face or speech, and people who may hesitate to join face-to-face groups may feel more comfortable using OSGs (Finfgeld, 2000).

8. People with uncommon or rare cancers who use OSGs may have the opportunity to feel the sense of "they are not alone". Such an opportunity is hard to achieve in face-to-face support groups because the group is restricted to a small number of people locally compared to an online group which people can access and participate from anywhere in the world (Sharp, 2000).

9. OSGs provide cancer survivors who have finished their treatments with the opportunity to help others (Sharp, 2000). They can write messages on specific topics to hundreds of people (Sullivan, 2003).

10. Many cancer OSGs consist of members who are medical professionals specialising in cancer (Sharp, 2000).

11. It has been noticed that OSGs are unique since they create and enforce their own rules (Sharp, 2000).

#### 3.3.4.2 Disadvantages

1. There is doubt about the quality of the information and support offered by some online OSGs (Martin and Youngren, 2002; Coulson, and Knibb, 2007; Malik and Coulson, 2010; Mo, and Coulson, 2014a), this might be because of the difficulties in controlling interactions (Kraan *et al.*, 2006) or the lack of professional moderators for cancer OSGs (Klemm, *et al.*, 1998). Information might be based only on personal experience or unproven methodologies and not on scientific evidence or medical advice, it may, therefore provide wrong or misleading information (Sharp, 2000). In addition, users should be told that clinical information from the physician should not be replaced by other information from a person on the Internet (Martin and Youngren, 2002).

2. The credentials of the message posters are hard to be verified and it is possible that anyone can post messages posing as a cancer survivor. This may reduce the credibility of OSGs (Martin and Youngren, 2002).

3. Individuals from different backgrounds can participate from anywhere in the world and not all OSGs are monitored, security and use of offensive language may be possible issues, therefore, users should be warned to not provide personal details, such as name, address and bank account. They also should be informed about the possibility of finding offensive language in the OSGs (Mizsur, 1997). Presence of such inappropriate behaviour in OSGs can be considered as a potentially disempowering process (Mo, and Coulson, 2014a).

4. Communication through OSGs means that there is a lack of verbal intonation which aids communication and facial expressions making it difficult to perceive and decipher meaning and is considered a disempowering process (Finfgeld, 2000; Mo, and Coulson, 2014a).

5. Delay in response to enquiries and the normal lag time between posing an enquiry or seeking support and receiving responses may be distressing to the senders (Martin and Youngren, 2002).

6. Sometimes, people may require a long time to gain confidence and display a level of trust great enough to interact with OSGs (Finfgeld, 2000).

7. As in conventional support groups, unsupportive communications or conflicts may happen in online groups (Sharp, 2000). For example, expressing and reinforcing negative emotions and remarks or posting negative experiences with OSGs can be seen widely (Kraan *et al.*, 2006; Malik and Coulson, 2010; Holbrey, and Coulson, 2013).

8. Lack of professional moderators from many OSGs may put those who feel emotionally vulnerable at risk of being victimised (Sharp, 2000).

9. As in face-to-face support groups, the issue of death is one of the problems that affect OSGs, persons in the OSGs may be affected emotionally when they hear a member of the group has died. This issue is dealt with online as in real life with empathy, whilst at the same time being remote from the situation. However, the fear of a similar fate for other members in the future is still an issue (Sharp, 2000).

#### **3.3.5** Face-to-face versus online support groups

Some studies have investigated OSGs comparing them to traditional face-to-face groups (Klemm *et al.*, 2003; Golant *et al.*, 2004; Broom, 2005; Im *et al.*, 2005). Whilst some studies (Golant *et al.*, 2004) suggested that generally the two groups were very similar, others (Klemm *et al.* (2003) suggested that people with depression and cancer were more likely to use OSGs than face to face groups. What is unclear is whether people had depression before diagnosis or the diagnosis of cancer exerted a negative effect on their coping strategies.

Benefits of OSGs for people with cancer over the traditional face-to-face groups are that they enable people to share experiences, obtain information, vent feelings, receive support and have accessibility to other people with similar experiences and diagnoses (Finfgeld, 2000; Han and Belcher, 2001; Henderson and Fogel, 2003). In addition, some researchers argue that the characteristic nature of online communications allow OSGs to offer a type of support that cannot be attained with face-to-face counterparts (Lamberg, 1997; Sharf, 1997; Turner *et al.*, 2001). This may be related to the lack of non-verbal communication, facial cues, the degree of anonymity that OSGs provide, and the ability to disclose and reveal sensitive information (Walther 1996, Hardey 1999, Turner *et al.*, 2001).

Some drawbacks of OSGs are suggested in a few articles in that receiving large numbers of emails may be a form of communication overload and stressful for members, unsupportive messages being posted create negative emotions, and the lack of interpersonal contact which is sometimes necessary for effective communication (Finfgeld, 2000; Han and Belcher, 2001; Henderson and Fogel, 2003). In contrast, the majority of the published research appears to suggest that there are more positive factors than negative for members of OSGs (Klemm and Hardie, 2002; Martin and Youngren, 2002; Klemm *et al.*, 2003; Lieberman *et al.*, 2003; Winzelberg *et al.*, 2003).

### 3.3.6 Mechanism by which OSGs may be beneficial

Online cancer support groups have been found to be associated with a reduction in the levels of both physiological and psychological stress in their members (Golant *et al.*, 2004). There are a number of possible explanations for this. Firstly, one possible explanation is that OSGs provide members with a safe environment to vent the intense emotions usually associated with cancer (Golant *et al.*, 2004), enabling them to discuss the challenges of their disease with others who have similar experiences (National Cancer Institute, 2002). Another explanation is that using OSGs for people with cancer increases social support because they increase patients' self-esteem, personal empowerment and functional status and decrease reported depression, reduce feelings of helplessness, distress, and social isolation (Fogel *et al.*, 2002; Houston *et al.*, 2002, Lieberman *et al.*, 2003; Winzelberg *et al.*, 2003; Shaw *et al.*, 2006). OSGs may also improve survival rates of members because they provide a sense of belonging and address anxiety about treatment, leading to better coping and resilience (Han and Belcher 2001, Martin and Youngren 2002).

A variety of studies have explored OSGs for other health conditions such as (food allergy, dental anxiety, infertility, HIV/AIDS, families affected by childhood cancer, Parkinson's disease, Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, Inflammatory Bowel Disease, permanent involuntary childlessness and prostate cancer). These have suggest that OSGs can provide social support; particularly informational and emotional, improve and provide a guide on coping strategies, reduce the sense of isolation, loneliness and levels of depression and anxiety, improve planning and increase levels of optimism towards life (Coulson, and Knibb, 2007; Coulson, and Buchanan; 2008; Malik, and Coulson, 2008; Mo, and Coulson, 2010b; Elwell *et al.*, 2011; Mo, and Coulson, 2011; Attard and Coulson, 2012; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012; Campbell, *et al.*, 2013; Mo, and Coulson, 2014a; Mo, and Coulson, 2014b) (See Table 18 for details).

Several studies have indicated that OSGs can benefit users through enhancing the process of empowerment (van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, 2008; Malik and Coulson, 2008; Mo and Coulson, 2010a; Bartlett and Coulson, 2011; Mo and Coulson, 2011; Holbrey and Coulson, 2013; Campbell *et al.*, 2013; Mo and Coulson, 2014a; Mo and Coulson, 2014b). Details of all of these studies are available from Table 18.

A range of empowerment processes have been reported including; access to and exchanging information, finding recognition, encountering social support and understanding, connecting with others who understand, discussion of sensitive topics, comparison with other members, helping others, sharing experiences, cognitive guidance, amusement, connecting a group of members, supporting the self-esteem of members, interaction with healthcare professionals; improved adjustment and management and treatment-related decision making (Bartlett and Coulson, 2011; Mo and Coulson, 2011; Holbrey and Coulson, 2013; Campbell *et al.*,2013; Mo and Coulson, 2014a).

There has also been a range of empowerment outcomes predicted adequately by empowerment processes including; feeling better informed, increased confidence in relationships with physicians, increased acceptance, increased confidence in treatment, improved disease management, enhanced self-esteem, enhanced social and emotional well-being and increased optimism and hope for the future (Bartlett and Coulson, 2011; Mo and Coulson, 2014a).

In addition to these studies, the mechanisms by which OSGs can be beneficial to its users have been examined more clearly by Mo and Coulson (2012) in relation to This cross sectional study investigated the mechanisms by which HIV/AIDS. participation in OSGs may enhance empowerment among 340 individuals with HIV/AIDS through measuring OSGs use, empowering processes, self-care selfefficacy, coping and QoL. Findings indicate that higher frequency of OSGs use (Lengths of time since participants started using HIV/AIDS-related OSGs, number of days they accessed these groups per week and number of hours spent accessing in the average week) was related to greater rates of empowering processes facilitated by receiving social support, receiving useful information, helping others and finding positive meaning. Mo and Coulson (2012) in this study also suggest that receiving useful information and experiencing positive meaning were linked to reduced levels of maladaptive coping and greater levels of adaptive coping. Helping others and receiving social support were linked to greater levels of self-efficacy, self-care, and linked to lower levels of maladaptive coping and greater levels of adaptive coping. Greater levels of adaptive coping were linked to better QoL, while greater levels of maladaptive coping were linked to poorer QoL. (More details about this study can be found from Table 18).

This evidence suggests that there is an important place for OSGs in supporting people diagnosed with cancer, and that future research in relation to OSGs and their role in improving QoL and other psychosocial outcomes is worthwhile. However, there have been no studies to date investigating the mechanisms by which OSGs can influence the QoL and well-being of people with H&N cancer.

| Author                                     | Aim   | Study                         | Sample             | Country | Method   | Result  |
|--|---|-------------------------------|--------------------|---------|--|---|
| /date<br>Coulson<br>and<br>Knibb<br>(2007) | To investigate the<br>reasons for participation<br>in an OSG for people<br>affected by food allergy,<br>its perceived<br>disadvantages and<br>advantages as well as<br>influence on the<br>relationship with<br>providers of healthcare | design<br>Cross-<br>sectional | 32<br>participants | UK      | Online structured interview  | <ul> <li>Several benefits have been identified<br/>by group members including receipt of<br/>social support, accessibility together<br/>with guidance on coping strategies.</li> <li>The only drawbacks identified were<br/>about the trust and accuracy in the<br/>exchanged information within the<br/>group</li> <li>participation in the group appeared to<br/>have a role on relationships with<br/>providers of healthcare</li> <li>Members reported greater<br/>empowerment through decision-<br/>making.</li> </ul> |
| Malik<br>and<br>Coulson<br>(2008)          | To investigate the<br>experiences of people<br>accessing infertility<br>related OSGs.   | Cross-<br>sectional           | 95<br>participants | UK      | <ul> <li>Background information<br/>including age, gender,<br/>country and diagnosis of<br/>infertility</li> <li>Open-ended questions<br/>exploring reasons for<br/>accessing OSGs.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Five recurrent themes were identified</li> <li>Improved relationship with partner,</li> <li>Unique features of online social<br/>support</li> <li>Information and empowerment</li> <li>Reduced sense of isolation</li> <li>Negative aspects of online<br/>communities.</li> </ul>  |
| Coulson<br>and<br>Buchan<br>an<br>(2008)   | To investigate the self-<br>reported effectiveness of<br>existing dental anxiety<br>related-OSGs in the<br>view of perceived level<br>of anxiety since start<br>using OSGs.   | Cross-<br>sectional           | 91<br>participants | UK      | <ul> <li>The Modified Dental<br/>Anxiety Scale (MDAS)<br/>(Humphris et al. 1995).</li> <li>Respond to the statement<br/>rated the changes in level of<br/>dental anxiety with using<br/>OSG on five Likert scales<br/>('greatly lessened',<br/>'somewhat lessened', 'stayed<br/>much the same', 'somewhat</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Sixty percent of the participants<br/>considered OSGs had greatly or<br/>'somewhat' lessened their anxiety.</li> <li>Overall MDAS scores were<br/>significantly less in the 'greatly<br/>lessened' group</li> </ul>  |

|                              |   |                     |                    |    | increased,' and 'greatly increased').   |   |
|------------------------------|---|---------------------|--------------------|----|---|---|
| Mo and<br>Coulson<br>(2010b) | To investigate the<br>relationship between<br>using OSG and health<br>status, social support<br>and coping<br>in HIV/AIDS patients                        | Cross-<br>sectional | 640<br>individuals | UK | <ul> <li>Questions about medical<br/>history</li> <li>Questions about OSGs use</li> <li>The Medical Outcomes<br/>Study Short form 36 (SF-<br/>36v2)</li> <li>The Brief COPE (<i>Carver</i>,<br/>1997)</li> <li>The Medical Outcomes<br/>Study Social Support Survey<br/>(MOS-SSS).</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Frequent users seemed to be single,<br/>younger, female, and in a more<br/>advanced stage of disease</li> <li>poorer healthwas reported by frequent<br/>users than non-users</li> <li>higher scores in active coping<br/>planning, tangible and emotional<br/>support coping were reported from<br/>both infrequent and frequent users<br/>scored</li> <li>No significant difference was noticed<br/>for social support.</li> </ul>  |
| Mo and<br>Coulson<br>(2010a) | To invistigate how<br>different levels of<br>contribution in OSGs<br>are related to<br>empowering processes<br>and outcomes for people<br>with HIV/ AIDS. | Cross-<br>sectional | 340<br>individuals | UK | <ul> <li>An online questionnaire<br/>consisting of:</li> <li>Empowering processes<br/>scales of (van Uden-Kraan, et<br/>al, 2008).</li> <li>The Strategies Used by<br/>Patients to Promote Health<br/>(SUPPH) Scale (Lev and Owen,<br/>1996).</li> <li>The UCLA Loneliness Scale<br/>(Russell, 1996).</li> <li>The Life Orientation Test<br/>revised (LOT-R) scale<br/>(Scheier, Carver, and Bridges,<br/>1994).</li> <li>Brief Cope (Carver, 1997).</li> <li>The Center for<br/>Epidemiologic Studies<br/>Depression Scale-revised<br/>(CESD-R) (Eaton et al., 2004)</li> <li>The Medical Outcome</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Lurkers scored lower "compared to posters" in receiving useful information and receiving social support in empowering processes, and lower in satisfaction with their relationship with members of the group</li> <li>Lurkers also scored lower in planning and social function and higher in distraction and in energy.</li> <li>There were no significant differences in loneliness, optimism, self-care self-efficacy or depression, between lurkers and posters.</li> <li>lurking in the OSGs may be as empowering as reading and posting messages to the groups.</li> </ul> |

| Malik<br>and<br>Coulson<br>(2011)    | To compare the<br>experience and use of<br>infertility-related OSGs<br>between posters and<br>lurkers   | Cross-<br>sectional | 295<br>participants                      | UK | <ul> <li>Study HIV Health Survey<br/>(MOS-HIV) (<i>Wu, et al., 1997</i>).</li> <li>Online questionnaire<br/>containing questions about<br/>the use and experience of<br/>OSGs and measures of social<br/>support, loneliness,<br/>perceived infertility-related<br/>stress and marital<br/>satisfaction.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Compared with posters, lurkers visited<br/>OSGs less frequently and scored<br/>significantly lower in overall<br/>satisfaction with OSGs.</li> <li>There were no significant differences<br/>in social support, loneliness, marital<br/>satisfaction and infertility-related<br/>stress between posters and lurkers.</li> </ul>                                |
|--------------------------------------|---|---------------------|--|----|---|---|
| Bartlett<br>and<br>Coulson<br>(2011) | To examine the potential<br>of OSGs to enhance<br>empowerment and how<br>membership might<br>influence the<br>relationship between<br>patients and health<br>professional | Cross-<br>sectional | 246<br>participants<br>across 33<br>OSGs | UK | <ul> <li>Demographics and OSGs<br/>related questions</li> <li>Questions from van Uden-<br/>Kraan <i>et al.</i>, (2008)</li> <li>Questions about<br/>Participants'- professional<br/>relationship.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>All empowerment processes and<br/>outcomes identified by van Uden-Kraan <i>et</i><br/><i>al.</i> (2008) were found</li> <li>the most commonly found<br/>empowerment process was<br/>comparison with other members</li> <li>The most commonly found<br/>empowerment outcome was feeling<br/>better informed.</li> </ul>   |
| Mo, and<br>Coulson<br>(2011)         | To analysis messages<br>posted to OSGs and<br>investigate the presence<br>empowering processes<br>and how may empower<br>people living with<br>HIV/AIDS                   | Cross-<br>sectional | 1162<br>messages                         | UK | A hybrid inductive-deductive<br>thematic analysis   | Empowering processes of HIV/AIDS<br>related -OSGs participation was best<br>captured in following themes:<br>encountering emotional support,<br>exchanging information, helping others<br>understanding, sharing experiences,<br>finding recognition, supporting the self-<br>esteem of members, amusement, cognitive<br>guidance, and connecting a group of<br>members |
| Elwell<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2011)    | To investigate the<br>dimensions of social<br>support offered to<br>adolescents with cancer   | Cross-<br>sectional | 393<br>messages                          | UK | A deductive ( Theory-driven)<br>thematic analysis ( <i>Hayes</i> , 1997)  | Frequent instances of both emotional and<br>informational support provision and sub-<br>themes including: <i>losing friends</i> ,<br><i>treatment concerns and struggling with</i>  |

| -   | who use a computer-<br>mediated support group  |                     |                     |    |   | school.   |
|---|--|---------------------|---------------------|----|---|---|
| Mo and<br>Coulson<br>(2012)               | To explore the<br>mechanism through<br>which participation<br>In OSGs may enhance<br>patient empowerment<br>among people with<br>HIV/AIDS. | Cross-<br>sectional | 340<br>participants | UK | <ul> <li>Questionnaire contain:</li> <li>Demographic and medical<br/>information.</li> <li>Questions on OSGs use</li> <li>Empowering Processes Scale<br/>(Mo and Coulson, 2010a)</li> <li>The Strategies Used by<br/>Patients to Promote Health<br/>Scale (Lev and Owen, 1996).</li> <li>The Brief Cope (Carver, 1997)</li> <li>The Medical Outcome<br/>Study HIV Health Survey<br/>(Wu, et al., 1997)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Greater use of OSGs was related to<br/>frequent occurrence of the<br/>empowering processes as measured<br/>by: (receiving social support,<br/>receiving useful information, helping<br/>others and finding positive meaning)</li> <li>Finding positive meaning and<br/>receiving useful information were<br/>associated with lower levels of<br/>maladaptive coping and higher levels<br/>of adaptive coping.</li> <li>Helping others and receiving social<br/>support were associated with higher<br/>levels of self-care self-efficacy, which<br/>subsequently was associated with<br/>lower levels of maladaptive coping.</li> <li>Higher levels of adaptive coping.</li> <li>Higher levels of adaptive coping were<br/>associated with better quality of life<br/>while higher levels of maladaptive<br/>coping were associated with poorer<br/>quality of life</li> </ul> |
| Coulson<br>and<br>Greenw<br>ood<br>(2012) | To investigate the role<br>of OSGs in supporting<br>families affected by<br>childhood cancer   | Cross-<br>sectional | 487<br>messages     | UK | Deductive thematic analysis<br>using SSBS (Cutrona and Suhr's,<br>1992)   | <ul> <li>All five types of social support (i.e. information, emotional, esteem, network and tangible assistance) were available.</li> <li>Both informational and emotional support were the most frequent</li> </ul>  |
| Attard<br>and<br>Coulson<br>(2012)        | To gain an<br>awareness about the<br>negative and positive<br>aspects of virtual   | Cross-<br>sectional | 1013<br>messages    | UK | Data-driven thematic analysis<br>using Braun and Clarke (2006)<br>framework   | Participation in OSGs allowed patients to<br>share knowledge and experiences form<br>friendships, and help them to cope with<br>the challenges of living with Parkinson's   |

|                                     | communication through<br>analysing messages<br>posted within<br>Parkinson's disease<br>discussion forums  |                     |                          |    |   | disease.  |
|-------------------------------------|---|---------------------|--------------------------|----|---|---|
| Holbrey<br>and<br>Coulson<br>(2013) | To explore the<br>experiences of women<br>living with Polycystic<br>Ovary Syndrome who<br>use an OSG related to<br>issues surrounding this<br>illness.  | Cross-<br>sectional | 64<br>participants       | UK | <ul> <li>An online questionnaire,<br/>consisted of closed and<br/>open-ended items</li> <li>Closed items included the<br/>following: demographic<br/>information, medical status<br/>and the use of OSGs</li> <li>Seven open-ended items<br/>explored participants'<br/>motives for accessing the<br/>OSGs as well as their<br/>experiences.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Several empowering processes were<br/>reported including (Access to<br/>information and advice, Connecting<br/>with others who understand;<br/>Treatment-related decision making;<br/>Interaction with healthcare<br/>professionals; Improved management<br/>and adjustment)</li> <li>The disempowering processes,<br/>included: (Reading about the negative<br/>experiences of others and Feeling like<br/>an outsider).</li> </ul> |
| Coulson<br>and<br>Shaw<br>(2013)    | To assess the views of<br>moderators across a<br>varied and<br>geographically broad<br>range of OSGs about<br>their experiences and to<br>explore both the<br>challenges and the<br>personal benefits<br>involved | Cross-<br>sectional | 33 patient<br>moderators | UK | An online questionnaire<br>including a series of open-ended<br>questions specifically concerned<br>with moderator role.   | <ul> <li>Three themes; <i>empowerment</i>,<br/><i>emergence</i> and <i>nurturing</i>.</li> <li>Several moderators indicated their<br/>own diagnosis and being able to share<br/>personal experiences motivated them<br/>to establish the group.</li> <li>They felt empowered by learning<br/>more about other's conditions and<br/>helping others through accessing the<br/>"communal brain".</li> </ul>                                      |
| Coulson<br>(2013)                   | To assess how<br>participation in OSGs<br>may affect the<br>experience of people<br>with Inflammatory<br>Bowel Disease (IBD).   | Cross-<br>sectional | 249<br>participants      | UK | <ul> <li>An online questionnaire<br/>included background<br/>questions about the<br/>participant and use of IBD<br/>OSGs.</li> <li>Questions about the reasons<br/>for accessing OSGs</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Patients reported being members for<br/>about two years, with the majority<br/>accessing the group everyday (46.9%)<br/>or every week (40%)</li> <li>Members spend on average four hours<br/>per week online,</li> <li>Almost two-thirds of members posted</li> </ul>  |

|                                       |   |                                   |                     |    | - A series of open-ended<br>questions about online<br>experiences.   | between 1 -5 messages per week.   |
|---------------------------------------|---|-----------------------------------|---------------------|----|--|---|
| Malik<br>and<br>Coulson<br>(2013)     | To recognise the role of<br>OSGs in the lives of<br>women encountered<br>with permanent<br>involuntary<br>childlessness.                              | Cross-<br>sectional               | 224<br>messages     | UK | A thematic analysis (A<br>phenomenological analysis (Beck,<br>1994).   | OSGs appeared to empower women to<br>move on with their lives and learn a new<br>sense of identity and self-worth after that<br>of motherhood.  |
| Campbe<br>ll, <i>et al.</i><br>(2013) | To assess empowering<br>processes within<br>prostate cancer - related<br>OSGs   | Analytical<br>Cross-<br>sectional | 682<br>messages     | UK | Coding for the presence of<br>potentially empowering<br>processes (van Uden-Kraan et al.,<br>2008).  | All the six potentially empowering<br>processes were exist; providing emotional<br>support, providing information, providing<br>esteem support, discussion of sensitive<br>topics, chit-chat and noting similarity of<br>experiences.   |
| Mo, and<br>Coulson<br>(2014a)         | To examine how OSGs<br>might enhance<br>empowerment and the<br>potential disadvantages<br>associated with using<br>OSGs among people<br>with HIV/AIDS | Cross-<br>sectional               | 115<br>participants | UK | <ul> <li>An online questionnaire contain</li> <li>1. Background information,</li> <li>2. Series of open-ended<br/>questions exploring: <ul> <li>Reasons for participating in<br/>OSGs,</li> <li>Differences between support<br/>obtained online and face to<br/>face</li> <li>Perceived advantages and<br/>disadvantages of using OSGs</li> <li>Impact of OSGs use on<br/>disease treatment (Buchanan<br/>and Coulson, 2007; Coulson and<br/>Knibb, 2007)</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Thematic analysis showed six<br/>empowering processes; (sharing<br/>experiences, exchanging information<br/>encountering emotional, support,<br/>connecting to others, helping others<br/>and finding understanding and<br/>recognition).</li> <li>Six empowering outcomes were<br/>identified; (emotional well-being,<br/>increased optimism, improved disease<br/>management, social well-being,<br/>feeling confident and being better<br/>informed, in the relationship with<br/>physicians).</li> <li>Potentially disempowering processes<br/>included: (inappropriate behaviour<br/>online, being unable to connect<br/>physically, information overload,<br/>misinformation, and declining real life</li> </ul> |

|                              |  |                     |                     |    |   | relationships)   |
|------------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------------|----|---|--|
| Mo and<br>Coulson<br>(2014b) | To investigate the<br>psychological impact of<br>using OSGs for people<br>with HIV/AIDS. | Cross-<br>sectional | 340<br>participants | UK | <ul> <li>An Online questionnaire contain <ul> <li>Demographic and medical information</li> <li>Question about using OSGs (Nonnecke, 2006)</li> <li>Empowering processes Scale (Mo and Coulson ,2011).</li> <li>The UCLA Loneliness Scale (Russell, 1996)</li> <li>The Life Orientation Testrevised (LOT-R) Scale (Scheier et al., 1994)</li> <li>The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale-revised (CESD-R) (Eaton et al., 2004)</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | <ul> <li>People who participate more in OSGs had higher levels of empowering processes, and subsequently, had higher degrees of optimism toward life.</li> <li>Optimism was associated with lower levels of loneliness and depression while loneliness was also associated with higher degrees of depression.</li> </ul> |

Table 18: Beneficial aspects of OSGs

## **3.3.7** Ethical considerations in internet research

## **3.3.7.1 Introduction**

Online support groups appear to play an important role in promoting mutual patientto-patient support, customer health information and practitioner-patient communication (Skinner, 2002). This has led to a growth in the number of researchers using data from the internet to investigate the interplay of health behaviour and health services. The main aim of ethics is that no harm should come to people as a result of research and several articles have been issued on the significance of ethical issues in research that use Internet groups (Jones, 1994; Roenoer *et al.*, 1995; Allen, 1996; Reid 1996; Frankel and Siang, 1999; Rodriguez, 1999; Sharf, 1999; Hsiung, 2000; Eysenbach and Till 2001; Sixsmith and Murrary, 2001).

The internet provides access to an unprecedented archive of human life and activities (Lindif and Shatzer, 1998; Jones, 1999). It differs from other communication tools and media in many aspects that may influence study design. It reaches past national borders, cultural boundaries and legal jurisdictions (Mitra and Cohen, 1999; Geist, 2001; Commercenet, 2002). It incorporates various patterns of content and ways of communication (DiMaggio *et al.*, 2001) and offers technical advantages for efficient data collection and processing (Lindlif and Shatzer, 1998; Turkle, 1999).

These disparities between face-to-face and online environments oblige researchers to adapt existing methods used for face-to-face research. Adapting some methods and using them for online environments may become difficult due to the ethical conventions of some disciplines (Frankel and Siang, 1999; Bruckman, 2002).

Every unique research methodology is bound by and has different ethical considerations during the course of designing, conducting and reporting of the research (Emerton and Bowles, 2003). For example, in some internet mediated research the extent of risk to participants might not be easy to manage due to the lack of direct control over the behaviour and identities of the participants. Accessibility to the internet may be an issue and might exhibit implications for consent, debriefing, withdrawal and participants' protection (Hewson and Buchanan, 2013).

As is the case in the offline life, the internet has a community and while the offline community is commonly defined as a cohort of people with different characteristics share common views, linked by social ties, and involves in combined action in geographical locations (MacQueen *et al.*, 2001). Internet communities appear to be built on sharing interests rather than sharing demographical features (Wellman and Gulia, 1999). The idea of conceptualising internet research sites as communities comes from the view that participants with their textual traces are dealt with as human subjects.

Historically, community has usually been identified with place (Frenback, 1999; Jones, 1999) and this led researchers to view the Internet environments as cybercommunities or virtual communities (Cavanagh, 1999; Fernback, 1999; Bassett and ORiordan, 2002). However, common methods of categorizing spaces can be difficult in Internet research as they do not have a tangible base, may disappear without notice, and borders may not be easily defined due to hyperlinks and other complexities in designing software (Mita and Cohen, 1999).

# 3.3.7.2 Implications and guidance for researching ethically on the internet

The welfare and rights of any participants who may be influenced directly or indirectly during studies that include human beings are protected by the terms and conditions of the human subject protocol (NHMRC, 1999). Participants' rights have also been protected by international guiding principles of ethical research which come from The Belmont report (NCPHSBBR, 1979; Harrington *et al.*, 2010) and suggest:

"1- Respect for persons

2- Beneficence (the importance to maximise possible benefits and minimise possible harms)

3- Justice"

Introducing guideline ethics for online research starts with the hypothesis that online research containing human subjects should obey existing models (White, 2002). However, some problems have been identified in experimental research including the wide variation in the sites on which online research can be conducted (Kendall, 1999;

DiMaggio *et al.*, 2001). In addition, establishment of valid, ethical research requires that the methodology matches the characteristics of the site to the aim of the study (Emerton and Bowles, 2003).

The implications and guidance for researching ethically on the internet are discussed briefly from four perspectives; confidentiality, informed consent, harm and linking public and private data, which are explored in more detail in the next section.

### **3.3.7.2.1** Confidentiality in online research

Research suggests that online content in the public domain are based on the inherited insecurity of information posted online (Jones, 1994; King, 1996; Waskul and Douglass, 1996). Therefore, it is assumed that Internet users should understand that their online information can be susceptible to manipulation, interception and republication. However, it is hoped to apply private status to all sites to protect users, using the principal that their privacy is altered by the medium (Boehlefeld, 1996; King, 1996).

Numerous criteria have been proposed to determine the extent of privacy proposed by online sites users. For example, technical constructions of a site such as *use of encryption software, passwords* or *members only* can give views of users' expectation about "private" and public sites (Allen, 1996, Boehlefield, 1996). This is particularly beneficial in mixed sites that have different privacy settings such as bulletin boards or chat rooms (Emerton and Bowles, 2003).

# 3.3.7.2.2 Informed consent

The World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki (2000) has confirmed the ethical principle of autonomy to health research, that participants deserve respect and their rights to privacy, dignity and health should be protected at all times (WHO, 2001). This concept is usually established via the process of informed consent, in which participants are informed about the ethical aspects of a study and they have the chance to freely discuss and decide whether they wish to participate (Frankle and Siang, 1999; Tri-council of Canada, 2000). However, lack of personal contact in

online research can lead to a range of ethical and research concerns such as difficulty in enrolment and seeking informed consent (Flicker *et al.*, 2004), since the methodology used in traditional face-to-face contact- when consent is obtained as a signed authority document- is not practical and seems to be unworkable in internet research (Bassett and O'Riordan, 2002; Walther, 2002). Therefore researchers suggested that the whole procedure of online research should be established online (Nosek and Banaji, 2002).

Obtaining informed consent online requires all the components that would routinely be part of the consent procedure to be available online. These can be placed individually or collectively in a hyperlink through the internet (Flicker *et al.*, 2004). However, researchers sometimes face the logistical difficulty of contacting participants as they need to decide who the participants are and the type of consent needed. In addition, it is not guaranteed that online research participants may share demographic variables with the online identity used in the research site (Frankel and Siang, 1999; Walther, 2002). This can be an issue especially if the mental capacity or age of the participant provides a legal barrier to them being legally unable to provide informed consent (Junes, 1994; Bruckman, 2002; Walther, 2002). Some researchers believe that negotiations should start with the group owner prior to data collection (Waskul and Douglass, 1996). Ess and The Association of Internet Researchers recommended that obtaining permission from facilitators, moderators or list owners might be enough in the online sites with indefinite group membership (Ess and AoIR, 2002).

### 3.3.7.2.3 Harm

Researchers are responsible for the protection of research participants from inadvertent harm during the research process (NHMRC, 1999). Protecting confidentiality and privacy of the participants on the internet is a new challenge for the research environment (Frankel and Siang, 1999; Eysenbath and Till, 2001). These challenges can include limiting online data for service delivery and research purposes, protecting online support users from other users or from themselves and ensuring that results do not trigger embarrassment, breach privacy or cause inadvertent harm to participants (Flicker *et al.*, 2004).
Researchers can directly harm their participants, harm the setting of the research or ease harm by third parties (Emerton and Bowles, 2003). However, with online contact, low chance for physical harm can be seen as a risk, but inadvertent direct harm by researcher focus on two concerns; failure to observe the results of the research and breaching of the trust and expectations (Emerton and Bowles, 2003). Other insults, threats, blackmail and harassment, which also takes place in the office environment, may appear in unique forms in the online environment. However, it has been thought that opportunities for defence against non- physical (online) harassment can be better than that in an offline environment (Spertus, 1996).

#### 3.3.7.2.4 Linking public and private data

There are ethical concerns about whether analysing data in the public domain needs consent. However, previous commentators argue that personal conversation on internet sites such as message boards or chat rooms, by their nature, are public discourse and not subject to the ususal research constraints with participants. Therefore, a consent procedure or ethical approval from participants is not necessary (inn and Lavitt, 1994; Sudweeks and Rafaeli, 1996; Salem *et al.*, 1997; Sharf, 1997). On the other hand, some researchers suggest that online message boards are both "privately public" and "publically private" as users may not know that their postings might be used for research purposes (Waskul and Douglas, 1996). Others have indicated that the requirement for consent seeking to be necessary are conditional and might be dependent on group norms, size and accessibility of the site (Eysenbach and Till, 2001).

In spite of the different levels of thought and opinions about researching ethically on the internet Flicker *et al.* (2004) have established some points that can be used as ethical guidelines for researching online communities. This guideline includes 12 points and can be seen from Table 19.

1. Supply a readily available link to the individuals and institutions responsible for the research project.

2. Describe study aims, potential benefits, and harms.

3. Provide information about what data will be collected and how it will be used.

4. State clearly what kinds of services you are (and are not) able to provide.

5. Identify any commercial or competing interests.

6. Offer direct contact information for the principal investigator and/or study coordinator, so that participants can get their questions answered.

7. Seek informed consent.

"

8. Grant users that do not consent to be part of research comparable service.

9. Be explicit about steps taken to preserve confidentiality and anonymity.

10. Create policies and procedures to ensure the well-being of the community (e.g., protocols for maintaining community values, moderating site, and managing crisis); make policies public and transparent.

11. Limit the ability of search engines to access message boards directly to safeguard privacy.

12. Gain approval from a credible human subjects ethics review committee.

Table 19: Ethical guidelines for researching internet communities (established by Flicker *et al.*, 2004. P:132)"

#### Recent updates regarding the ethical guidelines for internet research

The British Psychological Society (BPS) (2013) published a recent report on ethical concerns related to Internet-mediated research, outlining ethics guidelines for such research. The BPS guidelines suggest that the normal principles of ethical research with human participants apply to internet-mediated research, and the basics of ethical practice are not changed. However, the guidelines state that the implications of these ethical principles for practice may differ in Internet-mediated research contexts, and aspects of online environments may make particular issues salient in ways they have not been in traditional (face-to-face) research. Table 20 outlines the BPS's summary

of the main ethics issues for researchers to consider when designing, implementing or assessing an Internet-mediated Research study.

| Principle  | Considerations  |
|--|---|
| Respect for the autonomy<br>and dignity of persons | Public/private distinction – The extent to which potential data<br>derived from online sources should be considered in the public<br>or private domain;Confidentiality – Levels of risk to the confidentiality of<br>participants' data, and how to minimise and/or inform<br>  |
| Scientific value                                   | <i>Levels of control</i> – How reduced levels of control may impact<br>on the scientific value of a study, and how best to maximise<br>levels of control where appropriate.   |
| Social responsibility                              | <b>Disruption of social structures</b> – The extent to which proposed research study procedures and dissemination practices might disrupt/harm social groups.   |
| Maximising benefits and minimising harm            | Maximising benefits – How each of the issues mentioned<br>above might act to reduce the benefits of a piece of research,<br>and the best procedures for maximising benefits;<br>Minimising harm – How each of the issues mentioned<br>above might lead to potential harm, and the best<br>procedures for minimising harm. |

Table 20: Ethical guidelines for researching internet communities (British Psychological Society, 2013. P: 5)."

## **3.4** Summary of the literature review

Despite the variations in the prevalence of each specific type of head and neck cancer, some researchers consider this cancer amongst the six most prevalent cancers in the world (Shah and Lydiatt, 1995; Fan, 2004; Dobrossy, 2005; Altumbabic *et al.*, 2008; Marur *et al.*, 2010;) with more than half a million new cases of H&N cancer are diagnosed each year (Fan, 2004; Dobrossy, 2005; Vermorken, 2005; Adeyemi *et al.*, 2008; Altumbabic *et al.*, 2008; Boyle *et al.*, 2008; Haddad and Shin, 2008; Marur and Forastiere, 2008; Pai and Westra, 2009; Michl *et al.*, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010) and there is a high mortality rate from this type of cancer (Price, 2010; Rad *et al.*, 2010). It is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours (Dropkin, 2001) and often results in the development of a series of functional and psychosocial problems (McDonough *et al.*, 1996).

Reviewing the literature indicates that H&N cancers can have a negative influence on QoL (Morton and Izzard, 2003; Rogers *et al.*, 2007; Penner, 2009; Rogers *et al.*, 2007; Penner, 2009; So *et al.*, 2012). However, some factors may mitigate or aggravate the impact of cancer on patient's psychological wellbeing (McDonough *et al.*, 1996). For example, there are many strategies that people diagnosed with H&N cancer can employ that may influence health outcomes. Coping is one such strategy (Sherman *et al.*, 2000). Higher levels of adaptive *coping* have been found to be related to better *quality of life* (Mo and Coulson, 2012).

Psychological factors such as anxiety and depression have been recognised as important factors in a number of studies of patients with H&N cancer (de Leeuw *et al.*, 2001; Massie, 2004; Archer *et al.*, 2008; Haman, 2008; Haisfield-Wolfe *et al.*, 2009). These factors have widely been linked to reduced *quality of life* in many studies (Rapaport *et al.*, 2005; Brenes, 2007; Quelhas and Costa, 2009).

Self-efficacy is a personal resource that signifies a self-belief in individual's capability to apply control over adverse events (Bandura, 1997) and has been shown to be related to better coping, and relatively low levels of psychological distress (Benight *et al.*, 1997). In addition, it has been suggested that people who receive social support are

expected to have stronger self-efficacy beliefs, which subsequently may affect healthrelated outcomes (Benight and Bandura, 2004). The few studies conducted on the relationship between social support and H&N cancer suggest that social support does appear to exert a positive influence for patients with H&N cancer, especially in relation to reducing the impact of anxiety, depression or depressive symptoms (Mathieson *et al.*, 1996; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2000 a and b; Hassanein, 2001; Karnell *et al.*, 2007; Chueh *et al.*, 2009; Howren *et al.*, 2011; Deno *et al.*, 2012).

Studies on social networks and cancer (Goodwin *et al.*, 1991; de Ruiter *et al.*, 1993; Guidry *et al.*, 1997; Michael *et al.*, 2002; Sapp *et al.*, 2003; Bauer *et al.*, 2005; Kroenke *et al.*, 2006; Pinquart and Duberstein, 2010; Beasley *et al.*, 2010) suggest that social networks are related to better Health Related QoL (HRQoL) and also appear to have a mediating effect on anxiety and depression amongst cancer patients. Social networks appear to play an important role in enhancing the coping ability of the patient (Relic *et al.*, 2001).

An increasing number of people have explored the internet for support, information and advice related to many aspects of health (Coulson, 2005) and there are an expanding number of OSGs available for different health conditions including cancer (Eysenbach *et al.*, 2004). Online support groups may have many advantages over conventional face-to-face groups, and some of them can be very suitable for people with H&N cancer since they can mitigate embarrassment and facilitate interaction if people have a facial disfigurement, speech impairments, or have a feeding tube, all of which are common in people with H&N cancer.

Reviewing the literature has showed that online cancer support groups have been found to be associated with reduction in levels of both physiological and psychological stress in their members (Golant *et al.*, 2004). These groups can increase social support by increasing self-esteem, personal empowerment and functional status and decreasing depression, feelings of helplessness, distress, and social isolation (Fogel *et al.*, 2002; Houston *et al.*, 2002, Winzelberg *et al.*, 2003; Lieberman *et al.*, 2003; Shaw *et al.*, 2006).

Other studies investigating OSGs for other non-cancer health conditions have suggested that OSGs can provide social support, particularly informational and emotional, improve and provide a guide on coping strategies, reduce sense of isolation, loneliness and levels of depression and anxiety, improve planning and increase levels of optimism toward life (Coulson, and Knibb, 2007; Coulson, and Buchanan; 2008; Malik, and Coulson, 2008; Mo, and Coulson, 2010b; Elwell *et al.*, 2011; Mo, and Coulson, 2011; Attard and Coulson, 2012; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012; Campbell *et al.*, 2013; Mo, and Coulson, 2014a; Mo, and Coulson, 2014b).

#### **3.5** Rationale for the research

Several studies have indicated that OSGs can benefit users through enhancing the empowerment process (van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, 2008; Malik, and Coulson, 2008; Mo, and Coulson, 2010a; Bartlett, and Coulson, 2011; Mo, and Coulson, 2011; Holbrey, and Coulson, 2013; Campbell, *et al.*, 2013; Mo, and Coulson, 2014a; Mo, and Coulson, 2014b). Yet, interestingly, there have been no studies to date investigating OSGs for people with H&N cancer. This is despite the high incidence of H&N cancer and evidence pointing to the influence on the QoL of patients and the beneficial role of OSGs, especially in providing social support and empowerment and improving users' QoL, and the availability of many OSGs for H&N cancer.

This gap led the researcher to begin to explore this area as a potential topic for his PhD. As outlined in the literature review (Section 3.3), previous studies with other health conditions have suggested that OSGs can be a good source of a range of types of social support (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu, 2009; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). Given that no previous studies had examined OSGs for H&N cancer, the first step was to examine what type of support messages were being sought and posted to H&N OSGs. By firstly understanding what social support was offered and received within such OSGs, it was felt that this would then guide the next step of the research, which was to explore how the support available within OSGs, alongside other key factors identified in the wider literature, was related to the QoL of people with H&N cancer.

To examine types of social support, the PhD utilised an existing methodology which has been widely used in the OSG literature for other patient groups (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu 2009; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). These studies have used the Social Support Behaviour Code (SSBC) (Cutrona and Suhr, 1992) to code messages in terms of the type of social support offered within OSGs. The framework has been shown to be a valid and reliable method of examining what social support is available in OSGs in these previous studies. In addition, to examine what social support was sought within OSGs a second framework developed by Coursaris and Liu (2009), and previously

used in relation to HIV/AIDS, was employed. Again, whilst this framework has been used far less than the SSBC, it has been shown to be a reliable and valid method of examining what social support is sought in OSGs in this study.

This first study aimed at increasing our understanding of what types of social support are available within OSGs for H&N cancer. The results of this study showed that H&N cancer OSGs were used frequently by some people, from many different countries; sometimes both patients and carers used the OSGs. Importantly, many types of social support were being sought and offered within these OSGs – for example, informational, emotional, esteem, social network and tangible support. This led to the development of the next stage of the research which was to examine the relationship between the use of these OSGs and other key factors which have been shown, in the literature, to mitigate or aggravate the impact of cancer on psychological wellbeing and QoL (McDonough *et al.*, 1996; Penner, 2009). Those factors include social support in addition to, coping strategies, social networks, self-efficacy, anxiety and depression. In order to examine the relationships between the use of OSGs and this wide range of factors, a cross-sectional study was designed utilising a range of pre-validated questionnaires available within the existing QoL, psychology and on-line literatures.

At this stage, a quantitative method was chosen because it allowed the research problem to be stated in very specific and set terms, and precisely and clearly specified both the dependent and the independent variables under examination (Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias, 1992). Quantitative studies offer data that can be expressed in numbers which allow applying statistical tests in making statements about the data and can also provide data that is descriptive (Madrigal, McClain, 2012). Therefore, it allows the researcher to measure and analyse data as well as to test hypotheses and models (Matveev, 2002). This research approach has other advantages such as achieving high levels of reliability of collected data (Balsley, 1970) and diminishing subjectivity of judgment (Kealey & Protheroe, 1996).

Conducting a longitudinal study would be problematic on-line for several reasons; for example, it is hard to follow up users of OSGs due to the general low response rates or nonresponses associated with the online questionnaire (Couper, 2000; Nosek *et al.*,

2002; Kraut *et al.*, 2004; Matsuo *et al.*, 2004). Since, it seems that, within virtual environment, it is not guaranteed that people who participate at the baseline of the study will participate in the follow up sessions. In addition, for pragmatic reasons, a longitudinal study was not possible during the time available for the PhD. To minimise such difficulties, and for pragmatic reasons, a cross sectional study was chosen to address the research question. This approach, in spite of its cross sectional nature, and the limitations in making causal inferences, is relatively inexpensive and takes up little time to conduct; can estimate occurance of outcome of interest, useful for planning and generation of hypotheses and does not have the problem of loss of follow-up (Levin, 2006).

Whilst this part of the PhD enabled a greater understanding of the relationship between using OSGs and key factors, nevertheless, it was felt that there were a number of limitations of using pre-existing questionnaires. For example this method is thought to be insufficient to understand some forms of information such as changes of behaviour, emotions or feelings, in the time that it only asks a limited amount of information without deep explanation (Popper, 2005). In addition, participants may misunderstand the questions within pre-existing questionnaires and reply based on their own interpretation of the question (Popper, 2005).

Thus, alongside this quantitative study, a companion qualitative study was carried out utilising unstructured interviews with participants who had responded to the questionnaires. These interviews aimed to explore, in more depth, aspects of using OSGs which were not covered within the questionnaires. These interviews therefore allowed OSGs users to discuss why they had joined the OSGs, their feelings toward the OSGs, what they perceived they benefited from the OSGs and how the OSGs empowered them to cope with their H&N cancer. Thus, the interview gave the potential for greater detail that could not be achieved from the numerical data from the questionnaire. Thus, the interviews provided a comprehensive view of the phenomena under exploration (Patton, 1980), the ability to interact with the participants on their own terms and in their own language (Kirk and Miller, 1986), and provided detail and depth on the behaviours, feelings and attitudes of the participants and encouraged them to expand on their response in order to open up new themes or areas not initially considered (O'Neill, 2008).

Online interviews were chosen (rather than face-to-face) because participants were already using the medium (given the nature of the study concerned their use of online groups). In addition, limitations of face-to-face interviews such as geographic distance (users came from many different countries), cost, time and convenience were minimised.

Using three different methods to address the aim of the PhD enabled an exploration of the potential role of OSGs for H&N cancer; an area thus far unexplored. Firstly, by examining what social support is 'already out there' and available to H&N cancer patients and their carers. Secondly, by examining the relationships between OSG use, QoL and a range of possible mediating factors using existing and pre-validated questionnaires. Thirdly, by exploring the role of OSGs for H&N cancer by allowing participants the opportunity to discuss their experiences of OSGs in a detailed and unrestricted manner through interviews.

# **3.6** Aim of the research

The aim of the present research is to explore online social support groups for people with head and neck cancer.

# **3.7** Objectives of the research

The overall objectives of the research are to:

- 1. Explore the types of social support, sought and offered, within online support groups for H&N cancer.
- 2. Examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL and examine the psychosocial factors that may influence this relationship.
- 3. Explore, in depth, the OSG experiences of people with H&N cancer

To meet the objectives of this body of research, two studies were conducted. The first study (Study 1) was a quantitative content analysis of messages in H&N cancer OSGs both offering and seeking social support. This study addressed Objective 1.

## The specific objectives for Study 1were to:

- review existing OSGs for people with H&N cancer
- choose suitable OSGs according to inclusion and exclusion criteria
- code and analyse the types of social support available in OSGs for H&N cancer using a pre-validated coding framework
- code and analyse the types of social support sought in OSGs for H&N cancer using a pre-validated coding framework

The second study (Study 2) consisted of two parts. The first part (Part 1) was a crosssectional study examining the use of OSGs, its relationship to QoL and possible factors influencing this relationship (social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment). This part addressed Objective 2 of the research.

## The specific objectives for Study 2 (Part 1) were to:

- select suitable measures to assess the use of H&N cancer -OSGs.
- using existing, pre-validated questionnaires to examine QoL, social network, selfefficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment in a sample of people using online support groups for H&N cancer.
- using regression analyses to examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL, and the possible mediation role of the other psychosocial variables in this relationship.

The second part (Part 2) of Study 2 consisted of unstructured online interviews which aimed to explore in more detail the experience of using of OSGs. This part addressed Objective 3 of the research.

#### The specific objectives for Study 2 (Part 2) were to:

- explore, in depth, people's experiences of using OSGs for H&N cancer
- analyse the data using a narrative thematic experience analysis to identify emergent themes

# Chapter IV: Study 1: Exploring Online Social Support in Head and Neck Cancer Groups

# 4 Study 1: Exploring online social support in head and neck cancer groups

## 4.1 Introduction

Whilst head and neck cancer is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours (Dropkin, 2001) and often results in the development of a series of functional and psychosocial problems (McDonough *et al.*, 1996), there are many strategies people diagnosed with H&N cancer can employ to influence health outcomes. Coping is one such strategy (Sherman *et al.*, 2000).

Coping has been investigated widely among people with different cancers especially breast cancer (Stanton *et al.*, 2000; Petticrew *et al.*, 2002). However, relatively few studies have been conducted on coping specifically with H&N cancers. Yet, approximately half of the people with H&N cancer are reported to suffer from depression (Duffy *et al.*, 2007). One hypothesis is that this high rate of depression might be linked to pre-morbid factors such as lack of social support (Baile *et al.*, 1992), which has been found to be of increasing importance in other cancer studies, as social support is considered to be the most significant factor implicated in coping. A considerable number of researchers have suggested that social support has been constantly linked to physical and mental health (Lin *et al.*, 1985; Cohen, 1988; Heitzmann and Kaplan, 1988; Bloom, 1990).

To date, there have been a relatively large number of studies conducted on the relationship between social support and cancers (De Boer *et al.*, 1999b; Hoodin and Weber, 2003; Thaxton *et al.*, 2005; Falagas *et al.*, 2007; Nausheen *et al*, 2009). Of the studies that have been conducted with H&N cancer, the findings suggest that social support does appear to exert a positive influence, especially in relation to reducing the impact of anxiety, depression or depressive symptoms (Baker, 1992; Ma, 1996; Mathieson *et al.*, 1996; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2000 a; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2000b; Hassanein, 2001; List *et al.*, 2002; Katz *et al.*, 2003; Karnell *et al.*, 2007; Chueh *et al.*, 2009; Howren *et al.*, 2011).

An increasing number of people have explored the internet for support, information and advice related to many aspects of health (Coulson, 2005) and there are a growing number of OSGs available for different health conditions including cancer (Eysenbach *et al.*, 2004). Many studies dealing with different health conditions suggest that these support groups can be useful for patients to obtain the required support (Winzelberg, 1997; Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Finn, 1999; White and Dorman, 2000; Coulson, 2005; Mo and Coulson, 2008). However, to date, there have been no studies examining online social support for people with H&N cancer.

Within the literature, several possible dimensions of social support have been identified (Hirsh, 1980; House, 1981, Cutrona and Suhr, 1992, Sherbourne and Stewart, 1991) and the aim of this study was to assess the types of social support, sought and offered, within OSGs for people with H&N cancer.

# 4.2 Aim

The aim of this study was to explore the types and frequency of social support, sought and offered, within online support groups for H&N cancer.

# 4.3 Objectives

- Review existing OSGs for people with H&N cancer
- choose suitable OSGs according to inclusion and exclusion criteria
- code and analyse the types of social support available in OSGs for H&N cancer using a pre-validated coding framework
- code and analyse the types of social support sought in OSGs for H&N cancer using a pre-validated coding framework

#### 4.4 Strategic choices for method

Content analysis is a method for systematically describing spoken, written or visual communication in a quantitative way (Krippendorff, 2012). The technique can be applied to existing material (any material that can be documented and reviewed such as newspapers and internet) or to new data collected by the researchers, or to categorise open-ended responses to survey questions or interview (Berelson, 1971; Sommer, 2006; Krippendorff, 2012).

Quantification allows researchers to describe the material in a way that is potentially valid and reliable. The information is broken down into categories and then summarised. Both format (the form or structure of the information) and content (the meaning of the information) of the communication can be quantified (Sommer, 2006; Krippendorff, 2012). The unit of measurement needs to be specified after the materials to be coded have been selected. There must be a clear specification of the coding categories and the procedure. Categories must be comprehensive, mutually-exclusive, and non-instances may need to be recorded (for completeness). For reliability, two people independently coding the information should show a high degree of agreement in their classifications (Budd, *et al.*, 1967; Sommer, 2006).

Reviewing the literature (Budd, *et al.*, 1967; Weber, 1990; Krippendorff, 2004; Sommer, 2006; Krippendorff, 2012) suggested that content analysis has the advantages of being readily-understood and an inexpensive research method. It is unobtrusive (i.e. does not intrude; inconspicuous, out of the way) and very useful for analysing historical material, documenting change over time and comparing media from different sources and locations (Krippendorff, 2004). In addition, establishing reliability is easy and straightforward with content analysis, since it scores highest with regard to ease of replication compared with the other research methods as the materials tend to be easy to obtain and available for others to use (Krippendorff, 2004; Sommer, 2006; Krippendorff, 2012).

Content analysis has been used in a range of health contexts in online methodologies (for example, disabilities, Irritable Bowel Syndrome, Huntington's disease, HIV/AIDS, families affected by childhood cancer) to assess the types of social support available online (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu, 2009; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). These studies have provided useful information about the nature (type) and frequency of social support available in OSGs by utilising existing social support coding frameworks which is the Social Support Behaviour Code "SSBC" that was developed by Cutrona and Suhr (1992). This framework has been used in the current study as well (See Data analysis "Section 4.5.5" for details and rationals for using this framework).

Since the aim of this study was to explore the types and frequency of social support, sought and offered, within online support groups for H&N cancer, knowing the frequency of each type of social support sought and offered can give a general idea of whether users of the OSGs get corresponding support to what they seek?. It allows comparison between the types and frequency of social support sought and offered. Therefore, content analysis (not thematic analysis) has been chosen for the aim of this study because it allows quantification and can express the result in numbers and percentages for each type of social support (sought and offered).

# 4.5 Method

#### 4.5.1 Study design

Content analysis

#### 4.5.2 Sampling

#### 4.5.2.1 OSGs selection

A thorough search was performed using Google as the search engine with a set of key words (Head, neck, cancer, tumour, forum, online, message boards, support group, chat, blog, oral, pharyngeal, laryngeal, lip, tongue, tonsil, throat, gingival, gum, mouth, dental, cheek, epiglottis). Several publicly accessible H&N cancer-OSGs were identified for the purposes of the study as follows. Nineteen main sites were identified with some containing more than one OSG. A total of 56 OSGs were identified (see Appendix 3).

Groups were selected according to the following inclusion criteria:

1. Online support groups that deal with H&N cancer

The following exclusion criteria were applied to whole groups during selection:

- 1. Groups that also deal with health conditions other than H&N cancer.
- 2. Groups that require registration to access the messages in the group.
- 3. A group where the support is only provided by professional or nurse. (This was determined by reading the terms and conditions of each online group and by screening the messages in the groups).
- 4. A group being no longer active or generally inactive with very few postings per year (less than 12 posting per year at least one in every month).

# Rationale for choosing groups with at least 12 postings per year (at least one posting in every month):

During the process of searching for H&N cancer OSGs to be included in the study (Objective 1), it became apparent that, in spite of the availability of many OSGs for H&N cancer, only a few of them were active with daily messaging. The activity of the remaining groups was very varied, but with some groups not having any messages posted for a full month. In order to ensure that as many OSGs were included as possible but still include those that were active, a cut-off criteria was applied of at least one posting per month (i.e. at least 12 postings per year).

Following application of the exclusion criteria, as can be seen from Figure 5, eighteen OSGs belonging to six websites were included in the study as can be seen in Table 21.



Figure 5: Applying exclusion criteria for OSGs

| 000                 | 1 171.  |
|---------------------|---|
| OSGs                | 1. The cancer forums  |
| based in<br>the UK  | 2. Macmillan  |
|                     | 3. Introduce yourself (MCF)*                                  |
|                     | 4. General chat (MCF)   |
|                     | 5. Questions and Answers (MCF)                                |
| OSGs                | 6. Head & neck cancer (CancerCompass)                         |
| based in<br>the USA | 7. Cancer Survivors Network                                   |
|                     | 8. Introduce yourself (OCF)**                                 |
|                     | 9. General Board (OCF)  |
|                     | 10. Symptoms and Diagnosis (OCF)                              |
|                     | 11. Coping / Anger and Fear (OCF)                             |
|                     | 12. Medications, Treatment, Procedures (OCF)                  |
|                     | 13. Currently in Treatment (OCF)                              |
|                     | 14. After Treatment Issues (OCF)                              |
|                     | 15. Eating, Speech, Swallowing, and Alternative Feeding (OCF) |
|                     | 16. Caregiver / Co-Survivor Forum (OCF)                       |
|                     | 17. Oral Cancer Recurrence (OCF)                              |
|                     | 18. Activism (OCF)  |
|                     |   |

Table 21: List of OSGs generating the sample for Study 1

\*MCF (Mouth Cancer Foundation), \*\* OCF (Oral Cancer Foundation)

#### 4.5.2.2 Messages selection

The messages were selected according to the following inclusion criteria:

#### Inclusion criteria for the support-seeking messages:

- 1- Identified the username of the sender, date of posting, then the actual message itself
- 2- Sought at least one dimension of social support (as defined by the SSBC framework and its modifications, see Data analysis Section 4.5.5)
- 3- Available to be read by the public
- 4- Written in English

#### Inclusion criteria for the support-offering messages:

- 1- Messages that were replies to the above selected support-seeking messages
- 2- Identified the username of the sender, date of posting, then the actual message itself
- 3- Offer at least one dimension of social support (as defined by the SSBC framework and its modifications, see Data analysis Section 4.5.5)
- 4- Available to be read by the public
- 5- Written in English

The data were selected from the even months in each of these 18 OSGs in the year 2011 by selecting one random posting and its associated reply messages from each month using an electronic True Random Number Generator from the RANDOM.ORG website (http://www.random.org/). The total sample consisted of 108 postings (support-seeking messages) yielding 527 reply messages (support-offering messages). The following exclusion criteria were applied to whole messages:

#### Exclusion criteria for the support-seeking messages:

- 1- Messages with no replies
- 2- Messages not about H&N cancer
- 3- Old messages that were posted before the study time limit (1<sup>st</sup> January 31
  December 2011)

- 4- Messages outside of the definition of H&N cancer in this study (see Chapter 2, Section 2.1)
- 5- Messages written in a language other than English

#### **Exclusion criteria for the support-offering messages:**

- 1- Replies for support-seeking messages not about H&N cancer
- 2- Replies for old support-seeking messages that were posted before the study began
- 3- Replies to support-seeking messages outside of the definition of H&N cancer in this study (see Chapter 2, Section 2.1)
- 4- Messages sent as a reply by the original senders of the support-seeking message
- 5- Multiple replies from the same sender

#### **Rationale for choosing one random message for the even months only:**

Reviewing the literature and investigating the studies that used similar methods (i.e. content analysis for messages posted within OSGs) in relation to other health conditions (Irritable Bowel Syndrome, Huntington's disease, HIV/AIDS, and families affected by childhood cancer) indicated that there was no fixed sampling strategy for this particular methodology. That is, authors in these studies had used different time periods, different number of OSGs and different strategies to select their data. For example, Coulson (2005) included all messages posted to one OSG during an 8-month study period, resulting in 572 messages to be analysed; Coulson *et al.* (2007) included all messages to one OSG during a 21-month study period resulting in 1313 messages; Mo and Coulson (2008) selected 1,138 messages randomly from massages posted to one OSGs for a period of one month. More recently, Coulson and Greenwood (2012) select 487 messages randomly from messages posted to three OSGs for the period from 2006 up until July 2010.

Given this variability in the literature to date, in the present study, for purpose of generalisability and to investigate the widest possible range of views about OSGs, we decided to ensure that data were collected from as many OSGs as possible (not from only one OSG) and that data came from OSGs that were still active with at least one posting per month (i.e. at least 12 postings per year). These criteria resulted in data being collected from 18 OSGs, some of them very active in terms of the number of

messages posted per month (e.g. up to 200 messages per month) and some of them were not (i.e. the minimum criteria of 1 message per month).

When reviewing the OSGs and messages for the study, it became apparent that members of the OSGs (the support providers) were relatively active in terms of replying to messages of the support seekers. Indeed, there were approximately 6 replies (support-providing messages) for each one support-seeking message. Given the large volume of messages from some OSGs, it was necessary to limit the number selected for practical purposes. Thus, to still maintain the range (18) of OSGs it was decided to include messages from all but to collect messages from a 6 month period distributed throughout the year. If one support-seeking message was included from each of the 18 OSGs in a 6 month period (distributed evenly across the 12 month study period), this would result in 108 support-seeking messages and approximately 600 reply messages (support-offering messages). The latter number was consistent with previous studies utilising the same method: 572 messages (Coulson, 2005) and 487 messages (Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). In addition, during the pilot study and during scanning, reading and reviewing of the messages, it became apparent that members of the OSGs often wrote long messages that contained more than one dimension or sub-dimension of social support. Given that no formal sample size calculation could be conducted, on the basis of the above, it was decided that the number of messages (108 + 600) from 18 different OSGs would provide a representative selection of data that could be analysed. An electronic True Random Number Generator from the RANDOM.ORG website (http://www.random.org/) was used to select these messages.

The most recent year was chosen at the time of data collection (2011). To ensure distribution of the 6 months throughout the year, we could either select the odd or the even months. Given that some of the even months include special events (e.g. Easter in April; Christmas in December) celebrated by a large number of people around the world (Ferrell, 2003), we opted to choose the even months when people might be taking holidays, spending time with families, or when social support (or absence of) may be at the fore in people's lives.

In summary, using such sampling strategy allowed collecting data from several OSGs (18 OSGs). In addition, it allowed data to be collected from the most recent year at

time of data collection (2011) and allowed including months with special religious and cultural characteristics.

# 4.5.2.3 Sample

# 4.5.2.3.1 Sample: support-offering messages

Figure 6 shows that after application of the exclusion criteria to the 527 supportoffering messages from the 18 OSGs the remaining number was 312 messages. These messages were content analysed to investigate the dimensions of social support within the group and, where available, demographics of the message posters as well as their clinical information.



Figure 6: Applying exclusion criteria for support-offering messages

#### 4.5.2.3.2 Sample: support-seeking messages

Figure 7 shows that after application of the exclusion criteria to the 108 supportseeking messages, those remaining totalled 87 messages. These messages were content analysed for support seeking. Again, where available, the demographics of the support seekers together with some clinical information have been collected.



Figure 7: Applying exclusion criteria for support-seeking messages

Seventy-eight unique names were identified as posting 87 support-seeking messages, and 125 unique names were identified for the 312 reply messages to those support-seeking messages. However, 12 names were found to be common between both support-seeking and support-offering messages. Figure 8 shows a flow diagram summarising the details of OSGs and message selection.

Figure 8: Study 1 sample profile



#### 4.5.3 Ethics

All the OSGs that are used in this study did not require any registration or subscription to view the postings and the reply messages. Therefore, these groups were considered to be in the public domain, and the need for informed consent from the participants was not considered necessary (Eysenbach and Till, 2001; Flicker *et al.*, 2004; Coulson, 2005; British Psychological Society, 2013).

Although the study was conducted in 2011, the ethical considerations were compatible with the ethical guidelines of the British Psychological Society (2013) (See Table 20, Section 3.3), including privacy and confidentiality:

- To protect anonymity of individuals, the name or address of the OSGs from which data was collected has not been included. In addition, all the name and usernames of the members of the OSGs, as well as any name mentioned in the messages, have been removed and substituted by pseudonyms. In addition, any name of places or other information that might reveal the identity of the OSG member has been removed.
- To protect confidentiality of OSG members, the original data that contained original name, usernames or any identity information related to the members were kept by the researcher in a password protected electronic document and could only be accessed by the researcher.

#### 4.5.4 Data collection

The researcher (E.A) -himself has performed the data collection, recording, transfer, coding and analysis. The supervisors (S.B and J.O) have read and independently coded the 10 support-seeking and the 10 support-offering messages in the pilot study before and after introducing the modifications to the coding frames. The supervisors have also independently coded a further 10 messages for the main study and compared with researcher's coding. Each of the coders has read and understood the coding frames with some of their applications as examples in previous studies.

#### 4.5.5 Data analysis

The sought and offered social support within the messages posted to the selected H&N cancer OSG were analysed using content analysis. This method allowed the messages to be classified according to a social support framework:

#### Messages: support offering

The Social Support Behaviour Code (SSBC) developed by Cutrona and Suhr (1992) (see Appendix 4) was adapted for use in this study to investigate and classify the social support in the support-offering messages. The SSBC has previously been used as a coding frame for the analysis of OSG bulletin board messages (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008). However, since the original social support framework of Cutrona and Suhr (1992) was not originally designed for analysing support in online groups, a modified version adapted and used by Mo and Coulson (2008) for analysing support in online groups was used in this study (see Appendix 5). The modifications in the Mo and Coulson version from the original SSBC were as follows:

- 1- The "listening" subcategory was eliminated.
- 2- A new subcategory, "sharing own experience," was created under informational support.
- 3- The "presence" and "companionship" subcategories under network support were collapsed into one "presence".

The Mo and Coulson (2008) coding framework was originally intended to assess the frequency of support-intended dialogue behaviours that existed under five main categories:

1) <u>Informational support</u> (provides advices and knowledge relevant to character of the stress or the way of coping with such stress) and included five subcategories, they are; teaching, referrals to expert, advice, sharing own experiences and situation appraisal.

2) <u>Esteem Support</u> (contains confidence in communicating respect and ability) and incluses three subcategories; validation, compliment and relief of blame.

3) <u>Network support</u> (involves communication with individuals who have similar interest and concerns) and contained two subcategories; presence and access.

4) <u>Emotional support</u> (offers love, cares and concern in disclosure with the recipients) and involves seven subcategories; relationship, empathy, expression of care, confidentiality, sympathy, prayer physical affection, and encouragement.

5) <u>Tangible assistance</u> (provides goods or services needed to deal with the stressful circumstance) and involves four subcategories; perform direct task, perform indirect task, express willingness and loan.

Therefore, 22 codes were utilised in the content analysis of the support-offering messages. A brief description of the meaning of each code (subcategories) has been provided in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.6.

# Rationale for choosing SSBC as a coding framework for the supportoffering messages:

The SSBC coding framework was chosen as it has been used in many previous studies within the on- and off-line social support literature. It has been used to investigate social support messages in the study of OSGs for other health conditions and chronic diseases like disability, HIV/AIDS, Irritable Bowel Syndrome, Huntington Disease and families affected by childhood cancer (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al*, 2007; Mo and Coulson 2008; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). These studies have reported it as a reliable and valid approach to coding and categorising online support messages. Given the wide range of previous contexts in which the framework has been used, it suggests that the typology might be generalisable to H&N cancer OSGs. In addition, given that it is a comprehensive coding system (5 dimensions of support with 22 sub-dimensions) predicated on of an overall theoretical framework (Coulson *et al*, 2007), it should aid in facilitating understanding of online social support in this new application – H&N cancer OSGs.

Finally, a pilot study conducted prior to the study to examine the utility of the coding system to H&N cancer OSGs, demonstrated that the coding framework was reliable (see Section 4.5.6) with high levels of agreement between coders (86.5%). Furthermore, within the pilot, no messages remained uncategorised after application of the SSBC framework indicating its potential validity in the H&N context.

#### Messages: Support seeking

The Coursaris and Liu (2009) coding framework was adapted to categorise the postings that were sent by the support seekers (see Appendix 7) (support-seeking messages). This framework was originally based on the Social Support Behaviour Code (SBSS) of Cutrona and Suhr (1992). In Coursaris and Liu's development of the framework, messages seeking social support were firstly classified into the five general dimensions of the SBSS (informational, emotional, esteem, network and tangible support). Then, the postings that did not fit into any of the five general dimensions of the SBSS underwent a thematic analysis to identify other areas of social support exchanges within the group. The following three categories were derived as a result: sharing personal experiences, expressing gratitude and offering congratulations. The final framework therefore consisted of 8 dimensions as follows:

- <u>Seeking informational support</u>: Included specific questions concerning the situation to obtain factual information, evaluate certain situation or to seek suggestions or advice.
- 2. <u>Seeking emotional support</u>: Showed emotional or psychological weakness and need for comfort.
- 3. <u>Seeking esteem support</u>: Validation for perspective/relief of blame.
- 4. <u>Seeking network support</u>: Asking for prolonged or contact with others in similar situation.
- 5. <u>Seeking tangible support</u>: Asking for financial, material, equipment, asking to be shown an aspect of care on a one-to-one basis.
- 6. <u>Sharing personal experiences</u>: Shared personal conditions, thoughts, and feelings related to the issue with others initially and spontaneously.
- 7. <u>Expression of gratitude</u>: Expressed straightforward thankfulness for the recipient's previous support.
- 8. <u>Congratulations</u>: Expressed joy or acknowledgment of the recipient's achievement or good fortune.

In the current study, a pilot was carried out (see Section 4.5.6) to examine the utility of this framework for H&N cancer OSGs. As a result of the pilot study, some minor

modifications were introduced. The modifications from the original Coursaris and Liu (2009) framework were the addition of three new categories:

- 1. Seeking wellbeing information which included specific questions about how to offer support to others.
- 2. Expressions of care which included messages that contained expression of concern for others.
- 3. Encouragement which included sending messages of hope and confidence.

After introducing these modifications, the coding framework included 11 dimensions (see Appendix 8).

# Rationale for choosing the Coursaris and Liu framework for the support-seeking messages:

Given that the Coursaris and Liu framework was originally based on the five categories of the SSBC, the framework being used to code the support-offering messages, it was felt that choosing this would allow for some comparability in the analysis of the support-offering and supporting-providing messages. In addition, searching the literature showed that the Coursaris and Liu framework was the only scheme available for assessing the sought support for OSGs and it was found to be valid and reliable method for assessing sought support in the OSGs in that study (Coursaris and Liu, 2009).

#### 4.5.6 Pilot study

To assess the applicability of the coding frame for the support-offering messages, 10 support-offering messages were chosen randomly from the postings in the odd months (1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11) to one of the groups that used for the main study in 2011. The framework of Mo and Coulson (2008) was applied to content analyse the 10 support-offering messages. The 10 messages were analysed separately by both the researcher (EG) and the two supervisors (SB, JO). The degree of agreement between the three coders was evaluated using Cohen Kappa.

An agreement of 86.5% was achieved between the three coders. In addition, another item (prayer) which had been used originally in the Cutrona and Suhr coding system was added under the emotional support category and a small modification made to the item. The difference being that in the current study, messages within this code contain prayers *with and/or for* the recipients rather than the prayer was *with* the recipients only in the original Cutrona and Suhr. The final coding system used in Study 1 can be seen in Appendix 6.

To assess the applicability of the coding frame for the support-seeking messages, as in the case of support-offering messages, 10 randomly chosen support-seeking messages were content analysed using the Coursaris and Liu (2009) 8-item framework (Appendix 7) by the researcher (EG) and two supervisors (SB, JO) independently. During the initial agreement check, it became clear that a number of statements remained uncategorised using the original framework. As a result, three new codes were identified. These were; seeking wellbeing information (which included specific questions about how to offer support to others), expressions of care (which included messages that contain expression of concern for others) and encouragement (which included sending messages of hope and confidence). This modified 11 item coding system was then used to content analyse a further 10 randomly selected messages, and agreement between the three coders was calculated. Agreement between the three coders was 80%. The modified coding framework can be seen in Appendix 8.

#### 4.6 Results

The result section is divided into two main parts; social support offered and social support sought. In this study, people who posted messages to seek support were called as "Support seekers" and those who replied to them were called as "Support providers".

#### 4.6.1 Social support offered: Analysis of support-offering messages

#### **4.6.1.1** Demographics of support providers

#### 1. Age

A few support providers supplied their ages in their profiles and some of the care givers (CG) (these people identified themselves as not the person with H&N cancer but rather as carers/family members) supplied the ages of their family members (i.e. the person with H&N cancer), rather than their own. Age was provided by 49 (out of total 125) members, and while 36 of them (32 people with cancer and 4) have provided their own ages, 2 caregivers provided their ages together with their family member's age. However, 11 caregivers provided the ages of their family member only. Table 22 shows more details of the age distribution of the support providers.

| Age group   | Number             | %     |
|-------------|--------------------|-------|
| 0 – 19      | 0                  | 0     |
| 20 - 29     | 1 (Pwc*)           | 2.63  |
| 30 - 39     | 11 (Pwc)           | 28.94 |
| 40 - 49     | 10 (6 Pwc, 4 CG**) | 26.31 |
| 50 - 59     | 9 (8 Pwc, 1 CG)    | 23.68 |
| 60 or above | 7 (6 Pwc, 1 CG)    | 18.42 |
| Total       | 38                 | 100%  |

Table 22: Age distribution of the support providers who provided their own ages \* Pwc = person with cancer, \*\* CG = Caregiver

The ages of the 13 people with cancer supplied by their caregivers were (33, 43, 47, 48, 52, 53, 55, 56, 57, 60, 66, 68, and 76). Almost all members who supplied their ages

were over 30 years, with the highest percentage in the age groups (30 - 39 years). However, by distributing the ages of the 13 people with cancer who were supplied by their caregivers into the table, the highest percentage will be in the age group (50 - 59 years). This is consistent with what previous studies have suggested in the literature that H&N cancer is more common in older people than young (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Chidzonga and Mahomva, 2006; Warnakulasuriya, 2009a).

#### 2. Gender

Although some members indicated their gender clearly in their profile, gender was unknown for many people, and was, therefore, if possible, deducted from their user names or from their names if they supplied them. In addition, several messages gave clues about the gender such as when the sender was writing about their husband or wife. In total, out of the total 125 members, gender was identified for 113 members, and it appears that more than two-thirds (69%) of them were females.

#### 3. Location

Information about members' location was supplied from all OSGs without subscription or registration except three (Cancer Survivors Network, Macmillan and Cancer Compass). Therefore, data were available for 92 members. Table 23 illustrates the distribution of members among the different countries.

| Country     | Number | %     |
|-------------|--------|-------|
| USA         | 69     | 75.00 |
| UK          | 9      | 9.78  |
| Australia   | 7      | 7.60  |
| Canada      | 3      | 3.26  |
| India       | 1      | 1.08  |
| New Zealand | 1      | 1.08  |
| UAE         | 1      | 1.08  |
| Hong Kong   | 1      | 1.08  |
| Total       | 92     | 100%  |

Table 23: The distribution of participants among countries

From the previous table it appears that 75% of the members (n = 69) were from the United States and the remaining were from different countries in which English is the

predominant language (UK, Canada, Australia, New Zealand). Only three members were from countries whose main language is not English (India, United Arab of Emirates and Hong Kong).

#### 4. Identity of support providers

The identity of support providers could be deduced for 119 members out of the 125. Of those, about 70% (84 members) of the support message senders were people with cancer and around 28% were caregivers (24% were identified relatives and about 4% were undefined caregivers). Only one member was a healthcare professional (see Table 24).

| Support provider   | Number | %     |
|--------------------|--------|-------|
| Person with cancer | 84     | 70.58 |
| CG (Wife)          | 18     | 15.12 |
| CG (Daughter)      | 5      | 4.20  |
| CG (Son)           | 1      | 0.84  |
| CG (Brother)       | 1      | 0.84  |
| CG (Sister)        | 1      | 0.84  |
| CG (Mother)        | 1      | 0.84  |
| CG (Girlfriend)    | 1      | 0.84  |
| CG (X-spouse)      | 1      | 0.84  |
| CG (Unspecified)   | 5      | 4.20  |
| HCP                | 1      | 0.84  |
| Total              | 119    | 100%  |

Table 24: Identities of support providers

\*CG = caregivers, \*\*HCP = Health Care Professional

Out of the 84 persons with cancer, 77 were recorded as people with cancer only, three were caregivers, two were healthcare professionals and two appeared to have both roles.

#### 5. Number of postings

Number of support-offering messages that were sent by individual members was supplied in all OSGs with the exception of one (Cancer compass). Therefore, information about this number was available for 117 members; see Table 25.

| Number of postings per | 10    | 11 - 100 | 101-  | 501-  | 1000- | 5001- |
|------------------------|-------|----------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| person                 |       |          | 500   | 1000  | 5000  | 10000 |
| Number of people       | 15    | 23       | 40    | 18    | 19    | 2     |
| %                      | 12.82 | 19.65    | 34.18 | 15.38 | 16.23 | 1.70  |

Table 25: Distribution of number of support- offering messages

About 18% of members were highly active with more than 1000 messages and approximately half of the members sent between 100 and 1000 messages. The remaining third appeared to be less active with less than 100 messages and around 4% of participants sent only one message.

#### 6. Joining time

The joining time of members to the selected OSGs is available from most of the selected OSGs except two (Macmillan and Cancer Compass), information is therefore available for 108 members as can be seen in Table 26.

| Year  | Number | %     |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 2002  | 4      | 3.70  |
| 2004  | 1      | 0.92  |
| 2005  | 2      | 1.84  |
| 2006  | 7      | 6.48  |
| 2007  | 8      | 7.40  |
| 2008  | 14     | 12.96 |
| 2009  | 21     | 19.44 |
| 2010  | 23     | 21.29 |
| 2011  | 28     | 25.29 |
| Total | 108    | 100%  |

Table 26: Joining time of members to the selected OSGs

Approximately a quarter of the participants joined the relevant group in 2011 followed by 2010 (21.29%). In general, it seems that the highest number of members joined the OSGs recently.

#### 7. Cancer type

Information about cancer type for the people with cancer who sent the support messages themselves, or those who received care from the person who sent the message, was available for 103 people with cancer (see Table 27).

Table 27 indicates that more than a third of the persons with cancer (n = 38) had tongue cancer, of them 10 people had cancer of the base of the tongue. The second most frequent type of cancer recorded was tonsil cancer (16.5%) or a mixture of more than one site of cancer (15.5%). Low percentages of other H&N cancer sites were recorded. Some of them were specified such as floor of mouth, palate, and nasopharyngeal carcinoma while others were only mentioned as oral cancer or H&N cancer.

| Cancer type              | Number | %     |
|--------------------------|--------|-------|
| Base of tongue           | 10     | 9.70  |
| Floor of mouth           | 4      | 3.88  |
| Jaw bone                 | 5      | 4.85  |
| Nasopharyngeal carcinoma | 2      | 1.94  |
| Throat cancer            | 3      | 2.91  |
| Tongue cancer            | 28     | 27.18 |
| Tonsil cancer            | 17     | 16.50 |
| Pharyngeal Cancer        | 2      | 1.94  |
| Palate                   | 2      | 1.94  |
| Nasal cancer             | 1      | 0.97  |
| Follicular lymphoma      | 1      | 0.97  |
| Gingiva                  | 1      | 0.97  |
| Mixed                    | 16     | 15.53 |
| Oral cancer              | 3      | 2.91  |
| H & N cancer             | 1      | 0.97  |
| Occult origin            | 3      | 2.91  |
| Undiagnosed              | 3      | 2.91  |
| Misdiagnosed             | 1      | 0.97  |
| Total                    | 103    | 100%  |

Table 27: Different cancer sites reported by the support providers
### 8. Stage of cancer

Information about stages of cancer was available for a relatively few cases (49 cases) and approximately two thirds of them were in their advanced stages (stage IV and stage III), see Table 28.

| Stage           | Number | %     |
|-----------------|--------|-------|
| Stage I         | 8      | 16.32 |
| Stage II        | 5      | 10.20 |
| Stage III       | 5      | 10.20 |
| Stage IV        | 27     | 55.10 |
| Multiple stages | 4      | 8.16  |
| Total           | 49     | 100%  |

Table 28: Stages of cancer as provided by support providers

# 9. Treatment stage

Data about treatment stages were available for 108 persons with cancer (see Table 29). The vast majority (about 85 %) of the cases were in post treatment stages. It can be noticed that, although some people with cancer were deceased, their caregivers were still using the H&N cancer-OSGs.

| Treatment stage | Number | %     |
|-----------------|--------|-------|
| Post treatment  | 92     | 85.18 |
| Under treatment | 11     | 10.18 |
| Pre-diagnosis   | 2      | 1.85  |
| Deceased        | 3      | 2.77  |
| Total           | 108    | 100%  |

Table 29: Treatment stages as provided by support providers

### **4.6.1.2** Content analysis of the support-offering messages

Of a total of 312 support-offering messages, 307 messages included at least one form of social support. The remaining 5 messages were not relevant, as they did not include any type of support. While some messages have only one support statement many messages have more than one, therefore, from the 307 messages, there were 1240 support statements, of which 1169 (94.27%) could be coded under the chosen coding framework. The remaining (n=71) could not be analysed within the existing framework. In addition, some statements in the same message included the same category of social support, therefore, the repeated categories of social support within the same message was excluded, thus a number of 160 supporting statements were removed. The final number of statements that contained at least one type of social support was 1009. An overview for these statements can be seen from Figure 9.





Table 30 shows the number of types of social support within the 307 messages

|  | Number of | %     |
|--|-----------|-------|
|  | messages  |       |
| Messages involved one sub-dimension of social support    | 53        | 17.26 |
| Messages involved two sub-dimensions of social support   | 72        | 23.45 |
| Messages involved three sub-dimensions of social support | 71        | 23.12 |
| Messages involved four sub-dimensions of social support  | 48        | 15.63 |
| Messages involved five sub-dimensions of social support  | 32        | 10.42 |
| Messages involved six sub-dimensions of social support   | 21        | 6.84  |
| Messages involved seven sub-dimensions of social support | 6         | 1.95  |
| Messages involved eight sub-dimensions of social support | 2         | 0.65  |
| Messages involved nine sub-dimensions of social support  | 2         | 0.65  |
|  | 307       | 100 % |

Table 30: Number of types of social support within the 307 messages

As it can be seen from Table 30, more than 80% of the messages contain more than one category of social support.

Table 31 shows the frequency of each social support dimension and sub-dimension according to the SSBC framework.

| Support category        | Number of support statements | Percentage of support statements % |
|-------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Informational support   | 438                          | 43.4%                              |
| Advice                  | 122                          | 12.09                              |
| Referrals               | 32                           | 3.17                               |
| Situation appraisal     | 50                           | 4.95                               |
| Teaching                | 96                           | 9.51                               |
| Sharing own experience  | 138                          | 13.67                              |
| Esteem support          | 158                          | 15.65%                             |
| - Compliments           | 85                           | 8.42                               |
| - Validation            | 69                           | 6.83                               |
| - Relief of blame       | 4                            | 0.39                               |
| Network support         | 61                           | 6.04%                              |
| - Access                | 32                           | 2.99                               |
| - Presence              | 29                           | 2.65                               |
| Emotional support       | 327                          | 32.4%                              |
| - Expression of care    | 42                           | 3.17                               |
| - Relationship          | 2                            | 0.19                               |
| - Physical Affection    | 31                           | 3.07                               |
| - Confidentiality       | 0                            | 0                                  |
| - Empathy               | 40                           | 3.96                               |
| - Sympathy              | 47                           | 4.65                               |
| - Encouragement         | 138                          | 13.67                              |
| - Prayer                | 27                           | 2.67                               |
| Tangible assistance     | 25                           | 2.47%                              |
| - Loan                  | 3                            | 0.29                               |
| - Perform direct Task   | 5                            | 0.49                               |
| - Express willingness   | 17                           | 1.68                               |
| - Perform indirect Task | 0                            | 0                                  |
| Total                   | 1009                         | 100%                               |

Table 31: Frequency of each social support dimension and sub-dimension

All five dimensions and all except two of the sub-dimensions of social support in the utilized coding framework were found in the messages, with considerable variations in the percentage of each dimension and subdimension.

Table 31, shows that the most frequently recorded dimention of social support was the informational support representing 43.4% of the total coding (438 supporting statements), followed by emotional support representing 32.4% of the total coding (327 supporting statements). Esteem support was the third most frequent social support recorded (15.65%) with 158 supporting statements. However, the frequency of both tangible assistance and network support was low (2.47% and 6.04% of the total support respectively).

The most frequently recorded sub-dimension in informational support was "sharing own experience" having the same percentage of the most frequently recorded sub-dimension in emotional support which is "encouragement". Both of them represented 13.67% of the total support available and were the highest percentage recorded in the result.

### **1. Informational support**

All of the five sub-dimensions that are listed under this dimension of social support were seen in the analysis, and the sub-dimesion "*sharing own experience*" was representing the highest percentage (13.67% of the total 1009 support-offering messages). Messages of this subcategory appeared to contain the involvement of experiences that act as references rather than being a tool of education in dealing with H&N cancers. For example, as a response to a member who had finished radiation and chemotherapy for base of tongue cancer and still suffering from severe cramps in H&N region after performing any strenuous action, another member shared his experiences:

"I'm 9 years post treatment and still get the occassional neck/jaw cramp altough no where near as often and they dont last as long - happen about once or twice a month now. I found solpadol works for me although they take a while to work, they

seem to stop the repeat cramps that i get if i dont take anything" (Alex).

In another example, responding to a member who was looking for people experiencing the same type of cancer his mother suffers from, one participant responded:

> "I had a nasopharyngeal type in my sphenoid sinus. Went thru 6 weeks radiation and 2 rounds of cisplatin chemo back in October/November 2007" (Addison).

The second most frequent support subcategory under this dimension is "*advice*" messages (12.09% of the total messages) which suggest actions and provided ideas or guidance for coping with H&N cancer. For example, in response to a member who had chemotherapy and radiation treatment for advanced oral cancer and had lost a lot of weight one of the support providers wrote:

"Try to get a good amount of protein and nutrients into you, and try walking outside a bit daily" (Martin).

In another example, a member posted advice for another oral cancer survivor who was annoyed that other people were so concerned about her and made decisions for her because of her cancer:

> "How about politely saying cancer isn't contagious and never has been. Then smile knowingly, because apparently they don't" (Janine).

Teaching messages refers to statements that provide technical information or facts about H&N cancer-related conditions or about the needed skills to cope with these conditions. For example a member who was complaining about some symptoms after receiving radiation treatment for nasopharyngeal carcinoma received some explanation about her condition: "The condition of your neck swollen, red tender skin and warm to the touch is a common condition called Lymphedema. It is very common for people who had radiation treatment to the affected area" (Clare).

Another example posted in response to a caregiver looking for support on how to deal with her father who had a terminal cancer led him struggling in eating and being generally nauseous, one member responded:

> "In North America there is a liquid replacement diet product called Ensure, but if it exists in the UK it's by prescription. However, there are canned "shakes" in the markets, if you can manage to get your father's nausea under control and he wants something in his stomach" (Mathew).

Situation appraisal messages appeared to reassess or redefine the condition in a manner that made recipients more positive or disclosed new helpful information to enable coping with cancer. This sub-dimension appears relatively infrequently in the data, with only 4.95% of the total 1009 support statements. An example of this type of support appeared in response to a member who had just finished treatment for tonsil cancer and was still worried about the future, another member wrote:

"The first year was hard wondering but it fades with each passing year. I am now 58" (Ashley).

Another support-offering message was sent to a member who was a throat cancer survivor and had a problem in her face and mouth region and was worried about whether this problem could be a cancer:

> "You seem to have some sort of numbness from your previous post. I doubt it to be OC symptoms. However, it may be symptoms of Facial Nerve pain (also called Trigeminal Neuralgia)" (Oliver).

The least frequent support subcategory that appears under this dimension is referral messages (only 3.17% of the total messages). These messages act to direct the recipients to a particular source of resources or expertise such as website, textbook or particular organisation. Most of the referral statements in the data targeted online resources, possibly because these messages were directed to members who can use the internet so that it is easy for them to find support. In addition, most of the participants were not living in the same city or geographic region. For example, in response to a member who was a caregiver and seeking information regarding her father who had cancers of the tongue and floor of the mouth and a perinueral invasion (PNI), one member wrote:

"Don't forget this article's statistics should be put into the context that for individual patients like your Dad and I, it's either 100% or zero. PNI is most definitely NOT a death sentence; <u>PNI: chapter 33 H&N Cancer</u>" (Jenny).

Few messages appeared to refer the support seekers to offline expertise, for example, a member was unsure about a problem in his mouth near his throat that he uploaded some photos on one of the H&N-OSGs, this member received a response from another member:

"I don't think anyone here can help you tell what this is, after all we're not doctors. But I do think that you should get an appointment to see an ENT and have it evaluated" (Katy).

## 2. Esteem support

The most frequent subcategory under this dimension was "complaints" representing 8.42% of the total 1009 messages. This kind of support supplied positive statements about the support seeker's activities and/or personality and noted their ability attributes in resisting their cancer. For example, in response to a member who had finished his treatment for oral cancer, was cancer free but still experiencing side effects from treatment, one of the participants wrote:

"Congrats on finishing your treatments and becoming cancer free! You will bounce back, it just takes time. Next year this time you will be so much better than you are now" (Richard).

In another example, a member was terrified of being permanently unable to speak after surgical removal of laryngeal cancer received support from another member who was a caregiver for her mother and who had undergone a similar operation, in this example Amanda complimented that member by emphasizing his abilities to speak:

"There will be a learning curve, but but you will be able to speak" (Amanda)

Validation messages involved acknowledgment or agreement with the recipient's opinion on the situation related to H&N cancer including the recipient's emotions, action, beliefs or thoughts. For example, some messages expressed validation that a member had felt stressed due to waiting for results of some investigations:

"We all get aprehensive around check up time. I guess that's a fear we can never quite get past" (Tommy).

Other messages expressed validation and agreement with previous respondents other than the original posters. For example, one member posted:

"I agree with everything Joycee has 'said'" (William).

Another member validated a previous respondent by writing

"Eric is right about putting on the lean body mass, when you are ready to work on coming back. You can't do it without a good balance of hormones" (Lisa).

This necessitated slight modifications to the definition of this sub-dimension of social support in the utilised coding framework to include such kind of messages. Therefore, the new definition of this item will be messages involving acknowledgment or agreement with the recipient's opinion or previous respondents on the situation related to H&N cancer including their emotions, actions, beliefs or thoughts.

Only a few statements could be coded under the "relief of blame" category. It could be that people with H&N cancers do not often see themselves to blame. One member, who felt shy and guilty of participation in the H&N cancer-OSGs because she felt that her cancer was superficial and her surgery was nothing compared to other participants, received the following response:

> "Yvonne, you are an oral cancer survivor! You are one of the very few lucky people who have battled this disease. Do not for one second feel an ounce of guilt about this. While you may not have had to deal with everything that some others have, you still had cancer" (Mary).

In response to a member who was heartbroken about her husband who had late stage cancer of the base of the tongue with metastasis to brain and pelvis, and she felt guilty that she could not do anything to help him:

> "When we are in the depths of crisis, it seems like there is nothing we can do. All our wishes for health and strength for our loved one have come to naught, and we feel helpless: we have done all that is humanly possible. And yet, that is a great deal" (Elizabeth).

# 3. Network support

The structural connections of social support were listed under this dimension, in which the sender appeared to highlight the social network of the recipients. A relatively low percentage of messages (6.04%) were coded under this dimension of social support and approximately similar percentages of the two subcategories of this dimension (presence and access) were recorded in the data. Access messages verified the accessibility of people with H&N cancer or caregivers, to new members inviting them to participate in the activities of group. For example, a member with tongue cancer who was new to the OSGs received a response from another member:

"Welcome to OCF HSH. You have come to the right place to get info about oral cancer. This website and forum has the most info all compiled into one place" (Linda).

*Access* messages seemed to invite recipients to participate in a social support group to expand their social network. *Presence* messages remind the recipients that the support group acted as a network to provide continuous support, as someone is always available to spend time with them. For example, one member who faced a recurrence of cancer after 6 years received support from another member:

"Please keep posting so we can help support you thru this battle" (Katherine).

In another example, a member with soft palate cancer, who was new to the OSG, received a response from another member who wrote:

"This is a great group of people, please ask any questions you might have" (Jessica).

# 4. Emotional support

This dimension of social support appeared to be the second most frequent support in the data representing about a third of the total messages. The emotional connections were categorised under this dimension of support which included seven of these subcategories. The "encouragement" sub-dimension represented the highest occurrence of all the supporting messages in the coding frame (13.67% of the total 1009 messages). The same percentage was also represented by messages including sharing personal experience under informational support. However, there were no messages which could be coded as "confidentiality" which include those in which

members promise to ensure that the recipient's issues are kept in confidence. This absence can be attributed to the confidentiality that has been already secured by the anonymity provided by OSGs.

Messages that were coded as "expression of care" included expression of concern toward the recipients. For example one member, after providing other categories of support to a recipient, wrote:

"Take care" (David).

In another situation one member wrote:

"Thinking of you!" (Deborah).

A very low percentage (0.19%) of messages could be coded as "relationship" which emphasise the importance of love, closeness and friendship within and outside of the H&N cancer-OSGs. For example, responding to a member taking care of a person with advanced stages of oral cancer, another member wrote:

> "John is leaving the pain and struggle and finding peace...he is leaving knowing that he was loved and that he had a companion that loved him and was willing to be there with him until the end of his journey. As a man who believed my time had come, I can never express the feelings I had (and have) for my wife/caregiver, Aly, knowing she was there with me and for me until I passed on" (Roland).

Physical affection messages should express a verbal physical contact posted by members. Yet, given that there is no real contact which can take place in OSGs, virtual acts posted by support providers were taken as proxies for such physical affection. For example, one member posted:

"Big hugs" (Elizabeth),

and another sent:

"Sending hugs, kisses2" (Dane).

In addition, some respondents sent expressive emotions (emoticons) rather than writing specific words. These emoticons have been included under this category as proxies of physical affection. This has also necessitated slight modifications to the definition of this sub-dimension of social support in the utilised coding framework. So, the new definition for this sub-dimension will include messages that offer physical contact, including hugs, kisses, hand holding, shoulder patting, as well as expressive emotions.

Examples of the different emotions and their meanings that evident in the messages were:



Empathy messages comprised of an understanding or comprehension of the situation of the support seekers, and often with their own comparison of the experience. For example, one member, in response to another member who was feeling stressed because of waiting for MRI scan result, said:

"I know how hard it can be to wait on your scans" (Elbert).

In another example, one member responded to a caregiver whose wife had been treated from tonsil cancer and was still suffering from terrible mucus:

"I do understand how your wife must be feeling just now" (Flora).

Sympathy messages expressed distress, unhappiness or grief at the situation of the recipient. For example, one participant supporting a member who was a caregiver to a father with terminal throat cancer, metastasised to his chest, wrote:

"I'm saddened to read this. There's not much that anyone can say really but that we support you and your father for whatever time you two can share" (Eve). In another example, one member responded to a caregiver whose wife had been treated for oral cancer and still experiencing side effects of treatment:

"I am sorry to hear that your wife is going through this trauma of a cancer journey" (George).

Encouragement messages were the most frequently seen category of support under this dimension of support. Encouragement provides confidence and hope to the recipient. For example, one participant with a prosthetic device (Obturator) to replace the opening resulting from cancer of the hard palate received a response from another member:

"I hope the opening will be closed in the future" (Nicola).

Some messages contained other expressions of encouragement support such as:

"best wishes", "good luck", "Hang in there", "keep the faith", "good health".

In addition, one member used a comparison to encourage another member suffering from H&N patient:

"I am almost a year out, and I am also hoping you don't have to have rad or chemo!" (Robert).

Messages included prayers with or for the support seekers due to H&N cancer. Members used different words to express their prayers for the recipients. For instance, the following phrases were seen:

> "I will pray for you" (Sandra). "You are in my prayers" (Paul). "All of us are here thinking good thoughts and lifting you up in prayer" (Oliver). "It could be something other than cancer, and I pray it is" (Tammy).

*"I'll say a prayer for you guys in the morning"* (Victoria). *"I will keep all of you in my prayers"* (Patrick).

## 5. Tangible support

This dimension of social support appeared to be the least frequent dimension among the five main dimensions in our data representing only 2.47% of the total supporting statements. This dimension of social support included four categories, and while no messages could be coded under the "perform indirect task" category, only a few message were coded under the three remaining categories.

Messages that were coded as "direct task" represented 0.49% of the total supporting statements. In these messages, members offered to execute a direct task related to H&N cancer recipients (persons with cancer or caregivers). For example, one member, who was a caregiver to a person with terminal throat cancer that meant she struggled to eat, received a response from another member:

"I made up a list of easy to eat foods which may help" (Tracy).

In another example, one member replied to another who sought support in how to deal with her husband who had cancer at the base of tongue:

"I am going to PM you some information you might find helpful" (Sarah).

Messages that were coded as "willingness" represented 1.68% of the total messages and included those in which the supporters experienced willingness to assist the support seekers. In this subcategory of support, one member responded to another:

> "I am happy to share my experiences with you, so if you would like to know more, please feel free to pm me and I'll give you my email address" (Peter).

Another wrote:

"If there is anything I can Help with just let me know and if I can Answer it I will" (Julian).

A third wrote

*"I've been down this road and would like to help if I can"* (Stacy).

Only a few statements were coded as "loan" support that refers to an offer to provide the recipient with money or material object. For example, in response to a member who was seeking financial support to be able to participate in special walk events which require travelling to another country, one member replied:

> "Anyone who writes such as great call to action on the walk page deserves my support, I am now officially one of your sponsors on the event page" (Stephen).

Another member responded to the same postings by writing:

"I just donated to your fundraising" (Luke).

### 6. Uncoded messages

There were 71 support-offering statements that could not be coded using the SSBC framework. These statements were thematically analysed to identify categories of support. Three categories emerged: Question/ comment (n = 33), expression of gratitude (n = 13), and humour (n = 6). The remaining 19 statements did not contain any kind of support and were therefore excluded.

### **Question/ comment:**

These messages involved questions or comments that included hidden support such as expression of interest, advice or care for the person. The advice in this situation was not direct advice as in the case of the existing advice code, but came in the form of a question intended to give indirect advice. Some participants asked questions illustrating they were interested in the situation and wanted to know more. For example, one posted:

"My question is what stage was it? I am assuming no lymph nodes were involved, and that you probably had scans, but did you have any scans to make sure no lymph nodes were involved? Also was it a partial glossectomy or a hemiglossectomy?" (Susan).

Another member wrote:

"I am wondering why the hospital did not give you instructions on what you should try to eat" (Oscar).

Some questions were asked in a form of advice. For example one member posted:

"Have you considered having a talk with the source that started this whole thing?" (Becky).

And some questions involved expressions of care for the person:

"will you be having any other treatment such as radiation? It wasnt that long ago, how is your healing coming along?" (Goodwin).

Some replies were interpreted as comments, for example, one member commented in response to another:

"The tagline of this video reminds me of the OCF forum members but with a twist: Instead of the video's "ordinary people with extraordinary dreams", IMO we are "extraordinary people with ordinary dreams". (Or at least I dream of "ordinary" pleasures of eating, drinking, talking, etc.) And who here would not trade their "new normal" for their old "ordinary"?" (Graham).

### **Expression of gratitude**

These messages included direct thanks for the recipients regarding their participation or posting specific messages. As a kind of behaviour that acknowledges the actions of others, exchanging such kind of messages appeared to have positive outcomes on promoting caring relationships between members in the OSGs. For instance, one wrote in response to another member who had posted his full cancer journey:

*"Thank you for joining the site and sharing your story"* (Caroline).

In another example, one member replied to another who was a physician with throat cancer and had shared his manuscript and experience in the OSG:

"Thank you for sharing your manuscript and experience with us Dr.X" (Cathy).

Sometimes, other terms rather than "thanks" were used to express gratitude such as

"much appreciation" (Christine).

### Humour

These messages had a tendency to provoke laughter and provide amusement. For example, in response to a member who had finished his treatment for tonsil cancer, but was still worried about his first follow up, one member wrote:

> "Dang the appendix was a real thriller of a complication. I'm kind of reminded of the famous Mark Twain saying "when you're up to your ass in alligators, its hard to remember your original intention was to drain the swamp" (Harley).

### 4.6.2 Social support sought: Analysis of support-seeking messages

## 4.6.2.1 Demographics of support seekers

### 1. Age and gender

As seen with support providers, relatively few members supplied their ages in their profiles and some of the caregivers supplied the ages of the family member who is the cancer patient rather than their own age. Age was provided by 31 (out of total 78) members, and while 23 of them (22 persons with cancer and one caregivers) provided their own ages, 8 caregivers provided the ages of the family member who was theperson with cancer.

The highest percentage of people with cancer were in the age group (50 - 59) which is again consistent with the age of the typical patient with H&N cancer in the literature (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Chidzonga and Mahomva, 2006; Warnakulasuriya, 2009). However, unlike the case of support provider, about a quarter of the participants who supplied their ages were under 30 (see Table 32).

| Age group   | Number  | Percentage % |
|-------------|---------|--------------|
| 0 - 19      | 0       | 0            |
| 20 - 29     | 6       | 26.08        |
| 30 - 39     | 6       | 26.08        |
| 40 - 49     | 1 (CG*) | 4.34         |
| 50 - 59     | 8       | 34.78        |
| 60 or above | 2       | 8.69         |
| Total       | 23      | 100%         |

Table 32: Age distribution of the support seekers within 6 age groups \* CG = caregiver

The ages of the eight people with cancer supplied by their caregivers were 20, 30, 40, 40, 57, 61, 76 and 82. Using the same method of identifying gender in the case of support providers, the gender for support seekers was identified for 67 members; 67% of them were females.

# 2. Location

Since not all OSGs provide information about the location of the members without registration, these data were available for 64 members, and about three quarters of them were from the United States. The remainder were from countries in which English is the main/ official language such as United Kingdom, Canada, Australia and Ireland. In addition, only few members were from other countries such as Singapore and Sri Lanka (see Table 33).

| Country   | Number | %     |
|-----------|--------|-------|
| USA       | 47     | 73.43 |
| UK        | 8      | 12.50 |
| Australia | 3      | 4.68  |
| Canada    | 2      | 3.12  |
| Ireland   | 2      | 3.12  |
| Sri Lanka | 1      | 1.56  |
| Singapore | 1      | 1.56  |
| Total     | 64     | 100%  |

Table 33: Location of support seekers

### 3. Identities of support seekers

Deductions about the identity of the support seekers were established from the messages of all members. About 68% (53 members) of the support seekers were people with cancer and around 30% were caregivers. However, only one member was classified as friend or colleague (see Table 34).

Out of the 53 people with cancer, forty-seven of them were recorded as people with cancer only, two were caregivers at the same time, three were healthcare professionals and one person appeared to have both roles.

| Support provider            | Number | %     |
|-----------------------------|--------|-------|
| Person with cancer          | 53     | 67.94 |
| CG (Wife)                   | 8      | 10.25 |
| CG (Husband)                | 1      | 1.28  |
| CG (daughter)               | 4      | 5.12  |
| CG (Son)                    | 2      | 2.56  |
| Daughter or son             | 2      | 2.56  |
| CG (Brother)                | 1      | 1.28  |
| CG (Mother)                 | 1      | 1.28  |
| CG (Girlfriend)             | 1      | 1.28  |
| Partner (unspecified)       | 1      | 1.28  |
| Family member (unspecified) | 1      | 1.28  |
| Friend /college             | 1      | 1.28  |
| CG (unspecified)            | 2      | 2.56  |
| Total                       | 78     | 100%  |

Table 34: Identities of support seekers

\* CG = caregiver

## 4. Number of postings

Number of support-seeking messages sent by the participants was supplied in all OSGs except one (Cancer compass), therefore, information about this number was available for 75 members as seen in Table 35.

| Number<br>of | 1-10 | 11 - 100 | 101- 500 | 501-1000 | 1000- 5000 | 5001-<br>10000. |
|--------------|------|----------|----------|----------|------------|-----------------|
| messages     |      |          |          |          |            |                 |
| Number       | 33   | 26       | 10       | -        | 5          | 1               |
| of people    |      |          |          |          |            |                 |
| %            | 44   | 34.66    | 13.33    | -        | 6.66       | 1.33            |

Table 35: The total number of support-seeking messages

Unlike the case of social support providers, where the majority of the members appeared to be actively posting more than 100 messages, more than three-quarters of support seekers showed less activity with no more than 100 messages with about 9.5% sending only one message. In contrast, only 8% of the participants had sent more than 1000 messages.

## 5. Joining time

The joining time of the members to the OSGs was available except for two (Macmillan and Cancer Compass). Information about the members' joining time was available for the 30 members. More details are available from Table 36.

| Year  | Number | %     |
|-------|--------|-------|
| 2002  | 1      | 1.42  |
| 2003  | 1      | 1.42  |
| 2005  | 1      | 1.42  |
| 2006  | 3      | 4.28  |
| 2007  | 3      | 4.28  |
| 2008  | 2      | 2.85  |
| 2009  | 5      | 7.14  |
| 2010  | 14     | 20.00 |
| 2011  | 40     | 57.14 |
| Total | 70     | 100%  |

Table 36: Joining time of the support seekers

From Table 36, it can be noticed that the majority of members joined the OSGs in 2011. In addition, as in the situation of support providers, it seems that the highest number of members joined the OSGs recently.

## 6. Cancer type

Information about cancer type for people with cancer seeking online support for themselves, or those who receiving care from the person who sought the support, was available for 75 persons (more details are available from Table 37).

The most frequently recorded cancer was tongue cancer representing more than a third of cancers; more than half of them had cancer of the base of the tongue. The second most frequent type of cancer recorded was tonsil cancer (9.33%). About 17% of support seekers were still undiagnosed at the date of posting their message(s).

| Cancer type              | Number | %     |
|--------------------------|--------|-------|
| Base of tongue           | 10     | 13.33 |
| Floor of mouth           | 2      | 2.66  |
| Jaw bone                 | 1      | 1.33  |
| Nasopharyngeal carcinoma | 1      | 1.33  |
| Throat cancer            | 2      | 2.66  |
| Tongue cancer            | 17     | 22.66 |
| Tonsil cancer            | 7      | 9.33  |
| Pharyngeal Cancer        | 2      | 2.66  |
| Laryngeal cancer         | 2      | 2.66  |
| Palate                   | 2      | 2.66  |
| Leukaemia                | 1      | 1.33  |
| Lymphoma                 | 1      | 1.33  |
| Adenoid Cystic Carcinoma | 2      | 2.66  |
| Mixed                    | 5      | 6.66  |
| Oral cancer              | 4      | 5.33  |
| Mucoepidermoid carcinoma | 1      | 1.33  |
| Occult origin            | 1      | 1.33  |
| Undiagnosed              | 13     | 17.33 |
| Salivary gland cancer    | 1      | 1.33  |
| Total                    | 75     | 100%  |

Table 37: Different cancer sites reported by the support seekers

# 7. Stage of cancer

Information about the stage of cancer was available for a relatively few cases (24 cases), two third of them were in stage IV. Some members referred to their stages using the words "intermediate or terminal" stages. More details are available from Table 38.

| Stage              | Number | %     |
|--------------------|--------|-------|
| Stage I            | 1      | 4.16  |
| Stage II           | 1      | 4.16  |
| Stage III          | 1      | 4.16  |
| Stage IV           | 16     | 66.66 |
| Different stages   | 3      | 12.50 |
| Intermediate Grade | 1      | 4.16  |
| Terminal cancer    | 1      | 4.16  |
| Total              | 24     | 100%  |

Table 38: Stages of cancer as provided by support seekers

## 8. Treatment stage

Data about treatment stage were available for 76 persons with cancer (see Table 39). More than half (57.89 %) of the cases were in post treatment stages. As in the case of support providers, some persons with cancer were deceased, and their caregivers were still using the H&N cancer-OSGs.

| Treatment stage | Number | %     |
|-----------------|--------|-------|
| Post treatment  | 44     | 57.89 |
| Under treatment | 15     | 19.73 |
| Pre-diagnosis   | 14     | 18.42 |
| Pre-treatment   | 2      | 2.63  |
| Deceased        | 1      | 1.31  |
| Total           | 76     | 100%  |

Table 39: Treatment stages as provided by support seekers

## 4.6.2.2 Content analysis of the support-seeking messages

Out of all the 87 support-seeking messages, 193 statements were coded using the modified Coursaris and Liu framework. Sometimes, statements coded to have the same category of support are found in the same messages, and since they were counted only once, nine statements were excluded. Subsequently, the final number of statements that seek at least one sub-dimension of social support was 184. The 87 support-seeking messages that contain these 184 statements can be seen in Table 40.

|  | Number of | %     |
|--|-----------|-------|
|  | messages  |       |
| Messages sought one sub-dimension of social support    | 26        | 29.88 |
| Messages sought two sub-dimensions of social support   | 30        | 34.48 |
| Messages sought three sub-dimensions of social support | 26        | 29.88 |
| Messages sought four sub-dimensions of social support  | 5         | 5.74  |
| Total  | 87        | 100 % |

Table 40: Frequency of sought subcategories of social support within the support-seeking messages

As shown in Table 40, about 70% of support-seeking messages seek more than one subcategory of social support. Table 41 below shows the frequency of sought social support.

| Sought support                | Number of statements that sought support | % of statements that sought support |
|-------------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|
| Seeking informational support | 47                                       | 25.54                               |
| Seeking wellbeing information | 7  | 3.8                                 |
| Seeking emotional support     | 23                                       | 12.5                                |
| Seeking esteem support        | 7  | 3.8                                 |
| Seeking network support       | 0  | 0                                   |
| Seeking tangible support      | 2  | 1.08                                |
| Sharing personal experiences  | 58                                       | 31.52                               |
| Expression of gratitude       | 26                                       | 14.13                               |
| Congratulations               | 0  | 0                                   |
| Expressions of care           | 2  | 1.08                                |
| Encouragement                 | 12                                       | 6.52                                |
| Total                         | 184                                      | 100                                 |

Table 41: Frequency of sought and expressed social support in support-seeking messages

Table 41 illustrates that nine out of the eleven items of social support seeking were found, although with significant variation across categories.

The most frequently sought dimension of support was informational support which was sought by about a quarter of the members, followed by emotional support (12.5%). The third most frequent social support was esteem support representing 3.8%. These frequencies were consistent with those seen in the support-offering messages. Only two support-seeking messages were coded in the seeking tangible assistance dimension and no messages were coded under seeking network support.

### 1. Seeking informational support

Approximately one quarter of the members had sought informational support to cope with their cancer. Statements that were coded under this section included specific questions regarding the condition of H&N cancer to obtain factual information, seek advice or suggestions, or to help evaluate a certain situation.

For example, one member who had a history of throat cancer and was worried because of the appearance of new symptoms that she was unfamiliar with (rash in the chest area), after sharing her experience asked:

> "Has anyone had any experience with recurring throat cancer? I am interested in knowing if the rash has anything to do with it also" (Anna).

Another member was a caregiver for her father who had undergone two operations for tongue cancer and had a swallowing difficulty, she asked:

"I know everyone progresses at a different rate and it takes a long time to get back to anything near to "normal" but how quickly have other people managed to start swallowing and taking some kind of soft foods?" (Clair).

### 2. <u>Seeking wellbeing information</u>

Messages that sought wellbeing information were sent by caregivers to include specific questions about how to offer support to their family member. As example of seeking this kind of support, a care giver whose father had terminal throat cancer that had metastasised, stated:

"I no there is nothing that can be done treatment wise but was wondering if theres anything i can do or buy to make him more comfortbale and be able to enjoy the remainder of time he has *left. He struggles to eat much at the moment and is nauseous a lot of the time"* (Carol).

Another caregiver, after sharing her father's experience with tongue cancer, stated:

"If anyone has had a similar experience on even learning to swallow after free flap/neck dissection surgery and/or dealing with an NG tube I would be so very grateful to hear from you so I can give my Dad some hope and perhaps give me more of an idea of what questions to ask" (Christina).

## 3. Seeking emotional support

Messages that were coded under this category included statements in which members, through their messages, exhibited emotional or psychological weakness and needed comfort due to their condition or the condition of their family member. For example, one member who had a throat cancer and was told the treatment may lead him permanently unable to speak, posted:

> "How the heck does one FUNCTION at all in society at large without speaking? You guys have been my rock for many years and I know some of you have SOMEthing that I can look upon as "positive" coming out of this. The only thing I can come up with is that "at least I won't have to go around sounding like THIS any more!" :-) (I speak with a very "gravelly" barely understandable voice righ now)" (Barry).

In another example, a caregiver was worried about her father who had finished treatment for H&N cancer, was still unable to swallow, and had a new lump:

"It's just been stressful and we are really worried about so many things, like the 'lump', the results next Monday and if he will ever get to swallow again." (Anne).

### 4. Seeking esteem support

In these types of postings, members were seeking validation for their perspective or were seeking a relief of blame when they felt guilty regarding a specific situation. In an example for seeking validation support, a caregiver posting a message regarding his colleague who had terminal tongue cancer that metastasised to his lungs and was sent home because nothing more could be done for him. However, he wanted chemotherapy to palliate his suffering:

> "We think his wishes should be respected, even if it's risky. It would appear that the greatest risk is not doing anything, since that seems to lead to certain death. Aren't doctors obliged to follow the patient's wishes?" (Jacob).

Another example of seeking esteem support was a member who sought blame support as she felt guilty for participating in the OSGs and in a specific event that had been organised for persons with cancer, because she felt her cancer was insignificant:

> "How do I even begin to express what I what to say? I'll try and do my best. So many of you have been through so much and I am very proud to be part of this forum, yet, I feel so guilty as my cancer was superficial and my surgery was "nothing" compared to what you have endured. I want to do this walk but feel like because my cancer was so minimal, do I belong there? I sometimes feel that way when I am on this site because, like I said - you all have been through so much." (Linda).

## 5. Seeking network support

This category was intended to include messages in which people are asking for prolonged contact with others in similar situation; no messages could be coded as seeking this category of support in the OSGs.

### 6. Seeking tangible support

Only 1.08% of support-seeking messages could be coded under this section and included statements that asked for money, materials or equipment. In an example of this kind of support seeking, one participant wrote:

> "I will be going to the Minneapolis OCF Awareness Walk on October 22nd. I have set up my fundraising page and while I have spared my OCF friends from my e mail requests, I will SHAMELESSLY post my link here - just in case - one or two or twenty of you wanted to support me in this walk. I am after all travelling TO ANOTHER COUNTRY to do this!! Amazing, eh? Here is the link: <u>Minneapolis OCF Awareness Walk - Donna</u> <u>Butcher Fundraising Page</u>" (Leon).

# 7. Sharing personal experiences

Messages that show sharing of personal experiences appeared to be the most frequent type of messages in the data, as about third of the participants shared their personal experiences with H&N cancer or the experience of their family members. Messages coded under this category included those in which members shared their personal conditions, feelings and thoughts related to H&N cancer with others initially and spontaneously.

Some members posted their experience as an introduction for seeking other kinds of support, whereas others only posted their experience. In an example of this category of support seeking, one member shared his experience with H&N cancer and wrote:

"Stage 4 cancer, Feb 15, 2011. had chemo and radiation which resulted in pneumonia and 2 other fungal diseases of the lung. The latest PET scan was clear and except for the lung infections I am moving forward. I lost 70 lbs. Before this I was extremely athletic, runner, weight lifter, etc. Now a pile of bones with skin. Pain in my joints keeps me down, but I'm alive" (David). Another member shared the experience of his family member:

"hi im new to group my wife is recovering from major sugery to remove her tumor in her tonsils, which had spread to lymph glands in the neck, causing her to have to have radiotherapy, my wife also suffers with lupus which affected her very badly during radiotherapy, it is seven months since surgery and five since radiotherapy, she still suffers terribly with mucus and still nil by mouth" (Freeman).

### 8. Expression of gratitude

These kinds of messages were seen in approximately 15% of the total messages in which members expressed straightforward thankfulness for the recipients either initially or because of their previous support. For example, one member, after seeking information support, posted:

"Thank you in advance for any advice" (Angela).

In another, a member posted:

"Ok today I saw the oral surgeron he said I have redness and irraiation but do not need biopsy because I don't have cancer everything appears normal...yayyy...i ve heard from 9 doctors now so I think I will accept this...he said my form of leuopkia isn't cancerous but I'm thankful to everyone here for supporting me through this" (Harrison).

### 9. Congratulations

This category includes messages that expressed joy or acknowledgment of the recipient's achievement or good fortune; however, no messages could be coded as "congratulations" in the OSGs.

### 10. Expression of care

Only 1.08% of the messages were coded under this category and included expression of concern for the recipients.

For example, one support seeker, after sharing her experience with oral cancer, wrote:

"Take Care everybody-GOD BLESS" (Sally).

## 11. Encouragements

Most of the statements that included encouragements in the data were located after sharing personal experience or seeking other dimensions of support. Encouragement messages included sending of hope and confidence to the recipients. For example, in one message; after seeking emotional support, the writer wrote:

> "I wish you all the best of luck and I am hoping and praying for all of us" (Amy).

In another example, one member was seeking informational support, and at the end of his posting wrote:

"In the interim, I hope that all of you and your families have a wonderful holiday" (Raphael).

# 4.7 Discussion

The aim of the present study was to assess the types and frequency of social support, sought and offered, within OSGs for H&N cancer. The application of content analysis in this study was intended to categorise the communication between users of online H&N cancer groups.

# 4.7.1 What types of social support are available in OSGs for H&N cancer?

The results indicated that of the 87 support-seeking messages and 307 out of the 312 support-offering messages each included at least one type of social support. In addition, about 70% of the support-seeking messages sought (and more than 80% of the support-offering messages offered) more than one type of social support. Moreover, more than two thirds (67.5%) of the support providers expressed high activity in posting messages to the OSGs with more than 100 messages, and 27% of them posted more than 1000 messages. Also, 21.3% of the support seekers sent more than 100 messages, and 37.5% of them posted more than 1000 messages. These figures can roughly give clue about the activity of members of these OSGs in term of exchanging support regarding the issues of H&N cancer.

The content analysis of these messages provided through the 18 selected H&N cancer-OSGs suggested that these groups were used by people to seek and offer a variety of dimensions of support, in particular informational and emotional. The predominance of these two dimensions of support in the findings of this study is consistent with previous research into social support for other health issues (eating disorders; Diabetes; Irritable Bowel Syndrome; Huntington's disease; HIV/AIDS; adolescents with cancer and families affected by childhood cancer) in both face-to-face and OSGs (Winzelberg; 1997; Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Preece, 1999; Loader *et al.*, 2002; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu, 2009; Elwell, Grogan, and Coulson, 2011; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). This might suggest that exchanging informational and emotional support tends to be the primary function of OSGs irrespective of the health issue/topic of the group and that H&N cancer OSGs are no exception to this. In these previous studies, the predominance of informational support exceeded that of emotional support in some (Winzelberg, 1997; Loader *et al.*, 2002; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Couson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu, 2009) whereas in others the opposite was found (Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Preece, 1999).

Informational support was the most frequent dimension of social support, and this was consistent with the behaviour of people with cancer in using the internet as it was estimated that 30% of patients with cancer use the Internet to obtain cancer information (Helft *et al.*, 2003). This may be because they value accessing other patients' stories as it offers them with information, emotional support, practical advice and reassurance (Rozmovits and Ziebland, 2004). The Internet is a beneficial resource for accessing stories due to its privacy and unlimited availability and accessibility without the need for travel (Ziebland *et al.*, 2004).

The result of this is study showed that 9.51% of the support-offering messages were coded as teaching. This sub-dimension includes messages that provide detailed information, facts, or news about H&N cancer or about skills needed to deal with this disease. This percentage is relatively high and highlights the need to consider the quality of such information, since posting incorrect information on such OSGs will be readily accessible by a high number of people. This issue appeared in previous studies dealing with OSGs for other health condition such as Huntington's disease and HIV/AIDS (Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu, 2009) in which the percentages of teaching messages were 20%, 5.92% and 9.70% respectively. However, no study has been conducted to investigate the validity of such factual information which could be an important question for further research, particularly in relation to groups run by and for lay people.

Members of online H&N cancer support groups have supplied other categories of information support. For example, they supplied advice to members (people with cancer and caregivers) who were struggling to cope with their condition. They also tried to redefine or appraise the negative situations that related to the consequences of H&N cancer and its treatments. The result also suggested that 13.67% of the support providers and 31.52% of the support seekers shared their personal experience or the experiences of their family member with H&N cancer and many of them wrote about

their condition openly with extensive details. The exact reason behind this freedom in providing such details is not clear. However, it may be related to the anonymity provided in online groups, as participation does not require provision of the actual name and other details. As according to Sharp (2000) and Braithwaite *et al.*, (1999), anonymity appears to enable participants to discuss their anxieties and difficult feelings in a less stressful way and can provide safer surroundings to the participants to undertake creative and non-conforming examples of support. This interpretation is supported by other previous studies (Finn, 1999; Reeves, 2000; White and Dorman, 2001; Walther and Boyd, 2002). However, no study has investigated this role of anonymity and would be a question of interest for further research.

The second most frequently offered dimension of social support among members of online H&N cancer groups in this study was emotional support. Providing this dimension of support appeared to be an important function of this group. The most frequent supporting behaviour under this dimension was encouragement which appeared from the provision of hope and confidence for the recipients. In addition, members of these online groups often acknowledged the feeling of the recipients, expressed concern, and prayed with them as well as expressed sorrow for the situations of those recipients who were struggling with H&N cancer. It may be that this, subsequently, has positive influences in the coping process with this disease (Helgeson and Cohen, 1996; Kim *et al.*, 2010).

The other dimensions of support (Esteem, Network and Tangible support) were found in the analysis but with a relatively low frequency compared with informational and emotional support, therefore, statements based on this limited data might not be easily generalised. For example, esteem support, although it was the third frequent offered support by the member of the group, it was representing only (15.65%) of the total messages. This dimension of support included positive assessment of the members by providing compliments such as congratulations and by emphasising their abilities to cope with stressful situations associated with cancer. Another function for this dimension of support appeared to be validating the perceptions and views of the participants by expressing agreement and highlighting similar concerns as them. Network support was observed in the present data with even lower frequency (6.04%) and appeared to provide a common place for recipients to explain many kinds of problems associated with this disease. The availability of such kind of support appeared to be highlighted by older members particularly to new members. However, after joining the support group, the need for this dimension of support was tackled and a route opened for more important dimensions and sub-dimensions of support (Coulson *et al.*, 2007). This can give an explanation to the low frequency of this dimension of support in the results compared with the previously discussed dimensions.

The least frequent dimension of support in the present data was tangible support (2.47%). This low frequency can be attributed to the nature of communications within OSGs, which reduces the chance of offering this kind of support (Coulson, 2005; Coulson et al., 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris and Liu, 2009).

In regard to support seeking, the findings were consistent with that of support provision. The most frequently sought or offered dimension of support was informational support followed by emotional and then esteem support. This consistency may give a hint that support providers offer support according to the need of support seekers. However, this still needs to be investigated in a further study.

#### 4.7.2 Who uses OSG for head and neck cancer?

Although it appeared that the majority of support seekers and providers were people with H&N cancer, other people such as family members, friends and colleagues also posted either to seek support regarding their situation or regarding the situation of the family member with cancer or provide support to other members based on their experience with H&N cancer. It seems that regardless of whether the users were persons with cancer, family members or caregivers, such groups may be beneficial in offering or providing support. These findings are consistent with previous studies investigating online support for family members of children with cancer (Coulson and Greenwood, 2012).
According to the available demographics, the highest percentage of support providers (people with cancer and caregivers) were between 30 - 49 years old and the highest percentages of support seekers were between 50 - 59 years old. This indicated a difference in age group between support seekers and support providers in online H&N cancer groups. However, final judgements cannot be built on these data, since only a few members (less than a third) from the support seekers and the providers supplied their ages. In spite of this, the highest percentage of people with cancer who supply their ages and those whose ages were supplied by their caregivers were in the age group of 50 - 59 years, for both support seekers and providers. This was consistent with the ages of patients with H&N cancer in the literature (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Chidzonga and Mahomva, 2006; Warnakulasuriya, 2009). This may raise attention about this age group, since it has been thought that older people are less expected to access and use the internet compared with younger people (Berry, 2011) and, therefore, it can be expected that many of those people who live with H&N cancer are deprived of the use of OSGs because of this digital divide.

From the data we can see that 69% of the support providers and 67% of support seekers were females. This may indicate that females tend to use OSGs for H&N cancer more than males, although the literature indicated that the worldwide incidence of oral cancer is more prevalent in males than in females in the majority of countries (Warnakulasuriya, 2009). However, in this study only a few members indicated their gender. Thus, for many members their gender was determined in a deductive way based on information provided through the messages. This may question the accuracy or validity of the gender data in the present study.

The number of messages that were sent by a member to specific OSGs indicates the degree of member activity. The majority of H&N cancer-OSGs used in this study provided this number. Results indicated that the majority of support providers posted more than 100 messages and about 18% were even more highly active with more than 1000 messages and some posted up to 6000 messages. On the contrary, more than three-quarters of the support seekers expressed low activity by messages less than 100 messages and about 9.5% sent only one message. One explanation might be that most of the support providers should have passed the critical stage with H&N cancer. They also might have sought a support before the time limit of our study, as we found that

about three- quarters of the support providers joined the online groups before the study time limit, whereas about 57% of support seekers joined the groups within the study limit. Therefore, the support providers, because of their experiences, seemed to be more willing to enter the online groups and support the new members who may be still be in crisis and not in a position to support others, as only a few members were reported to seek and offer support at the same time.

In line with cancer incidence in the USA and the UK, to which most of the sample belonged (IARC, 2008), the most common type of cancer reported by both support seekers and providers were cancers of the tongue followed by cancers of the tonsil. This may highlight the importance of OSGs for such people since cancers of tongue and its related surgical treatment (Glossectomy) can influence the ability of the patient to speak properly (Maureen, 2009) which might make it more convenient for them to use OSGs.

Although cancer stage was available for relatively few members of both support seekers (24 members) and support providers (49 members), it appeared, of these, the majority of them had reached more advanced stages of cancer. Whilst 86% of support providers were in their post treatment period, more than 40% of support seekers were either under treatment or in pre-treatment stage or even in pre-diagnosis stage. This may indicate that persons with cancer or caregivers seek support when they are concerned about their current situation or the situation of the family member with cancer during the critical time. This is compatible with previous research in which searching for help and sharing fears were one of the most common reasons for using OSGs (Buchanan and Coulson, 2007).

Some caregivers still used the OSGs to offer support to other members even after their family members had died. This may indicate that these online groups, which appeared in a form of forums, work as a suitable social environment through which members can offer social support to each other and feel as if they are connected to and part of one social network. This was consistent with the findings of previous study in which socialising was one of the gratifications of OSGs (Ishii, 2008). It also was consistent with another study conducted for offline support groups related to recipients of implantable cardioverter defibrillators and their carers in which providing information,

connecting with others, helping others was the most common reason for participation in the support group (Williams *et al.*, 2004).

### 4.7.3 New items and modifications

Although the coding framework for the support-offering messages fitted the majority of the messages, there were a few remaining statements (n = 71) that could not be coded by this coding framework. Accordingly, three new sub-dimensions have been put forward; firstly, it was noticed that some support providers have a tendency to provoke laughter and provide amusement, so their messages were coded as "humour" Secondly, some members to add a new sub-dimension to emotional support. expressed direct thankfulness for the recipients regarding their participation or posting of specific messages, which can have positive outcomes on promoting caring relationships between members in the online groups. Such messages were coded as "expression of gratitude" and can be added as a new sub-dimension to esteem support. Thirdly, some members tended to ask questions or provide comments that included hidden support such as expression of interest, advice or caring for the person. These statements were coded as "question/comment" and can be added as new subdimension under informational support. Although messages coded under these three new sub-dimensions were still few, even after reinvestigating the previously coded messages for such kind of the support, these three sub-dimensions of social support need to be considered during the process of content analysis if similar research were to be conducted using the same methodology.

Some modifications were introduced to the definitions of two of the existing subdimensions. Firstly, "validation" sub-dimension should be expanded to include those who express a validation and agreement with previous respondents other than the original posters, since results indicate that about 20% of validation messages were not directed to the original poster. Secondly, the definition of "physical affection" should be expanded to include the expressive emoticons that were sent by some respondents, since it represents more than half the physical affection messages. In addition, the role of these emotions appeared to be so proximal to the content of physical affection messages, as most of these emoticons showed facial expression such as laughing, smiling, wondering or sad faces. Given that these additions and modifications had to be made to the coding framework in the current study, a further study would need to validate the framework before firm conclusions could be drawn on its applicablity to OSGs for H&N cancer.

#### 4.7.4 Study limitations

There were a number of limitations of the present study. Firstly, despite the number of advantages in content analysis as the chosen method (see Section 4.4), it is a purely descriptive method. It therefore describes what is there, and does not address why information is in the form shown. The analysis is also prone to user's error and interpretation and is limited by the availability of the material and so may not be an accurate reflection of reality (Weber, 1990; Krippendorff, 2004; Sommer, 2006).

Secondly, although there were a number of advantages supporting the use of the SSBC as a coding system for H&N cancer-related OSGs, there were also some limitations. For example, the framework by its very nature is deductive (i.e. theorydriven). Thus, the analysis of the data is limited to this a priori framework and the results focus on these specific aspects of the data that were determined prior to data analysis (Crabtree, 1999). Such strategy does not allow for inductive approach and no new information (e.g. themes, dimensions) would be expected (Dudovskiy, 2014). In addition, the SSBC framework was originally developed to test controllability of stressful events and satisfaction with spouse support behaviours. This area is somewhat removed from the topic of H&N cancer; the stressful events that might be associated with marriage could be completely different from that associated with H&N cancer. In addition, only a few studies to date have used the SSBC as coding system in the field of online support groups and therefore the applicability of this coding system for online social support needs to be validated further.

In the current study, whilst the coding framework for the support-offering messages fitted with the majority of the messages, there were a few remaining statements (n= 71) that could not be coded. Again, this suggests that there are limitations with this deductive approach using a pre-existing framework. Whilst the frameworks did

demonstrate reliability – in that three independent researchers coded with good agreement – by using such a framework, types of support may have been missed or miscategorised. In addition, the coding scheme used to code the support-seeking messages has been used by only one previous study; and that was the study in which the framework was derived. Therefore, the applicability of this coding framework has not been tested in many different health conditions or in different studies. Also, there were low responses across many of the dimensions in both frames, particularly in the support seeking analysis, which might suggest that the coding frame was not as useful as planned.

Thirdly, the selection strategy used in selecting the messages (one random message for the even months) has some disadvantages, for example, for practical reasons (time), although data was collected throughout the full calendar year, only 6 of those months were sampled rather than the full 12 months. In addition, since many messages were removed in line with the exclusion criteria this reduced the sample size. Thus, only 399 messages (87 support-seeking and 312 support-providing) were analysed, which is relatively low compared with previous studies using similar methods (Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012; 572, 1313, 1138 and 487 messages respectively).

Given the variety of social support messages coded within the current study, it appears unlikely that increasing the number of messages (by, for example, widening the data collection period, or increasing the number of months from 6 to 12) would have changed the frequency of social support types found. However, it may be that choosing the messages from the even months (in 2011) rather than the odd months (in 2011) may have biased the results. For example, the data in the present study included December postings – given the importance of this month in terms of public holidays (Christmas, new year) and time spent with family, perhaps different types of support may have been sought or offered during this time.

Another limitation is that, in some cases, members' profiles were not available. This can be attributed to the fact that some OSGs do not oblige members to supply their personal details during the registration process. In addition, some OSGs show such information only to their members. As a result, age and gender of posters was not

always available. Indeed, since only a few members have clearly identified their gender, the gender for the majority of members was estimated depending on their user names or their names when provided and or if they could be understood from their messages. It may be that these were wrongly attributed and thus over- or under-estimated. In addition, there was an issue of unrepresentativeness as the result suggested that not all the users of online groups had cancer, since family members and friends of those with H&N cancer were found to use these groups as well. Also, the representativeness of our results to the international offline and online groups has not been tested; therefore, it is difficult to compare the users of these groups with the general incidence of H&N cancer.

Additionally, the majority of members appeared to belong to developed countries such as USA followed by, the UK and Canada in which English language is the main and official language. Not surprisingly, this is probably because the study deals with online groups that were conducted in English. However, the generalisability of results representing H&N cancer-OSGs in other languages or in developing countries has not been tested. This is despite a higher incidence of H&N cancer reported in developing countries. In addition, in the present study, the majority of the members (75% of support providers and 73.43% of the support seekers) were from the USA, which may make the results difficult to generalise to other countries because of cultural differences. For example, potential differences between countries in help-seeking behaviours, emotional reactions, coping strategies, role of social support and relevant support networks as well as differences in H&N cancer treatment pathways.

Finally, data for this study includes information from both current patients and survivors. It may be that people within these two 'groups', might have different experiences impacting on the social support they give or provide within OSGs. In addition, of the patients, most of those in this study were in the advanced stages of cancer (stage III and IV) and in post-treatment stages. Therefore, caution should be exercised in generalising the findings from this study outside of the study sample; particularly to those in the initial stages of cancer and/ or those yet to receive treatment.

#### 4.7.5 Study strengths

In order to ensure reliability, as much as possible, some important measures were conducted. For example, it was decided to gather data from different OSGs dealing with H&N cancer issues and not only from one group. These groups were selected such that they were active with at least one message in each month in a full year to ensure that the possible maximum number of active OSGs was included. In addition, the most recent year was chosen at time of data collection (2011) to ensure that both the most recent OSGs as well as any active old group were included to be more comprehensive and to investigate for any new categories of support used recently in OSGs.

Moreover, for support-providing messages, using a pre-validated coding framework, which has been successfully used for content analysis of online messages in a number of health contexts (Section 3.2.6) has increased reliability of the data analysis and ensured that the analysis in the current study was conducted within the environment of an existing coding framework, since 94.27% of the data could be coded under this framework and only 5.73% of the data have been reinvestigated and categorised under new items of support. With regard to the content categories of the frameworks, it appeared that both of the coding frameworks used in the current study offered clear and well-defined content categories so that a high agreement level was achieved when randomly selected messages from the entire data were coded by three codres.

In spite of the relatively small sample (399 messages "87 support-seeking and 312 support-providing") compared to previous studies, the selected messages were rich in content and provided examples of all types and categories of social support. For example, more than 80% of the support-providing messages involved more than one sub-dimension of social support and some messages involved up to 9 sub-dimensions of social support. In addition, approximately two-thirds of the support-seeking messages sought more than one sub-dimension of social support. This resulted in a total of 1009 support providing statements and 184 support-seeking statements, which may compensate for the relatively low sample size that occurred due to applying the exclusion criteria.

## 4.8 Conclusion

Head and neck cancer-OSGs in this study provided a source of H&N cancer-related emotional and informational support for individuals with H&N cancer and/or their carers and family members. This may support calls for more attention to be given to such groups in order to develop the knowledge of people with cancer and caregivers, as well as the public in terms of H&N cancer and the ways of coping with such a condition.

In some cases, highly factual or technical information was supplied by members of H&N cancer OSGs. This undoubtedly raises the question about the role of experts to supervise or assess the quality and accuracy of posted information (Mo and Coulson 2008). However, this study has several drawbacks in terms of the design, methodology and the tools used, as well as the insufficient information about the demography of the users of OSGs. Therefore, further research is needed which validates the current findings, and examines generalisability of the findings in representing face-to-face groups for H&N cancer.

# **Chapter V: Study 2**

## 5 Study 2

## 5.1 Study 2 - Part 1: (quantitative component)

#### 5.1.1 Introduction

Reviewing the literature indicates that H&N cancers can have a negative influence on QoL (Morton and Izzard, 2003; Rogers et al., 2007; Penner, 2009; So et al., 2012) (See Section 2.5.3 for definition of QoL). However, some factors may mitigate or aggravate the impact of cancer on patient's psychological wellbeing (McDonough et al., 1996). For example, there are many strategies that people diagnosed with H&N cancer can employ that may influence health outcomes. Coping is one such strategy (Sherman et al., 2000) (See Section 3.1 for definition of coping). Higher levels of adaptive coping have been found to be related to better QoL (Mo and Coulson, 2012). Also, psychological factors may be important such as anxiety, which refers to "apprehension that may come in the form of feeling tense or keyed up, physical changes in the body, worrying, and having a persistent but somewhat vague feeling of threat or discomfort" (Hopko and Lejuez, 2008, P; 45) and depression which is "a human emotion that can be experienced in the form of sadness, disappointment, grief, or being down in the dumps" (Hopko and Lejuez, 2008, P;31). Indeed, these two factors have been recognised as important in a number of studies of patients with H&N cancer (de Leeuw et al., 2001; Massie, 2004; Archer et al., 2008; Haman, 2008; Haisfield-Wolfe et al., 2009) and widely been linked to reduced levels of QoL in many studies (Rapaport et al., 2005; Brenes, 2007; Quelhas and Costa, 2009).

Self-efficacy, which is a personal resource that signifies a self-belief in individual's capability to apply control over adverse events (Bandura, 1997), has been shown to be related to better coping and relatively low levels of psychological distress (Benight *et al.*, 1997). In line with this, it has been found that people who receive social support are expected to have stronger self-efficacy beliefs, which subsequently may affect their health-related outcomes (Benight and Bandura, 2004). This meditational role of social support on psychological outcomes has been found in relation to a number of health conditions (Cheung and Sun, 2000; Mak, *et al.*, 2009).

Studies on social networks and cancer (Goodwin et al., 1991; de Ruiter et al., 1993; Guidry et al., 1997; Michael et al., 2002; Sapp et al., 2003; Bauer et al., 2005; Kroenke et al., 2006; Pinquart and Duberstein, 2010; Beasley et al., 2010) suggested that social networks have been related to HRQoL and also appear to have a mediating effect on anxiety and depression amongst cancer patients. In addition, social networks play an important role in enhancing the coping ability of the patient (Relic et al., 2001). Reviewing the literature showed that OSGs has been recognised to provide a range of social support and may be associated with a variety of positive psychosocial outcomes including better management of the disease and better use of active coping strategies (Fogel et al., 2002; Kalichman et al., 2005, Mo and Couson, 2008; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). Studies investigating the mechanism of social support through the internet suggested that the process of seeking and receiving online support has been thought to occur through a potential framework relating to personal empowerment (Barak, et al., 2008, Mo and Coulson 2010a; Mo and Coulson 2012). Personal empowerment has been found to be related to self-efficacy through the process of receiving social support and helping others (Mo and Coulson 2012).

Yet, in spite of the large number of studies investigating OSGs, QoL and the factors that mitigate or aggravate the impact of a health condition on a patient's QoL, there has been no research, to date, on the relationship between OSGs and QoL for people with H&N cancer or on the psychosocial factors that might mediate this relationship.

#### 5.1.2 Aim

The aim of this study was to examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL and examine the psychosocial factors (social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment) that may influence this relationship.

### 5.1.3 Objectives

- Select suitable measures to assess the use of H&N cancer -OSGs.
- using existing, pre-validated questionnaires to examine QoL, social network, selfefficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment in a sample of people using online support groups for H&N cancer.
- using regression analyses to examine the relationship between OSGs and QoL, and the possible mediating role of psychosocial variables in this relationship.

#### 5.1.4 Strategic choices for method

In order to examine the relationships between the use of OSGs and QoL, a crosssectional study was designed utilising a range of pre-validated questionnaires available within the existing QoL, psychology and on-line literatures. At this stage, a quantitative method was chosen because of it have a range of advantages such as precision in specifying the variables, allowing for statistical tests and achieving high levels of reliability (see Section 3.5 for details).

Since conducting a longitudinal study would be problematic online for several reasons (see Section 3.5) and for pragmatic reasons, a cross sectional study was chosen to address the research question. This approach is relatively inexpensive and takes up little time to conduct; can estimate occurrence of outcome of interest, useful for planning and generation of hypotheses and does not have the problem of loss of follow-up (Levin, 2006).

The data for this study are intended to be collected from people with H&N cancer who use OSGs. These groups are available through the Internet and can be accessed and used by people with H&N cancer from anywhere in the world. Using conventional postal mail or telephone surveys can be impractical or expensive way of data collection for this type of study. However, online survey may be more convenient method for data collection in this condition, (Kraut *et al.*, 2004; Reips, 2002). In addition, online surveys provide the ability to conduct large-scale data collection (Couper, 2000) and may achieve sample sizes that exceed mail and

telephone surveys (Kraut *et al.*, 2004). They can provide an inexpensive mechanism for conducting surveys compared to the traditional postal mail survey (Sheehan and Hoy, 1999; Weible and Wallace, 1998). Thus, internet designs are often more cost effective than other techniques (Reips, 2002) and one in which costs per response decrease instead of increase significantly as the sample size increases (Watt, 1999). They can also be time saving since there is no need for printing or postage (Matsuo *et al.*, 2004). In addition, there may be a smaller margin of data transfer error because participants enter their responses directly into the system and no personnel are required to enter data (Naser, 2002).

Online surveys are becoming increasingly common (Lazar and Preece, 1999; Buchanan and Vizdak, 2009), and research comparing online against postal surveys suggested that there may be no difference between online survey content results and postal survey content results, yet the fomer provide strong advantages because of their quick distribution (Yun and Trumbo, 2000; Swoboda, *et al.*, 1997).

## 5.1.5 Method

## 5.1.5.1 Study design

Quantitative cross sectional study using online questionnaires

## 5.1.5.2 Participants

## Selection of populations

People with head and neck cancer who use OSGs.

## **Target population**

The data for this study included people who use all existing OSGs for individuals with H&N cancer excluding:

(1) The groups that were inactive with less than 25 message threads posted to the group within the past 30 days (January 2013).

- (2) The groups that contained less than 50 members at time of selection.
- (3) The groups that deal with other oral conditions other than of H&N cancer.
- (4) The groups in languages other than English.

## **Exclusion criteria for participants**

People who have not been diagnosed with H&N cancer at any point during their life.

## **Inclusion criteria**

- 1- People who have been diagnosed with H&N cancer at any point during their life.
- 2- Using H&N cancer related-OSGs.
- 3- Read the information sheet for the study and accepted the consent form.
- 4- Completed and submitted the questionnaire online.

#### 5.1.5.3 Recruitment

A thorough Internet search was established to identify OSGs for people living with H&N cancer. The four most common Internet search tools, Google, Yahoo, Bing, MSN and Face Book were searched using the terms of online support group and Head and neck cancer (Head, neck, cancer, tumour, forum, online, message boards, support group, chat, blog, oral, pharyngeal, laryngeal, lip, tongue, tonsil, throat, gingival, gum, mouth, dental, cheek, epiglottis).

OSGs were selected based on two criteria (Mo and Coulson, 2012):

(1) The OSG was active with at least 25 message threads posted to the group within the past 30 days.

(2) The group contained at least 50 members.

The results of the search showed 75 OSGs (56 traditional OSGs and 19 Facebook groups) (Appendix 3 and 9). However, since some moderators manage more than one group, the total numbers of the moderators of 75 OSGs was only 37. Only ten H&N cancer-related OSGs fulfilled the criteria (Figure 10).

Following ethical approval, moderators from these groups were contacted by email, phone, post, Facebook or directly through their "contact us" form explaining the research study and asking for permission to recruit participants from their group. Out of the 10 OSGs contacted, four replied and provided permission to recruit participants (Appendix 10).

After having permission from the moderators, a pilot study was conducted (details below Section 5.1.5.7.), following which a message was placed in the groups explaining the objectives of the study (Appendix 11). The questionnaire was provided in the message in a form of hyperlink which contained the information sheet (Appendix 12), consent form (Appendix 13), instruction leaflet on how to complete the questionnaires (Appendix 14) and the questionnaires (Appendix 15). The aims and objectives of the study, inclusion criteria and confidentiality of data and rights of participant as well as instructions about the survey were explained in the information sheet which appears first when the participants click on the study link, and informed

consent was sought from participants before they were able to complete the questionnaire.

After reading the full information sheet and having accepted the consent form, participants were directed automatically to the questionnaire. The questionnaire was designed so that participants could not submit their answers until they answered all the required questions. This also ensured that the researcher only received full responses to the questionnaire, with no missing data.

All the questionnaires were delivered online, and the respondents were intended to complete them online, simply by following a link to the questionnaires and then by clicking on submit button after the questionnaires had been completed.

In order to determine inclusion criteria for participants and to avoid any misunderstanding or doubt, a message was placed at the beginning of the invitation that was posted to the group explaining the objectives of the study "*This posting is intended to reach people who are accessing this online support group and who have been diagnosed with head and neck cancer at some point. If you do not meet the above description, please ignore this and there is no need to continue*". This message worked successfully when tested in the pilot study (Section 5.1.5.7); all of the participants who took part in the pilot study were people who were accessing that OSG and had been diagnosed with H&N cancer at some point during their life.

At the end of the questionnaire, participants were asked whether they were interested in participating in a short online interview regarding their use of the online H&N cancer support group. This formed the recruitment procedure for the qualitative part of the study (see Chapter 5, Section 5.2). Respondents who expressed an interest were asked to provide suitable means and time to contact.

#### **Intended sample**

People with H&N cancer who use the following four OSGs:

- (1) Macmillan Head and Neck Cancer Group
- (2) The Oral Cancer Foundation

- (3) Survivors of Head and Neck Cancer
- (4) Throat and oral cancer survivors

Brief descriptions of these OSGs can be seen in Appendix 10. Figure 10 shows the study profile from the initial 75 OSGs to the 4 included within the study.

Figure 10: Study 2 sample profile



#### 5.1.5.4 Sample size

The sample size for the study was calculated using the software 'G-power' (Faul *et al.*, 2007; Faul *et al.*, 2009). The sample size calculation was based on a medium effect size of  $f^2$ =0.15, statistical power of 95%, a significance level of 0.05, and 15 potential variables in the analysis as follows (frequency of using OSG, social support, self-efficacy, depression, anxiety, helpless-hopeless coping, cognitive avoidance coping, fighting spirit coping, anxious preoccupation coping, fatalism coping, empowerment-receiving social support, empowerment-finding positive meaning, empowerment-receiving useful information, empowerment-helping others and quality of life). From this, the sample size calculation was 199 participants.

#### 5.1.5.5 Ethics

The project involves people with H&N cancer, and since the contact with these people was only through the internet and there was no direct face-to-face contact with them, ethical approval was sought from University of Sheffield Research Ethics Committee (UREC) (Appendix 16). The project followed the ethical guidelines of the British Psychological Society (2013), including informed consent and confidentiality (see Table 20, Section 3.3).

- Moderators from the OSGs were contacted and informed about the study and permissions to recruit participants from their groups were obtained.
- All participants were informed about the study and they provided consent to take part in the study.
- To protect anonymity of individuals, the names or addresses or any other identifying information of the participants was not collected in the questionnaire.
- To protect confidentiality of OSG members, the original data that contained emails or any other contact means sent by the members in order to participate in the interview (see Section 5.2.5.2) were kept by the researcher in a password protected electronic document and could only be accessed by the researcher.

#### 5.1.5.6 Variables

#### 5.1.5.6.1 Demographic variables

Data on participant's age, gender, country, religion, marital status, house members and income status were collected by questions adapted from the Census (2011) and Survey Onics (2011) as follows:

Religion was categorised into eight groups; No religion, Christian (all denominations), Muslim, Buddhist, Hindu, Jewish, Sikh and others. Moreover, choice for people who "*prefer not to say*" was also given. Whereas "marital status" was recorded as married / living with a partner, widowed, single and other and again choice for people who "*prefer not to say*" was given.

House members were recorded as no-one (I live alone), children, siblings, other relatives (e.g. parents, grandparents), non-family members and anyone else. However, "income status" was investigated in a way to uncover how participants were satisfied with their income status and was recorded as; totally insufficient, somewhat insufficient for essential needs, more than sufficient

#### 5.1.5.6.2 Illness related variables

Illness related variables consist of cancer site, stage, spread, treatment type, treatment stage and time since diagnosis.

Cancer site was categorised into three main groups; Lip and mouth cancer (Lips, tongue, under my tongue, gum, jaw bones, roof of my mouth, cheeks and salivary gland), throat cancer and vocal cords. In addition there was an extra choice for people who "*were not sure*". Whereas cancer stage was recorded as Stage I, Stage II, Stage III and Stage IV according to Tumour Node Metastasis (TNM) staging system (Deschler *et al.*, 2008) and again there was an extra choice for people who "were not sure". This staging system was placed in the questionnaire, because it has been noticed in thefirst study (Chapter 4), which investigated the messages posted by people living with H&N cancer, that the vast majority of the posters were aware of

their cancer stage with this staging manner, since it was recorded in the patients' profile or from the messages itself where the member raised his/her problem.

Spread of the cancer (Cancer metastasis) was recorded as Yes, No question and there was a choice for people who "were not sure". In addition, questions about treatment type were modified from a questionnaire used for cancer by Susan and Clingman (2005), in which participants could tick as many as they liked, and were as follows:

- Chemotherapy
- Radiation
- Surgery
- Acupuncture/Oriental
- Naturopathy
- Herbology or Nutritional Consulting
- Online Support Groups
- Others\_\_\_\_\_

- Colour, Art or Music Therapy
- Spiritual Healing
- Prayer
- Medicine Meditation or Self-Healing
- Psychological Counselling
- Face-to-Face Support Groups
- Massage or other Bodywork
- I am not sure

Finally, Time since diagnosis was reported in years and months and treatment stage was recorded as pre-diagnosis, pre-treatment, under-treatment, post-treatment and there was a choice for people who "*were not sure*".

## 5.1.5.6.3 OSGs-related variables

These variables included number of days using OSGs per month, hours of using OSGs per day (in minutes), time since start using OSGs (in months), membership of OSG, time since becoming a member, number of posted and replied messages, reason for participating in OSGs, whether OSGs made any difference in coping, and whether there were any problems related to the use of OSGs.

Membership, whether OSGs made any difference in coping and whether there was any problems related to the use of OSGs were all recorded as Yes/No questions. Whereas reasons for participation were recorded using a modified list from (Mo and Coulson, 2010a), and participants could tick more than one reason.

- Because I was curious how other members were doing.
- It was part of my daily routine.
- When I had a question about my health condition.
- To enjoy myself.
- When I heard new information about my health condition.
- When I had a lot of symptoms.
- Before visiting a doctor.
- After visiting a doctor.
- When I had new symptoms.
- Because I felt lonely.
- Because other members expected me to be here.
- To stay in touch with other members.
- To help other members in their health condition.
- Other reason (please specify).

## 5.1.5.6.4 Psychosocial variables

Psychosocial variables included social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment, empowerment and quality of life. All questionnaires used to measure these variables can be seen in Appendix 15.

### 1. Social network

Social network was measured using The Berkman-Syme Social Network Index (BSNI) an 11-item self-reported questionnaire (Berkman and Syme, 1979). The BSNI is designed to assess the type, size, closeness, and frequency of contacts in a respondent's current social network. This measure allows researchers to categorize individuals based on social connectedness and can highlight those at risk for social isolation.

It is a compound measure of four categories of social connections; sociability (frequency and number of contacts with close relatives, and close friends), marital status (not married vs. married), church group membership (no vs. yes) and membership in other community organizations (no vs. yes). The BSNI considers both relative importance and number of social ties among the four groups and unites this material into measure of summary ranging from 0-4 (NIH, 2002).

BSNI allows researchers to classify people into four stages of social connection; socially isolated (people with few close contacts, fewer than six friends or relatives, not married, and no membership in either community or groups church), moderately isolated, moderately integrated, and socially integrated. The most isolated category belong to scores summed; 0 or 1, wherease the other three categories of increasing social connectedness belong to scores summed; 2, 3, or 4.

A review of the literature found that BSNI is one of the most commonly used and reported research measures for social support/networks. The BSNI was cited in 209 articles found in MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBase and PSYCinfo (Biordi and Nicholson, 2008).

The BSNI is a valid and reliable index (Cronbach's alpha ranged from .77 to .85) in assessing patient's social network as a factor known to influence morbidity and mortality in people with chronic disease, (Berkman, 1977; Lubben, 1988).

#### 2. Self-efficacy

Self-efficacy was measured using The Cancer Behaviour Inventory-brief version (CBI-B), 12-item validated questionnaire (Heitzmann *et al.*, 2011) used widely as a measure of self-efficacy for coping with cancer derived from the longer 33-item version (Merluzzi *et al.*, 2001). Participants responded to each question on a 9-point Likert scale, with a possible score of "1" = 'Not at all confident to "9"= 'Totally confident' reflecting the degree of confidence the patient has that he or she can perform that particular coping behaviour, (possible total scores ranged from 12 to 108).

The CBI-B has been used as a measure of self-efficacy for coping with cancer (Heitzmann *et al.*, 2011) and previous studies have indicated that the CBI-B has good internal reliability ( $\alpha$ =0.84) and construct validity (Heitzmann, *et al.*, 2011).

#### 3. Anxiety and Depression

Anxiety and depression were measured using Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) 14-item questionnaire (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983); commonly used to determine the levels of anxiety and depression that an individual is experiencing in both hospital and community settings. Seven of the items relate to anxiety and seven relate to depression. Each question has 4 possible responses ranging from 0 to 3. The maximum score is 21 for depression and 21 for anxiety (0-7= Normal; 8-10 = Borderline abnormal; 11-21= Abnormal).

The HADS appeared to be a widely used measure to determine the levels of anxiety and depression that an individual is experiencing (Abrahams *et al.*, 1997; Johnston *et al.*, 2000; Mykletun *et al.*, 2001; Goldstein *et al.*, 2002; Barth and Martin, 2005; Martin, 2005; Goldstein *et al.*, 2006; Muszbek *et al.*, 2006; Wicks *et al.*, 2007; Gibbons *et al.*, 2011).

The author tested internal consistency of the scale, using data from 50 patients. The correlation for anxiety items ranged from 0.41 to 0.76. The depression items had correlations ranging from 0.30 to 0.60. Higher correlations were reported by Moorey *et al.* (1991). The criteria were then tested for reliability with a further 50 patients and results judged to be satisfactory. The severity ratings correlated with psychiatric judgments, with the results for depression: 0.70 and for anxiety: 0.74.

Previous studies have indicated that the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) exhibits good construct validity (Goldberg, 1978; Zigmond and Snaith, 1983; Snaith and Taylor 1985; Aylard *et al.*, 1987; Fallowfield *et al.*, 1987; Wilkinson and Barczak 1988).

#### 4. Adjustment to cancer

Adjustment to cancer was measured using The Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer (MINI-MAC) 29 item questionnaire (Watson *et al.*, 1994). The Mini-MAC is a revised version of the commonly used Mental Adjustment to Cancer scale (MAC) (Watson, 1988), that was created to measure mental adjustment to cancer generally.

The Mini-MAC involves 29 items and the psychometric properties of this scale have proved satisfactory (Ho *et al*, 2003; Hulbert-Williams *et al*, 2012; Fong, and Ho, 2015).

The Mini-MAC items are rated on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "Definitely does not apply to me" (1) to "Definitely apply to me" (4) and measures patient's experiences at present (possible total scores ranged from 29 to 116). It also has five subscales; Helpless-Hopeless "8 items", Anxious Preoccupation "8 items" (possible scores ranged from 8 to 32 for each), Cognitive Avoidance "4 items", Fighting Spirit "4 items" (possible scores ranged from 4 to 16 for each), and Fatalism "5 items" (possible scores ranged from 5 to 20). Higher scores indicate higher endorsement in these coping strategies.

The MAC scale is one of the most commonly used tools to assess coping responses in people with cancer in both clinical practice and research fields. Since it is not specific for any cancer type it is widely used for many purposes (Lee, *et al.*, 2009; Johansson *et al.*, 2011; Hulbert-Williams *et al.*, 2012; Zucca *et al.*, 2012).

Several studies evaluating the psychometric properties of the Mini-MAC scale have supported its validity and reliability of all five subscales of this questionnaire (Ferrero et a, 1994; Ho *et al.*, 2003; Grassi *et al.*, 2005; Anagnostopoulos *et al.*, 2006; Pallant and Tennant, 2007; Tennant *et al.*, 2007; Kang *et al.*, 2008; Watson, *et al.*, 2008; Boyes *et al.*, 2009; Hulbert-Williams *et al.*, 2012). Reported internal consistency ranged from 0.65 to 0.91, and construct validity was well-established (Ho *et al.*, 2003).

## 5. Empowerment

Empowerment was measured using the 39-item Empowering Processes Scale (Mo and Coulson, 2010). Items for this scale were adapted from the Empowering Processes Scale developed by van Uden-Kraan and colleagues based on their studies of online support group use for patients with breast cancer, fibromyalgia, and arthritis (van Uden-Kraan, Drossaert, Taal, Seydel *et al.*, 2008). The original scale had 29 items which measured 5 dimensions of empowering processes (exchanging information, encountering emotional support, finding recognition, helping others, and sharing

experiences). However, to reflect the broader aspects of empowering processes (e.g. finding positive meaning towards the diseases), 15 items were added to the scale by Mo and Coulson (2010a). Results from their factor analysis indicated the possibility of a four factor solution, since on closer inspection of the factor loadings, some items were eliminated because they cross-loaded on two factors. After that, they repeated the factor analysis stipulating a four-factor solution, using a Varimax rotation and the integrity of the four-factor solution was preserved. As result of these modifications, the Empowering Processes Scale had 39-items measuring 4 dimensions of empowering processes (receiving social support, finding positive meaning, receiving useful information, helping others).

Participants were asked the frequency in which each event took place in the OSG on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = never to 5 = very often, with higher scores indicating higher levels of empowering processes (possible total scores ranged from 39 to 195). The items were distributed on the 4 dimensions of empowering processes as follows; receiving social support "14 items", finding positive meaning "14 items" (possible scores ranged from 14 to 70 for each) receiving useful information "9 items" (possible scores ranged from 9 to 45) and helping others "2 items" (possible scores ranged from 2 to 10).

The Empowerment Process Scale has been recently developed for using in OSGs (van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, 2008) and it has been used successfully to measure empowering processes from OSGs participation among patients living with HIV/AIDS (Mo and Coulson 2010).

The reliability of the original empowering processes scale was satisfactory (Cronbach's alpha ranged from .70 to .95). The Cronbach's alpha of the four subscales ranged from .87 (helping others) to .95 (finding positive meaning) (Mo and coulson 2010). However, Information about validity is not yet available.

## 6. Quality of life

Quality of life was measured using the 12-item University of Washington Quality of Life Questionnaire (UW-QOL) (Hassan and Weymuller, 1993; Weymuller *et al.*,

2001; Rogers *et al.*, 2002). Each question has from 3 to 5 answers, with participants choosing one appropriate answer that applies to them. Each of the domain-specific items is scored from 0 (worst QOL) to 100 (best QOL). The 'composite' score is created by averaging the scores from the 12 items, therefore the possible total scores ranged from 0 to 100.

The UW-QOL questionnaire is one of the most widely used instruments to evaluate the QoL of patients H&N cancer (Nazar *et al.*, 2010). It has been extensively and successfully used in research conducted for English-speaking populations; in addition, it has been translated and used in other languages (D'cruz *et al.*, 2007; Lowe and Rogers, 2008; Nazar *et al.*, 2010; Chang *et al.*, 2012).

The validity of UW-QOL questionnaire version 4 has been assessed in many study using translated version to other languages (Vartanian *et al.*, 2006; D'cruz *et al.*, 2007; Nazar *et al.*, 2010; Chang *et al.*, 2012), and the overall internal consistency ranged between Cronbach's alpha of 0.73 and 0.84.

#### 5.1.5.7 Pilot study

A pilot study was conducted with 5 people with H&N cancer from an H&N cancer related- OSG (a different one to those used for the main study). Permission was gained from the moderator, and the same invitation message that was prepared for the main study was placed on the group's website. The message contained a link to the same questionnaire and information used in the main study except that there were two questions related to the pilot study in which participants were asked to calculate the time of completing the questionnaires, supply information at the end, and write their experience of the questionnaire and any difficulties they had encountered during their completion. There was no invitation question about participation in a further interview in the pilot study. After 5 responses to the pilot were received the invitation message was removed from the OSG.

The results of the pilot study suggested that the time required for completing the questionnaire was about 10-20 minutes. The participants reported that all the questions of the survey were clear and easy to complete and none of the participants

found any technical, language problems or any other difficulties in understanding and completing the questionnaire. This led to modifying the invitation message for the main study to indicate that the time required for completing the questionnaire would be approximately 10-20 minutes but no other changes were made to the study materials.

## 5.1.5.8 Data collection

The invitation message that contained the link for the online questionnaire and the objectives of the study were placed on the OSG's website in February 2013. This link remained active for six months until the required number of responses had been achieved. During this period, the invitation message was renewed several times in order to ensure that it was easily accessible and did not move too far down with the older messages. The administrators of the groups were asked from time to time to place the invitation message back on the top of their page. After the required sample size had been achieved, the online link to the questionnaire was removed.

## 5.1.5.9 Data analysis

All the questionnaires used for measuring the psychosocial variables have been computed for their total scores (Table 42). The internal reliability of the questionnaires was assessed by Cronbach's Alpha.

Data were analysed in three phases:

**Phase 1** described the distribution of all demographic variables, Illness-related variables and OSGs variables using appropriate measures of proportions, spread and central tendency.

**Phase 2** evaluated and prepared data to be used for the regression analysis in the next phase.

**Phase 3** evaluated the relationship between using OSGs and QoL and explored the possible mediators in this relationship between these two variables using regression analysis.

| Psychosocial variables | Score interpretation                                     |
|------------------------|--|
| Social network         | 0 = The most socially isolated                           |
|                        | 4 = The most socially connected                          |
| Self-efficacy          | 12 = Not at all confident                                |
|                        | 108 = Totally confident                                  |
| Anxiety                | 0 = Not anxious at all                                   |
|                        | 21 = The most anxious                                    |
| Depression             | 0 = Not depressed at all                                 |
|                        | 21 = The most depressed                                  |
| Adjustment             | 29 = The lowest endorsement of the adjustment response   |
|                        | 116 = The highest endorsement of the adjustment response |
| Empowerment            | 39 = The lowest levels of empowering processes           |
|                        | 195 = The highest levels of empowering processes         |
| Quality of life        | 0 = The worst QOL  |
|                        | 100 = The best QOL                                       |

Table 42: Coding of the psychosocial variables

#### 5.1.6 Results

#### 5.1.6.1 Introduction

The results in this chapter are presented in three main sections:

Section I: descriptive analysis summarises the sample regarding demographic factors (age, gender, country, religion, marital status, house member and income status), Illness-related\_demographics (cancer site, stage, spread, treatment type, treatment stage and time since diagnosis) and OSGs demographics (number of days of using OSGs per months, hours of using OSGs per day, time since start using OSGs, membership, times since become member, number of posted and replied message, reason for participation as well as whether OSGs made any difference in coping and whether there were any problems related to the use of OSGs). This section also discusses the reliability and validity of the questionnaires.

**Section II:** evaluated and prepared data to be used for the regression analysis in the next phase. In this phase, the measure for using OSGs was selected and assumptions of the regression analysis tested.

**Section III:** reports the regression analysis between using OSGs and the psychosocial variables (social network, self-efficacy anxiety, depression, adjustment, empowerment and QoL).

#### 5.1.6.2 Section I: Descriptive analysis

#### 5.1.6.2.1 Demographics

The demographic data of the participants are illustrated in Table 43. The mean age of the participants was 54.34 (SD =10.2, Range = 13 - 79 = 66). Although the range seems to be wide (13 - 79), more than 70% of the participants were over 50 years and only 1% were below 30 years, whereas the rest (28%) were between 30 - 50 years.

There were 101 females and 98 males (50.8% and 49.2% respectively) in the sample with participants originating from 7 countries, with the majority from the United States of America (USA) (55.8%). Christianity was the religion of 70% of the participants. With regard to marital status and house members, the majority of participants were married or living with their partner and 37% had children living with their income status.

|          | Participants                                 | Number | %     |
|----------|--|--------|-------|
| -        | •  |        |       |
|          | 10 - 19                                      | 1      | 0.50  |
|          | 20 - 29                                      | 1      | 0.50  |
| Age      | 30 - 39                                      | 13     | 5.53  |
| 0        | 40 - 49                                      | 43     | 21.60 |
|          | 50 - 59                                      | 81     | 40.70 |
|          | 60 - 69                                      | 48     | 24.12 |
|          | 70 - 79                                      | 12     | 6.05  |
|          |  |        |       |
| Sex      | Male   | 98     | 49.24 |
|          | Female                                       | 101    | 50.75 |
|          |  |        |       |
|          | USA  | 112    | 56.28 |
|          | UK   | 45     | 22.61 |
| Country  | Australia                                    | 22     | 11.05 |
|          | Canada                                       | 15     | 7.53  |
|          | New Zealand                                  | 4      | 2.01  |
|          | France                                       | 1      | 0.50  |
|          |  |        |       |
|          | No religion                                  | 43     | 21.60 |
|          | Christian (all denominations)                | 142    | 71.35 |
|          | Muslim                                       | 3      | 1.50  |
| Religion | Buddhist                                     | 3      | 1.50  |
| 8        | Hindu  | 0      | 0.00  |
|          | Jewish                                       | 1      | 0.50  |
|          | Sikh   | 0      | 0.00  |
|          | Prefer not to say                            | 1      | 0.50  |
|          | Other  | 9      | 4.52  |
|          |  |        |       |
| Marital  | Married / Living with a partner              | 145    | 72.86 |
| Status   | Widowed                                      | 9      | 4.52  |
|          | Single                                       | 30     | 15.07 |
|          | Prefer not to say                            | 2      | 1.00  |
|          | Other  | 16     | 8.04  |
|          |  |        |       |
| House    | No-one, I live alone                         | 31     | 15.57 |
| members  | Children                                     | 73     | 36.68 |
|          | Siblings                                     | 5      | 2.51  |
|          | Other relatives (e.g. parents, grandparents) | 18     | 9.04  |
|          | Non-family members                           | 6      | 3.01  |
|          | Other*                                       | 75*    | 37.68 |
|          |  |        |       |
| Income   | Totally insufficient                         | 25     | 12.56 |
| status   | Somewhat insufficient                        | 40     | 20.10 |
|          | Sufficient for essential needs               | 91     | 45.72 |
|          | More than sufficient                         | 43     | 21.60 |

Table 43: Demographic data of the study participants

\*= Mostly spouse/partner

#### 5.1.6.2.2 Illness-related variables

Table 44 shows that the majority of participants had been diagnosed with either throat cancer or lip and mouth cancer (40.7% and 38.2% respectively) and most of the participants were in the advanced stages of cancer (Stage III and IV). In addition, 23% of the participants indicated that their cancers had metastasised to other sites.

The majority of participants were treated with radiation, surgery and chemotherapy (88.9%, 77.4% and 51.2%) respectively, and the vast majority of them (87.4%) were in the post treatment stage. Approximately 30% of the participants were diagnosed more than 5 years ago (mean 53.7 months, SD = 54 months, Range = 1 - 420 months).

|             | Variable                            | Number   | %     |
|-------------|-------------------------------------|----------|-------|
|             |                                     |          |       |
| Cancer site | Lip and mouth                       | 76       | 38.19 |
|             | Throat                              | 81       | 40.70 |
|             | Vocal cords                         | 34       | 17.08 |
|             | I am not sure                       | 8        | 4.02  |
|             |                                     |          |       |
|             | Stage I                             | 22       | 11.05 |
| Cancer      | Stage II                            | 14       | 7.03  |
| stage       | Stage III                           | 27       | 13.56 |
|             | Stage IV                            | 94       | 47.23 |
|             | I am not sure                       | 42       | 21.10 |
|             |                                     |          |       |
| Spread      | Yes                                 | 46       | 23.11 |
|             | No                                  | 143      | 71.85 |
|             | I am not sure                       | 10       | 5.02  |
|             |                                     |          |       |
|             | Chemotherapy                        | 102      | 51.25 |
|             | Radiation                           | 177      | 88.94 |
|             | Surgery                             | 154      | 77.38 |
|             | Acupuncture/Oriental Medicine       | 18       | 9.04  |
|             | Naturopathy                         | 5        | 2.51  |
|             | Herbology or Nutritional Consulting | 10       | 5.02  |
| Treatment   | Online Support Groups               | 131      | 65.82 |
| type        | Colour, Art or Music Therapy        | 5        | 2.51  |
|             | Spiritual Healing                   | 9        | 4.52  |
|             | Prayer                              | 80       | 40.20 |
|             | Meditation or Self-Healing          | 25       | 12.56 |
|             | Psychological Counselling           | 32       | 16.08 |
|             | Face-to Face Support Groups         | 32       | 16.08 |
|             | Massage or other Bodywork           | 33       | 16.56 |
|             | I am not sure                       | 2        | 1.00  |
|             | Other                               | 16       | 8.04  |
| Treatmont   | Pro diagnosis                       | 1        | 0.50  |
| reatment    | Pre-ulagnosis<br>Dra trastment      | 1        | 0.30  |
| stage       | Linder treetment                    | 5        | 1.50  |
|             | Didei-freatment                     | 19       | 9.34  |
|             | Lom not sure                        | 1/4      | 07.45 |
|             |                                     | <u> </u> | 1.00  |
| Time since  | <1 year                             | 45       | 22.61 |
| diagnacie   | >1 - < 5 years                      | 91       | 45 72 |
| T """       | >5 - <10 years                      |          | 22 11 |
| а           | >10 years                           | 13       | 6 53  |
| u           | Unknown                             | 6        | 3.01  |
| <u>h</u>    | UIIKIIUWII                          | U        | 5.01  |

Table 44: Illness-related demographic

#### 5.1.6.2.3 Online support group variables

Table 45 indicates that more than half of the participants (58%) had been using OSGs for more than one year (mean = 31.4 months, SD = 33.2, Range= 0 - 240 months), and about 93% of the study participants were a member of such groups. Similarly, the table shows that more than half of them (52.7%) had been members for more than one year (mean = 30.2 months, SD = 32.7, Range = 0 - 180).

The data also indicated that around half of the participants were frequent users of OSGs (more than 20 days per month) with 37.2% of participants being daily users (mean = 18.1 day, median = 20 day, SD= 11.1, Range = 0 - 31). The majority of participants (70%) when they used the OSG, did so for at least one hour per day (mean 138 minutes, SD = 260 minutes) and some of them (10%) for extended periods of time (5 hours +).

The data for member activity and participation indicates that half of the participants had posted at least 10 support-seeking messages (mean = 38.4, SD = 129.4, Range = 0 - 1000) and more than half of the participants (63.3%) posted at least 10 messages as a reply to others (mean 125.4, SD = 360.1, Range = 0 - 3000). It appears from the data that members were more active in replying to others, perhaps indicating the willingness of those people to help and provide support when others asked them.

|                     | Variable        | Number   | %     |
|---------------------|-----------------|----------|-------|
|                     |                 |          | - *   |
| Days per month      | 0 -9            | 57       | 28.64 |
|                     | 10 - 19         | 34       | 17.08 |
|                     | 20 - 29         | 32       | 16.08 |
|                     | Daily           | 74       | 37.18 |
|                     | Missied data    | 2        | 1 00  |
|                     |                 | -        | 1.00  |
|                     | 0 - <1          | 46       | 23.11 |
| Hours per day       | 1 - 2           | 88       | 44 22 |
| fiours per duy      | 2 - <3          | 22       | 11.05 |
|                     | 3 - < 4         | 6        | 3.01  |
|                     | 4 - <5          | 2        | 1.00  |
|                     | > 5             | 20       | 10.05 |
|                     | Missed data     | 15       | 7 53  |
|                     |                 | 15       | 1.55  |
|                     | <1 year         | 81       | 40.70 |
| How long using OSCs | >1 - < 5 years  | 92       | 46.73 |
| How long using 0505 | >1 < 5 years    | 10       | 9.54  |
|                     | $\geq 10$ years |          | 2.01  |
|                     | Missed data     | 3        | 1.50  |
|                     |                 | 5        | 1.50  |
| Membershin          | Ves             | 184      | 92.46 |
| Weinbersmp          | No              | 15       | 7 53  |
|                     |                 | 15       | 1.55  |
| How long member     | <1 year         | 87       | 13 71 |
| now long member     | >1 - <5 years   | 84       | 42 21 |
|                     | >1 < 5 years    | 17       | 8 54  |
|                     | $\geq 10$ years | 1 /<br>A | 2.01  |
|                     | Missed data     | 7        | 3 51  |
|                     |                 | 1        | 5.51  |
|                     | 1-9             | 72       | 36.18 |
| Number of posted    | 10-49           | 72       | 37.18 |
| massages            | 50-99           | 11       | 5 52  |
| messages            | 100-499         | 11       | 5.52  |
|                     | 500-1000        | 11<br>A  | 2.01  |
|                     | >1000           | 0        | 0.00  |
|                     | Missed data     | 27       | 13 56 |
|                     |                 | 27       | 15.50 |
|                     |                 |          |       |
| Number of renlied   | 1-9             | 53       | 26.63 |
| messages            | 10-49           | 55       | 27.63 |
| mosagos             | 50-99           | 23       | 11 55 |
|                     | 100-499         | 37       | 18 59 |
|                     | 500-1000        | 7        | 3 51  |
|                     | >1000           |          | 2.01  |
|                     | Missed data     | 20       | 10.05 |

Table 45: OSGs demographics: Frequency, duration, membership and activity
When asked the reason for participation in OSGs, 72% of the participants indicated that one reason was "*to help members in their health condition*" which was the second most frequent reason chosen by the participants (see Table 46). Curiosity on how other members were doing was the most common reason for participation as indicated by 77% of the participants. Two thirds of the participants (65%) reported that they used OSGs when they had a question about their health condition.

The data indicated that the vast majority of participants (about 90%) reported that being a member of an OSG had made a difference to their coping with cancer, and around 87% did not experience any problems during their participation in OSGs (Table 46).

| Variable   | Number | %     |
|--|--------|-------|
| Reason for participation                               |        |       |
| Because I was curious how other members were doing     | 153    | 76.88 |
| It was part of my daily routine                        | 38     | 19.09 |
| When I had a question about my health condition        | 130    | 65.32 |
| To enjoy myself  | 14     | 7.03  |
| When I heard new information about my health condition | 92     | 46.23 |
| When I had a lot of symptoms                           | 59     | 39.64 |
| Before visiting a doctor                               | 28     | 14.07 |
| After visiting a doctor                                | 52     | 26.13 |
| When I had new symptoms                                | 54     | 27.13 |
| Because I felt lonely                                  | 55     | 27.63 |
| Because other members expected me to be here           | 7      | 3.51  |
| To stay in touch with other members                    | 84     | 42.21 |
| To help other members in their health condition        | 143    | 71.85 |
| Other  | 29     | 14.57 |
| Any difference   |        |       |
| No   | 21     | 10.55 |
| Yes  | 178    | 89.44 |
| Any problem  |        |       |
| No   | 172    | 86.43 |
| Yes  | 27     | 13.56 |

Table 46: OSGs demographics: Reason for participation, any differences and any problems

# 5.1.6.3 Questionnaire reliability

The internal reliability of the questionnaires was assessed by Cronbach's Alpha (see Table 47). The means and standard deviations (SD) for each total scale and subscales can also be seen.

Cronbach's Alpha for all scales was excellent to good; 0.96 (EPS), 0.91 (HADS), 0.86 (CBI-B), 0.82 (MINI-MAC), 0.79 (UW-QOL) and 0.76 (BSNI). The means for the study participants were in the middle area of the range of the questionnaires, far from extremes, indicating no floor or ceiling effects.

| Variable               | Measure   | Cronbach's<br>Alpha | min-max<br>score | Mean   | SD    | Number of<br>Items |
|------------------------|---|---------------------|------------------|--------|-------|--------------------|
|                        |   |                     | range            |        |       |                    |
| Social network         | Berkman-Syme Social Network Index(BSNI)                         | 0.76                | 0 - 4            | 1.45   | 0.88  | 11                 |
| Self-efficacy          | Cancer Behaviour Inventory (CBI-B)                              | 0.86                | 12 - 108         | 81.80  | 16.13 | 12                 |
| Anxiety and depression | Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)                    | 0.91                |                  | 13.44  | 7.89  | 14                 |
| uepression             | - Anxiety   | 0.88                | 0 -21            | 7.88   | 4.41  | 7                  |
|                        | - Depression  | 0.86                | 0 -21            | 5.56   | 4.17  | 7                  |
| Adjustment             | The Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer (MINI-MAC) Scale           | 0.82                | 29 - 116         | 69.34  | 10.44 | 29                 |
|                        | - Helpless-hopeless   | 0.90                | 8 - 32           | 13.25  | 5.09  | 8                  |
|                        | - Anxious preoccupation   | 0.88                | 8 - 32           | 19.26  | 5.73  | 8                  |
|                        | - Avoidance   | 0.63                | 4 - 16           | 9.85   | 2.30  | 4                  |
|                        | - Fatalism  | 0.48                | 5 - 20           | 14.44  | 2.57  | 5                  |
|                        | - Fighting spirit   | 0.53                | 4 - 16           | 12.53  | 2.09  | 4                  |
| Empowerment            | A modified version of the Empowering Processes Scale            | 0.96                | 39 - 195         | 131.52 | 26.63 | 39                 |
|                        | - Factor 1: Receiving social support                            | 0.93                | 14 - 70          | 41.54  | 11.81 | 14                 |
|                        | - Factor 2: Finding positive meaning                            | 0.95                | 14 - 70          | 46.89  | 11.78 | 14                 |
|                        | - Factor3: Receiving useful information                         | 0.95                | 9 - 45           | 35.17  | 6.70  | 9                  |
|                        | - Factor 4: Helping others                                      | 0.91                | 2 - 10           | 7.92   | 2.03  | 2                  |
| Quality of life        | University of Washington Quality of Life Questionnaire (UW-QOL) | 0.79                | 0 - 100          | 68.17  | 14.74 | 12                 |

Table 47: Reliability, mean and standard deviation of the questionnaires

## 5.1.6.4 Section II: Data preparation

#### 5.1.6.4.1 Selecting a measure for using OSGs

Since the aim of this study was to examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL, a measure had to be decided upon for the variable 'using OSGs'. Seven possible measures were prepared to represent the use of OSGs (see Table 48). To investigate the utility of these measures, a bivariate analysis (Table 48) was conducted between QoL and each measure. These were as follows:

- 1- Pearson's correlations were used to investigate the association between the continuous measures of OSGs [Time since start using OSGs (TsU), Length of membership, Number of days of using OSGs per month and Number of hours of using OSGs per day] and quality of life.
- 2- Spearman's correlations were used to examine the association between the discrete measures of OSGs [Membership, Number of posted messages and Number of replied messages] and quality of life.

| Use of OSG measures        | r-value | <i>p</i> -value |
|----------------------------|---------|-----------------|
| Time since start using OSG | 0.16    | 0.02            |
| Days of use per month      | 0.09    | 0.20            |
| hours of use per day       | -0.11   | 0.13            |
| Membership                 | -0.06   | 0.36            |
| Length of membership       | 0.19    | 0.00            |
| Number of posted messages  | 0.12    | 0.09            |
| Number of replied messages | 0.14    | 0.06            |
|                            |         |                 |

Table 48: Relationship between OSG measures and quality of life

As it can be seen from Table 48, only "Time since start using OSG" (p=0.02) and "Length of membership" (p=0.00) were significantly related to QoL, whereas other variable such as "Number of days of using OSGs per month" "Number of hours of

using OSGs per day" "Membership" "Number of posted messages" and "Number of replied messages" were not significant.

Visually inspecting the data showed that "Time since start using OSGs" and "Length of membership" measures appeared to represent the same thing (Table 45, Section 5.1.6). Therefore, "Time since start using OSGs" was chosen as the measure to assess the relationship between use of OSG and QoL.

## 5.1.6.4.2 Pre-regression tests

One simple linear regression model was conducted to answer the first aim of this study (*to examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL*). This was followed by six multiple linear regression models to answer the second aim of the study (*to examine the psychosocial factors: social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment that may influence the relationship between using OSGs and QoL*) (see Table 49) below:

In order to carry out the regression analyses, a number of tests were undertaken to assess the assumptions of linearity, homoscedasticity, normality of the residuals (the differences between obtained and predicted dependent variable scores) (Tabachnick, and Fidell, 2007; Pallant, 2013) and reliability of measurement, (Osborne and Waters, 2002). In addition, tests for the absence of serial correlation (autocorrelation) between the residuals (Schwab, 2007; Zaiontz, 2014) and absence of multicollinearity between the variables (Mela, and Kopalle, 2002) were also considered as they are key assumptions in regression analyses. Some statisticians also recommend that significant outliers should be carefully examined if linear regression model is to be conducted (Bollen, and Jackman, 1990; Blatná, 2006; Lund and Lund, 2013). More details about each of these issues and how they have been tested in this study can be seen below.

## Serial Correlation (Autocorrelation)

A key assumption in regression is that the residuals are not correlated serially from one observation to the next. This means the size of the residual for one case has no impact on the size of the residual for the next case (i.e. independent from one another) (Schwab, 2007; Zaiontz, 2014).

In this study, the value of Durbin-Waston was used for each regression model to evaluate the presence of serial correlation (Table 49). According to Schwab (2007), a value between 1.50 and 2.50, as a general rule of thumb, indicates no serial correlation and we can presume that the residuals are independent. As it can be seen from Table 53, the value of Durbin-Waston indicates no serial correlations for all the models.

| Model   | Type of regression         | Purpose: to investigate  | Durbin-Waston value |
|---------|----------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|
| Model 1 | Simple linear regression   | The relationship between | 1.995               |
|         |                            | using OSGs and QoL       |                     |
| Model 2 | Multiple linear regression | Mediators between OSGs   | 1.940               |
|         |                            | and QoL                  |                     |
| Model 3 | Multiple linear regression | Mediators between OSGs   | 2.087               |
|         |                            | and depression           |                     |
| Model 4 | Multiple linear regression | Mediators between OSGs   | 2.180               |
|         |                            | and adjustment           |                     |
| Model 5 | Multiple linear regression | Mediators between OSGs   | 1.946               |
|         |                            | and anxiety              |                     |
| Model 6 | Multiple linear regression | Mediators between OSGs   | 1.823               |
|         |                            | and self-efficacy        |                     |
| Model 7 | Multiple linear regression | Mediators between OSGs   | 1.647               |
|         |                            | and empowerment          |                     |

Table 49: Durbin-Waston value for each regression model

## **Reliability of measurement**

In regression, unreliable measurement causes relationships to be under-estimated increasing the risk of Type II errors. In the case of multiple regressions, effect sizes of other variables can be over-estimated if the variable is not reliably measured. Therefore, before performing multiple regressions, it is important to ensure that the variables are measured without error (reliably) (Osborne and Waters, 2002).

Authors assume that reliability estimates (Cronbach alphas) of 0.7 or above are acceptable to perform multiple regression analysis (Nunnally, 1978; Osborne *et al*, 2001). In this study the Cronbach alphas for all of the measures used were found to be between 0.76 and 0.96 (see Table 47, Section 5.1.6, for details).

## Multicollinearity

Multicollinearity is a phenomenon which occurs in a multiple regression model in which two or more independent variables are highly correlated (Mela, and Kopalle, 2002). In this study, to diagnose whether there is an issue of Multicollinearity between the variables, Tolerance and the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) have been calculated (Table 50). The literature indicates that a tolerance of less than 0.20 or 0.10 and/or a VIF of 5 or 10 and above indicates a multicollinearity problem (O'Brien, 2007). As can be seen in Table 50, both measures indicate no multicollinearity.

| DV                | T     | sU    | So    | cial  | Self-e | fficacy | Any   | kiety | Depr  | ession | Adjus | stment | Empow | verment | Q     | oL    |
|-------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|---------|-------|-------|-------|--------|-------|--------|-------|---------|-------|-------|
| IV                |       |       | netv  | vork  |        |         |       |       |       |        |       |        |       |         |       |       |
|                   | Toler | VIF   | Toler | VIF   | Toler  | VIF     | Toler | VIF   | Toler | VIF    | Toler | VIF    | Toler | VIF     | Toler | VIF   |
|                   | ance  |       | ance  |       | ance   |         | ance  |       | ance  |        | ance  |        | ance  |         | ance  |       |
| TsU               |       |       | .882  | 1.134 | .883   | 1.132   | .896  | 1.117 | .883  | 1.132  | .887  | 1.128  | .891  | 1.122   | .881  | 1.135 |
| Social<br>network | .825  | 1.212 |       |       | .825   | 1.212   | .834  | 1.199 | .875  | 1.143  | .874  | 1.144  | .826  | 1.211   | .825  | 1.212 |
| Self-efficacy     | .429  | 2.332 | .428  | 2.337 |        |         | .441  | 2.269 | .550  | 1.819  | .437  | 2.288  | .430  | 2.328   | .434  | 2.303 |
| Anxiety           | .361  | 2.771 | .359  | 2.785 | .366   | 2.734   |       |       | .390  | 2.567  | .453  | 2.205  | .360  | 2.776   | .356  | 2.811 |
| Depression        | .252  | 3.971 | .266  | 3.753 | .323   | 3.097   | .276  | 3.627 |       |        | .252  | 3.974  | .265  | 3.774   | .336  | 2.974 |
| Adjustment        | .449  | 2.228 | .473  | 2.115 | .456   | 2.194   | .570  | 1.755 | .447  | 2.238  |       |        | .453  | 2.207   | .472  | 2.118 |
| Empowerment       | .911  | 1.098 | .902  | 1.109 | .905   | 1.105   | .914  | 1.094 | .950  | 1.052  | .915  | 1.093  |       |         | .913  | 1.095 |
| Quality of life   | .486  | 2.059 | .486  | 2.059 | .493   | 2.029   | .486  | 2.056 | .650  | 1.538  | .514  | 1.946  | .492  | 2.031   |       |       |

Table 50: Tolerance and the variance inflation factor (VIF)

#### Assumption of linearity

In order to detect non-linearity, residual plots (plots of the standardized residuals as a function of standardized predicted values) were examined for each regression model (Cohen and Cohen, 1983; Berry and Feldman, 1985; Pedhazur, 1997: Tabachnick, and Fidell, 2007; Pallant, 2013). Appendix 17 indicates that the assumption of linearity holds for the main outcome variable in each model since data where distributed in a way where a fitted line looks straight.

In addition, Appendix 18 shows the regression plots for each of the independent variables with the dependent variable in each model, and, again, no curved relationship appeared for any variable indicating assumptions of linearity held.

## Homoscedasticity (constant variance)

Homoscedasticity refers to a situation in which the variability of a variable is consistent throughout the range of values of another variable that predicts it (Taylor, 2013). Evaluating homoscedasticity in this analysis was dependent on graphical methods including investigating scatterplot, histogram and normal Probability plot (P-P Plot) of the residuals. Appendix 17 shows a scatterplot of the relationship between the residuals (or error) and the predicted value for each model. From the figures value, the plots of points appear roughly as a rectangular band in a scatterplots and according to Schwab (2007), this shape can indicate a consistent relationship between the residuals and the predicted variable. The spread of the residuals appears as roughly about the same throughout the plots (no systematic patterns). So, it appears that the error variance is consistent with varying values in the predicted variable in each model.

The histogram of the residuals associated with the dependent variables looks roughly normal for each model (see Appendix 19). In addition, in the P-P Plot of each model (Appendix 20), the data points are very close to the least-square fit-line.

The above points can support the presence of homoscedasticity and indicate little probability of heteroscedasticity.

#### Normality

Normality in regression analysis means that the residuals should be normally distributed about the predicted dependent variable score (i.e, not highly skewed or highly kurtotic) (Tabachnick, and Fidell, 2007; Pallant, 2013). Bulmer (1979) suggests the following rule of thumb; If skewness is less than -1 or greater than +1, the distribution is highly skewed. If skewness is between -1 and  $-\frac{1}{2}$  or between  $+\frac{1}{2}$  and +1, the distribution is moderately skewed. If skewness is between  $-\frac{1}{2}$  and  $+\frac{1}{2}$ , the distribution is approximately symmetric. In addition, the values for kurtosis between -2 and +2 are considered acceptable in order to prove normal distribution (George and Mallery, 2010).

Table 51 shows the Skewness and Kurtosis of the residuals in each regression model in this study. According to the above rule of thumb, none of the distributions of the residuals in the models were highly skewed or highly kurtotic.

|         | Skewness |            | Kurtosis |            |
|---------|----------|------------|----------|------------|
|         |          | Std. Error |          | Std. Error |
| Model 1 | 345      | .174       | 121      | .346       |
| Model 2 | 119      | .174       | .597     | .346       |
| Model 3 | 010      | .174       | .648     | .346       |
| Model 4 | 372      | .174       | 1.072    | .346       |
| Model 5 | .158     | .174       | .965     | .346       |
| Model 6 | 561      | .174       | .747     | .346       |
| Model 7 | 112      | .174       | 134      | .346       |

Table 51: Skewness and Kurtosis of the residuals in each regression model

In addition, another recent and more accurate rule by Hae-Young Kim, (2013) indicates that for medium-sized samples (50 < n < 300), we can reject the null hypothesis at absolute z-value over 3.29, which corresponds with an alpha level 0.05, and conclude the distribution of the sample is non-normal.

The z-value (Z\_skew and Z\_kurtosis) has been calculated (see Table 52 below) and, according to Hae-Young Kim's rule (2013), the distribution of the residuals in all the models appeared to be normally distributed.

In addition, the histograms, Normal Probability Plots (P-P plots), Quantile-Quantile (Q-Q) plots and Box Plot of regression standardised residuals available for each model

(Appendices 19 - 22), show that the distributions of the residuals of all models appear to have a normal distribution in line with Hae-Young Kim, (2013). This indicates that the assumption of linearity holds for the residuals in each model.

|         | Z_skew | Z_kurtosis |
|---------|--------|------------|
| Model 1 | -1.982 | -0.349     |
| Model 2 | -0.683 | 1.725      |
| Model 3 | -0.057 | 1.872      |
| Model 4 | -2.137 | 3.098      |
| Model 5 | 0.908  | 2.789      |
| Model 6 | -3.224 | 2.158      |
| Model 7 | 643    | 387        |

Table 52: z value for skewness and kurtosis for the residuals in each regression model

# Outliers

Researchers indicated that outliers can lead to misinterpreting patterns in plots and can affect visual resolution of remaining data in plots (forces observations into "clusters") (Jacoby, 2005). More importantly, unusual cases with both outliers and high leverage can have a strong influence on a statistical model, and can substantially influence the fit of the model (Lane, 2008). Therefore, some researchers have suggested that deleting outliers from a regression model can sometimes give completely different results (Jacoby, 2005).

Cook's distance is a commonly used estimate of the influence of a data point when performing regression analysis (Mendenhall and Sincich, 1996). Another measure is the leverage of an observation, which is based on how much the observation's value on the predictor variable differs from the mean of the predictor variable. The greater an observation's leverage, the more potential it has to be an influential observation (Lane, 2008).

There are different opinions regarding what cut-off values to use for spotting highly influential points. A simple operational guideline of Cook's distance >1 has been suggested (Cook and Weisberg, 1982). Some analysts suggest investigating observations for which Cook's distance is greater than 0.5 (Blatná, 2006).

As a general rule, a point with Cook's distance greater than 4/n and points with Leverage Value greater than (2k+2)/n should be carefully examined. Where k is the number of predictors and n is the number of observations (Blatná, 2006; Bollen, and Jackman, 1990).

Cook's Distance and Centred Leverage Value have been measured for all the models to investigate for any extreme values that may require deletion before conducting the regression analysis (Table 53 and Appendix 23).

Using the above mentioned general rule (Blatná, 2006; Bollen, and Jackman, 1990) together with inspection of the scatter Plot of Cook's distance against Centred Leverage Value, indicated the presence of few outliers in the data. In addition, testing the models with and without these outliers neither affected the result nor the assumption of the regression. Therefore, since the issue of deletion of outliers is a controversial practice in the literature (Orr, *et al*, 1991; Barnett and Lewis, 1994; Zimmerman, 1995; Osborne, 2004) and since the assumptions of regression analysis have been met for all the models even without removing these outliers, a decision was made to keep these outliers in the data.

|         | Cook's Distan | ce      | Centred Lever | age Value |
|---------|---------------|---------|---------------|-----------|
|         | Minimum       | Maximum | Minimum       | Maximum   |
| Model 1 | .000          | .173    | .000          | .053      |
| Model 2 | .000          | .079    | .004          | .117      |
| Model 3 | .000          | .125    | .002          | .099      |
| Model 4 | .000          | .128    | .002          | .096      |
| Model 5 | .000          | .068    | .002          | .115      |
| Model 6 | .000          | .074    | .001          | .101      |
| Model 7 | .000          | .052    | .001          | .111      |

Table 53: Cook's Distance and Centred Leverage Value for each model

## Shape of the distribution for each variable

Appendix 24 shows the shape of the distribution for each variable in a histogram. While most of the variables appeared to be normal, some of them appeared to have a skewed distribution (e.g. Time since start using OSG "TsU"). However, since the assumption of the regression suggest the normality of the residuals (Tabachnick, and Fidell, 2007; Pallant, 2013) which have already been met, no transformation was applied to the variables.

## 5.1.6.5 Section III: Regression analyses

A series of regression analyses were conducted using the Enter method. One simple linear regression model was conducted to answer the first aim of the study (*to examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL*). Following this, six multiple linear regression models were conducted in order to answer the second aim of the study (*to examine the psychosocial factors: social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment that may influence the relationship between using OSGs and QoL*).

## Research Question 1: Is there a relationship between OSG-use and quality of life?

To investigate the first research question, a simple regression analysis using Enter method was conducted with QoL as the dependent variable and OSG use as the predictor.

Time since starting using OSGs (TsU) was selected as a measure to represent the use of OSGs (see Section 5.1.6.4). This measure was used for all the regression models in this study to ensure the analysis was standardised.

## 5.1.6.5.1 Model 1: Relationship between OSG-use and quality of life

Regressing QoL on TsU indicated that *times since starting using OSGs* (TsU) was related to the QoL of participants (Table 54), such that those participants who had better QoL had been using OSGs for a longer time than those who had worse QoL. Although the results of bivariate correlation analysis showed that there was a relationship between *times since starting using OSGs* (TsU) and QoL, correlation only quantifies the degree to which the two variables were related but it does not fit a line through the data points, whereas linear regression finds the best line that predicts QoL from TsU (Zou *et al*, 2003).

|           | Unstandardized<br>Coefficients (B) | Standardized<br>Coefficients | t    | Р    |
|-----------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|------|------|
| OSG (TsU) | 0.07                               | 0.16                         | 2.32 | 0.02 |

Table 54: Regressing QoL on TsU

# **Research Question 2:** Is the relationship between OSG use and QoL mediated by social network, self-confidence, anxiety, depression, adjustment or empowerment?

To investigate this, the mediation regression tests outlied by Baron and Kenny (1986) were followed. Baron and Kenny (1986) proposed a model (Figure 11) which includes three paths; the direct path (c-path) between the predictor (e.g. TsU) and the dependent variable (e.g. QoL) and the indirect paths (a-path and b-path) that include the mediator (e.g. Social network).



Figure 11: Example of process of mediation between OSG (TsU) and QoL

Baron and Kenny suggest that if the mediation requirements hold, using the example above, TsU should be a significant predictor of Qol (c-path), and TsU should be a significant predictor of the mediator variable (a-path). In addition, there should be a significant relationship between the mediator variable and QoL (b-path) while controlling for TsU. Baron and Kenny (1986) model also indicate that when the mediator (e.g. social network) and TsU are used simultaneously to predict QoL, the previous relationship between TsU and QoL should be reduced or become nonsignificant.

Following the Baron and Kenny model, the mediating role of the psychosocial variables was tested using SPSS using a tool by Hayes (2013). This allows for the testing of each step of the mediation effect and testing of the significance of the indirect path through the bootstrapping method with bias-corrected confidence estimates (Mackinnon, *et al.*, 2004; Preacher and Hayes, 2004). In addition, all

mediators (social network, self-confidence, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment) were tested within the same regression analysis rather than separately.

# 5.1.6.5.2 Model 2: Mediators between OSGs and QoL

Proposed mediators were; social network, self-efficacy, anxiety, depression adjustment and empowerment.

Multiple regressions were conducted to assess each component of the proposed mediation model. In the first step, testing the c-Path, OSG usage (TsU) was positively associated with QoL (B= 0.07, t= 2.32, p= 0.02). The a-paths for each possible mediator were then tested (i.e. their relationship with OSG usage) and the results can be seen in Table 55.

|                | <b>B</b> (a-path) |              | t     | р    |
|----------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|                | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|                | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|                | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Social network | 0.00              | 0.06         | 0.94  | 0.34 |
| Self-efficacy  | 0.08              | 0.16         | 2.35  | 0.02 |
| Anxiety        | -0.03             | -0.25        | -3.72 | 0.00 |
| Depression     | -0.02             | -0.21        | -3.10 | 0.00 |
| Adjustment     | -0.07             | -0.22        | -3.18 | 0.00 |
| Empowerment    | 0.13              | 0.17         | 2.41  | 0.01 |

Table 55: The relationship between OSG (TsU) and the six proposed mediators (b-path)

As can be seen, there was a significant relationship between OSGs and self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment such that longer-time of using OSGs (TsU) was related to each of these mediators. However, social network was not related to OSG use and so, according to the requirements of Baron and Kenny, cannot be considered a mediator of OSG on QoL.

In the final step of the regression model, testing the b-path, whilst controlling for TsU, the results indicated that only depression and adjustment were associated with QoL (see Table 56). Therefore, self-efficacy, anxiety and empowerment, according to the requirements of the Baron and Kenny model, cannot be considered as mediators of OSG on QoL.

|               | <b>B</b> (b-path) |              | t     | p    |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|               | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|               | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|               | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Self-efficacy | -0.11             | -0.12        | -1.63 | 0.10 |
| Anxiety       | 0.15              | 0.05         | 0.57  | 0.57 |
| Depression    | -2.46             | -0.71        | -8.44 | 0.00 |
| Adjustment    | -0.33             | -0.24        | -3.38 | 0.00 |
| Empowerment   | -0.03             | -0.07        | -1.16 | 0.24 |

Table 56: Indirect effect of the OSGs on QoL (b-path)

Because both the a-path and b-path were significant for depression and adjustment, mediation was tested using the bootstrapped CIs. The results confirmed the mediating role of depression and adjustment between length of time since using OSGs (TsU) and QoL (see Table 57).

|            | Effect | BootLL-CI | BootUL-CI |
|------------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Depression | 0.06   | 0.01      | 0.14      |
| Adjustment | 0.02   | 0.00      | 0.05      |

Table 57: Indirect effect of the OSGs on QoL, result of bootstrapping Confidence Interval

The results also indicated that the direct effect of the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) on QoL became non-significant (B=0.00, t= 0.04, p= 0.96) when controlling for depression and adjustment, thus suggesting full mediation. This suggests that the relationship between longer time using OSGs and better QoL was mediated by people having less endorsement in the negative adjustment behaviour toward their H&N cancer and lower levels of depression. Figure 12 summarises the direct and indirect (mediated) pathways between OSG use and QoL.





\*\*= Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed), \*=Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed,) Sold arrows= c-paths or a paths, dashed lines = insignificant paths. The numbers= unstandardized regression coefficients (B), The number in brackets= B value before mediation. Given that depression and adjustment were the only possible mediators in the relationship between the use of OSGs and QoL, the second stage of the analysis was to identify what the mediators were between the use of OSGs and depression, adjustment, anxiety, self-efficacy and empowerment.

In line with the requirements of Baron and Kenny's model, the results of regression analysis (see Table 55 above) indicated that the c-path (the relationship with OSG "TsD") was significant for each variable. The table also shows that the a-path was significant for all the proposed mediators except social network. The final regression step to confirm or exclude mediators for each variable is to test the b-path, by controlling for TsU as follows:

# 5.1.6.5.3 Model 3: Mediators between OSGs and Depression

Proposed mediators were; self-efficacy, anxiety, empowerment and adjustment. All "b-paths" of the proposed mediators were significant except for adjustment (see Table 58).

|               | <b>B</b> (b-path) |              | t     | p    |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|               | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|               | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|               | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Self-efficacy | -0.11             | -0.44        | -7.65 | 0.00 |
| Anxiety       | 0.35              | 0.37         | 5.62  | 0.00 |
| Adjustment    | 0.01              | 0.03         | 0.42  | 0.67 |
| Empowerment   | -0.02             | -0.13        | -2.99 | 0.00 |

Table 58: Indirect effect of the OSGs on depression (b-path)

Because both the a-path and b-path were significant for self-efficacy, anxiety and empowerment, mediation was tested using the bootstrapped CIs. The results confirmed the mediating role of these variables between length of time since using OSGs (TsU) and depression (see Table 59).

|                  | Effect | BootLL-CI | BootUL-CI |
|------------------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Self-efficacy    | -0.01  | -0.02     | -0.002    |
| Anxiety          | -0.01  | -0.02     | -0.003    |
| Empowerment      | -0.00  | -0.01     | -0.000    |
| T 1 1 TO X 11 00 |        | 1 1 1 0 1 |           |

Table 59: Indirect effect of the OSGs on depression, result of bootstrapping Confidence Interval

The results also indicated that the direct effect of the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) on depression became non-significant (B=0.00, t= -0.37, p= 0.71) when controlling self-efficacy, anxiety and empowerment, thus suggesting full mediation.

# 5.1.6.5.4 Model 4: Mediators between OSGs and adjustment

Proposed mediators were; self-efficacy, anxiety, empowerment and depression. In the final step; testing b-path, and controlling for TsU, the results indicated that none of paths of the proposed mediators (b-path) were significant apart from anxiety (see Table 60). This means self-efficacy, empowerment and depression, using Baron and Kenny's model, cannot be considered as mediators of OSG on adjustment.

|               | <b>B</b> (p-path) |              | t     | p    |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|               | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|               | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|               | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Self-efficacy | -0.09             | -0.14        | -1.86 | 0.06 |
| Anxiety       | 1.29              | 0.55         | 7.27  | 0.00 |
| Depression    | 0.09              | 0.04         | 0.42  | 0.67 |
| Empowerment   | -0.03             | -0.07        | -1.49 | 0.13 |

Table 60: Indirect effect of the OSGs on adjustment (b-path)

Because both the a-path and b-path were significant for anxiety, mediation was tested using the bootstrapped CIs. The results confirmed the mediating role of anxiety between the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) and adjustment (see Table 61).

|         | Effect | BootLL-CI | BootUL-CI |
|---------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Anxiety | -0.044 | -0.08     | -0.01     |

Table 61: Indirect effect of the OSGs on adjustment, result of bootstrapping Confidence Interval

Furthermore, the results indicated that the direct effect of the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) on adjustment became non-significant (B=0.01, t= -0.65, p= 0.51) when controlling anxiety, thus suggesting full mediation.

# 5.1.6.5.5 Model 5: Mediators between OSGs and anxiety

Proposed mediators were; self-efficacy, depression, adjustment and empowerment. The result of the regression (Table 62) shows that all "b-paths" of the proposed mediators were significant except empowerment. This indicated that self-efficacy, depression and adjustment, can be considered as mediators of OSG on anxiety.

|               | <b>B</b> (p-path) |              | t     | p    |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|               | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|               | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|               | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Self-efficacy | -0.04             | -0.15        | -2.27 | 0.02 |
| Depression    | 0.40              | 0.37         | 5.62  | 0.00 |
| Adjustment    | 0.17              | 0.41         | 7.27  | 0.00 |
| Empowerment   | 0.01              | 0.06         | 1.70  | 0.09 |

Table 62: Indirect effect of the OSGs on anxiety (b-path)

Again, because both the a-path and b-path were significant for self-efficacy, depression and adjustment, mediation was tested using the bootstrapped CIs. The results confirmed the mediating role of these variables between the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) and anxiety (see Table 63); they also excluded the mediation effect of empowerment.

|               | Effect | BootLL-CI | BootUL-CI |
|---------------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Self-efficacy | -0.00  | -0.01     | 0003      |
| Depression    | -0.01  | -0.02     | 002       |
| Adjustment    | -0.01  | -0.02     | 001       |

Table 63: Indirect effect of the OSGs on anxiety, result of bootstrapping Confidence Interval

The results also indicated that the direct effect of the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) on anxiety became non-significant (B= -0.01, t= -1.68, p= 0.09) when controlling self-efficacy, depression and adjustment, suggesting full mediation.

## 5.1.6.5.6 Model 6: Mediators between OSGs and self-efficacy

Proposed mediators were; anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment. In the final step; testing b-path and controlling for TsU, the results indicated that only anxiety and depression were associated with self-efficacy (see Table 64). Therefore, adjustment and empowerment cannot be considered as mediators of OSG on self-efficacy.

|             | <b>B</b> (b-path) |              | t     | p    |
|-------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|             | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|             | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|             | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Anxiety     | -0.65             | -0.18        | -2.27 | 0.02 |
| Depression  | -2.07             | -0.52        | -7.65 | 0.00 |
| Adjustment  | -0.19             | -0.12        | -1.86 | 0.06 |
| Empowerment | -0.02             | -0.03        | -0.67 | 0.50 |

Table 64: Indirect effect of the OSGs on self-efficacy (b-path)

Both the a-path and b-path were significant for anxiety and depression, therefore mediation was tested using the bootstrapped CIs. The results confirmed the mediating role of anxiety and depression between the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) and self-efficacy (see Table 65).

|            | Effect | BootLL-CI | BootUL-CI |
|------------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Anxiety    | 0.02   | .004      | 0.05      |
| Depression | 0.05   | 0.01      | 0.11      |

Table 65: Indirect effect of the OSGs on self-efficacy, result of bootstrapping Confidence Interval

Furthermore, the results indicated that the direct effect of the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) on self-efficacy became non-significant (B=- 0.00, t= -0.36, p= 0.72) when controlling anxiety and depression, suggesting full mediation.

## 5.1.6.5.7 Model 7: Mediators between OSGs and empowerment

Proposed mediators were; self-efficacy, anxiety, depression and adjustment. In the final step; testing b-path and controlling for TsU, the results indicated that only depression was associated with empowerment (see Table 66). Therefore, self-efficacy, anxiety, and adjustment cannot be considered as mediators of OSG on empowerment.

|               | <b>B</b> (b-path) |              | t     | p    |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-------|------|
|               | Unstandardized    | Standardized |       |      |
|               | Coefficients      | Coefficients |       |      |
|               | (B)               |              |       |      |
| Self-efficacy | -0.11             | -0.06        | -0.67 | 0.50 |
| Anxiety       | 1.15              | 0.15         | 1.70  | 0.09 |
| Depression    | -2.11             | -0.32        | -2.99 | 0.00 |
| Adjustment    | -0.36             | -0.13        | -1.49 | 0.13 |

Table 66: Indirect effect of the OSGs on empowerment (b-path)

Both the a-path and b-path were significant for depression; therefore mediation was tested using the bootstrapped CIs. The results confirmed the mediating role of depression between the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) and empowerment (see Table 67).

|            | Effect | BootLL-CI | BootUL-CI |
|------------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| Depression | 0.05   | .007      | 0.14      |

Table 67: Indirect effect of the OSGs on empowerment, result of bootstrapping Confidence Interval

The results also indicated that the direct effect of the length of time since using OSGs (TsU) on empowerment became non-significant (B=0.10, t= 1.78, p= 0.07) when controlling depression, suggesting full mediation.

## 5.1.6.5.8 Summary of relationships

The regression analysis indicated that the relationship between OSGs and QoL was only mediated by depression and adjustment. Further regression indicated that some of the psychosocial variables mediated each other in their relationship with OSGs. For example, self-efficacy, anxiety and depression were found to mediate each other in their relationships with OSGs. Depression was also found to mediate and be mediated by empowerment. In addition, anxiety was also found to mediate and be mediated by adjustment. Figure 13 summarises the significant mediators between OSGs and QoL.



Figure 13: Summary of the mediating process in the relationship between OSGs and QoL, depression, adjustment and anxiety

\*\*= Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed), \* = Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed,) Sold arrows= c-paths or a paths, dotted arrows = significant bpaths. The numbers= unstandardized regression coefficients (B)

#### 5.1.6.5.9 Summary of the model

The results of the regression analysis indicated that length of time since using OSGs (TsU) was related to QoL of the participants, together with depression, anxiety, adjustment, self-efficacy and empowerment. Participants who had been using OSGs for a longer time (measured in months) had better QoL, lower levels of anxiety and depression, lower endorsement of the negative adjustment behaviour (in terms of negative coping strategies such as helpless-hopeless, anxious preoccupation, avoidance and fatalism), higher levels of empowerment process (terms of receiving social support, finding positive meaning, receiving useful information and helping others) and greater belief that they were capable of performing well (i.e. self-efficacy).

Levels of depression and adjustment were found to mediate the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and QoL. Participants who had been using OSGs for a longer time reported lower levels of depression and adjustment and subsequently reported better QoL. In addition, depression and adjustment also mediated the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and anxiety such that participants reporting lower levels of depression and adjustment also reported lower levels of anxiety. Depression mediated the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and both self-efficacy and empowerment such that those who reported lower levels of depression reported greater empowerment and self-efficacy.

Anxiety was also found to mediate the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and depression and adjustment in a similar way; those participants who had been using OSGs for a longer time reported lower levels of anxiety and subsequently reported lower levels of depression and adjustment. Anxiety also mediated the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and self-efficacy and participants reporting lower levels of anxiety also reported greater levels of self-efficacy.

Similarly, self-efficacy mediated the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and both levels of anxiety and depression such that those participants who had been using OSGs a longer time reported greater levels of self-efficacy and subsequently reported lower levels of anxiety and depression.

Finally, empowerment mediated the relationship between length of time since using OSGs and depression. Participants who had been using OSGs a longer time, reported greater levels of empowerment and subsequently reported lower levels of depression.

## 5.1.7 Discussion

The analysis of the current study indicated that there was a relationship between using H&N cancer-related OSGs and QoL of the users. The analysis suggested that most of the proposed psychosocial variables included in the study may have a role in this relationship. The main finding was that longer use of OSGs was related to better QoL and this relationship was mediated by depression and adjustment. In addition, anxiety, self-efficacy and empowerment were found to have a role in the mediation process by mediating the relationship between the use of OSGs and depression and adjustment. In this section, two main questions are discussed:

- Is the use of OSGs for head and neck cancer related to quality of life?
- Who uses OSGs for head and neck cancer?

#### 5.1.7.1 Is the use of OSGs for H&N cancer related to QoL?

This findings of the present study indicate that using OSGs (measured as the length of time since starting using such a group) was related to better QoL. This finding is consistent with previous studies that report a link between OSG use and better QoL for HIV/AIDS (Mo and Coulson, 2010b; Mo and Coulson, 2012). It also was consistent with a meta-analysis of 28 studies exploring the health-related outcomes related to contribution in a formal intervention dealt with computer-mediated support group (CMSG) (Rains and Young, 2009).

#### 5.1.7.1.1 What factors mediate the relationship between OSGs and QoL?

Previous studies suggested that using OSGs including group communication and educational components led to an improvement in QoL directly or indirectly through increasing the use of adaptive coping and decreasing the use of maladaptive coping (Rains and Young, 2009; Mo and Coulson, 2010b, Mo and Coulson 2012).

The findings of the current study suggested that self-efficacy, anxiety, depression, adjustment and empowerment, were all found to mediate the relationship between length of time since starting using OSGs and QoL. The results relating to self-

efficacy, adjustment and empowerment are in line with previous literature (Mo and Coulson 2012), in which the authors have investigated the possible mechanism through which participation in OSGs might encourage user empowerment for people living with HIV/AIDS. Findings of that study proposed that OSGs participation results in empowering processes, which in turn have a positive influence on psychosocial outcomes as measured by coping, self-care self-efficacy, and QoL. This consistency in the findings is despite the difference in the nature of HIV/AIDS and H&N cancer. This might indicate that the mechanisms underlying the mediation process between using OSGs and QoL may be similar despite differences in the health condition.

With regards to the role of anxiety and depression, no previous studies have investigated the mediating role of anxiety and depression in the OSG-QoL relationship. A recent randomised control study by Griffiths et al., (2012) indicated that participants of an OSG showed significantly considerable decrease in depressive symptoms at follow-up (6 and 12 months) than the control group. This result was supported by a previous study (Winzelberg et al., 2003) which indicated that a webbased social support group was effective in reducing the scores of depression, stress, and cancer-related trauma in women with breast carcinoma participating in the group. In addition, studies by Coulson and Buchanan (2006, 2008) indicated that participation in OSGs appeared to reduce feelings of dental anxiety and concern. On the other side, the literature indicated that depression and anxiety are widely known to have a negative association with at least one aspect of QoL in people with H&N cancer (Horney et al., 2011) or other cancers or non-cancerous health conditions (Reich et al., 2008; Schram et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2010 ; Jouniaux-Delbez, et al., 2010). Therefore, future studies to examine the mediation role of anxiety and depression in the relationship between duration of using OSGs and QoL might be beneficial.

The length of time since starting using OSGs was also found to be directly related to depression, anxiety, adjustment, self-efficacy and empowerment. Those participants who had been using OSGs for a longer time (measured in months) had lower levels of anxiety and depression, lower endorsement of the negative adjustment (in terms of negative coping strategies such as helpless-hopeless, anxious preoccupation, avoidance and fatalism), higher levels of empowerment process in (terms of receiving

social support, finding positive meaning, receiving useful information and helping others) and a greater belief that they are capable of performing well (i.e. self-efficacy). Although, so far, no study has investigated the relationship of all of these variables with OSGs, the results of this study were in line with some previous studies conducted for other conditions (non-H&N cancer including breast cancer, dental anxiety, depression, arthritis and fibromyalgia and HIV-AIDS) and which investigated the relationship of at least one of these variables with OSGs (Winzelberg *et al.*, 2003; Klemm *et al.*, 2003, Coulson and Buchanan, 2006; Coulson and Buchanan, 2008; van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, 2003; Van Uden-Kraan, *et al.*, 2009; Høybye *et al.* 2010; Griffiths *et al.*, 2012; Mo and Coulson, 2012). These studies supported the relationship between OSGs with depression, anxiety, adjustment, self-efficacy and empowerment in a similar way to those found in the present study.

In terms of adjustment, the length of time using OSGs was related to the total score of the MINI-MAC scale (Watson *et al.*, 1994) used to measure adjustment in this study. This scale consist of 29 items distributed within five subscales all of them deal with negative strategies except one (Fighting spirit). Given the small number of positive items (4), it may be difficult to investigate whether OSG are related to positive coping strategies, and further research using another adjustment or coping scale is required. The result relating to negative strategies is consistent with Mo and Coulson (2012) who suggested that using OSGs was negatively related to maladaptive coping strategies. However, other previous research (Fogel *et al.*, 2002), could not find a significant relationship between using the Internet for health information and psychological coping in patients with breast cancer.

In the present study, there was no relationship between length of time since using OSGs and social network. These results are in contrast with previous research in which an association between health-related Internet use and higher scores of social support in patients has been reported (Fogel *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless, other studies have also found a lack of association between OSGs use and social support (Eastin and LaRose, 2005; Mo and Coulson 2010b) where there was no direct relationship seen between time spent on the online support levels of social support. One possible explanation might be that the scale used for measuring social networks, which was designed to measure social networks in personal

relationships, might not be suitable for online relationships (Mo and Coulson 2010b). It is possible that people with H&N cancer might be part of real social networks and receive social support from other sources, apart from OSGs. Thus, future work should use another social network scale designed to be used in OSGs, given that there are likely to be different types of support from different sources available for individuals living with H&N cancer (Cancer care, 2014).

#### 5.1.7.1.2 Mechanism of the mediation process

Although all the proposed mediators were found to play a role in the relationship between OSGs and QoL (except social network), the results indicated that, while controlling for all the proposed mediators, only levels of depression and adjustment were found to be direct mediators, such that participants who had been using OSGs a longer time reported low levels of depression and adjustment and in turn reported better QoL.

Whilst the other variables were not mediators of the OSG-QoL relationship, they were found to play a role in other relationships within the pathway (see Figure 13, Section 5.1.6). For example, self-efficacy, anxiety and depression were found to mediate each other in their relationships with OSGs. Depression was also found to mediate and be mediated by empowerment. In addition, anxiety was also found to mediate and be mediated by adjustment. In general, participants who had been using OSGs a longer time were less depressed, less anxious, had fewer tendencies for the negative adjustment behaviours, and confident that they were capable of performing, felt more empowered to react better with their illness and in turn had better QoL.

## 5.1.7.2 Who uses OSGs for head and neck cancer?

The present findings revealed that users of H&N cancer-related OSGs were more likely to be older and from both genders. This is not consistent with previous research on use of OSGs and Internet for other health-related purposes, in which users of OSGs were more likely to be female and younger (Fox and Rainie, 2002; Rahmqvist and Bara, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2010b). However, results for age were consistent with

the previous study (Chapter 4) that analysed messages posted to H&N cancer-related OSGs.

The disparity in age between this study and previous research can be attributed to the fact that the incidence of H&N cancer increases with age particularly after 50 years (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Chidzonga and Mahomva, 2006; Warnakulasuriya, 2009). Therefore, it would be expected that older participants would be predominant users of H&N cancer-related OSGs. In terms of gender, the worldwide incidence of oral cancer is more prevalent in males than females in the majority of countries (Warnakulasuriya, 2009) and the general male: female ratio is about 3:1 for these tumours (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Freedman *et al.*, 2007). In the present study the male: female ratio was approximately equal (49% male: 51% female). It may be that women are more likely to use the Internet for the purposes of interpersonal communication (Weiser, 2000; Boneva *et al.*, 2001) and more interested in the topics that relate to health (Green and Pope, 1999) which may explain the disproportionate number of females.

In contrast with a previous study that used a similar methodology in relation to HIV-AIDS (Mo and Coulson 2010b), individuals who were married / living with a partner were more likely to participate in H&N cancer-related OSGs than those who reported that they were single, widowed, divorced or separated. This can also be related to the age-group of people who use this kind of OSGs (older age), since it has been believed that older men are more likely to be married compared with young people (Statistics' New Zealand, 1996).

Although a previous study implicated socio-economic deprivation as an important factor for H&N cancer (Conway *et al.*, 2010), around two thirds of the participants in our study were satisfied with their income status. This might be because the sample in this study was taken from people with H&N cancer who were using OSGs, which reflected their education and income levels (Diaz *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2005), whilst Conway *et al.* (2010) included the wider general H&N cancer population. Another reason may be because this study used a subjective measure of SES whilst Conway and colleagues used objective measures. Beside satisfaction with their income status, participants also have the ability to access and

use the Internet, which may reflect their income and education level "at least to own and use a computer and Internet". This was consistent with the literature that suggests that people with higher socioeconomic classes are more likely to search for healthrelated information through the Internet than the lower socioeconomic classes (Diaz *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2002; Kalichman *et al.*, 2005).

The majority of participants had been diagnosed with either throat cancer or lip and mouth cancer. This result was consistent with the previous study (Chapter 4) in which the most common type of cancer reported by both support seekers and providers were cancers of the tongue followed by cancers of tonsil. In addition, it was consistent with cancer incidence in the USA and the UK, to which most the members in the sample belonged, as oral cancer was noticed to be more common than other subcategories of H&N cancer in these two countries (IARC, 2008).

In contrast to a previous study (Mo and Coulson, 2010), in which OSGs users were recently diagnosed, this study found that people who accessed H&N-related OSGs were diagnosed with cancer a long time ago, and the majority of them were in advanced stages of cancer and post-treatment. However, this finding supports results from the first study (see Chapter 4) that revealed that the majority of support providers were in their post treatment stage whereas people who were under treatment, in pre-treatment stage or in pre-diagnosis stage tend to be support seekers. The results also suggested that more than half of the participants had been using OSGs for more than one year and many of them were members for a longer time (> 5 years). Thus, it may be the case that users of H&N-related OSGs joined the group for the first time to seek support then continue to use the group after they recover.

In line with this, although the majority of participants were treated with radiation, surgery and chemotherapy, two-thirds of them also considered OSGs as part of their treatment. This was consistent with previous literature investigating OSGs for other health conditions and indicating using online support as having positive impacts, such as better adjustment, support and encouragement, less anxiety and depression and better QoL (Page *et al.*, 2000; Huws *et al.*, 2001; Houston *et al.*, 2002; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Mo and Coulson, 2010).

In this study, participants of H&N-related OSGs would be defined as heavy users, in that more than half of them were frequent users of more than 20 days per month. Furthermore, when they used OSGs, they did so for at least one hour per day. Indeed, the participants appeared to be more frequent users than participants of other online groups for other health conditions such as HIV/AIDS and depression (Houston *et al.*, 2002; Mo and Coulson, 2010b). The exact reason for this is not clear; it may be related to a more general gradual increase in the use of the internet for health purposes (Cohen, and Adams, 2011).

#### 5.1.7.3 Limitations

The most important limitation was the cross-sectional nature of the study design. This is particularly important when discussing mediation. Whilst mediation was tested using techniques outlined within the literature (Baron and Kenny, 1986), the data were cross-sectional and so temporality cannot be assumed. The pathways proposed here are therefore exploratory and need to be tested longitudinally and, if possible, through a more precise design such as controlled trials.

The study used an online survey because it felt that it might be a convenient way for collecting data from people who are in various geographic areas in the world and have access to internet. However, the literature suggests that there are some disadvantages for online surveys, including issues of non-representativeness of the sample, low response rates, nonresponses, and lack of validity of the data (Couper, 2000; Nosek *et al.*, 2002; Kraut *et al.*, 2004; Matsuo *et al.*, 2004). For example some researchers (Couper, 2000) suggested that there is no equivalent way for researchers to access the population within the online environment. It has also been suggested that response rates are generally lower for online surveys than for mail or telephone surveys (Kraut *et al.*, 2004). In addition, it is possible for individuals to affect the quality of the results by deceptively or falsely answering questionnaire items (Nosek *et al.*, 2002) or by simply submitting their response multiple times. Moreover, it is still likely to obtain a small significance level even with a large sample size, which may require additional statistical tests to validate the results (Matsuo *et al.*, 2004).

Participation in the study was optional and participants were self-selected, and from a limited number of OSGs. It may be that only people with positive experiences of OSGs agreed to participate, or perhaps those who were adjusting better to their condition or treatment. In terms of the OSGs, practicalities meant the study could only incorporate four sites. It may be that differing results would have been obtained if more sites had been included.

This study aimed to collect data from online users who were people with cancer (not caregivers or other users). However, as there was no clear distinction in the definitions of cancer survivors compared to current patients (National Cancer Institute, 2014; NCCS, 2014; Macmillan Cancer Support, 2015), the inclusion criteria for this study included people who used OSGs and had been diagnosed with H&N cancer at any point during their life. Indeed, the results of the study showed that the majority of participants (87.43%) were in their post-treatment stages. This strategy may have drawbacks in that people at different stages of cancer and/or its treatment may have different perspectives from each other and may differ from people who have already finished their treatment in terms of their use and relationship with OSGs, and their questionnaire responses.

Although several measures were used to assess the use of OSGs, (See Table 45, Section 5.1.6), only "Time since start using OSG" and "Length of membership" were significantly related to QoL, whereas other variables such as "Number of days of using OSGs per month", "Number of hours of using OSGs per day", "Membership" "Number of posted messages" and "Number of replied messages" were not significant. The reasons for this are not clear. It could be because most of these variables (except membership) were based on estimation. Since many people using the OSGs had been doing so for a very long time, it could make it difficult for them to give precise estimation for how many days they were using the group per month, how many hours per day and how many messages they had sent.

Visually inspecting the data showed that "Time since start using OSGs" and "Length of membership" measures appeared to represent the same thing (Table 45, Section 5.1.6). It looked as though most of the people who started using OSGs were registered as members from the beginning. Therefore, "Time since start using OSGs" was

chosen to be the main measure in assessing the relationship between OSGs and QoL. However, since this measure is reported by the participants it could be subject to selfreporting bias. It is also a rather crude measure and does not consider the level of participation within the group; including the number of messages posted and participant activity in different periods, or their daily use. In addition, since participants were different in terms of stages of cancer and treatment stage, this measure does not fully account for this difference. Future studies should investigate more closely the relationship with the actual levels of participation in terms of posting messages as well as the daily and monthly rate of use, preferably with particpants who have similar stages of cancer and treatment.

As was the case in Study 1, most of the respondents (56.28%) in this study were from the USA and this may make the results difficult to generalise to other countries. Namely in terms of differences between countries in treatment pathways but also helpseeking behaviours as well as emotional reactions, coping strategies and role of social support and relevant support networks. Also, most of the participants in this study were in advanced stages of cancer (60.79% were in stage III and IV) and in posttreatment stages (87.43%). Thus, it is still not clear whether people who are in initial stages of cancer and/ or treatment or untreated will respond similarly.

One other limitation was that the results suggested more than two thirds of the participants were satisfied with their income status, and it is clear that they have access to the internet and were educated enough "at least to use the computer", which may reflect their higher socioeconomic status. Therefore, the generalisability of the results to people with a lower socioeconomic class is still unclear, which may raise a need for further research.

In spite of these limitations, the present study presented a potential model of pathways linking OSG use and QoL for those with H&N cancer. It remains to be tested in future studies and the relationships proposed explored in greater detail with other participants.

# **5.2** Study 2 - Part 2 (qualitative component)

## 5.2.1 Introduction

Searching the literature indicated that head and neck cancer is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours (Dropkin, 2001) and often results in the development of a series of functional and psychosocial problems (McDonough *et al.*, 1996; Penner, 2009). There are a growing number of OSGs available for different health conditions including cancer (Eysenbach *et al.*, 2004). The previous studies in this thesis suggested that there were several OSGs available for H&N cancer (see Appendices 3 and 9). From these studies, it was understood that H&N cancer OSGs were used frequently by some people, from many different countries; sometimes both patients and carers used the OSGs. Importantly, many types of social support were being sought and offered within these OSGs – for example, informational, emotional, esteem, social network and tangible support. It also was understood that longer use of OSGs was related to better QoL and this relationship was mediated directly by depression and adjustment and indirectly by anxiety, self-efficacy and empowerment.

The previous two studies in this thesis have described aspects of the experience of people with H&N cancer using OSGs, both of the studies used pre-existing measures or frameworks. To date, there have been no studies that have explored, in depth, OSGs user's experiences and gave participants the opportunity to talk about their experiences with cancer and OSGs in a detailed and unrestricted manner.

## 5.2.2 Aim

The aim of this study was to explore, in depth, the OSG experiences of people with H&N cancer

# 5.2.3 Objectives

The objectives of this part of study 2 were to

• explore, in depth, people's experiences of using OSGs for H&N cancer
• analyse the data using a narrative thematic experience analysis to identify the emergent themes

# **5.2.4** Strategic choices for method

The most commonly used method of data collection in qualitative research is interviewing (Creswell, 2007). Time and financial restrictions, geographical constraints, and medical condition boundaries of the research participants are often cited as obstacles for traditional face-to-face interviews (Cater, 2011). Recently, with the technological development of the Internet, the experience of online interviewing in qualitative inquiry has been developed and the problems related to face-to-face interviews have been somewhat reduced (Hooley et al., 2012). Cyberspace has been viewed as a useful way of creating an interview venue (Kennedy, 2000), and the majority of work has been conducted using asynchronous or non 'real time' interviewing (Gaiser 1997) with more recent studies arguing in favour of the benefits of 'real time' online interviews (Chen and Hinton 1999; Davis et al., 2004; Opdenakker 2006; Kazmer and Xie 2008; Hinchcliff and Gavin 2009). Online interviews are now utilised for Internet-mediated research to collect original data through the Internet in order to analyse them and provide new evidence related to a particular research question (Hewson, 2010). This type of interview can be conducted without the expense and time of travel (Salmons, 2010). With this method, it is possible to have an increased pool of participants, including geographically distributed, disabled, or socially isolated people (Mann and Stewart, 2003; Ahern, 2005; Connor, 2006; Bowker and Tuffin, 2007). Its appropriateness has also been claimed for when participants cannot easily access face-to-face settings such as a closed workplace or hospital where focus groups, interviews, or even support groups may occur (Salmons, 2010). Online participants may possibly be more relaxed in the comfort of their familiar surroundings, not have to deal with interpersonal communication in face-to-face transactions and therefore more willing to discuss sensitive issues, such as disorders or emotions that may be harder to disclose in person (Cabiria, 2008; Hunt and McHale, 2007; Mann and Stewart, 2003). Participants who speak different languages or who have difficulties with spoken language can also participate more easily (Salmons, 2010).

Some researchers (James and Busher, 2006; Seymour, 2001) claim that online interviews can develop greater mutuality, disclosure and reciprocity between the participants and the researcher. Online interviews might be more appropriate compared to face-to face interviews which might be influenced by other interpersonal issues associated with gender, age, class, ethnicity, prestige and standards of ability because these distinctions are less overt in the online environment (Seymour, 2001).

Yet, using online interviews can have some drawbacks, for example, some researchers have suggested that establishing an online relationship between the interviewer and interviewee is difficult or can be impossible (Fontana and Frey, 2003). This is because they feel that researchers need to be able to observe the research setting and the interviewee which is all a part of the interview environment and derived from ethnographic approaches to research. Other researchers propose that verbal and non-verbal communication is essential to interviews, only available with face-to face interviews and that it is only possible to detect distress and provide comfort in this type of environment (Salmons, 2010).

In this study, the type of online interview was one-on-one and could be established synchronously (real-time) and asynchronously (non-real-time). Asynchronous online interviewing is usually performed through bulletin boards, emails, and discussion groups (Salmons, 2010; Hooley *et al.*, 2012) while text-based instant messenger protocols, chat rooms, and video conferencing are the most commonly used methods for synchronous approaches (Stewart and Williams, 2005; Stieger and Gortiz, 2006).

The online interview used narrative methods (Reissman, 2008). Narrative is both a method and phenomenon of research (Connelly and Clandinin, 1990). There are no preset questions and instead an aide memoire is used to guide the researcher and keep them focused (Mishler, 1986). Narrative interviewing is different to the stimulus/response model using preset questions which are frequently used in qualitative research and instead becomes a space where participant and interviewer work together to create meaning around events (Riessman, 2008). Part of the method involves clarification and probing parts of stories in depth and this helps a participant's complete narrative to develop. The method also allows for the participant's voices to emerge.

# 5.2.5 Method

# 5.2.5.1 Study design

Qualitative study using narrative thematic experience analysis to facilitate online interviewing

# 5.2.5.2 Sampling

A convenience sample of 30 men and women self-selected from participants who participated in the quantitative online questionnaire (see section 5.1) and agreed to be contacted to discuss their experiences in more depth in an online interview. The sample is not intended to be representative of the wider population of people with head and neck cancer. It does, however, constitute a sample that is fit for the purposes of this study.

Thirty participants formed the sample. When contacted some participants had changed their mind, and so the process consisted of working through the questionnaires and contacting people until self-selecting willing participants were identified. Sampling continued until the data captured were considered to have produced a range of experiences whereby there were enough similarities and differences produced to claim saturation and when emergent themes became repetitive (O'Reilly and Parker, 2013).

## 5.2.5.3 Sample characterstics

A convenience sample of thirty participants who indicated their willingness, were selected from participants who participated in the quantitative questionnaire. The age of the participants ranged from 41 - 76 years, and they originated from the UK, Australia, Canada, France and the USA (Table 68). Participants were computer literate either using the computer for work, or for home use for shopping, organising the home finances, or online social networking.

| Gender | Number     | Age     | Country  | Yahoo     | MSN | Email | Face- | Skype |
|--------|------------|---------|--|-----------|-----|-------|-------|-------|
|        | <b>(n)</b> | range   |  | messenger |     |       | book  |       |
| Male   | 14         | 50-76   | UK =2<br>USA= 12   | 1         | -   | 3     | 9     | 1     |
| Female | 16         | 41- 67  | Australia = 2<br>Canada = 1<br>France = 1<br>UK= 3<br>USA= 9 | 1         | 1   | 3     | 9     | 2     |
| Total  | 30         | 41 - 76 |  | 2         | 1   | 6     | 18    | 3     |

Table 68: Sample characteristics of the qualitative component

#### 5.2.5.4 Types of technology used as research tools

This small-scale study used synchronous online and asynchronous interviewing and a variety of tools such as MSN, Facebook, yahoo messenger, Skype or email to conduct the interviews. Synchronous online interviewing used the chat technology through MSN, Facebook or Yahoo messenger and asynchronous used email, although the emailing followed a synchronous pattern because it was direct response rather than a considerable time lag. The aide memoir used for the interviews can be seen in Appendix 25.

### Facebook

Facebook is an online popular free social networking service that allows registered users to create profiles, upload photos and video, send messages and keep in touch with friends, family and colleagues (Eldon, 2008; Ryun, 2010). This site was founded in February 2004 (Carlson, 2010) and is available in many different languages.

It allows anyone who aged 13 years or above to become a registered member of the website (Face book, 2013). Facebook includes some public features that allow users to read, post, and respond to classified advertisements, and enables users who have common interests to find each other and interact in cyberspace. Users can also create a public page around a specific subject, although in this study a separate page around H&N cancer was not created specifically (Ryun, 2010; Fowler, 2012). Face book has been ranked as the most used social networking website by monthly users worldwide (Kazeniac, 2009).

Facebook provides a range of privacy options to its members. Such as private communication, visibility, and being searchable (Rouse, 2009). The majority of people taking part in the qualitative section of this study chose Facebook as the preferred medium of interaction.

# Skype

Skype is a free communication service offers instant messaging and voice conversation to client. The name was derived from "sky" and "peer", and is developed by the Microsoft Skype Division (Tanavsuu, 2013). This service was first launched in August 2003 (Andreas, 2008) and by of the end of 2010 had 663 million registered users (Telecompaper, 2011).

Users of this service can speak with each other through a microphone, see each other through a webcam or just chat through instant messaging over the Internet; all these services are free of charge. In addition, Skype also allows phone calls to mobile phones or landlines, but this service is not free. Skype has additional characteristics such as videoconferencing and file transfer (Linton, 2011).

Registered users of Skype are identified by a unique Skype Name, and there is a list of expressive emotions from which users can choose during chat communications (Skype, 2009). For this study chat through instant messaging was used.

#### Yahoo messenger

Yahoo Messenger was originally released under the name Yahoo Pager on March 9, 1998 (Internet archive, 2010). It is an advertisement-supported instant messaging client and associated protocol provided by Yahoo.

Similar to Skype, yahoo messenger offers free voice and video calls, file transfers, instant messaging service and can be downloaded from internet free of charge. Also registered users should have "Yahoo ID" which also allows access to other Yahoo services, such as Yahoo Mail (yahoo, 2008). The instant messaging service was used for this study.

# MSN

MSN (derived from The <u>Microsoft Network</u>) is a group of Internet services and sites provided by Microsoft. This range of services has changed since its initial release in 1995. MSN was primarily a popular Internet portal (Nations, 2012).

In the late 1990s, numerous popular web-based services had been promoted to become a part of MSN, most notably Hotmail and Messenger service, and these have subsequently reorganised again in 2005 (Alexa, 2009). Only one person chose MSN but it is important to note that it was still a useful medium of interaction.

#### MSN Messenger

In 1999, MSN released an instant messaging service "Initially known as 'MSN Messenger Service" The underlying technology later called as the 'Microsoft Messenger service', while the main program used to access the service became known as Windows Live Messenger. Nevertheless, the term 'MSN' has come to be synonymous with the service in Internet slang (Microsoft, 1999). Windows Live Messenger has similar features to that available in Skype and yahoo messenger such as voice and video calls as well as instant messaging service and registered members employ a unique name to use the service.

# 5.2.5.5 Conduct of interviews

Three participants did not use any software or any similar software that facilitated conversation in the same way as other software tools. These interviews were conducted through emails in which the interviewer emailed a question and the interviewee emailed the answer back and so on; both parties were online at the same time.

The majority of the interviews took from 30 - 60 minutes. Three interviews took from 2-3 hours; one was due to the internet/computer crashing, the second was due to the typing skills of the interviewee and the third was due to the extensive responses of the interviewee, although not all responses focused on responding to the question and veered wildly off track, this was a limitation of using cyberspace.

The procedure for using the text-based online chats was conducted in rounds; after some introductory words (thanking the respondent for participation in the interview, introducing oneself repeating the aims of the study, the option to terminate at any time without question, assuring anonymity, and regaining consent) the interviewer started the online interview by typing the first question in a small text box of the chat software. By clicking a "send button", the question was immediately sent to the interviewee who can read the question in a larger text box. The interviewee then sent a reply to the interviewer in the same method.

#### 5.2.5.6 Method Strength

As the flow of conversion is broken into text "chunks" with a time-lag between questions and replies, online interviews conducted in this way may appear more structured and ordered than traditional face-to-face interviews (Chen and Hinton, 1999). The interview transcript is automatically generated by the online chat software, which enabled quicker analysis of data because the interviewer did not have to spend time transcribing. Another advantage of this method is that participants can chat in an environment in which they feel most comfortable; it may be less stressful because there is a 'virtual' person to talk to, it is anonymous and faceless and so the participants cannot be influenced by the interviewer's face, body language, or vocal cues. This aims at reducing interviewer/interviewee bias (Duffy et al., 2005). For many people with H&N cancer, there is also the issue of being able to verbalise clearly and articulate words. Using the chat software enabled them to 'talk' without having to physically verbalise their words; this was undoubtedly a benefit. Another benefit was that the interviewer did not have to consider the geographical distance and could interview participants in Australia, Canada, America, and France, as well as different areas of the UK, and it was cheap way of interviewing without the expense and time of travelling.

# 5.2.5.7 Method limitations

Although there were obvious benefits, there were also limitations of this type of interviewing for example; sometimes the interview took longer than normal either due to the computer and/or internet crashing, typing skills of the participants, or

distractions in the home. Other pitfalls of this type of communication can be the absence of social cues, lack of facial expressions and verbal communication together with other body responses which make it easier to interpret meaning (Opdenakker, 2006). Some researchers propose that verbal and non-verbal communication essential to interviews is only available with face-to face interviews and that it is only possible to detect distress and provide comfort in this type of environment (Salmons, 2010). Others have suggested that establishing an online relationship between the interviewer and interviewee is difficult or can be impossible (Fontana and Frey, 2003). Although all the used tools give the opportunity to create some advanced emoticons that can be put straight into a message, these emoticons have been culturally constructed and can only reflect culturally specific meanings (Morris, 1994). In addition, geographic variations associated with time disparity led the interviewer to conduct some interviews out of regular working hours, for example some interviews were conducted between the hours of 11pm and 7 am.

#### 5.2.5.8 Analysis

The original aim of using the type of questioning was to code sequences of attributes, consequences and values (the ladders) to make comparisons across participants. The researcher aimed to use the decision-support software program LADDERMAP (Gengler and Reynolds, 1993) to insert up to ten chunks of meaning per ladder with the classification of each phrase as a consequence, attribute, or value, then identify and group meaningful categories. Problems arose with the LADDERMAP software, which was not compatible with Windows 7 and would only work with Windows 98. Gaining access to a computer with Windows 98 proved extremely difficult and the software had not been updated. Researchers were contacted who had used the software and moved on to other similar types; they explained that the site licenses for similar types of software were excessive and not practical for one small-scale study.

A method of analysis was needed which was not tied to any particular theoretical framework therefore, a narrative thematic experience analysis was conducted on the emergent data (Braun and Clarke, 2006; Riessman, 2008, Bold, 2012). This was in contrast to a deductive thematic analysis because it was 'bottom up' or driven by the data rather than 'top down' or driven from the original research question. A narrative

thematic experience analysis is more flexible and allows for a broader analysis rather than concentrating on a discrete area. Transcripts were read and re-read in order to identify the underlying narratives (Sparkes, 2005).

Although narrative is not a new concept and has been around since the time of Aristotle and Greek tragedy plays, it is now considered to be both a method and phenomenon, having been adapted from the arts over time for use in the social and behavioural sciences and health. The diversity in its development means that it exisits on a continuum; at one end stands the work of Labov and Waletzky (1967) which is a more structuralist approach and reliant on social linguistics with a definite beginning, middle and end. At the other end is a more social anthropological and historical approach with authors such as Studs Terkel who won the Pulitzer Prize for ordinary American people's narrative recollections of the Great Depression; 'Hard Times; An Oral History of the Great Depression'. The power of Terkel's work is that he managed to include a selection of rich narratives from across the socioeconomic spectrum, from young to old, poor to rich and the ways that they survived. Other work in this genre is Tony Parker's 'Life After Life: Interviews with 12 Murderers', derived from interviews with 12 people serving life in the UK. Parker concentrates on presenting the 12 chapters as monologues, giving the narratives quality and depth. In the middle of this continuum sits a variety of work from sociology and social psychology which are not only about narratives of life but about the way they interact with life (Reissman, 2008, Daiute 2014). My work sits firmly in the middle of the continuum. Narrative in this study is not a set of features similar to Labov's work, neither is it solely about life similar to Terkel and Parker's works. Instead it is about the interactions of expressions, emotions and contexts and the complex ways in which relationships and their stated and implied meanings between people become prominent.

During analysis, the narratives were kept intact for interpretation. The aim here was twofold; to inductively analyse the narratives as a whole and identify the themes and concepts firmly embedded within them (Holstein and Gubrium, 2012). This means that the theme arises is constituted for each participant in their narrative rather than through the usual process of analysis which disembeds the themes and treats them as

equal across participants (Riessman, 2008, Holstein and Gubrium, 2012). For example, if we look at 2 contrasting narratives of Terry and Claire:

Terry: "I first came to the online group three years post treatment because another member who I knew and trusted recommended I join. I was lonely because I was on my own and the treatment centre was 200km from where I lived. I was going through treatment with virtual strangers. If I hadn't found the group I would have had an empty space inside me. I joined two groups at the same time but stuck with one because it was more active. I think the activity is important because there is more support for those who need it. There is more information shared. Even to just read the posts it is reassuring for people to know they are not the only one thinking or feeling a certain way, or perhaps experiencing some difficulties (as head and neck patients do). I think I felt relieved after joining because it goes back to not feeling alone...being able to share and knowing that you are not the only one who found the treatment hard, or found the recovery difficult. Or even living with the side effects difficult. Not that you want people to feel these things; just that we need validation of our own feelings and everyone needs that in life. Of course, in giving, we receive. So by me frequently using the groups and giving I am receiving. Just knowing that I have possibly helped to take the edge off someone else makes me feel good."

Terry's narrative is about the loneliness he feels, partly because of his geographical isolation and partly because he did not know anyone with his type of cancer. The metaphor of the empty space inside him if he had not found the group gives us a keen sense of his isolation. The need to share experiences and information was apparent, as was the level of altruism he displayed by frequently using the groups and giving although he admits that through giving he also receives. The key theme that is embedded in Terry's narrative is altruism which is driven by his loneliness and his feeling that in giving he is also receiving.

Claire: "I had been through treatment when I found the group by Googling. I joined this group because it was the only one that I found, although I do

feel like a bit of an outsider. Most of the people are from the USA and have had Chemotherapy. I was lucky to miss that. I was curious to see if anyone had the same cancer as me and how they had dealt with the after effects of radiotherapy. In the early days it was helpful to find answers to annoying side effects; the dry mouth, poor appetite and sore jaw joints. Now I'm used to the new normal and am happy as someone who has passed the 5 year point because it means that I am well. My family were very supportive but wanted to put the whole thing out of sight after my treatment had finished and I didn't want to upset them any more. Now I check the site most days because I have a lot of free time, although I don't feel my participation adds anything. An online support group makes you feel supported and you can get information about symptoms and general advice without it being too invasive. You can dip in when you want to and hear about others journey through this horrible illness."

Like Terry, Claire had also been through treatment before she found the online group. Her motivation for joining was very different from Terry's and she did not discuss the same level of isolation because she had a supportive family network. Post-treatment, she still felt the need to discuss her cancer journey with others whom she identified with which has echoes of Terry's need to share with others. However, her need was more about sharing particular experiences of the side effects of radiotherapy and she did not feel the need for the same level of involvement as Terry with the group. The key theme that is embedded in Claire's narrative is the transactional nature of trust which she places in the information and advice that others give as being accurate and relevant.

These two narratives exhibit similarities and differences even though these two people are post-treatment and their social environments are different, they each felt the need to relate to others, for different reasons and in different ways. The narratives of all participants were considered in this way and this was how the main thread that ran through the majority of the narratives was arrived at.

Table 69 below shows the initial emotions, behaviours and feelings that emerged from the narratives at the beginning of the analysis.

| Initial Feelings     | Behaviours              | Relationships     | Wants                 |
|----------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|
| Uncertainty          | Help/develop ability    | Friendship        | Wanting/not wanting   |
|                      | to help                 |                   | medical professionals |
|                      |                         |                   | involvement           |
| Fear                 | Giving and receiving    | Family/ big/close |                       |
|                      | Encouragement           |                   |                       |
| Норе                 | Giving and receiving    | Comradeship       |                       |
|                      | Support                 |                   |                       |
| Loneliness           | Giving and receiving    | Band of brothers  |                       |
|                      | Advice                  |                   |                       |
| Anxiety              | Giving back, paying     | Part of something |                       |
|                      | forwards                |                   |                       |
| Love                 | Giving and receiving    |                   |                       |
|                      | Knowledge               |                   |                       |
| Despair              | Sharing stories and     |                   |                       |
|                      | experiences             |                   |                       |
|                      |                         |                   |                       |
| Isolation            | Giving and receiving    |                   |                       |
|                      | Empathy                 |                   |                       |
| Relief               | Ways of coping with     |                   |                       |
|                      | new reality             |                   |                       |
| Normal/ being normal | Lurking/participating   |                   |                       |
| Reassurance          | Identifying with others |                   |                       |
| Feeling secure/safe  |                         |                   |                       |
| Cynicism             |                         |                   |                       |
| Mistrust             |                         |                   |                       |
| Encouragement        |                         |                   |                       |
| Vulnerable           |                         |                   | -                     |

Table 69: Initial table of emotions, feelings and behaviours that became important in the data

This table is important because it highlights the range of emotions and behaviours that run through the narratives, but they only make sense when they are embedded within the narratives themselves. I was guided by my supervisors to consider that the OSGs provided a platform for a form of relationship to be developed between participants. This emerged from the narrative descriptions of relationships between participants in the OSGs which were often termed as family, implying extremely close relationships. I was encouraged to think about relationships in terms of interpersonal transactions and after much discussion and reading around the area, the main theme from all the narratives that arose was that of trust. I arrived at trust by further close reading of the narratives and sequentially organising them as Reissman (2008) suggests and as I have demonstrated in the results section.

When I returned to the original research and thought about the individual themes that had previously been discussed in Study 1 (Chapter 4); informational, emotional, esteem, social network and tangible support, it appeared that they were all embedded in the narratives this particular component of the study. After discussing the narratives in more detail with my supervisors it became apparent that there was more depth to what people had been describing and I read further around the formation of interpersonal relationships, both face-to-face and online.

Work in social psychology, sociology and management studies all discussed the complexity of social relationships but the work of Nikolas Luhmann (1988) was instrumental in guiding my thinking. Luhmann discusses the situation of risk and that an individual can avoid risk if they are also willing to waive the advantages of engaging in a situation. The process of taking a risk engenders trust to develop; in choosing an action where there is a level of uncertainty, but where we also have expectations around the outcome of our actions, means we are engaging in trusting behaviour. Luhmann also equates trust with a reduction in complexity and uncertainty which enables people to cope in situations of uncertainty and complexity (Luhmann 1979). I then reflected back to the initial narratives exhibiting the uncertainty that people felt on first encountering the OSGs and reasons they offered which all had an element of risk attached, I then related this to trust and distrust.

Luhmann also suggests how individuals can have trust in institutions or institutional trust. In the field of medicine, workers may be said to be working within an institution because it has its own set of rules and regulations. Institutional trust can also be linked with individual trust of its members because it is difficult to separate one from the

other. I originally used the term professionalisation to describe why people used OSGs because there was a medical professional present, but after reading Luhmann I decided to use 'institutional trust'. This was mainly because participants did not know the medical professional but the status of being a medical professional gave OSGs credibility in the eyes of 7 participants.

There is little conceptual clarity around the meaning of trust, but it is argued that if the term is treated as a set of transdisciplinary concepts rather than an untitary concept then it becomes easier to define (Kee and Knox 1970, Mayer et al., 1995). Within the occupational psychology literature, different forms of trust are often discussed and a typology of trust has been developed (McKnight and Chervany, 2001). In McKnight and Chervany's typology, trust is developed over time and involves acts such as information sharing and altruism; beliefs about the benevolence of the other party to tell the truth and to be honest, to care and act in the interest of the other and that they are willing to help. The notion of sharing is about exposing yourself through divulging personal information which is apparent in OSGs (Putnam, 2000). There is also the sub construct of relational trust developed by Lewicki et al. (2006) where repeated interactions over time reinforce the idea that the people dealt with are credible, reliable and dependable, producing positive expectations and this is where emotion enters the relationship. These factors develop and maintain bonds between specific others. Identification-based trust is also described by Lewicki and Bunker (1995, 1996) and Lewicki et al. (1998) and this is where mutual understanding occurs around a particular area or situation of relevance to both parties and is only available through experience.

Other research outlines the stages of building trust in OSGs which exist on a continuum from thin trust to thick trust (Radin 2006). Radin discusses thin trust which promotes de-lurking arising from welcome posts and helpful messages; this evolves into greater trust through self-disclosure and openness and sometimes off-line communication; thick trust develops from OSG users initiating or supporting projects, for example fund-raising or virtual support campaigns for members. All these aspects were present in the narratives of participants in my study. Various elements combined have also been suggested for developing trust; reciprocity, moral obligation,

familiarity, trustworthiness all leading towards creating a sense of community (Misztal 1996).

The reading about interpersonal relationships and how various acts transformed the relationship and allowed or enabled trust to develop gave me greater insight as to what I was exploring and this was how the overarching theme of trust was firmly embedded in all the narratives I read. This gave more depth and originality to the study, rather than repeating findings from previous studies and developed an area that has not been explored in any great depth in relation to OSGs.

## 5.2.5.9 Triangulation

Triangulation refers to using more than one method to investigate a research question so as to enhance confidence in the ensuing results (Bryman, 2003). It has also been described as "the combination of methodologies in the study of the same phenomenon" (Denzin 1978, p.291). Denzin (1978) argues that the advantages of using triangulation are that it may also capture a more complete and contextual portrayal of the area being studied. It may also uncover some unique factor about the area which may have been overlooked using single methods. Qualitative methods, in particular, enable more depth to emerge and suggest conclusions which other methods may not be able to access. Triangulation may be used not only to examine the same phenomenon from multiple perspectives but also to enrich our understanding by allowing for new or greater depth to emerge from existing dimensions.

Furthermore, Denzin (1970) draws a distinction between within-method triangulation and between-method (or across) triangulation. Within method triangulation uses varieties of the same method to investigate a research area. Between-method triangulation uses contrasting methods and sometimes research paradigms to investigate an area. This study used between-method triangulation.

Triangulation can occur in four forms (Denzin 1970); it can occur if the data has been collected through several sampling strategies (data triangulation), being collected and interpreted by more than one researcher (investigator triangulation), interpreted by more than one theoretical position (theoretical triangulation) or collected using more

than one method (methodological triangulation). Methodological triangulation is considered as the most common strategy employed in studies and this study also used methodological triangulation.

Triangulation is not without its critics and it has often been accused by constructivists of subscribing to naïve realism because there is more than one account of the social world, and the issue of comparing different sets of data from different paradigms appears problematic because to compare hints that somehow there is equivalence in their capacity to address a research question (Bryman 2012).

This position is reinforced by another form of triangulation proposed by Cicourel (1974) this is 'indefinite triangulation'. Indefinite triangulation aims towards 'generating divergent interpretations, rather than for checking the validity of inferences from data' (Hammersley 2008, p.24).

The main thesis was titled as "Exploring the experiences of individuals with head and neck cancer using online support groups" and had three main aims; the first aim was to assess the types of social support, sought and offered, within online support groups for H&N cancer, and this was investigated in the content analysis study. The second aim was to examine the relationship between using OSGs and QoL and examine the psychosocial factors that may influence this relationship, and this was investigated in the quantitative study. The third aim was to explore, in depth, the OSG experiences of people with H&N cancer.

We could claim that for this study, methodological triangulation cannot be applied perfectly with the qualitative research. However, the 5 dimensions of the empowerment process were present in the initial rough ideas; exchanging life experiences, emotional support, identification, sharing and coping. Time and length of membership were also validated because using OSGs for a longer time did offer greater QoL, but the qualitative study emphasised that it was the quality of the relationship that was an important factor in increased QoL. The quality of the relationship in this study appeared to be enhanced by different aspects of trust, which added another dimension and more depth. Likewise, depression was mediated by empowerment and adjustment in the quantitative study. In the qualitative study, empowerment was present in the ways that people were enabled to cope with their new 'normality' and fight rather than just passively accept their diagnosis. We could claim that to some extent this supported the first part of the study but that a more complete view of participants in OSGs was offered by the qualitative dimension of the study, rather than calling it a divergent interpretation. Even though the quantitative and qualitative approaches appeared initially incommensurate they were in fact complimentary and captured different aspects of the same phenomena, similar to the arguments around mixing qualitative and quantitative methods by Sale *et al.* (2002). The different methods within this study have perhaps given the area under exploration more depth. Triangulation has involved both methodological and divergent forms and reinforced the description by Erzberger and Kelle "*[...] Empirical research results obtained with different methods are like the pieces of a jigsaw puzzle that provide a full image of a certain object if put together in the correct way*" (Erzberger and Kelle 2003:461).

# 5.2.5.10 Reflexivity

Reflexivity involves reflecting on the ways in which the research process and the researcher may impact on collection, analysis and interpretation of the data (Pope and Mays, 2006). A reflexive attitude was adopted in this study including consideration of power imbalance, language use, research settings and data analysis.

#### Power imbalance

I am a dentist with basic knowledge about H&N cancer and have conducted previous studies about OSGs, one of them related to H&N cancer. I was therefore concerned about a power imbalance resulting in response bias. I was guided by existing studies in order to minimise any potential bias from this source (Thomas, 2010)

- Ensuring that the interviewee is relaxed and free from anxiety prior to commencing the interview. To ensure this, participants were allowed to choose the time and the method of online interviewing and the process was kept as informal as possible.
- Assuring the interviewee that the interview would be completely confidential and their true identity would only be known to the interviewer.
- Striving to analyse and report the research in an open and honest way so as to be an accurate reflection of the data.

I tried to interject as little as possible and used probes and clarification to invite additional storytelling in order to try and minimise researcher power.

#### Language use

I tried to make every effort to avoid using dental language and terminology. Since participants were from different places in the world and with different socioeconomic statues, languages that reflect cultural or socioeconomic background were avoided to reduce the possibility of misunderstanding as much as possible. The meanings of the words or phrases were also clarified with participants when necessary.

#### Research setting

All interviews took place online and the participants were given the freedom to choose a convenient time and method of the online interviewing. The majority of the participants (60%) chose Facebook, 20% chose direct response through email (synchronous pattern), 10% chose Skype, 6.6% chose Yahoo messenger and 3.3% chose MSN as a tool of interviewing. The flexibility of choosing a suitable time for the interview led me to conduct some interviews out of regular working hours and some interviews were conducted between the hours of 11pm and 7 am. There was a potential problem with the confidentiality when the interviewee was distracted in the home by family members, in order to avoid this situation I paused the interview and waited until it either became more convenient to talk, or postponed the rest of the interview if it was required. It was hoped that using an online interview at a convenient time for participants would put them at an ease.

#### Data analysis

Although the aim of this study was to explore, in depth, the OSG experiences of people with H&N cancer, I was aware that the results represented my inductive interpretation. However, the interpretation did represent the voices of people with head and neck cancer who have so far remained virtually absent from oral health and cancer research. My background as a dentist and experience with the OSGs and H&N cancer in other studies may have influenced the ways in which I interpreted the data. It is because of this that the analysis and interpretation of the data were discussed with and checked by supervisors with differing academic backgrounds and I was encouraged to read literature from contrasting disciplines in order to develop a

multiplicity of different insights around the data. It was hoped that these actions would mitigate the influence of my background and previous experience.

# 5.2.5.11 Ethics

As in the quantitative part of the study ethical approval was sought from University of Sheffield Research Ethics Committee (UREC) (Appendix 16) and the project followed the ethical guidelines of the British Psychological Society (2013), including informed consent, confidentiality and the right to withdraw (See Table 20, Section 3.3).

All participants were given a pseudonym to protect their identity which was only known to the researcher, and all data were kept on a password protected computer but it was also anonymised on the computer as a further precaution. Identifying email addresses were removed.

Participants were given the option to terminate the interview at any point without explanation and withdraw, even after they had been interviewed. Although the research was designed to involve minimal risk, there was the potential for the reflective process of the interview to create distress about H&N cancer. I felt I enabled participants to disclose issues with which they felt most comfortable, and a process of informal chat at the end of the interview was used to ensure the participant did not feel distressed. I left my email address with the participant should there be any further questions about the study, or their participation.

# 5.2.6 Results

## 5.2.6.1 Trust

Online social relationships have previously been found to provide camaraderie and social support, as well as building and maintaining social ties (Butler *et al.*, 2007). Social relationships have also been found to create trust and increase credibility of group information exchange (Sproull and Faraj, 1997). Indeed, trust has increasingly become viewed as important for managing online relationships (Hossain and Wigand, 2004). Trust appears to be an important variable in all forms of social relationships and arises in and through social networks that infuse in people the 'social virtues' of reciprocity, honesty, obligation, reliability and altruism (Hearn 1997:97; Fukuyama, 1995:43). Trenholm and Jensen (2000) suggest that trusting relationships develop in stages; initially there are perceptions of similarity and this is where people first identify with each other, then reciprocal acts such as self-disclosure promotes greater understanding and deeper levels of trust, then people get to know more about each other through various shared or compared experiences.

Trust has been explored widely and defined in many ways in the literature; the best definition that was found to be suitable for use in this study is that

"[...] trust is a medium of interaction with the abstract systems which both empty dayto-day life of its traditional content. Trust here generates that 'leap into faith' which practical organisation demands" (Giddens 1991, p.3).

Abstract systems are a generalised term derived from the process of disembedding which lifts social relations from their local contexts and restructures or stretches them indefinitely across time and space. Abstract systems are used to denote 2 areas: symbolic tokens which are mediums of exchange that are relatively stable and interchangeable across a plurality of contexts with money being the best example. The second area is expert systems, which is simply the disembedding of social relations from their context and providing a sort of guarantee of expectations across time and space. Trust mediates these systems but is complex because you can have trust in the symbolic token of money as a method of exchange, but not necessarily trust the person

in the transaction. Another example is having trust in a doctor because they are part of the expert system of the medical profession. We trust doctors to be medically competent, to be concerned for our health and well-being and to be non-exploitative, but we often know little about them socially. Giddens argues that expert systems penetrate all aspects of social life and are not merely confined to technological expertise but can be extended to social relations and self intimacies.

For Luhmann, social trust is a stabiliser of social order because "[...] is an effective form of complexity reduction [...]", (Luhmann, 1979, p. 8). Luhmann suggest that trust is subjective and allows an individual to take a consequential action as a result of accepting some (subjective) level of uncertainty or risk and implies a certain level of vulnerability. Social trust also mediates cooperation because it mutually enforces perceptions around reciprocity (Scott, 1999). Goffman further asserts that social life and social relations are rule governed and this enables people to attribute a sense of meaning to a situation which when defined as normal permits them to trust others who are present in that context (Goffman, 1967, 1971, 1983). Trust for Goffman is an unintended outcome of routine social life and the essential component of everyday interactions, because it enables us to cope by simplifying information and reducing complexity whilst simultaneously protecting us from the uncertainty that surrounds situations.

The narratives that participants provided emphasised the complexity of online social relationships. From the narratives, it was noticed that some participants progressed from positions of uncertainty and distrust which promoted 'lurking' to positions of trust through the process of identification and sharing. Other participants began with immediate participation and sharing. Overall, this process appeared to underpin the cohesiveness of the group and develop solidarity.

## 5.2.6.1.1 Distrust

The binary opposite of of trust is distrust and the continuum from distrust to trust is embedded in some people's narratives of their perceptions of OSGs for H&N cancer.

John: "The day I was told 'you have cancer' I thought was the beginning of the end of my life and if I had not have found this group I would probably have sat in a corner and disappeared into oblivion. When I first joined, I was curious as to what happened to people who had cancer and I was and am still a reader. This is because at first I was not sure if people were genuine or just a set of idiots who wanted to see people suffer. I did feel people were real after watching the site for a few weeks because of the words, phrases and terms that they used which were quite individual but summed up the way I was and how I had felt and still do. One of the phrases that someone used was 'we are cancer warriors' and this just stuck in my mind. What more could I do...not sit in a corner and worry about it so I got up and started to shout about it. I felt very insignificant with the problems that other members have gone through which is why I just do the reading but I don't feel I have anything to offer these wonderful people. I had my own support from friends away from the online group who I trust to talk to, anyone else I just tell them I was attacked by a shark. I also joined a community head and neck cancer group in the area where I live. I meet them regularly because I prefer face-to-face contact and feel you can express more."

John initially described himself as a 'reader' who posted infrequently because he felt others had greater levels of pain and that his experiences were not as important as those of others. His response also hints at a level of distrust as to the intentions of people in the OSG and a sense of guilt because other people were getting on with their lives and appeared to have far worse experiences. Even though John was in his own words a 'reader', he felt the online group had given him a push to fight rather than giving in and giving up. The OSGs had also enabled him to seek support in a face-toface group for H&N cancer which he preferred because of the higher level of interpersonal interaction but the level of distrust he feels is evidenced by his lack of enagement online, compared to his interactions with the face-to-face support group.

Tammy's narrative is similar to John's but distrust changes to trust with her leap of faith about the group:

Tammy: "I was first diagnosed with OC in 2005 and had many many questions. My own doctor had a terrible bedside manner and I would not go back to him if my life depended on it. When I finally found the support group (website) it was like an answer to my prayers. Initially, I was a "lurker" – I would read the posts on the forum, but did not make a post myself. I never had participated in an on-line forum before. This forum stores all conversations (years' worth) and has search capabilities, so I was able to search for answers to my questions. After a while, I felt comfortable enough to ask questions and the folks on the forum were great - willing to answer the same question over and over again. They were either patients or caregivers, and very willing to help and very compassionate...I wasn't sure what to expect of an on-line support group. *Now I feel I help the 'newbies' providing answers to their questions...the* same questions I had many years ago. There are many posters who have been a member of this forum for years and we've become like a family sharing both the good news and the setbacks. Any cancer is horrible but H&N or oral cancer has a number of unique problems not faced by others and unless you have walked in our shoes you don't understand the many QOL issues we face (which are often permanent). This group gets it, can offer advice or just a shoulder to cry on, they are there 24x7 and just having someone to talk to that understands my issues is reassuring (better than a psychiatrist!)".

The initial lack of willingness indicates alevel of distrust but also uncertainty as to expectations around the OSGs. Previous research has implied that lurkers 'do not profit to the same extent as posters with regard to "enhanced social well-being" ' (van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, 2008). Tammy developed over time from a 'lurker' to a regular poster and it is perhaps the length of time that people take to undergo the transition and develop a level of trust before they may experience the enhanced social well-being that van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, identify as being of importance. For Tammy, the notion of kinship through the use of the word family indicates the generative potential of trust in creating more trust through the closeness of the relations that she has formed with the group.

The narratives of these participants demonstrate that engaging with an online community such as an OSG entails risk for them because they feel they are exposing a part of themselves to faceless strangers. This may appear unusual because of the benefits of anonymity that OSGs provide, but it is also strongly linked to the initial lack of trust that individuals may have in developing this type of social relationship. A process of decision-making probably occurs where individuals weigh up the costs and benefits of engaging with OSGs and this may be more predictive of those who engage more readily compared to those who either 'lurk' or 'read'. It may also be the point at which some people choose to disengage with the group when they balance the costs of building or maintaining a relationship with the group against the costs of severing it. There is always the possibility that people who feel vulnerable because of their cancer may be exposing themselves to more psychological harm by engaging with OSGs. Conversely, there is also the possibility that their vulnerability may be reduced as a result of the support offered. Although there appear to be many benefits of OSGs, the advice for people who have conditions that increase their vulnerability might be to proceed with caution and only engage with OSGs when like Tammy, they feel comfortable enough.

#### 5.2.6.1.2 Institutional trust and forms of knowledge

One issue that became apparent as being an important factor for joining an OSG for H&N cancer was the presence of a knowledgeable professional who was leading the group. This aspect of institutional trust was contrasted with other OSGs users who wanted to be away from a medicalised perspective and experience a more 'real world' approach to their problems.

Susie gave the input of a medical professional as an initial reason for joining an OSG:

Susie: "When I fist searched for information about my type of cancer I wasn't specifically looking for a forum, more knowledge, but it was great when I found it. If I had not found the forum I would certainly have suffered from far worse depression, I may have given up, I think I would have found it harder to fight. I could see from reading the posts that there were lots of people who had been through similar to me. So I knew I would get the

understanding and the support, but also the fact it was run by a doctor. I saw some of his posts which were giving information from a medical point of view, not just from a sufferer's experience. I found them interesting and reassuring. I looked into him online and saw he was a respected expert and that made the site more serious in my eyes. I wasn't new to online forums but was desperate to get some contact with people who could understand what I was suffering. So I was really pleased and eager to start posting and reading. It gave me a lot of reassurance at a time when I felt alone and very scared. I didn't feel able to talk to my partner who had his own issues dealing with my illness. I take part in online social forums just for fun, but the cancer one was for emotional survival because I felt isolated. People are embarrassed by cancerscared of it; 'I don't want to talk about it'. The forum was open, welcoming, not embarrassed. When you are alone in the house you feel shite, you are scared, you are exhausted, you are crying, there is no-one you can turn to: having the forum there is just wonderful. The forum offered me a sense of comradeship, made me feel not alone; it cheered me up; it informed me, helped keep me sane and helped me think of others instead of being self-obsessed. Although I have frequently been disappointed that the Drs input is not more frequent."

The credibility of medicine and the medical professional encouraged Susie to join the OSG because she saw it as being somehow more authentic and hence more trustworthy. This level of credibility and trust facilitated her postings and interactions within the OSG. She articulates the roller coaster of emotions that she feels able to express, but comes back to the fact that she routinely wants more input from the medical professional involved.

Derek's view values medicine similar to Susie but he differs in how he sees the OSG:

Derek: "I first came to this online support group through another group; I tend to trust these things without the need for verification. The group was open to non-clinical answers and humorous jibes which made me feel VERY comfortable, like I was talking to friends. The CONCEPT of the

group provides anonymity which is important when you are different from others. You don't have to speak and you can ask all the questions you want without being personally known for asking it. The PROBLEM with online groups is that few are truly 'experts' -- so the advice you get is -- if medically, may be wrong. But then few medical people really know the ins-and-outs of living a day-to-day existence of being a lary so they lack the skill set to know the little tricks that make life more comfortable -- nor do they concern themselves with problems that are social, cultural, or sociological in origin -- but other lary's do have that information -and when you have an open on-line group -- those tips and how to deal with cultural perceptions can be passed on far easier, and with personal FIRST HAND information - and, yes, what's right for one, is wrong for another. There is a balance that the groups can offer, Kurt Vonnegut coined two terms: a Faloon and a 'grand-faloon'. A faloon is a group of people who have one small thing in common say they like the colour red or clouds. Then there is a Grand-faloon like being British or American or Indian etc, they are all illusions. An online group gives people the feeling of being in a faloon; that is the perception that we all have something in common; cancer and some of the trouble it causes us. So it's simply a faloon. We range the full spectrum of humankind and the only thing that binds us is our cancer. We don't even speak of the cultural perceptions of the thing, nor the HORRID trials of a woman who is forced now to speak with a man's voice! There are divisions within divisions yet we form this faloon to offer whatever support we can, even in ignorance to know that life can be normal, or not. That some people get cancer more than once; that some people die from stage 2 cancer. The anonymity creates the faloon; a false group of dissimilar objects".

A 'lary' is someone who has had a laryngectomy. Derek insightfully points to the issue of what you want to know as being of more importance. For example, if it is medical information then you need a qualified medical professional, but he insists that medical professionals cannot offer experiential advice and then the types of knowledge that OSG members possess becomes of greater importance. Personal first-hand information in this situation takes precedence. So reasons for engaging with

OSGs may differ for individuals and it may be that OSGs need to be set up with sections that may fulfil everyone's needs. Derek views the OSG as a faloon or a false group where the only thing people have in common is the fact they have cancer. His narrative of an OSG appears mostly functional, however, he is still engaging in social relationships evidenced by his perception that it is like talking to friends.

Karen emphasises the value of talking to others and gaining a perspective that medical professionals can sometimes fail to exhibit because they have not had the same experiences:

Karen: "I chose this group because a trusted friend recommended it. I found it useful to talk to to others and get an understanding for things the doctor didn't say and things my speech therapist didn't seem to know. It was the questions that I asked the group that helped, I had also asked the speech therapist, but her advice was "it will get better", which is of very little help, but the group told me that just by lowering the base plate a few mms from the bottom of my stoma, it will not irritate so much, and reduce coughing. And it works! [...] They offer an insight and advice. They know what you have had done and what you are going through and thinking. Unless your doctor/therapist has actually had the same operation, they can't really prepare you for what is to come. Phrases such as "life changing" are tossed around by doctors, but the group is getting me through those changes. The group are not telling me that life will be all fine and rose-coloured after the operation. They are telling me the truth and how to handle it. The doctors say that they will remove this or that, and you will learn to cope. That is not really helpful; joining the group has been life changing for me".

These participants emphasise the usefulness of different forms of knowledge that enabled them to cope with the more practical day-to-day aspects of having H&N cancer. This ranged from the medicalised knowledge of the medical professional based on biomedical accounts constructed from cases; the experiential knowledge of people with head and neck cancer that focused on the practical aspects of living with the disease; person knowledge which refers to individual personal circumstances and how an individual relates not only to their physical but also to their social environment. This further emphasises the complexity of the social relationships within the OSG.

What appears a little disconcerting is how medicalised some professionals are in relation to their profession with little idea of a patient-centred approach to treatment, and appear to be relying on a biomedical response to patients and their questions. Enabling people to cope with the everyday grind of life with H&N cancer, emphasising that things may be difficult from time to time, and giving a 'warts and all' account appears to develop a more trusting relationship with the OSG in comparison to the medical professionals in some cases. This is where institutional trust can possibly become thinner. This reinforces the idea that care needs to be taken with identifying what exactly an individual expects from an OSG and how best to meet their needs.

# 5.2.6.1.3 Identification-based and relational trust: the complexity of social realtionships in OSGs

Part of building trust was through the process of sharing and comparing experiences and identifying with others who were perceived as similar. The level of mutal understanding increased through these interactions and repeated interactions over time appeared to increase positive expectations and emotions and developing the will to live and fight was often mentioned, as was the language of war with words like battle and fight regularly used in participant's narratives.

Bob emphasises the importance of sharing and the interactions he has:

Bob: "I first joined this group from another site when someone mentioned it. This group is more personal; it has more direct communication and interaction and is less formal. It felt right because there were others there who endured what I did and it made it appealing to join them. Sharing had an appeal. I enjoy one-on-one interaction and conversation on a variety of topics including politics so this was a natural fit for me. It also made sense for others in the same situation to talk to one another because even though I knew no-one when I joined, the group was a collection of people from all over the world with similar experiences and that was compelling. The people made up the group, not the other way around. I read their postings everyday and respond when I see reason to. I also post some of my own milestones and experiences because they help others understand that some of what they encounter is the same as I have and I believe adding my experiences helps others. For me, the group is a safe place to vent and to ground my thinking regarding my situation. In my case, I can see how miserable others have it compared to me so I feel more fortunate knowing that. I think this group offers emotional and material support and without it coping with this illness and the aftermath would have been tougher. None of us lives our lives alone and having support is important to mental health."

Bob clearly articulates that the OSG is a place or space within which the relationships he has formed provide a safe environment where he trusts others to support his thinking and his venting. The notion of sharing with others, who were perceived to have similar experiences even though Bob had never met them, indicates a willingness to place his trust in others, as is feeling safe. The complexity of Bob's relationship with this group is apparent from his narrative.

Simon's narrative contains elements of the closeness of relationships derived from 36 years of comparing experiences with others on the OSG:

Simon: "My cancer was in 1978. As a cancer survivor I ran a business, raised a family, participated in marathons and Ironman competitions. Being a survivor gave the feeling I could help. Plus I had normal friends who encouraged me to share my experiences of a successful battle to help and inspire others. I had head and neck cancer and had lost friends to the disease, I wanted to help survivors or those undergoing treatment know what to expect. I also lost co-workers to the disease and I felt for their caretakers. I feel this group is like a band of brothers. Like military war veterans. I felt comfortable dealing with people who have had similar struggles. I now have about 70 friends online and their caretakers and talk to them about diet, feeding and exercise. I tell them about dry mouth, burned facial skin, tooth loss and implants. I talk to individuals daily, multiple times. Although, not everything is about the patient and so many caretakers are frustrated and upset trying to take care of someone who was once robust but now in pain and can only eat baby food. I try and support them. For me, this group offers friendship and camaraderie. Many people are very nice. Many are busy bodies. Many fight amongst themselves; like a community or schoolmates. The internet allows me to sit and chatter and leave my own timetable for a few minutes or for hours. Ideas on life, not just cancer, are exchanged. Cancer isolates the person, you feel very separate from mainstream life. The support group acts as a 'placebo' to force the cancer victim to talk and socialise what they are feeling and where it may or may not lead. It offers comfort. Some will die, many won't, but physical damage is life changing and it is better mentally to know it."

Simon is a cancer survivor and with survivorship come more unique ways of living with cancer (Feuerstein 2007). Simon has developed a high level of altruistic behaviour in reponse to living with his cancer, even though he has been in remission for an extended period of time. His involvement is highly altruistic, his narrative emphasises the diversity and complexity of the relationships in the OSG. The extent of kinship is highlighted from phrases like 'community', 'schoolmates', 'friendship'. Kinship in this sense is more fluid than the biological notion and refers to the complex web and patterns of social relationships that exist between people who form an OSG community. The OSG becomes a vehicle for developing and organising social relationships by enabling people to explore their illness in a supportive environment.

The metaphor of war against cancer and survivorship is underlined with the terms 'band of brothers', 'military war veterans' and 'battle'. Here the use of metaphorical language bridges the gap between the technical treatment and medicalised world of cancer and the patient's experience of the disease. It clarifies and adds depth of meaning to the experience. In constructing patients as military war veterans it displays them not as victims who are passive and uninvolved but as fighters and survivors who are active and in control. It may also suggest that not winning the war (on cancer) is a

symbol of not fighting hard enough and this can leave people feeling guilty or inadequate, so care perhaps needs to be taken with metaphors. Simon also draws attention to the other aspects of living with and beyond cancer and the psychological and social aspects that may sometimes be disregarded if the focus is maintained on the 'war'.

One unusual aspect of Simon's narrative is the description of the OSG as a 'placebo'and if we consider that a placebo is something that is considered to be real but isn't and does not really have any effect on health, then the benefits of the virtual aspect of the group appears to be being questioned initially. Within the context of his narrative, what Simon appears to be saying here is that even though the OSG is a virtual group it still provides a space that facilitates and encourages social interaction through gently supporting the individual to explore their worst fears.

Building trust for these participants was apparent in the complexity of their narratives but trust occurs as a product of social relationships with other OSG participants. This reflects Goffman's (1967, 1971, 1983) work on trust as it being a necessary part of and at the same time a product of social relationships.

## 5.2.6.1.4 Power relationships and normalisation

Online support groups appear to offer a place that can mitigate the traditional power relationships between patients and health professionals.

Michael: "The only support I had was the Macmillan nurse assigned to my case and the dentist I was referred to for reconstructive work suggested the online support group. Curiosity drove me to take a look and the first posting I read was a man with a persistent mouth ulcer who was afraid to see his doctor. I was recovering from ignoring a mouth ulcer which was in fact cancer and needed drastic surgery to deal with it. So I felt an obligation to encourage the man to see his doctor without delay. Since then I have made over 500 postings. I offer help and comfort to people who are at the start of their cancer journey. Many people have difficulty communicating with anyone in authority, particularly medical staff who

they see as having authority over life and death. Often they leave the consulting room having remembered nothing of what was said (consulting room amnesia). However, they are at ease with someone on the same level as themselves, particularly someone who has experienced and survived the illness they have been diagnosed with. I personally have no difficulty communicating with people in authority and I have a very supportive wife and family. I've never felt the need to seek support. I joined the OSG for what I can give, not what I can get out of it. It gives me satisfaction knowing I have helped a fellow human being and just one thank you letter is worth all the effort I put in. One woman was convinced her husband's diagnosis was a death sentence and was very surprised that I was alive after a few years. She had earlier that day, seen her GP for advice and it was clear from our conversation that she had not comprehended what the doctor had told her (consulting room amnesia). I gave her my number and spoke to her on the phone. After our conversation she accepted that her husband had every chance of surviving and their life together would continue, albeit with difficulties over the coming months. She rang me 6 months later with profound thanks; she said I had put her mind at rest and both of them faced the difficult period because they knew what to expect and it happened as I explained. In a 20 minute phone call she went from expecting to be a widow to having hope for the future."

Although Michael had not need the OSG for support, he felt able to offer support and comfortable handing over his telephone number to a stranger. His narrative mentions consulting room amnesia twice and appears to feel quite strongly about reducing the power imbalance for others. It would appear that in this context the support group space acts as a leveller because of the sense of commonality between participants, the internet also masks social status and any other markers of class and socio-economic status. Although he insists he does not need support, the transactional nature of Michael's relationships with others displays altruism and a level of trust.

Another benefit of OSGs was the reported normalisation of people's experiences to a 'new normal' and the benefit of privacy and anonymity, particularly for individuals

with speech and facial impairments resulting from surgery and radiotherapy. One unexpected aspect that was reported was the effect of being able to socialise online when visible difference inhibited face-to-face interaction.

Sandra's narrative exhibits the benfits of online interaction:

Sandra: "I found a blog while looking up stories of people with head and neck cancer, I think it was called something like 'cancer sucks' and this led me to the forum. I joined the group because I was anxious, depressed and worried that I wasn't going to get any better. I felt alone. I needed more information about what was 'normal'. I needed to talk to people who not only shared the experience but who weren't part of my daily support system. I didn't want to bore my family and friends or use up their good will. I was lonely because I'd never heard of this kind of cancer and treatment, knew nobody with experience of it. Couldn't eat, swallow, taste, talk, dry mouth, sore throat, no energy. Felt like crap. Couldn't work or socialise. Everyone in my world was busy with their lives. After the treatment was done everybody disappeared; even the docs who I'd seen daily for months. In the beginning because I felt so isolated I needed reassurance and I was on there daily, several times a day sharing, asking, telling about my story and offering comments to others. Then I started getting to know people and it was fun to chat a little. Over time it decreased, although I still check-in several times a week. I enjoy hearing news from people who were on it from the time I arrived. If us 'oldtimers' don't keep supporting the newcomers the site becomes less useful to those visiting. This offers hope that we can survive because the docs do their thing but they don't know what it is like to go through this and live with it. We do. We offer a sort of normalising experience because everybody has been through something similar. The group offers a degree of privacy and anonymity and you are not likely to meet anybody unless you choose to. There is no geographical limit and because of this the group normalises even the most difficult of experiences because somebody out there will have dealt with it in some way. Even when people cannot get out of the house because they are sick or weak or cannot face others they can get support on their own schedule. I felt I could say things to people without being judged, they really understand."

Sandra had acquired speech impairment as a direct result of her cancer treatment; this meant that her identity had also changed. She was once a confident and outgoing young woman, but cancer had altered this perception of self. Cyberspace had enabled her to reclaim her identity because she was not verbalising, developing a new 'self' through cyberspace was obviously of importance for her in the initial stages of her cancer journey and enabled her to express her identity in another format.

The issue of normalising an experience is important in Sandra's narrative and she mentions it twice. Again, we can reflect back to Goffman's work because when a situation is defined as normal it permits people to trust others who are present in that same context. This appears to be what is occurring in the OSGs. The participants are normalising the experiences of others through identification, comparison and sharing experiences with one another.

# Summary

Trust was an embedded theme that emerged after reading the narratives as a whole, organising them sequentially and then reading the associated academic literature. The degree of trust appeared to develop through continuous online interactions which developed relational trust through identification, sharing and feelings of kinship denoted by the terms 'family', 'community', 'friendship' and 'schoolmates'. The generative potential of trust in developing more trust during the repeated interactions was apparent in some narratives. Trusting relationships also appeared to foster transformations in how people considered cancer and developed coping strategies, creating a more positive perception of their cancer journeys.

What was unknown in this part of the study was the degree of trust people had in the website and whether it was in any way related to information and communication technology (ICT) ability and familiarity with online systems or whether it was merely the process of building a relationship with people in cyberspace. What was also unknown was the degree to which individual differences (the propensity to trust) may

facilitate online relationships in OSGs and to what extent trust was a phenomenon of the OSG, or something that generally exists in the world. This is an area worthy of further exploration. Furthermore, there is little research around cross-cultural understandings of trust and whether there is a difference across cultures; this may be yet another area for exploration.

The OSG for the participants in this study is a third place, the first place is physical, the second place is virtual and the third place is a networked place that can be accessed by remote users either synchronously or asynchronously. This shared electronic or virtual third place extends the notion of the real and the virtual; it is a hybrid space that enables remote participants to engage in social relations with one another through sharing, comparing and identifying. Ray Oldenburg would call a third place an anchor of community life because it facilitates and develops broader interaction (Oldenburg, 2000) he proposes that a third place has eight similar characteristics. Although Oldenburg was discussing the physical realm when suggested the concept of a third place, his concept fits very neatly with OSGs and the following characteristics of OSGs have been adapted from his suggestions:

- i. Neutral ground because members have no obligation to be there and can come and go at will
- ii. A leveller because social and economic status do not matter and there is a sense of commonality amongst participants
- iii. Social interaction is the main activity through some form of communicative exchange
- iv. Accessibility and accommodation are essential in that everyone can access the space, feels welcome there and has their wants and needs met
- v. Regulars create the interactions between existing members and welcome new members
- vi. Inclusive and welcomes people from all of life's different strata, it does not emphasise or highlight difference
- vii. It is somewhere to feel safe, like a home where you can let off steam and feel supported by the unconditional positive regard of members
- viii. Respectful; treats people with dignity, is never hostile towards them and normalises people's experiences

Of course, it could be suggested that an OSG may create a somewhat hollow effect because people do not know one another initially; they may never meet in the physical world and only ever interact virtually. This reflects back to Derek's narrative of the OSG being a faloon. In contrast to Derek's narrative, some of the participant's narratives in this study indicate that they have varying needs and relationships are being formed, some of which are extremely complex and illustrate high levels of trust and reciprocity. We could therefore adapt and use Oldenburg's concepts to consider and evaluate the role and contribution of OSGs for people with head and neck cancer. The benefit of OSGs as a third place of social interaction for people with head and neck cancer could be further explored qualitatively around some key areas:

- Generating trust
- Supporting and developing social relationships
- Promoting a sense of belonging
- Reducing loneliness and isolation
- Enabling people with head and neck cancer to feel part of something bigger than themselves and regain a sense of purpose for some

This small scale study has given us a great deal of insight regarding the social relationships that people engage in online. Further research around Oldenburg's concept of third place and the importance of trust in social relationships could form part of a larger study.
#### 5.2.7 Discussion

This study is the third part of this thesis. This first study was a content analysis aimed at increasing our understanding of what types of social support are available within OSGs for H&N cancer, it showed that H&N cancer OSGs were used frequently by some people, from many different countries; sometimes both patients and carers used the OSGs. Importantly, many types of social support were being sought and offered within these OSGs – for example, informational, emotional, esteem, social network and tangible support. The second study examined the relationship between the use of these OSGs and other key factors which have been shown, in the literature, to mitigate or aggravate the impact of cancer on psychological wellbeing and QoL, and suggested that longer use of OSGs was related to better QoL and this relationship was mediated directly by depression and adjustment and indirectly by anxiety, self-efficacy and empowerment.

Whilst these two parts of the thesis enabled a greater understanding of social support available within OSGs and the relationship between using OSGs and key factors, nevertheless, it was felt that there were a number of limitations of using content analysis of the existing messages or using pre-existing questionnaires (see Section 4.7.4 and Section 5.1.7.3). For example the content analysis was based on the SBSS with a priori framework (deductive in nature) and the results focussed on these specific aspects of the data that were determined prior to data analysis. Some of the data could not be coded by that framework, which led the researcher to make an inductive analysis and add some items to the framework. In addition, using a quantitative method appeared to be insufficient to understand some forms of information such as changes of behaviour, emotions or feelings because it requests a limited amount of information without providing a deeper explanation (Popper, 2005).

Thus, alongside the quantitative study, a small-scale companion qualitative study was carried out using narrative methods and unstructured interviews with participants who had responded to the questionnaires. This study was conducted to satisfy the third aim of the thesis which was to explore, in more depth, the OSG experiences of people with H&N cancer. These interviews gave a more comprehensive view of the area under exploration and greater details about the benefit of using OSGs that could not be

achieved from the previous two studies and of the phenomena. It also allowed the ability to interact with the users of OSGs on their own terms and give them voice as they provided detail and depth on their behaviours, feelings and attitudes which opened up new themes related to trust which had not been initially considered.

The overarching theme of trust added new knowledge around the experiences of people with H&N cancer participating in OSGs. Different levels of trust have already been defined in previous research (Radin, 2006) which ranges in stages from lurking to de-lurking, thin trust, to thick trust. What Radin did not identify was that these stages do not occur linearly, nor are they a prerequisite for one another. Indeed, this study appeared to imply that prior experiences of OSGs may also play a role in participation in OSGs. What could not be explained was why some people did not engage at a deeper level compared to others and this further highlights the complexity of the social relationships in OSGs.

Using the work of Oldenburg (2000) added a new dimension regarding the position of an OSG as a third place where social relationships occur and although much of Oldenburg's work has taken place in face-to-face settings this has yet to be explored in relation to OSGs.

Another important theme emerged in the analysis of results of this study was related to some aspects of the benefits of OSGs that people with H&N cancer employed as part of the coping process they use for their cancers. People with H&N cancer used the narratives of others to cope with their situation as they try to reformulate into a more positive perception, especially when they perceive other experiences as worse than theirs

The analysis also expressed the concern of the people with H&N cancer who used OSGs for the welfare of others (altruism). Those people felt that their participation in these groups has enhanced their ability to help others and allowed them to give back and pay forward what they have received from the groups when they were in need of that help. This characteristic appeared to be rooted in the experiences of people in the OSGs which gave them an ability to adopt the perspective of others in a similar situation.

This characteristic, together with cohesiveness and solidarity that been expressed by the participants, might give an answer of why members of OSGs stay in contact with the group even after they survived from their cancer, as some of them were found to be members in the OSGs over very long periods of time (Table 48, Section 5.1.6).

#### 5.2.7.1 Study strengths and limitations

This study has some strengths; for example, it used an online interviewing technique technique based on chat system which has a list of advantages (see Section 5.2.5.6). In addition, the study used narrative thematic approach in the analysis which has the advantages of generating new information compared with using a deductive approach that is limited by a specific framework and does not allow for new information and themes (Dudovskiy, 2014). In spite of this, the study was limited by some disadvantages, for example, as in the case in the quantitative study, this study is limited by its cross-sectional nature which only allowed exploring the participants experience about H&N cancer in the time of the interview. It does not allow for re-exploring their experience after a period of time of using the OSGs as they may have different opinion with time. The majority of people with positive experiences of OSGs agreed to participate and those who were adjusting to their condition or treatment. Therefore, the opinions of those who opted not to participate remain unknown. The study used a convenience sample which makes it difficult to defend the representativeness of the sample (Brink 1996; Mugera, 2013). In addition, using online interviews for data collection has also been limited by a list of disadvantages (see Section 5.2.5.7). Although participants were using English Language during the interview, there were language misunderstandings probably due to differences in cultural backgrounds between the interviewer and interviewees (Hofstede, 1996; Deeks, 2004), since participants in this study were from different areas in the world.

#### 5.2.7.2 Summary

The results suggest that building trust in using OSGs was influenced by many factors. The study therefore reinforces and adds to previous research into the

importance of trust in managing online relationships and further emphasises the complexity of online social relationships. This is an area of potential work for the future. There is also the issue of the OSG as a third place which is a hybrid space that extends the real and the virtual worlds and enables remote participants to engage in social relations with one another through sharing, comparing and identifying. We could use Ray Oldenburg's work here and extend the notion of a third place for OSGs for people with head and neck cancer and explore relationships in more depth.

# **Chapter VI: General Discussion**

# 6 General discussion

### 6.1 Introduction

Reviewing the literature indicates that H&N cancer is commonly cited as the most emotionally traumatic of all tumours (Dropkin, 2001) and can often result in the development of a series of functional and psychosocial problems (McDonough *et al.*, 1996; Penner, 2009) which may exert severe impacts on QoL of patients (Morton and Izzard, 2003; Rogers *et al.*, 2007; Penner, 2009; So *et al.*, 201 Rogers *et al.*, 2007; Penner, 2009; So *et al.*, 2012).

However, some factors may mitigate or aggravate the impact of cancer on patient's psychological wellbeing (McDonough *et al.*, 1996). These factors include coping strategies (Sherman *et al.*, 2000), anxiety and depression (de Leeuw *et al.*, 2001; Massie, 2004; Archer *et al.*, 2008; Haman, 2008; Haisfield-Wolfe *et al.*, 2009), and social support (Baker, 1992; Ma, 1996; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2000 a and b; Hassanein, 2001; List *et al.*, 2002; Katz *et al.*, 2003; Karnell *et al.*, 2007; Chueh *et al.*, 2009; Howren *et al.*, 2011).

The mechanisms through which social support might affect well-being and health have been detailed throughout this thesis. For example, social support may have an influence on an individual's health through enhancement of self-efficacy (Berkman et al., 2000). Factors such as self-efficacy and social network have been shown to be related to better coping (Benight *et al.*, 1997; Relic *et al.*, 2001) and relatively low levels of psychological distress (Goodwin *et al.*, 1991; de Ruiter *et al.*, 1993; Benight *et al.*, 1997; Guidry *et al.*, 1997; Michael *et al.*, 2002; Sapp *et al.*, 2003; Bauer *et al.*, 2005; Kroenke *et al.*, 2006; Pinquart and Duberstein, 2010; Beasley *et al.*, 2010).

Over the past three decades, with increase in number of people who use the internet, there are an escalating number of OSGs available for different health conditions including cancer (Eysenbach *et al.*, 2004). Many studies have suggested that these support groups can be useful for patients to obtain support and may be associated with a variety of positive psychosocial outcomes such as better health, better management

of the disease and better use of active coping strategies (Winzelberg, 1997; Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Finn, 1999; White and Dorman, 2000; Fogel *et al.*, 2002; Coulson, 2005; Kalichman *et al.*, 2005; Mo and Coulson, 2008). Moreover, it has been argued that participation in OSGs might foster patient empowerment in a range of ways, such that greater use of OSGs have been associated with more frequent occurrence of such empowerment processes (van Uden-Kraan *et al.*, 2008; van Uden-Kraan, *et al.*, 2009; Mo and Coulson, 2012), which are subsequently related to better coping and enhanced self-efficacy (Mo and Coulson, 2012).

In spite of numerous research studies to date on OSGs, there have been none that have explored OSGs for people with H&N cancer. Therefore the aims of this research were; firstly to assess the types of social support, sought and offered, within OSGs for H&N cancer. Secondly, to explore the relationship between using these groups and QoL and to identify some of the psychosocial factors that may influence this relationship. Thirdly, to explore in depth the OSG experiences of people with H&N cancer.

## 6.2 Main findings of the thesis

The aims of the present research were met with two studies utilising three different methods; the first study was a content analysis of posted messages within H&N cancer-OSGs. The second study was a cross-sectional study consisting of two parts; an online questionnaire using pre-validated questionnaires and an unstructured online interview. The results of these studies indicate that H&N cancer-OSGs appear to be a valid source of exchanging different types of social support particularly informational and emotional support for people with H&N cancer. The results also suggest that there may be a relationship between using these groups and the QoL of users, such that longer use of OSGs was related to better QoL. Moreover, this relationship appears to be mediated by a range of psychosocial factors including depression, adjustment, anxiety, self-efficacy and empowerment. In addition, the findings reinforced previous research in to the importance of trust in managing online relationships and further emphasised the complexity of online social relationships.

Although each study with these three different methods was intended to address one aim of the thesis, it appears that, generally, the results of these studies support each other with little conflict or disagreement.

Study 1 involved a content analysis of messages exchanged in H&N cancer OSGs using pre-validated coding frames to code both support-seeking and support-offering messages. Although the frames managed to code the social support sought and offered in the vast majority of the data, some modifications and new subcategories were added (see Section 4.7.3).

The content analysis of exchanged messages through H&N cancer OSGs suggests that these groups were used by individuals to seek and offer various types of support but particularly informational and emotional. The predominance of these two types of support in the findings of this study is consistent with previous research into social support for other health issues in both face-to-face and OSGs (Winzelberg; 1997; Braithwaite *et al.*, 1999; Preece, 1999; Loader *et al.*, 2002; Coulson, 2005; Coulson *et al.*, 2007; Mo and Coulson, 2008; Coursaris *et al.*, 2009; Elwell *et al.*, 2011; Coulson and Greenwood, 2012). The present findings therefore add further validity to these studies and suggest that OSGs can be a good source for informational and emotional support.

Study 2 was complementary and supportive to Study 1. Study 1 suggested the presence of several forms of social support exchanged with H&N cancer-OSGs. In addition, social support has been thought to represent the highest component (25%) of the whole coping efforts used by H&N cancer patients (List *et al.*, 2002) and can be beneficial to users. Thus, Study 2 attempted to investigate the benefits of these OSGs for the QoL of users and the possible mechanisms by which using OSGs might influence QoL. The first part of Study 2 illustrated the relationship between using OSGs and QoL and the potential psychosocial mediators of this relationship. The qualitative part of Study 2 added a new theme to the experience of people with OSGs which was not addressed in Study 1; that is, the role, of "trust" in using OSGs and creating or maintaining online relationships.

Indeed, during the analysis of the qualitative findings, trust gave depth to the previous quantitative findings (see Section 5.2.6 for details). The results suggest that building trust in using OSGs, was influenced by the quality of the relationships with OSG users and the quality of the relationships also engendered more trust in the process. The suggestion that the OSG was a third place is an area worthy of more exploration and this may also link strongly to other areas in the social science literature, for example the notion of social capital which is poorly defined.

Some demographics, cancer-related and OSGs-related variables were reported in both Study 1 and 2, showing consistency throughout. For example, both Study 1 and Study 2 showed that many members of H&N cancer-OSGs posted high number of messages (up to thousands), indicating that members of these online groups were considerably active in term of exchanging support regarding symptoms, treatment and management of H&N cancer. In addition, the predominance of oral and throat cancer appeared to be another consistency between the two studies and is also consistent with H&N cancer statistics (IARC, 2008 and 2012) and this can added to the validity of results of each study.

### 6.3 Different online methodologies for OSGs

The thesis utilised a number of different methodologies. Study 1 was a content analysis of posted messages within H&N cancer-OSGs. This analysis was intended to assess the characteristics of the communications between users of these groups (Holsti, 1969). These messages were posted by the users of the groups subjectively and by their will either to seek help or support or to reply to others and provide them with support. Therefore, these messages were not there as responses to researcher's questions in which the researcher tends to direct their questions to fulfil specific study aims.

The quantitative part of Study 2 utilised traditional self-reported questionnaires delivered online accessed through H&N cancer-OSGs. This methodology differs from that of the first study as participants responded to pre-validated questionnaires

containing questions directed to gain specific answers that could then be coded numerically to provide a score which is then easy for assessment and comparison in order to meet specific aims.

The qualitative part of Study 2, which used unstructured online interviews and narrative methods, gave participants more opportunities and freedom to talk about their situation and experiences of cancer and OSGs in a more detailed and unrestricted manner throughout. They produced detailed narratives of the experiences that they felt were of importance to them whilst in real time online.

Using these three different complimentary methods have allowed for an understanding of participant's feelings towards and experiences of their condition. It has also allowed for an examination of OSGs and given more comprehensive knowledge about the benefits and drawbacks of using OSGs and their possible relationship to QoL of people with H&N cancer.

#### 6.3.1 Change in using OSGs with the development in the technology

The data for the first study was collected in 2011 from OSGs for H&N cancer after a thorough search was performed using Google as the search engine for a set of key words related to H&N cancer and online support groups. At that time, Google search showed OSGs for H&N cancer to be available as web forums (Appendix 3) which worked by posting messages though a website on a specific topic to be read by others. These messages appear immediately on the website after being posted and are usually classified under a specific topic and sometimes termed as "threads" (Sharp, 2000). Other people can see the topic when they log into the group, and choose to reply to or just read. Data for the second study (quantitative and qualitative) were collected in 2013 after a thorough search was performed on Google, Yahoo, Bing and MSN, as search engine for a set of key words related to H&N cancer and online support groups. The results of the search shows that, in addition to the traditional web forums that had been found in the first study, there were several H&N-related OSGs available on Facebook that had many advantages such as ease of use, convenience, instant interaction, comprehensive participation and encouragement to share (Saikaew et al., 2011).

This led the researcher to perform a comprehensive search using the same key words for H&N cancer and OSGs on Facebook; the search showed that there were approximately 19 H&N cancer-related OSGs which were available from Facebook at the time of the search (Appendix 9). Most of these groups appeared to have been created recently after the search for the first study was performed. Some of the groups appeared to be administrated by the same people who managed the old groups, and links to these facebook groups had been placed in the main pages of the old groups. The activity of the old groups appeared to have decreased whilst the activity of the Facebook groups was on the increase (this was inferred from the number of messages posted per month over time). On reading through the postings it became apparent that many of the users of the Facebook group were the same people who had used the old groups.

This change of shared space may be attributed to the dramatic increase in the users of Facebook recently, which has increased by 22% from 2012 to 2013 and the total number of monthly active Facebook users reached 1.11 Billion in March 2013 and increased to 1.31 Billion by the beginning of 2014 (Harden, 2014). An increasing number of people began to use Facebook as an application on their smart phones, and the total number of mobile Facebook users reached 680 Million users at the start of 2014 (Harden, 2014). Facebook appears to have many advantages over a traditional OSGs and seems to be more convenient to users because of ease of connection to others, staying updated and aware, since the mobile phone can act as a notification tool, in addition to the context and connectivity as well as the simplicity of the this tool in the social interaction (Bornoe and Barkhuus, 2011).

One other factor in using Facebook is that people can have access to the status of others without any direct interaction which appears to facilitate a sense of connection (Humphreys, 2007). Facebook may be said to have a wide but selective reach and users can choose to develop weak or strong ties (Baym, 2010). When people use Facebook to develop strong ties this provides another range of options for exchanging bonding resources, for example advice or support, but developing weak ties may also be said to increase people's access to bridging capital which refers to the building of connections between social groups and may be more fragile but simultaneously more likely to enable social inclusion by expanding the range of resources on which they

can draw (Ellison *et al.*, 2007). As a mode of communication, this more contemporary form of digital media may be said to enable people with H&N cancer to remain in continuous contact with one another, but also on their own terms as to the level of ties they wish to foster. With Facebook recently ranked as the most used social networking website by monthly users worldwide (Kazeniac, 2009), these properties might be the reason behind users of H&N cancer-related OSGs moving from the old form of OSGs to use Facebook groups as OSGs.

## 6.4 Who uses OSGs for H&N cancer?

Although it appeared that the majority of OSGs users were people with H&N cancer, other people such as family members, friends and colleagues were also recorded to use these groups for themselves or for the person with cancer. This may point to the benefits of OSGs for people other than those with H&N cancer, for example carers, family and close friends (Coulson and Greenwood, 2012).

The demographic results of the studies within this thesis appeared to be consistent with each other and with cancer statistics and previous literature (in spite of some inconsistency) in many aspects related to the features of users of online H&N cancer groups. Such consistency can added to the validity of results of each study in this thesis.

For example, both studies of the thesis were consistent in terms of users' age; most of the online H&N cancer support groups users were older people and these results were also consistent with H&N cancer patients' ages as provided by the literature (Ridge *et al.*, 2004; Chidzonga and Mahomva, 2006; Warnakulasuriya, 2009). However, although the worldwide incidence of oral cancer is more prevalent in males than females in the majority of countries (Warnakulasuriya, 2009), our results indicated that male: female ratio was almost equal (study 2) or more females (in Study 1). It may be that women are more likely to use the Internet for the purposes of interpersonal communication (Weiser, 2000; Boneva *et al.*, 2001) and more interested in the topics that relate to health (Green and Pope, 1999).

Both studies within the thesis were consistent in terms of types of cancer, since the majority of participants of the quantitative study had been diagnosed with either throat cancer or lip and mouth cancer and the most common type of cancer reported by both support seekers and providers in Study 1 were cancers of the tongue followed by, cancers of the tonsil. These results were consistent with cancer incidence in the USA and the UK, and to which most of the sample belonged, as oral cancer appeared to be more common than other subcategories of H&N cancer in these two countries (IARC, 2008).

The results of both studies were also consistent in defining participants of H&N-related OSGs as heavy users, in terms of number of the postings, number of days using OSGs per month and number of hours using OSGs per day. The participants' activity in these groups appeared to be more than that in other online groups for other health conditions such as HIV/AIDS and depression (Houston *et al.*, 2002; Mo and Coulson, 2010b). In addition, the results of the two studies were consistent in terms of cancer stage and treatment stages since both of them revealed that the majority of people who accessed H&N-related OSGs were diagnosed with cancer a long time ago (range: 1 - 420 months, mean: 53.7 months, with 30% of them were diagnosed before 5 years) and the majority of them were in their advanced stages of cancer and post-treatment (current patients and survivors). However, these results were in contrast to a previous study (Mo and Coulson, 2010), in which OSGs users were recently diagnosed. This inconsistency might be attributable to the diffence in the nature of the disease (HIV/AIDS) that Mo and Coulson dealt with in their study.

# 6.5 Advantage of OSGs

When we consider the advantages of OSGs mentioned in the literature (see Chapter 3, Section 3.3.4), the present research achieved comparable results. For example, participants of H&N cancer-related OSGs were from different countries so in spite of the geographic distance they managed to participate and derived benefit from these groups, describing them as family.

The content analysis of the messages exchanged in these groups indicated that these groups can be a supportive rather than a competitive resource for face-to-face groups. This is because they provide different types of social support especially informational and emotional, but without the necessity of people having to engage in the intimacy of face-to-face interactions. Using mediated forms of communication, such as OSGs may enable people with H&N cancer to experience social contact on their own terms, even though it may be more reduced than face-to-face contact (Fulk and Collins-Jarvis 2001).

We can suggest that online groups have many advantages with specific regard to people with H&N cancer, for example, the consequences of H&N cancers and treatment may lead to several physical and psychosocial problems such as impaired speech, altered physical appearance, problems related to coughing and blowing the nose, breathing difficulties, embarrassment and feelings of shame (see Table 10, Chapter 2.5.2). All of these issues may act as a barrier for people to participate in face-to-face groups. However, the qualitative section of the present research suggests that OSGs can, to some extent, mediate these issues and people with H&N cancer can choose the level of personal identity and aspects of self that they wish to reveal without the regulation of implicit social norms present in face-to-face interactions. The mediating effect of OSGs and their ability to support and normalise identity appeared in several interviews which discussed changed identity and alluded to the normative perceptions of others.

These points link directly to the level of anonymity and privacy offered by online groups. Although few H&N cancer-related OSGs ask for the individual's real identity to register as a member, most of the groups allowed people to employ any username and most of the participants used usernames other than their real names (for example, some people used symbols, numbers or letter that did not reveal their identity), which may indicate that members of these groups feel more comfortable when they participate under the cover of anonymity. This anonymity can hide visual distractions such as gender, age, dress and socioeconomic status, which mediate conventional face-to-face interactions (Madara and White, 1997; Martin and Youngren, 2002). The use of OSGs may therefore be said to blur the social boundaries between the groups, but little has been written about the social norms and levels of appropriateness for

interactions. In line with the previous literature (Sharp, 2000), the anonymity provided by H&N cancer-related OSGs appears to enable participants to discuss their anxieties and difficult feelings and experiences with cancer in a less stressful way, since the content analysis of the messages showed that about 14% of the support-offering messages and 32% of the support-seeking messages were coded as "Sharing own experience" and some of the messages appeared to be very long and detailed. Even though OSGs can provide an anonymous space where people can choose how to present themselves, they also provide a space where people can share a common identity, H&N cancer, so it could be inferred here that part of their social identity is shared.

Another advantage is that, compared with face-to-face groups, the number of members of OSGs for H&N cancer appeared to be very high. For example, some of them contained nearly 6000 participants (see Appendix 9). This finding is consistent with the literature that suggests that size of the group no longer represents a barrier to the members (Scott, 1999).

Finally, the current research indictated that H&N cancer OSGs may, at times, have the potential to reduce feelings of loneliness and increase feelings of peace and support, which in turn might give people, as one participant put it, *'the power to fight my illness'*. This advantage was in line with previous literature (Sharp, 2000) which indicated that people with uncommon or rare cancer who use OSGs may have the opportunity to feel the sense of "they are not alone".

## 6.6 Disadvantage of OSGs

In spite of the previously mentioned advantages, this research has showed that OSGs can also have some disadvantages. For example, findings of this research (Study 1) suggested that approximately 10% of the support provided by the OSGs for H&N cancer was factual or technical information supplied by members of H&N cancer OSGs. In addition, during the process of recruitment and contacting the moderators of the groups, it was noticed that many of these groups were led by none-professional moderators. Therefore, the quality of this information is still in doubt (Klemm, *et al.*,

1998), since the information might be based only on personal experience or unproven methodologies and not on scientific evidence or medical advice, it may, therefore provide wrong or misleading information (Sharp, 2000).

In addition, although some OSGs make it mandatory for its members to provide their correct identity and their actual names and details for the admin during the process of registration (e.g. Survivors of Head and Neck Cancer), others (e.g. Macmillan Head and Neck Cancer Group) do not have such obligations. Therefore, the credentials of the message posters are hard to be verified and it is possible that anyone can post messages posing as a cancer survivor. This may reduce the credibility of OSGs (Martin and Youngren, 2002).

Trust can be an issue for some members, for example the results of Study 2 suggested that while some participants began with immediate participation and sharing, others required a long time to display a level of trust great enough to interact with OSGs, as they took such time to progress from positions of uncertainty and mistrust which promoted 'lurking' to positions of trust, de-lurking and participation.

The content analysis of the posted messages, specially the support-seeking messages showed that, as in the case of conventional support groups, some support seekers in OSGs express and reinforce negative emotions during the process of support seeking and sharing their problems and their personal experience with cancer. Such action can be unsupportive to other members (Sharp, 2000).

Furthermore, since H&N cancer is fatal disease and many people die because of this disease, the findings showed that this issue appeared in the messages posted for OSGs for H&N cancer, especially when some caregivers sought support after losing their family members or friends or when a member of the group died. While such messages may have negative impacts on the other members emotionally, the fear of a similar fate in the future is still an issue (Sharp, 2000).

### 6.7 Strengths

There were several strengths to the methods and techniques employed in this research. Firstly, the research was a multi-method project incorporating two studies which explored aspects of OSGs that have not been examined before. The research also sheds light on a number of processes that may be important for users of these groups and for those designing such websites/groups for users.

In this research, attempts were made to make the selection, design, conduct and processing of data a systematic process. For example, electronic software called RANDOM.ORG was used in the randomisation process in the sample selection for Study 1. In addition, the sample size for the quantitative part of Study 2 was calculated using sample size software (Buchner *et al.*, 2007) and the methodology chosen was appropriate and ensured that the required sample was obtained in the shortest time possible. In addition, the electronic transfer of the data that was used in this study prevented traditional researcher error during data transfer and coding and saved the researcher time. Moreover, sending and completing the questionnaire online saved the time and efforts and reduced the chance of missing data due to the design of the questionnaire which require completion of all the required questions.

Indeed, the online nature of the study reduced the cost compared to offline studies such as personnel training, papers, printing, posting or personal disturbing and entering the information into a database. It also facilitated access to the intended sample in an easier, economical, faster, more accurate, more honest, more selective, more convenient and more flexible way (Naser, 2002).

## 6.8 Limitations

In spite of the strengths mentioned above and the effort and precautions made to improve the quality of the research, there were some limitations. Firstly, although the research was based on three different methodologies, all of them were cross-sectional in nature which can only evaluate the situation at certain points and cannot evaluate both the short and long term impact of OSGs on its users. In addition, although the data for Study 1 was selected from 18 OSGs, only four OSGs were used for data selection in Study 2 in which participation was optional and participants were self-selected. Therefore, it may be that differing results would have been obtained if more sites had been included or if the responses of people who opt not to participate were obtained. Therefore, future research using longitudinal methods and, if possible, a randomly selected sample might be beneficial in evaluating both the short and long term impact of OSGs on its users.

Secondly, since the research dealt with people who were using OSGs, it means that the participants were people who had a level of education and skills "at least to use the computer", and moreover could afford to buy a computer and pay for the Internet service. This may reflect the higher socioeconomic status of those participants which can also be inferred from the results of the study in which more than two-thirds of participants reported that they were satisfied with their income status. Therefore, it is not clear whether people with H&N cancer but lower socioeconomic status will respond similarly.

Thirdly, although every effort was made to select reliable and valid measures to be used in the studies in the thesis, the measures used in both studies (e. g. SSBC framework in Study 1 and Time since start using OSGs in Study 2) had some limitations (see Section 4.7.4 and Section 5.1.7.3 for details). This might make the results of this study questionable and emphasise the need for validation of the present results using more reliable measures in future studies. For example, most of the questionnaires that were used in this research were primarily designed for measuring concepts in personal relationships. It may be that these scales are not suitable, or do not measure the same concepts as accurately or in the same way when used to assess online relationships. Future research needs to validate such measures for use in the online environment or new measure developed for this purpose.

Most of the respondents taking part in the studies in this thesis were from the USA and this may make the results and resulting interpretation based on one culture questionable. There was an inconsistency in the sample between the studies in the thesis; while the sample in the Study 2 (both parts) was purely from people with H&N cancer, the sample in Study 1 (the content analysis) appeared to be a mix from the OSGs users, although the majority (70%) of the sample were people with H&N cancer, the remaining were mainly caregivers and a few classified as friends, colleagues or healthcare professionals. Since non- cancer uses might have different perspectives about OSGs and their experiences may dramatically differ from the experience of people with cancer, the results might not completely represent the experience of people with H&N cancer.

Moreover, although it is appeared that there is no clear cut in the definitions of cancer survivors to be differentiated from the current patients (National Cancer Institute, 2014; NCCS, 2014; Macmillan Cancer Support, 2015), all studies in this thesis included people who use the OSGs and they have been diagnosed with H&N cancer at any point of their life. Therefore, people at different stages of cancer or treatment have been included. We could suggest that people who are at initial stages may respond differently from those who are at final stages of cancer and /or treatment, and people who already finished their treatment might have different perspectives from those who are current patients. Therefore, variations in responses might arise and issues of representativeness of the sample might appear. In this thesis (all the studies) most of the participants were in advanced stages of cancer (stage III and IV) and in post-treatment stages (see Section 4.6.1.1, Section 4.6.2.1 and Section 5.1.6.2.2). Therefore, the results of this thesis seem to represent this group of people, whereas it is still not clear whether people who are in initial stages of cancer and/or treatment or untreated yet will respond similarly.

## 6.9 Future work

## 6.9.1 Implications

Since this research indicated that the use of OSGs was related to improved QoL for people who live with H&N cancer, this might have some implications for health care professionals who are concerned with providing support and care for people with H&N cancer. Those professionals may want to encourage patients to use OSGs to seek support and information related to their conditions. They may also be given the help to make patients aware of the internet for support and about how to facilitate patients' skills with this technology, or provide training themselves.

#### **6.9.1.1** Access to the internet for older people (Digital divide)

The findings of this research as well as previous literature suggest that most of the people who live with H&N cancer and most of the users of H&N cancer-OSGs were older people. It has been thought that older people are less expected to access and use the internet compared with younger people, with only 37% of those who are above the state pension age have accessing to the Internet compared with 79 % of those who are below this age (Berry, 2011). The reasons for this exclusion of older people can be material such as cost or lack of physical infrastructure or non-material such as lack of interest, lack of skills, or other reasons such as psychological barriers (Kim et al., 2009). This disparity may raise the concept of the "digital divide" between those who can access and enjoy using the internet and those who cannot. If we consider that most of the people who live with H&N cancer were older people, then we could argue that the significant benefits of the using the OSGs, efforts should be directed toward providing access to the internet among those people, especially those who cannot afford, by providing them with subsidised equipment, training and free internet access for people with H&N cancer and their supporters, and someone who can direct them on how to use this technology and inform them about the relevant OSGs and websites. This may widen their participation and since older people can be a target for many chronic diseases, not only H&N cancer, then OSGs may be beneficial to them. Such strategies have already been suggested by some researchers to be applied to the digital divide between older and younger people in using the Internet (Berry and Berry, 2006; Berry, 2011).

Besides the different types of support being given though OSGs, the results suggested that high factual and technical information were exchanged between users of OSGs for H&N cancer therefore, it may be beneficial for medical professionals to explore and monitor those OSGs regularly and correct any false or misleading health information that might negatively affect the users' QoL. Finally, it may be that health care

professionals could educate, and enable patients into using OSGs as part of their continuing treatment.

#### 6.9.2 Future research

The results of the current research appear to have opened a pathway for future research from more than one aspect. Firstly, the validity of the relatively high amount of factual information (information that contains facts or news about the situation or about skills needed to deal with the situation) exchanged between users of H&N cancer online groups is an important area for further research, particularly in relation to groups run by and for lay persons.

The limitations of the current research could be a target for future research and some of these could be addressed using different methodologies. For example, the limitation of the cross-sectional nature of the studies in the thesis could be addressed in a future longitudinal study following OSG users and assessing key variables evidenced here over time. Comparing responses on these variables between new and longer-term users would be of interest, particularly in relation to development of social support and online social networks.

It might also be of interest to carry out more qualitative research along the lines of that reported here, particularly in relation to types of social support online. For example, the study here utilised a pre-formulated social support behaviour coding framework originally devised for stressful events and satisfaction with spousal support. It may be that the stressful nature of events associated with marriage are somewhat removed from those of H&N cancer. Future research might be aimed at exploring the nature and types of social support on offer online through interviewing OSGs users.

Future research could also explore further the generalisability of the results to people with lower socioeconomic status. In addition, future work might investigate the use of other scales designed specifically for use in OSGs or indeed tested the validity of the available scales to be used in online relationships. Future studies should also use other measures for participation in OSGs other than "the length of time since start using OSGs" in order to investigate more closely the relationships with the actual levels of

participation in terms of posting messages as well as the daily and monthly rate of use. In addition, future research should consider the possible influence of cultural differences in the social support offered in OSGs. For example, most of the participants in the present research were from the USA; are there differences between users of OSGs in the USA compared to other countries in terms of the social support offered and sought? Future research might also consider the possible influence of difference in treatment stage and/or cancer stage, and therefore, if possible, data should be collected from participants who are within similar stages of cancer and treatment. Finally, a comparison should be made in the use of OSGs between people who are current H&N cancer patients and those who have survived and no longer have cancer or are having treatment.

In this thesis, the selection strategy meant that messages for the content analysis were chosen from the even months only, rather than throughout the year. This may have biased the results, as well as leading to a relatively low number of messages being analysed. Therefore, it might be worth for future studies if the selection strategy incorporated messages from both even and odd months, and utilised existing OSG study data to aid future power calculations.

The present study presented a potential model of pathways linking OSG use and QoL for those with H&N cancer. The model remains to be tested in future studies (randomised-controlled or longitudinal studies) and the relationships proposed need to be explored in greater detail with other participants, both with H&N or other types of cancer.

The new theme of trust that arose from the qualitative part of the thesis appeared to influence participation in the OSGs. This needs to be investigated in more depth in future studies. New items and modifications have been added to the frameworks used in the the content analysis part of the thesis, a further study would need to validate the framework before firm conclusions could be drawn on its applicability to OSGs for H&N cancer.

A qualitative exploration of the role of an OSG as a third place using the following key areas to guide the study would add significantly to Oldenburg's work which so far has tended to focus on face-to-face relationships:

- Generating trust
- Supporting and developing social relationships
- Promoting a sense of belonging
- Reducing loneliness and isolation
- Enabling people with head and neck cancer to feel part of something bigger than themselves and regain a sense of purpose for some

Finally, future research should examine the generalisability of our findings (the frequency and dimensions of social support in OSGs and a model that summarises the relationship between OSGs and QoL as well the demographics of the users of these online groups) in representing face-to-face groups.

# 6.10 Conclusion

The internet has become a source of health information for many people experiencing different illness, including H&N cancer. The number of people who use the internet for health purposes has increased dramatically with increased publicity and ease of access to the Internet. The present research indicated that prolonged participation in H&N cancer-related OSGs can provide users with different types of social support; predominantly informational and emotional. Participation in OSGs was found to be related to better QoL either directly or indirectly through decreasing depression, anxiety and the negative adjustment behaviours and increasing self-efficacy and empowerment of the users. Moreover, this research reinforces and expands previous research in the importance of trust in managing online relationships and further emphasises the complexity of online social relationships.

With the increasing number of OSGs for different health issues, more research is required in terms of randomised-controlled or longitudinal studies to evaluate the impact of these groups on its users in both the short and long term. One thought is that the availability of many well administrated OSGs can mediate the concerns of many people with different illness and assist in improving their health-related QoL.

## 6.11 Key advances in the field of OSGs

The present thesis has supported previous work about the role of OSGs in providing different types of social support to its users and identified a positive relationship between duration of using this type of support group and the QoL of the users. In so doing, the thesis has provided some key advances in this area:

- OSGs can be valued as a source of support and have a favourable influence on QoL including conditions such as H&N cancer with low survival rates and often poor prognosis.
- 2- Participation in OSGs was found to be related to better QoL either directly or indirectly through decreasing depression, anxiety and the negative adjustment behaviours and increasing self-efficacy and empowerment of the users.
- 3- OSGs may be of particular benefit to people with H&N cancer who have complications because of the cancer or its treatment, especially those who cannot speak or cannot attend face-to-face support groups because of facial differences.
- 4- Users of H&N OSGs appear to be not only people who have the condition and be affected directly, but also other people such as caregivers or patient's friends who might be affected indirectly.
- 5- Most of the users of OSGs for H&N cancer were in post-treatment stages. This can show that either there is a shortage in directing people to this kind of support groups or people do not usually prefer to use these groups until they reach a certain point in the disease and/or treatment pathway.
- 6- With the increased number of different social networking groups such as Facebook and Twitter, people are shifting from using conventional OSGs that are usually available as a forum to more easily-accessible and practical kinds of OSGs such as, Facebook groups.
- 7- Trust appeared to play an important role in participation in OSGs and managing online relationships

8- The OSG could be potentially considered as a third place where social relationships are developed over time

# **Reference List**

# References

- Aaronson, N. K., Ahmedzai, S., Bergman, B., Bullinger, M., Cull, A., Duez, N. J., Filiberti, A., Flechtner, H., Fleishman, S. B., Dehaes, J., Kaasa, S., Klee, M., Osoba, D., Razavi, D., Rofe, P. B., Schraub, S., Sneeuw, K., Sullivan, M. and Takeda, F. (1993) 'The european-organization-for-research-and-treatment-ofcancer qlq-c30 - a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinicaltrials in oncology', *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 85(5), 365-376.
- Aarstad, A. K. H., Aarstad, H. J. and Olofsson, J. (2008) 'Personality and choice of coping predict quality of life in head and neck cancer patients during followup', *Acta Oncologica*, 47(5), 879-890.
- Aarstad, A. K. H., Aarstad, H. J., Bru, E. and Olofsson, J. (2005) 'Psychological coping style versus disease extent, tumour treatment and quality of life in successfully treated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients', *Clinical Otolaryngology*, 30(6), 530-538.
- Aarstad, A. K. H., Beisland, E. and Aarstad, H. J. (2012) 'Personality, choice of coping and T stage predict level of distress in head and neck cancer patients during follow-up', *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 269(9), 2121-2128.
- Abrahams, S., Goldstein, L. H., AlChalabi, A., Pickering, A., Morris, R. G., Passingham, R. E., Brooks, D. J. and Leigh, P. N. (1997) 'Relation between cognitive dysfunction and pseudobulbar palsy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis', *Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 62(5), 464-472.
- ADA (2014) *Oral and Pharyngeal Cancer* [online]. American Dental Association. Available from: http://www.ada.org/en/member-center/oral-healthtopics/cancer-oral [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> December 2012].
- Addenbrooke's Hospital (2006) *Radiotherapy side effects for benign head and neck condition* [online]. Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Available from : <u>http://www.cuh.org.uk/resources/pdf/patient\_information\_leaflets/PIN1357\_b</u> <u>enign\_tr\_side\_effects.pdf.</u> [Accessed 10 July 2011].
- Adeyemi, B. F., Adekunle, L. V., Kolude, B. M., Akang, E. E. U. and Lawoyin, J. O. (2008) 'Head and neck cancer - A clinicopathological study in a tertiary care center', *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 100(6), 690-697.
- Agarwal, M., Hamilton, J. B., Crandell, J. L. and Moore, C. E. (2010) 'Coping Strategies of African American Head and Neck Cancer Survivors', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 28(5), 526-538.
- Agnew, L. S. (2001) Characteristics and Benefits of Online Support Groups [online]. The University of North Carolina. Available from: https://ils.unc.edu/MSpapers/2702.pdf [Accessed 6th October 2015].

- Ahern, N. R. (2005) 'Using the Internet to conduct research', *Nurse Research*,13(2), 55-70.
- Alexa (2009) *msn.com* [online]. Site Info from Alexa (The web information company). Available from: <u>http://www.alexa.com/siteinfo/MSN.com</u> [Accessed 18 November 2013]
- Alho, O. P., Teppo, H., Mantyselka, P. and Kantola, S. (2006) 'Head and neck cancer in primary care: presenting symptoms and the effect of delayed diagnosis of cancer cases', *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 174(6), 779-784.
- Allen, C. (1996) 'What's wrong with the "golden rule"? Conundrums of conducting ethical research in cyberspace', *Information Society*, 12(175), 187.
- Alsarraf, M. (1988) 'Head and neck-cancer chemotherapy concepts', Seminars in Oncology, 15(1), 70-85.
- Al-Sarraf, M. (2002) 'Treatment of locally advanced head and neck cancer: historical and critical review', *Cancer control : journal of the Moffitt Cancer Center*, 9(5), 387-99.
- Alsarraf, M. and Hussein, M. (1995) 'Head and neck-cancer present status and future-prospects of adjuvant chemotherapy', *Cancer Investigation*, 13(1), 41-53.
- Alsos, T. (1960) 'Cancer of the oral cavity treated at the norwegian radium hospital', *Cancer*, 13(5), 925-931.
- Altumbabic, H., Salkic, A., Ramas, A., Burgic, M., Kasumovic, M. and Brkic, F. (2008) 'Pattern of head and neck malignant tumours in a tuzla ent clinic - a five year experience', *Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*, 8(4), 377-380.
- American cancer Society (2010) *Sexuality for the man with cancer* [online]. American cancer Society. Available from : <u>http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/cid/documents/webcontent/002910-pdf.pdf.</u> [Accessed 23 July 2011].
- American cancer Society (2011) Sexuality for the woman with cancer [online]. American cancer Society. Available from : http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/cid/documents/webcontent/002912-pdf.pdf. [Accessed 23 July 2011].
- Anagnostopoulos, F., Kolokotroni, P., Spanea, E. and Chryssochoou, M. (2006) 'The mini-mental adjustment to cancer (Mini-MAC) scale: Construct validation with a Greek sample of breast cancer patients', *Psycho-Oncology*, 15(1), 79-89.
- Andreas, T. (2008) Skype A Baltic Success Story [online]. Credit-suisse. Available from: <u>http://arstechnica.com/business/2013/09/skypes-secrets/</u> [Accessed 14 Nov 2013].

Antonovsky, A. (1979) Health, stress and coping. San Francisco, Jossey – Bass.

- Araujo Junior R. F., Costa A de LL. and Ramos CCF. (2006) 'Clinical- pathological parameters as prognostic indicators in oral squamous cell', *Pesq Bras Odontoped Clin Integr*, 6 (2), 125-30.
- Archer, J., Hutchison, I. and Korszun, A. (2008) 'Mood and malignancy: head and neck cancer and depression', *Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine*, 37(5), 255-270.
- Argiris, A. (2002) 'Update on chemoradiotherapy for head and neck cancer', *Current Opinion in Oncology*, 14(3), 323-329.
- Attard, A. and Coulson, N. S. (2012) 'A thematic analysis of patient communication in Parkinson's disease online support group discussion forums', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(2), 500-506.
- Aylard, P. R., Gooding, J. H., McKenna, P. J. and Snaith, R. P. (1987) 'A Validationstudy of 3 anxiety and depression self-assessment scales', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 31(2), 261-268.
- Bagnardi, V., Blangiardo, M., La Vecchia, C. and Corrao, G. (2001) 'A meta-analysis of alcohol drinking and cancer risk', *British Journal of Cancer*, 85(11), 1700-1705.
- Baider, L. and Denour, A. K. (1988) 'Adjustment to cancer who is the patient the husband or the wife', *Israel Journal of Medical Sciences*, 24(9-10), 631-636.
- Baile, W. F., Gilbertini M., Scott L. and Endicott J. (1992) 'Depression and tumour stage in cancer of head and neck', *Psycho-Oncology* 1, 15-24.
- Baker, C. A. (1992) 'Factors associated with rehabilitation in head and neck-cancer', *Cancer Nursing*, 15(6), 395-400.
- Balsley, H. L. (1970) *Quantitative research methods for business and economics*. New York, Random House.
- Bandura, A. (1997) Self-efficacy: the exercise of control. New York, W H Freeman.
- Barak, A., Boniel-Nissim, M. and Suler, J. (2008) 'Fostering empowerment in online support groups', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(5), 1867-1883.
- Barnes, L., Eveson, J. W., Reichart, P., Sidransky, D., (2005) Pathology and Genetics of Head and Neck Tumours. In: Lyon: World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. IARC Press. pp. 283–328.
- Barnett, V. and Lewis, T. (1994) *Outliers in statistical data*. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. New York, Wiley.
- Baron, R. M. and Kenny, D. A. (1986) 'The moderator mediator variable distinction in social psychological-research - conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182.

- Barrera, M. (1986) 'Distinctions between social support concepts, measures, and models', *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 14(4), 413-445.
- Barrera, M., Sandler, I. N. and Ramsay, T. B. (1981) 'Preliminary development of a scale of social support - studies on college-students', *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 9(4), 435-447.
- Barth, J. and Martin, C. R. (2005) 'Factor structure of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) in German coronary heart disease patients', *Health and quality of life outcomes*, 3, 15-15.
- Bartlett, Y. K. and Coulson, N. S. (2011) 'An investigation into the empowerment effects of using online support groups and how this affects health professional/patient communication', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 83(1), 113-119.
- Bassett, E. and O'Riordan, K. (2002) 'Ethics of Internet Research: Contesting the Human Subjects Research Model', *Internet Research Ethics*, 4 (3), 233-247.
- Bastian, H. (2008) 'Health literacy and patient information: Developing the methodology for a national evidence-based health website', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 73(3), 551-556.
- Bauer, J. E., Englert, J. J., Michalek, A. M., Canfield, P. C. and Mahoney, M. C. (2005) 'American Indian cancer survivors: Exploring social network topology and perceived social supports', *Journal of Cancer Education*, 20(1), 23-27.
- Baym, N. K. (2010) *Personal connections in the digital age*. Cambridge and Massachusetts USA, Polity Press.
- Beahrs, O. H., Henson, D. E., Hutter, R.V.P., et al. (1992) Manual for staging of cancer. 4<sup>th</sup> ed. American Joint Committee on Cancer. Philadelphia: Lippincott.
- Beasley, J. M., Newcomb, P. A., Trentham-Dietz, A., Hampton, J. M., Ceballos, R. M., Titus-Ernstoff, L., Egan, K. M. and Holmes, M. D. (2010) 'Social networks and survival after breast cancer diagnosis', *Journal of Cancer Survivorship-Research and Practice*, 4(4), 372-380.
- Beck, A. T. (1972) Depression: Causes and Treatment. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press
- Beck, C. T. (1994) 'Phenomenology its use in nursing research', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 31(6), 499-510.
- Becker, G., Momm, F., Xander, C., Bartelt, S., Zander-Heinz, A., Budischewski, K., Domin, C., Henke, M., Adamietz, I. A. and Frommhold, H. (2006) 'Religious belief as a coping strategy - An explorative trial in patients irradiated for headand-neck cancer', *Strahlentherapie Und Onkologie*, 182(5), 270-276.
- Beisland, E., Aarstad, A. K. H., Osthus, A. A. and Aarstad, H. J. (2013) 'Stability of distress and health-related quality of life as well as relation to neuroticism, coping and TNM stage in head and neck cancer patients during follow-up',

Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 133(2), 209-217.

- Benight, C. C. and Bandura, A. (2004) 'Social cognitive theory of posttraumatic recovery: the role of perceived self-efficacy', *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(10), 1129-1148.
- Benight, C. C., Antoni, M. H., Kilbourn, K., Ironson, G., Kumar, M. A., Fletcher, M. A., Redwine, L., Baum, A. and Schneiderman, N. (1997) 'Coping self-efficacy buffers psychological and physiological disturbances in HIV-infected men following a natural disaster', *Health Psychology*, 16(3), 248-255.
- Berelson, B. (1971) *Content analysis in communication research*. New York, Hafner Publishing Company.
- Berg, G. D., Thomas, E., Silverstein, S., Neel, C. L. and Mireles, M. (2004) 'Reducing medical service utilization by encouraging vaccines - Randomized controlled trial', *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 27(4), 284-288.
- Berger, J. M. (1984) 'Crisis-intervention a drop-in support group for cancer-patients and their families', *Social Work in Health Care*, 10(2), 81-92.
- Berkman, L. (1977) Social Networks, Host Resistance, and Mortality: A Follow-up Study of Alameda County Residents [dissertation]. Berkeley, CA: University of California; 1977.
- Berkman, L. F. and Syme, S. L. (1979) 'Social networks, host-resistance, and mortality 9-year follow-up-study of alameda county residents', *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 109(2), 186-204.
- Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I. and Seeman, T. E. (2000) 'From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium', *Social Science & Medicine*, 51(6), 843-857.
- Berrino, F., Gatta, G. and Grp, E. W. (1998) 'Variation in survival of patients with head and neck cancer in Europe by the site of origin of the tumours', *European Journal of Cancer*, 34(14), 2154-2161.
- Berry, C. and Berry, R. (2006) 'Ideas, Interests and Information', *Public Policy Research*, 13 (2), 119-125
- Berry, R. (2011) Older people and the internet: Towards a "system map" of digital exclusion [online]. The International Longevity Centre - UK (ILC-UK). Available from: <u>http://www.ilcuk.org.uk/files/pdf\_pdf\_181.pdf</u> [Accessed on 9 April 2014].
- Berry, W. D. and Feldman, S. (1985) *Multiple Regression in Practice*. Sage University Paper Series on Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences, series no. 07-050. Newbury Park, CA, Sage.
- Biordi, D. L. and Nicholson, N. R. (2008) *Social isolation* [online]. Jones and Bartlett Publisher LLC. Available from : <u>http://www.jblearning.com/samples/076375126X/LARSEN\_CH05\_PTR.pdf</u>

[Accessed 27th September 2012].

- Bisconti, T. L. and Bergeman, C. S. (1999) 'Perceived social control as a mediator of the relationships among social support, psychological well-being, and perceived health', *Gerontologist*, 39(1), 94-103.
- Bjordal, K. and Kaasa, S. (1995) 'Psychological distress in head-and-neck-cancer patients 7-11 years after curative treatment', *British Journal of Cancer*, 71(3), 592-597.
- Bjordal, K., Ahlnerelmqvist, M., Tollesson, E., Jensen, A. B., Razavi, D., Maher, E. J. and Kaasa, S. (1994) 'Development of a European-Organization-For-Research-And-Treatment-Of-Cancer (EORTC) questionnaire module to be used in quality-of-life assessments in head and neck-cancer patients', *Acta Oncologica*, 33(8), 879-885.
- Blank, J. J., Clark, L., Longman, A. J. and Atwood, J. R. (1989) 'Perceived home care needs of cancer-patients and their caregivers', *Cancer Nursing*, 12(2), 78-84.
- Blatná, D. (2006) *Outliers in regression* [online]. Statisika. Available from: <u>http://statistika.vse.cz/konference/amse/PDF/Blatna.pdf.</u> [Accessed 26th April 2015].
- Bloom, J. R. (1982) 'Social support, accommodation to stress and adjustment to breast-cancer', *Social Science & Medicine*, 16(14), 1329-1338.
- Bloom, J. R. (1990) 'The relationship of social support and health', *Social Science & Medicine*, 30(5), 635-637.
- Bloom, J. R. and Spiegel, D. (1984) 'The relationship of 2 dimensions of social support to the psychological well-being and social functioning of women with advanced breast-cancer', *Social Science & Medicine*, 19(8), 831-837.
- Blot, W. J., McLaughlin, J. K., Winn, D. M., Austin, D. F., Greenberg, R. S., Prestonmartin, S., Bernstein, L., Schoenberg, J. B., Stemhagen, A. and Fraumeni, J. F. (1988) 'Smoking and drinking in relation to oral and pharyngeal cancer', *Cancer Research*, 48(11), 3282-3287.
- Boehlefeld, S. (1996) 'Doing the Right Thing: Ethical Cyberspace Research', *The Information Society*, 12(2), 141-152.
- Bold, C. (2012) Using Narrative in Research. Thousand Oaks CA, London, New Delhi, Singapore: Sage.
- Bolger, N., Zuckerman, A. and Kessler, R. C. (2000) 'Invisible support and adjustment to stress', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79(6), 953-961.
- Bollen, K. A. and Jackman, R. W. (1990) Regression diagnostics: An expository treatment of outliers and influential cases. In F. John and L. J. Scott (Eds.), *Modern Methods of Data Analysis*. Newbury Park, CA, Sage. pp. 257-91.

Boneva, B., Kraut, R. and Frohlich, D. (2001) 'Using e-mail for personal relationships

the difference gender makes', American Behavioral Scientist, 45(3), 530-549.

- Bornoe, N. and Barkhuus, L. (2011) Online Social Networks On-The-Go: An Exploration of Facebook on the Mobile Phone [online]. CSCW 2011, March 19–23, 773 780. Available from : <u>http://cseweb.ucsd.edu/~nbornoe/papers/p773.pdf</u> [Accessed 7<sup>th</sup> April 2014].
- Bortz, J. and Doring, N. (2002) Research Methods and Evaluation for human and social scientists. 3rd ed. Berlin, Springer Verlag.
- Bosetti, C., Garavello, W., Levi, F., Lucchini, F., Negri, E. and LaVecchia, C. (2006) 'Trends in laryngeal cancer mortality in Europe', *International Journal of Cancer*, 119(3), 673-681.
- Bowker, N. I., and Tuffin, K. (2007) 'Understanding positive subjectivities made possible online for disabled people', *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 36(2), 63-71.
- Boyatzis, R.E. (1998) Transforming qualitative information: thematic analysis and code development. London, Sage.
- Boyes, A. W., Girgis, A., Zucca, A. C. and Lecathelinais, C. (2009) 'Anxiety and depression among long-term survivors of cancer in Australia: results of a population-based survey', *Medical Journal of Australia*, 190(7), S94-S98.
- Boyle, P., Levin, B., Dinshaw, K., Kasler, M., Ngoma, T., Ashton, L., *et al* (2008) *World Cancer Report'*, International Agency for Research on Cancer 2008.
- Boyle, P., Macfarlane, G. J. and Scully, C. (1993) 'Oral-cancer necessity for prevention strategies', *Lancet*, 342(8880), 1129-1129.
- Braithwaite, D. O., Waldron, V. R. and Finn, J. (1999) 'Communication of social support in computer-mediated groups for people with disabilities', *Health Communication*, 11(2), 123-151.
- Brandt, P. A. and Weinert, C. (1981) 'THE PRQ A SOCIAL SUPPORT MEASURE', Nursing Research, 30(5), 277-280.
- Brannon, L. and Feist, J. (2009) *Health Psychology: An Introduction to Behavior and Health*. Belmont, Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.
- Breitbart, W. and Holland, J. (1988) 'Psychosocial-aspects of head and neck-cancer', *Seminars in Oncology*, 15(1), 61-69.
- Bremmer, J. F., Braakhuis, B. J., Ruijter-Schippers, H. J., Brink, A., Duarte, H. M., Kuik, D. J. (2005) A noninvasive genetic screening test to detect oral preneoplastic lesions, *Laboratory Investigation*, 85, 1481–8.

Brenes, G. A. (2007) 'Anxiety, depression, and quality of life in primary care patients',

Primary care companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry, 9(6), 437-43.

- Brewin, C. R., Andrews, B. and Valentine, J. D. (2000) 'Meta-analysis of risk factors for posttraumatic stress disorder in trauma-exposed adults', *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(5), 748-766.
- Brink, H. I. (1996) Fundamental of research methodology for health care professionals. Kelwyn, Juta.
- British Psychological Society (2013) *Ethics Guidelines for Internet-mediated Research* [online]. British Psychological Society. Available from: www.bps.org.uk/publications/policy-andguidelines/research-guidelinespolicydocuments/research-guidelines-poli [Accessed 5<sup>th</sup> January 2015].
- Brocklehurst, P., Kujan, O., Glenny, A.-M., Oliver, R., Sloan, P., Ogden, G. and Shepherd, S. (2010) 'Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (11).
- Brocklehurst, P., Kujan, O., O'Malley, L. A., Ogden, G., Shepherd, S. and Glenny, A.
  M. (2013) 'Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2013 (11), Art. No.: CD004150
- Broeders, M. J. M., Verbeek, A. L. M., Straatman, H., Peer, P. G. M., Jong, P., Beex, L., Hendriks, J. and Holland, R. (2002) 'Repeated mammographic screening reduces breast cancer mortality along the continuum of age', *Journal of Medical Screening*, 9(4), 163-167.
- Broom, A. (2005) 'The eMale Prostate cancer, masculinity and online support as a challenge to medical expertise', *Journal of Sociology*, 41(1), 87-104.
- Browman, G. P., Charette M., Oliver T., et al. (2003) Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN) (excluding nasopharynx): Practice Guideline 5–1 [online]. Cancer Care Ontario Practice Guideline Initiative. Available from : http:// www.cancercare.on.ca/pdf/sumry5\_1.pdf. [Accessed 11th November 2011].
- Browman, G. P., Hodson D. I., Mackenzie R. G., *et al.* (2001b) 'Concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy in squamous cell head and neck cancer (excluding nasopharynx)', *Head Neck* (In press).
- Browman, G. P., Hodson, D. I., Mackenzie, R. J., Bestic, N., Zuraw, L. and Canc Care Ontario Practice, G. (2001a) 'Choosing a concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy regimen for squamous cell head and neck cancer: A systematic review of the published literature with subgroup analysis', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 23(7), 579-589.
- Brown, B., Barnes, L., Mazariegos, J., Taylor, F., Johnson, J. and Wagner, R. L. (1989) 'Prognostic factors in mobile tongue and floor of mouth carcinoma', *Cancer*, 64(6), 1195-1202.

- Brown, L. F., Kroenke, K., Theobald, D. E., Wu, J. and Tu, W. (2010) 'The association of depression and anxiety with health-related quality of life in cancer patients with depression and/or pain', *Psycho-Oncology*, 19(7), 734-741.
- Bruckman, A. (2002) 'Studying the Amateur Artist: A Perspective on Disguising Data Collected in Human Subjects Research on the Internet', *Ethics and Information Technology*, 4(3), 217-231.
- Bryman, A. (2003) *Encyclopaedia of social science research methods: Triangulation* [online]. SAGE Reference. Available from: http://www.referenceworld.com/sage/socialscience/triangulation.pdf [Accessed 7<sup>th</sup> April 2015].
- Bryman, A. (2012) Social Research Methods (4th ed). Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Bucci, M. K., Bevan, A. and Roach, M. (2005) 'Advances in radiation therapy: Conventional to 3D, to IMRT, to 4D, and beyond', *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 55(2), 117-134.
- Buchanan, E. A. and Vizdak, E. E. H. (2009) 'Online survey tools: ethical and methodological concerns of human research ethics committees', *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 4(2), 37–48.
- Buchanan, H. and Coulson, N. S. (2007) 'Accessing dental anxiety online support groups: An exploratory qualitative study of motives and experiences', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 66(3), 263-269.
- Buchner, A., Erdfelder, E., Faul, F., and Lang A-G. (2007) G\*Power: Statistical Power Analyses for Windows and Mac [online]. Heinrich Heine University of Dusseldorf . Available from : <u>http://www.gpower.hhu.de/en.html</u> [ Accessed on 24th Sepember 2012].
- Budd, R. W., Thorp, R.K., and Donohew, L. (1967) Content analysis of communications. New York, Macmillan Company.
- Bulmer, M. G. (1979) Principles of statistics. New York, Dover Publications.
- Burgess, C., Morris, T. and Pettingale, K. W. (1988) 'Psychological response to cancer-diagnosis .2. Evidence for coping styles (coping styles and cancer-diagnosis)', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 32(3), 263-272.
- Butler, B., Sproull, L., Kiesler, S., and Kraut, R., (2007) Community Effort in Online Groups: Who does the effort and why?. In: S., P., Weisband, (Ed.). *Leadership at a Distance: Research in Technologically Supported Work*. Oxford, New York, Taylor Francis.
- Caan, B., Sternfeld, B., Gunderson, E., Coates, A., Quesenberry, C. and Slattery, M. L. (2005) 'Life After Cancer Epidemiology (LACE) study: A cohort of early stage breast cancer survivors (United states)', *Cancer Causes & Control*, 16(5), 545-556.

- Cabiria, J. (2008) 'Benefits of virtual world engagement: Implications for marginalized gay and lesbian people', *Media Psychology Review*, (Vol. Summer).
- Campbell, B. H., Spinelli, K., Marbella, A. M., Myers, K. B., Kuhn, J. C. and Layde, P. M. (2004) 'Aspiration, weight loss, and quality of life in head and neck cancer survivors', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 130(9), 1100-1103.
- Campbell, K., Coulson, N.S. and Buchanan, H., (2013) 'Empowering processes within prostate cancer online support groups', *International Journal of Web-Based Communities*, 9(1), 51-66.
- Cancer care (2014) *Head and Neck Cancer: Learn about our free, professional support services and additional resources. Cancer Care* [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.cancercare.org/diagnosis/head\_and\_neck\_cancer</u> [Accessed 12th March 2014].
- Cancer Research (2013) *Oral cancer incidence statistics* [online]. Cancer Research. Available from: <u>http:// http://www.cancerresearchuk.org</u> [Accessed 17th April 2014].
- Cancer.net (2013) Oral and Oropharyngeal Cancer: Symptoms and Signs [online]. Cancer.net. Available from: http://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/oral-andoropharyngeal-cancer/symptoms-and-signs [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> December 2012].
- Carey M. S., Levine E. G., Zelman D. and Hardin K. (1993) 'Coping styles of breast cancer patients and spouses: the effect on patients psychological well-being and quality of life', *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 21(suppl), S132.
- Carlson, N. (2010) At Last The Full Story Of How Facebook Was Founded [online]. Business Insider. Available from: <u>http://www.businessinsider.com/how-facebook-was-founded-2010-3#we-can-talk-about-that-after-i-get-all-the-basic-functionality-up-tomorrow-night-1</u> [Accessed 14th November 2013].
- Carver, C. S. (1997) 'You want to measure coping but your protocol's too long: Consider the brief COPE', *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 4(1), 92-100.
- Carver, C. S., Pozo, C., Harris, S. D., Noriega, V., Scheier, M. F., Robinson, D. S., Ketcham, A. S., Moffat, F. L. and Clark, K. C. (1993) 'How coping mediates the effect of optimism on distress - a study of women with early-stage breastcancer', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(2), 375-390.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F. and Weintraub, J. K. (1989) 'Assessing coping strategies
   a theoretically based approach', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267-283.
- Casey, P. R., Dunn, G., Kelly, B. D., Birkbeck, G., Dalgard, O. S., Lehtinen, V., Britta, S., Ayuso-Mateos, J. L., Dowrick, C. and Grp, O. (2006) 'Factors associated with suicidal ideation in the general population - Five-centre analysis from the ODIN study', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 189, 410-415.
- Cassel, J. (1976) 'Contribution of social-environment to host-resistance 4th wade hampton frost lecture', *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 104(2), 107-123.
- Cater, J. K. (2011) 'Skype a cost-effective method for qualitative research', *Rehabilitation Counselors & Educators Journal*, 4, 1017.
- Cavanagh, A, (1999) Behaviour in public? ethics in online ethnography" Cybersociology. Issue 6
- CDC (2011) Oral Cancer Background Papers. Chapter IV: Premalignant Lesions [online]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/oralHealth/pdfs/chapter4.pdf. [Accessed 19th June 2011].
- Cella, D. F. (1994.) Manual for the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT) measurement system. version 3. Chicago, Rush Medical Center,
- Cella, D. F., Tulsky, D. S., Gray, G., Sarafian, B., Linn, E., Bonomi, A., Silberman, M., Yellen, S. B., Winicour, P., Brannon, J., Eckberg, K., Lloyd, S., Purl, S., Blendowski, C., Goodman, M., Barnicle, M., Stewart, I., McHale, M., Bonomi, P., Kaplan, E., Taylor, S., Thomas, C. R. and Harris, J. (1993) 'The functional assessment of cancer-therapy scale - development and validation of the general measure', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 11(3), 570-579.
- Census (2011) Household Questionnaire, England [online]. Office for National Statistics. Available from : <u>http://census.ukdataservice.ac.uk/media/50969/2011\_northernireland\_househo</u> <u>ld.pdf</u> [Accessed 29th sep 2012].
- Chang, M. Y., Rogers, S. N., Lowe, D., Jeong, W. J., Cha, W., Park, K. T., Kim, D. W., Chang, H., Sung, M. W., Kim, K. H. and Kwon, T. K. (2012) 'The Korean version of the University of Washington Quality of Life Questionnaire for Patients with Head and Neck Cancer, and its use in an initial validation study of 56 patients', *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 41(10), 1201-1205.
- Charlton, A. (2004) 'Medicinal uses of tobacco in history', *Journal of the Royal* Society of Medicine, 97(6), 292-296.
- Chaturvedi, A. K., Anderson, W. F., Lortet-Tieulent, J., Curado, M. P., Ferlay, J., Franceschi, S., Rosenberg, P. S., Bray, F. and Gillison, M. L. (2013) 'Worldwide Trends in Incidence Rates for Oral Cavity and Oropharyngeal Cancers', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 31(36), 4550-4559.
- Chaturvedi, S. K., Shenoy, A., Prasad, K. M. R., Senthilnathan, S. M. and Premlatha, B. S. (1996) 'Concerns, coping and quality of life in head and neck cancer patients', *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 4(3), 186-190.
- Chen, P. and Hinton, S, M. (1999) *Real time interviewing using the world wide web* [online].' Sociological Research Online. 4(3). Available from : <u>http://www.socresonline.org.uk/4/3/chen.html</u> [Accessed 28 Oct 2013].

Chen, P. H., Shieh, T. Y., Ho, P. S., Tsai, C. C., Yang, Y. H., Lin, Y. C., Ko, M. S.,

Tsai, P. C., Chiang, S. L., Tu, H. P. and Ko, Y. C. (2007) 'Prognostic factors associated with the survival of oral and pharyngeal carcinoma in Taiwan', *Bmc Cancer*, 7.

- Cheung, S. K. and Sun, S. Y. K. (2000) 'Effects of self-efficacy and social support on the mental health conditions of mutual-aid organization members', *Social Behavior and Personality*, 28(5), 413-422.
- Chidzonga, M. M. and Mahomva, L. (2006) 'Squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity, maxillary antrum and lip in a Zimbabwean population: A descriptive epidemiological study', *Oral Oncology*, 42(2), 184-189.
- Christensen, H. and Griffiths, K. (2003) 'The internet and mental health practice', *Evidence-based mental health*, 6(3), 66-9.
- Chu, P. S., Saucier, D. A. and Hafner, E. (2010) 'Meta-analysis of the relationships between social support and well-being in children and adolescents', *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 29(6), 624-645.
- Chueh, Y., Lin, H., Yu, C., Cheng, S., Chen, I., Liao, C., Huang, S. and Chang, J. (2009) 'Social support service impact to the anxiety and depression of oral cavity cancer patients in Taiwan', *Ejc Supplements*, 7(2), 493-493.
- Cicourel, A. V. (1974) Cognitive Sociology. Harmondsworth, Penguin.
- Classen, C., Koopman, C., Angell, K. and Spiegel, D. (1996) 'Coping styles associated with psychological adjustment to advanced breast cancer', *Health Psychology*, 15(6), 434-437.
- Clatterbridge Centre for Oncology (2009) *Radiotherapy to the head or neck* [online]. Clatterbridge Centre for Oncology. NHS. Available from : <u>http://www.ccotrust.nhs.uk/document\_uploads/Radiotherapy\_leaflets/Head&N</u> <u>eck07.pdf</u>. [Accessed 15<sup>th</sup> July 2011].
- Clavel, M., Vermorken, J. B., Cognetti, F., Cappelaere, P., Demulder, P. H. M., Schornagel, J. H., Tueni, E. A., Verweij, J., Wildiers, J., Clerico, M., Dalesio, O., Kirkpatrick, A. and Snow, G. B. (1994) 'Randomized comparison of cisplatin, methotrexate, bleomycin and vincristine (cabo) versus cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil (cf) versus cisplatin (c) in recurrent or metastatic squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck - a phase-iii study of the eortc head and neckcancer cooperative group', *Annals of Oncology*, 5(6), 521-526.
- Cobb, S. (1976) 'SOCIAL SUPPORT AS A MODERATOR OF LIFE STRESS', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 38(5), 300-314.
- Cogliano, V. J., Baan, R., Straif, K., Grosse, Y., Lauby-Secretan, B., El Ghissassi, F., Bouvard, V., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Guha, N., Freeman, C., Galichet, L., and Wild, C. P. (2011) 'Preventable exposures associated with human cancers', Journal of National Cancer Institute, 21;103(24), 1827-39.
- Cohen, J. and Cohen, P. (1983) *Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Hillsdale, NJ, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

- Cohen, R. A. and Adams, P. F. (2011) 'Use of the internet for health information: United States, 2009', *NCHS data brief*, (66), 1-8.
- Cohen, S. and Syme, SL. (1985) Social support and health. New York, Academic Press, 1985.
- Cohen, S. (1988) 'Psychosocial models of the role of social support in the etiology of physical disease', *Health Psychology*, 7(3), 269-297.
- Cohen, S. and McKay, G. (1984) Social support, stress, and the buffering hypothesis: A theoretical analysis. In: A. Baum, J. E. Singer, and S. E. Taylor (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology and health, Volume IV.* Hillsdale, NJ, Erlbaum.
- Cohen, S. and Wills, T. A. (1985) 'Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis', *Psychological Bulletin*, 98(2), 310-357.
- Cohen, S., Underwood, L.G. and Gottlieb, B.H. (2000) Social support, measurement and intervention: a guide for health and social scientists. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Commercenet (2002) Worldwide Internet Population" Internet Demographics and eCommerce Statistics. [online]. Available from : www.commerce.net/research/stats/wwstats.html [Accessed 20th March 2013].
- Comprehensive Cancer Centre (2011) *Stem Cells in Head and Neck Cance* [online]. The University of Michigan. Available from : <u>http://www.med.umich.edu/cancer/research/headandneck\_stemcells.shtml</u> [Accessed 7th July 2011].
- Connelly, F., M., and Clandinin, D., J. (1990) 'Stories of experience and narrative enquiry', *Educational Researche*, 19(5), 2-14.
- Connor, H. O. (2006) *Exploring online research methods in a virtual training environment.* Leicester, University of Leicester.
- Conway, D. I., McMahon, A. D., Smith, K., Black, R., Robertson, G., Devine, J. and McKinney, P. A. (2010) 'Components of socioeconomic risk associated with head and neck cancer: A population-based case-control study in Scotland', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 48(1), 11-17.
- Cook, R. D. and Weisberg, S. (1982) *Residuals and influence in regression*. New York, NY, Chapman & Hall.
- Corey, J. P., Caldarelli, D. D., Hutchinson, J. C., Holinger, L. D., Taylor, S. G., Showel, J. L. and Kooser, J. A. (1986) 'Surgical complications in patients with head and neck-cancer receiving chemotherapy', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 112(4), 437-439.
- Costa, A. d. L. L., Araujo Junior, R. F. d. and Ramos, C. C. F. (2005) 'Correlation between TNM classification and malignancy histological feature of oral squamous cell carcinoma', *Brazilian journal of otorhinolaryngology*, 71(2), 181-7.

- Costa, A. d. L. L., Pereira, J. C., Nunes, A. A. F. and Arruda, M. d. L. d. S. (2002) 'Correlation between TNM classification, histological grading and anatomical location in oral squamous cell carcinoma', *Pesquisa odontologica brasileira* = *Brazilian oral research*, 16(3), 216-20.
- Coulson, N. S. (2005) 'Receiving social support online: An analysis of a computermediated support group for individuals living with irritable bowel syndrome', *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 8(6), 580-584.
- Coulson, N. S. (2013) 'How do online patient support communities affect the experience of Inflammatory Bowel Disease? An online survey', *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine Short Reports*, 4(8), 1-8.
- Coulson, N. S. (2014) 'Sharing, supporting and sobriety: a qualitative analysis of messages posted to alcohol-related online discussion forums in the United Kingdom', *Journal of Substance Use*, 19(1-2), 176-180.
- Coulson, N. S. and Buchanan, H. (2006) Participation in an online dental phobia support group: Does it make a difference?: Annual Conference, held in Cardiff 2006. The British Psychological Society (Abstract).
- Coulson, N. S. and Buchanan, H. (2008) 'Self-reported efficacy of an online dental anxiety support group: a pilot study', *Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology*, 36(1), 43-46.
- Coulson, N. S. and Greenwood, N. (2012) 'Families affected by childhood cancer: an analysis of the provision of social support within online support groups', *Child Care Health and Development*, 38(6), 870-877.
- Coulson, N. S. and Knibb, R. C. (2007) 'Coping with food allergy: Exploring the role of the online support group', *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 10(1), 145-148.
- Coulson, N. S. and Shaw, R. L. (2013) 'Nurturing health-related online support groups: Exploring the experiences of patient moderators', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(4), 1695-1701.
- Coulson, N. S., Buchanan, H. and Aubeeluck, A. (2007) 'Social support in cyberspace: A content analysis of communication within a Huntington's disease online support group', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 68(2), 173-178.
- Couper, M. P. (2000) 'Web-based surveys: A Review of Issues and Approaches', *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 64, 464-494.
- Coursaris, C. K. and Liu, M. (2009) 'An analysis of social support exchanges in online HIV/AIDS self-help groups', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25(4), 911-918.
- Courtens, A. M., Stevens, F. C. J., Crebolder, H. and Philipsen, H. (1996) 'Longitudinal study on quality of life and social support in cancer patients', *Cancer Nursing*, 19(3), 162-169.
- Cox, D. R. (1972) 'Regression models and life-tables', *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B-Statistical Methodology*, 34(2), 187-&.

Crabtree, B (1999) Doing qualitative research. Newbury Park, CA, Sage.

- Craighead, E., Corsini, R. J. and Nemeroff, C. B. (2002) *The Corsini Encyclopaedia* of *Psychology and Behavioural Science*. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed.. USA, John Wiley and Sons.
- CRD (2004) 'Management of head and neck cancers, The University Of York', *effective Health Care*, 8(5), 1-12.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007) *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA, Sage
- Cupples, S. A. (1991) 'Effects of timing and reinforcement of preoperative education on knowledge and recovery of patients having coronary-artery bypass graftsurgery', *Heart & Lung*, 20(6), 654-660.
- Cutrona, C. A. and Russell, D.W. (1987) 'The provisions of social relationships and adaptation to stress', *Advances in Personal Relationships*, 1, 37–67.
- Cutrona, C. E. and Russell, D.W. (1990) Type of social support and specific stress: Toward a theory of optimal matching. In: B. R Sarason, I. G. Sarason, and G. R. Pierce (Eds.), Social support: An interactional view. New York: Wiley & Sons. pp. 319–366.
- Cutrona, C. E. and Suhr, J. A. (1992) 'Controllability of stressful events and satisfaction with spouse support behaviors', *Communication Research*, 19(2), 154-174.
- Daiute, C. (2014) *Narrative inquiry: A dynamic approach*. Los Angeles; London; New Delhi; Singapore; Washington DC, Sage.
- Davies, A. D. M., Davies, C. and Delpo, M. C. (1986) 'Depression and anxiety in patients undergoing diagnostic investigations for head and neck cancers', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 149, 491-493.
- Davies, L. and Welch, H. G. (2006) 'Epidemiology of head and neck cancer in the United States', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 135(3), 451-457.
- Davis, M., Bolding, G., Hart, G., Sherr, L. and Elford, J. (2004) 'Reflecting on the experience of interviewing online: perspectives from the Internet and HIV study in London', *Aids Care-Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of Aids/Hiv*, 16(8), 944-952.
- D'Cruz, A. K., Yueh, B., Das, A. K., McDowell, J. A., Chaukar, D. A. and Ernest, A. W. (2007) 'Validation of the University of Washington quality of life questionnaires for head and neck cancer patients in India', *Indian Journal of Cancer*, 44(4), 147-154.
- de Araujo, R. F., Jr., Barboza, C. A. G., Clebis, N. K., de Moura, S. A. B. and Lopes Costa, A. d. L. (2008) 'Prognostic significance of the anatomical location and TNM clinical classification in oral squamous cell carcinoma', *Medicina oral*, *patologia oral y cirugia bucal*, 13(6), E344-7.

- De Boer, M. F., McCormick, L. K., Pruyn, J. F. A., Ryckman, R. M. and van den Borne, B. W. (1999a) 'Physical and psychosocial correlates of head and neck cancer: A review of the literature', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 120(3), 427-436.
- De Boer, M. F., Ryckman, R. M., Pruyn, J. F. A. and Van den Borne, H. W. (1999b) 'Psychosocial correlates of cancer relapse and survival: a literature review', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 37(3), 215-230.
- de Graeff, A., de Leeuw, J. R. J., Ros, W. J. G., Hordijk, G. J., Blijham, G. H. and Winnubst, J. A. M. (1999a) 'A prospective study on quality of life of patients with cancer of the oral cavity or oropharynx treated with surgery with or without radiotherapy', *Oral Oncology*, 35(1), 27-32.
- de Graeff, A., de Leeuw, R. J., Ros, W. J. G., Hordijk, G. J., Battermann, J. J., Blijham, G. H. and Winnubst, J. A. M. (1999b) 'A prospective study on quality of life of laryngeal cancer patients treated with radiotherapy', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 21(4), 291-296.
- de Leeuw, J. R. J., de Graeff, A., Ros, W. J. G., Blijham, G. H., Hordijk, G. J. and Winnubst, J. A. M. (2000a) 'Prediction of depressive symptomatology after treatment of head and neck cancer: The influence of pre-treatment physical and depressive symptoms, coping, and social support', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 22(8), 799-807.
- De Leeuw, J. R. J., De Graeff, A., Ros, W. J. G., Hordijk, G. J., Blijham, G. H. and Winnubst, J. A. M. (2000b) 'Negative and positive influences of social support on depression in patients with head and neck cancer: A prospective study', *Psycho-Oncology*, 9(1), 20-28.
- de Leeuw, J. R., de Graeff, A., Ros, W. J. G., Blijham, G. H., Hordijk, G. J. and Winnubst, J. A. M. (2001) 'Prediction of depression 6 months to 3 years after treatment of head and neck cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 23(10), 892-898.
- De Ruiter, J. H. (1995) Social support and quality of life in cancer patients. Groningen: University of Groningen.
- De Ruiter, J. H., Dehaes, J. and Tempelaar, R. (1993) 'Cancer-patients and their network the meaning of the social network and social interactions for quality-of-life', *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 1(3), 152-155.
- Decker, C. L. (2007) 'Social support and adolescent cancer survivors: A review of the literature', *Psycho-Oncology*, 16(1), 1-11.
- Dedivitis, R. A., Guimaraes, A. V., Pfuetzenreiter, E. G., Jr. and Ferrari de Castro, M. A. (2011) 'Neck dissection complications', *Brazilian Journal of Otorhinolaryngology*, 77(1), 65-69.
- Deeks, M. (2004) Cross-cultural team working within The Cochrane Collaboration [online]. Cochrane. Available from :

www.cochrane.org/sites/default/files/.../crossculturalteamwork\_000.doc [Accessed 18 November 2013].

- Dehaes, J. and Vanknippenberg, F. C. E. (1985) 'The quality of life of cancer-patients a review of the literature', *Social Science & Medicine*, 20(8), 809-817.
- DeLongis, A., Capreol, M., Holtzman, S., O'Brien, T. and Campbell, J. (2004) 'Social support and social strain among husbands and wives: A multilevel analysis', *Journal of Family Psychology*, 18(3), 470-479.
- Demaddalena, H. and Zenner, H. P. (1991) 'Anxiety and coping with anxiety patients with head and neck-cancer', *Hno*, 39(2), 64-69.
- Deno M., Tashiro M., Miyashita M. et al. (N.D) 'The development and validation of the perception of facial disfigurement and social distress scale in head and neck cancer outpatients in Japan', *Palliat Support Care* (in press), 9(2).
- Deno, M., Tashiro, M., Miyashita, M., Asakage, T., Takahashi, K., Saito, K., Busujima, Y., Mori, Y., Saito, H. and Ichikawa, Y. (2012) 'The mediating effects of social support and self-efficacy on the relationship between social distress and emotional distress in head and neck cancer outpatients with facial disfigurement', *Psycho-Oncology*, 21(2), 144-152.
- Denzin, N. K. (1970) The Research Act in Sociology. Chicago, Aldine.
- Denzin, N. K. (1978) *The Research Act: An introduction to sociological methods*. New York, McGraw-Hill.
- Derogatis, L. R. and Savitz, K. L. (2000) 'The SCL-90-R and brief symptom inventory (BSI) in primary care', *Handbook of Psychological Assessment in Primary Care Settings*, 297-334.
- Deschler, D. G., Day, T., Sharma, A. K., and Kies, M. S. (2008) Pocket guide to TNM staging of head and neck cancer and neck dissection classification [online]. American Academy of Otolaryngology– Head and Neck Surgery Foundation, Inc. Available from : <u>https://www.entnet.org/EducationAndResearch/upload/NeckDissectionPart1.p</u> <u>df</u> [Accessed 22nd September 2012].
- Deschler, D. J. and Day, T. (2008) *TNM staging of head and neck cancer and neck dissection classification* [online]. American Academy of Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery Foundation, Inc. Available from : <u>http://www.entnet.org/EducationAndResearch/loader.cfm?csModule=security getfile&pageid=20421</u>. [Accessed 10<sup>th</sup> July 2011].
- Devins, G., Orme C., Costello C., Binik Y., Frizzell B., Stam H. J., et al. (1988) 'Measuring depressive symptoms in illness populations: psychometric properties of the CES-D Scale', *Psychol Health*, 2, 139-56.
- Diaz, J. A., Griffith, R. A., Ng, J. J., Reinert, S. E., Friedmann, P. D. and Moulton, A. W. (2002) 'Patients' use of the Internet for medical information', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 17(3), 180-185.

- Dib, L. L., Sabba L. M. B., Marques L. A. and Araujo N. S. (1994) 'Prognostic factors in squamous cell carcinoma of tongue: clinical and histopathological analysis', *Acta Oncologica*. 14 (2), 88-93.
- Dibble, S. L., Padilla, G. V., Dodd, M. J. and Miaskowski, C. (1998) 'Gender differences in the dimensions of quality of life', *Oncology nursing forum*, 25(3), 577-83.
- Diclemente, R. J. and Temoshok, L. (1985) 'Psychological adjustment to having cutaneous malignant-melanoma as a predictor of follow-up clinical status', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 47(1), 81-81.
- DiMaggio, P., Hargittai, E., Neuman, W. R. and Robinson, J. P. (2001) 'Social implications of the Internet', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27, 307-336.
- DiMatteo, M. R. (2004) 'Social support and patient adherence to medical treatment: A meta-analysis', *Health Psychology*, 23(2), 207-218.
- DiMatteo, M. R. and Hayes, R. (1981) Social support and serious illness. In: B. H. Gottlieb (Ed.), *Social networks and social support in community mental health*. Beverly Hills, CA, Sage. pp. 117–148.
- Dimitroulis, G., Reade, P. and Wiesenfeld, D. (1992) 'Referral patterns of patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma, Australia', *European journal of cancer*. *Part B, Oral oncology*, 28B(1), 23-7.
- Dobrossy, L. (2005) 'Epidemiology of head and neck cancer: Magnitude of the problem', *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 24(1), 9-17.
- Downer, M. C., Moles, D. R., Palmer, S. and Speight, P. M. (2006) 'A systematic review of measures of effectiveness in screening for oral cancer and precancer', Oral Oncology, 42 (6), 551-60.
- Dropkin, M. J. (1989) 'Coping with disfigurement and dysfunction after head and neck cancer surgery: a conceptual framework', *Seminars in oncology nursing*, 5(3), 213-9.
- Dropkin, M. J. (2001) 'Anxiety, coping strategies, and coping behaviors in patients undergoing head and neck cancer surgery', *Cancer Nursing*, 24(2), 143-148.
- Du, X. L. and Liu, C.-C. (2010) 'Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Socioeconomic Status, Diagnosis, Treatment and Survival among Medicare-insured Men and Women with Head and Neck Cancer', *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 21(3), 913-930.
- Dubner, S. and Heller, K. S. (1993) 'Local-control of squamous-cell carcinoma following marginal and segmental mandibulectomy', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 15(1), 29-32.
- Dudovskiy, J. (2014) An ultimate guide to writing a dissertation in business studies: a step-by-step assistance [online]. Research-Methodology. Available from:

http://research-methodology.net/research-methodology/research-approach/ [Accessed on 16<sup>th</sup> February 2015].

- Duffy, B., Smith, K., Terhanian, G. and Bremer, J. (2005) 'Comparing data from online and face-to-face surveys', *International Journal of Market Research*, 47(6), 615-639.
- Duffy, S. A., Ronis, D. L., Valenstein, M., Fowler, K. E., Lambert, M. T., Bishop, C., Terrell, J. E. and Univ Michigan Head Neck, C. (2007) 'Depressive symptoms, smoking, drinking, and quality of life among head and neck cancer patients', *Psychosomatics*, 48(2), 142-148.
- Duffy, S. A., Terrell, J. E., Valenstein, M., Ronis, D. L., Copeland, L. A. and Connors, M. (2002) 'Effect of smoking, alcohol, and depression on the quality of life of head and neck cancer patients', *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 24(3), 140-147.
- Duke, R. L., Campbell, B. H., Indresano, A. T., Eaton, D. J., Marbella, A. M., Myers, K. B. and Layde, P. M. (2005) 'Dental status and quality of life in long-term head and neck cancer survivors', *Laryngoscope*, 115(4), 678-683.
- Dunkelschetter, C. (1984) 'Social support and cancer findings based on patient interviews and their implications', *Journal of Social Issues*, 40(4), 77-98.
- Dunkelschetter, C., Feinstein, L. G., Taylor, S. E. and Falke, R. L. (1992) 'PATTERNS OF COPING WITH CANCER', *Health Psychology*, 11(2), 79-87.
- Eastin, M. S. and LaRose, R. (2005) 'Alt.support: modeling social support online', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 21(6), 977-992.
- Eaton, W. W., Smith, C., Ybarra, M., Carles, M. and Tien, A. (2004) Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: review and revision (CESD and CESD-R). In: Maruish ME, (eds), *The use of psychological testing for treatment planning and outcomes assessment. Instrusment for adults.* 3rd ed., Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. pp. 363–78.
- Egbert, L. D., Battit, G. E., Bartlett, M. K. and Welch, C. E. (1964) 'Reduction of postoperative pain by eencouragement + instruction of patients', *New England Journal of Medicine*, 270(16), 825-&.
- Eisbruch, A. (2011) 'Amifostine in the Treatment of Head and Neck Cancer: Intravenous Administration, Subcutaneous Administration, or None of the Above', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 29(2), 119-121.
- Elani, H. W. and Allison, P. J. (2011) 'Coping and psychological distress among head and neck cancer patients', *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 19(11), 1735-1741.
- Elani, H., Edgar, L. and Allison, P. J. (2009) 'Anxiety, depression and coping in head and neck cancer patients', *Oral Oncology*, 61-61.
- El-Deiry, M., Funk, G. F., Nalwa, S., Karnell, L. H., Smith, R. B., Buatti, J. M.,

Hoffmann, H. T., Clamon, D. H., Graham, S. M., Trask, D. K. and Dornfeld, K. J. (2005) 'Long-term quality of life for surgical and nonsurgical treatment of head and neck cancer', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 131(10), 879-885.

- Eldon, E. (2008) 2008 Growth Puts Facebook In Better Position to Make Money [online]. VentureBeat (San Francisco). Available from : <u>http://venturebeat.com/2008/12/18/2008-growth-puts-facebook-in-better-position-to-make-money/</u> [Accessed 14<sup>th</sup> November 2013].
- Ell, K. O., Mantell, J. E., Hamovitch, M. B. and Nishimoto, R. H. (1989) 'Social support sense of control and coping among patients with breast lung or colorectal cancer', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 7(3), 63-89.
- Ell, K., Nishimoto, R., Mediansky, L., Mantell, J. and Hamovitch, M. (1992) 'Socialrelations, social support and survival among patients with cancer', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 36(6), 531-541.
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C. and Lampe, C. (2007) 'The benefits of Facebook "friends": Social capital and college students' use of online social network sites', *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 12(4).
- Elwell, L., Grogan, S. and Coulson, N. (2011) 'Adolescents Living with Cancer The Role of Computer-mediated Support Groups', *Journal of Health Psychology*, 16(2), 236-248.
- Elwood, J. M., Pearson, J. C. G., Skippen, D. H. and Jackson, S. M. (1984) 'Alcohol, smoking, social and occupational factors in the etiology of cancer of the oral cavity, pharynx and larynx', *International Journal of Cancer*, 34(5), 603-612.
- Emerton, M. and Bowles, K. (2003) *Ethical and Methodological Problems in Online Research*. University of Wollongong, Australia.
- Endler, N. S. and Parker, J. D. A. (1990) 'Multidimensional assessment of coping a critical-evaluation', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(5), 844-854.
- Ensley, J.F. (2003) *Head and neck cancer: emerging perspectives*. USA, Gulf Professional Publishing.
- Epstein, J. B., Emerton, S., Kolbinson, D. A., Le, N. D., Phillips, N., Stevenson-Moore, P. and Osoba, D. (1999) 'Quality of life and oral function following radiotherapy for head and neck cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 21(1), 1-11.
- Epstein, J. B., Robertson, M., Emerton, S., Phillips, N. and Stevenson-Moore, P. (2001) 'Quality of life and oral function in patients treated with radiation therapy for head and neck cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 23(5), 389-398.

- Erzberger, C., and Kelle, U. (2003) Making inferences in mixed methods: the rules of integration. In A. Tashakkori and C. Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioural Research*. Thousand Oaks CA, Sage.
- Ess, C. and AoIR (Association of Internet Researchers Ethics Working Committee) (2002) *Ethical decision-making and Internet research* [online]. Recommendations from the AoIR ethics working committee. Available from : <u>http://aoir.org/reports/ethics.pdf</u> [Accessed 16<sup>th</sup> March 2013].
- Evans, S. J. W., Langdon, J. D., Rapidis, A. D. and Johnson, N. W. (1982) 'Prognostic-significance of stnmp and velocity of tumor-growth in oral-cancer', *Cancer*, 49(4), 773-776.
- Ewing, J. A. (1984) 'Detecting alcoholism the cage questionnaire', *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*, 252(14), 1905-1907.
- Eysenbach, G. (2003) 'The impact of the Internet on cancer outcomes', *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 53(6), 356-371.
- Eysenbach, G. and Till, J. E. (2001) 'Ethical issues in qualitative research on internet communities', *British Medical Journal*, 323(7321), 1103-1105.
- Eysenbach, G., Powell, J., Englesakis, M., Rizo, C. and Stern, A. (2004) 'Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions', *British Medical Journal*, 328(7449), 1166-1170A.
- Eysenck, H. J. and Eysenck, S. B. G. (1964) *Manual of the Eysenck Personality Inventory*. London, University of London Press.
- Facebook (2013) *Information for parents and educators* [online]. Facebook. Available from: <u>https://www.facebook.com/help/parents</u> [Accessed 14 November 2013].
- Faggiano, F., Partanen, T., Kogevinas, M. and Boffetta, P. (1997) 'Socioeconomic differences in cancer incidence and mortality', *IARC scientific publications*, (138), 65-176.
- Falagas, M. E., Zarkadoulia, E. A., Ioannidou, E. N., Peppas, G., Christodoulou, C. and Rafailidis, P. I. (2007) 'The effect of psychosocial factors on breast cancer outcome: a systematic review', *Breast Cancer Research*, 9(4).
- Fallowfield, L. J., Baum, M. and Maguire, G. P. (1987) 'Do psychological studies upset patients', *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 80(1), 59-59.
- Fan, C. Y. (2004) 'Epigenetic alterations in head and neck cancer: prevalence, clinical significance, and implications', *Current oncology reports*, 6(2), 152-61.
- Farberow, N. L., Ganzler, S., Cutter, F. and Reynolds, D. (1971) '8-Year survey of hospital suicides', *Life-Threatening Behavior*, 1(3), 184-202.
- Farquhar, M. (1995) 'Definitions of quality-of-life a taxonomy', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22(3), 502-508.

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A. and Lang, A.-G. (2009) 'Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses', *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G. and Buchner, A. (2007) 'G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences', *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191.
- Fawcett, J. and Buhle, E. L., Jr. (1995) 'Using the Internet for data collection. An innovative electronic strategy', *Computers in nursing*, 13(6), 273-9.
- Fawzy, F. I., Fawzy, N. W., Hyun, C. S., Elashoff, R., Guthrie, D., Fahey, J. L. and Morton, D. L. (1993) 'Malignant-melanoma - effects of an early structured psychiatric intervention, coping, and affective state on recurrence and survival 6 years later', *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 50(9), 681-689.
- Ferguson, T. (1996) *Health online: How to find health information, support groups,* and self-help communities in cyberspace. Reading, MA, Perseus.
- Fernback, J. (1999)There is a There There. In: S Jones (ed), 1999, *Doing Internet Research: Critical issues and methods for examining the Net.* Sage, Thousand Oaks.
- Fernsler, J. I. and Manchester, L. J. (1997) 'Evaluation of a computer-based cancer support network', *Cancer practice*, 5(1), 46-51.
- Ferrans, C. E. (2007) 'Differences in what quality-of-life instruments measure', Journal of the National Cancer Institute. Monographs, (37), 22-6.
- Ferraroni, M., Negri, E., Lavecchia, C., Davanzo, B. and Franceschi, S. (1989) 'Socioeconomic indicators, tobacco and alcohol in the etiology of digestivetract neoplasms', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 18(3), 556-562.
- Ferrell, V. (2003) Christmas, Easter, and Halloween Where Did They Come From? [online]. World in Crisis. Available from: http://www.worldincrisis.org/Christmas/Christmas-Easter.pdf. [Accesed on 15<sup>th</sup> January 2014].
- Ferrero, J., Barreto, M. P. and Toledo, M. (1994) 'Mental adjustment to cancer and quality-of-life in breast-cancer patients an exploratory-study', *Psycho-Oncology*, 3(3), 223-232.
- Field, E. A., Morrison, T., Darling, A. E., Parr, T. A. and Zakrzewska, J. M. (1995) 'Oral mucosal screening as an integral-part of routine dental-care', *British Dental Journal*, 179(7), 262-266.
- Fife, B. L., Kennedy, V. N. and Robinson, L. (1994) 'Gender and adjustment to cancer: Clinical implications', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 12(1-2), 1-21.
- Finfgeld, D. L. (2000) 'Therapeutic groups online: the good, the bad, and the unknown', *Issues in mental health nursing*, 21(3), 241-55.

- Finn, J. (1999) 'An exploration of helping processes in an online self-help group focusing on issues of disability', *Health & Social Work*, 24(3), 220-231.
- Finn, J., and Lavitt, M. (1994) 'Computer based self-help groups for sexual abuse survivors', *Social Work With Groups*, 17(1/2), 41-46.
- Fisher, R. E., Donziger, M. and Lahr, L. (2009) 'Analysis of the MyLifeLine.org Cancer Foundation user database: Does a cancer patient website for internet communication between cancer patients and their wellwisher community assist in cancer patient support?', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(15).
- Flapper, B. C. and Van den Heuvel, M. (2011) 'Health-related quality of life in school-age children with speech-language-impairment', *Journal of Neurology*, 258, 233-234.
- Flicker, S., Haans, D. and Skinner, H. (2004) 'Ethical dilemmas in research on Internet communities', *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(1), 124-134.
- Floyd, F. J., Ofarrell, T. J. and Goldberg, M. (1987) 'Comparison of marital observational measures the marital interaction coding system and the communication-skills test', *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 55(3), 423-429.
- Flynn, M. B. and Leightty, F. F. (1987) 'Preoperative outpatient nutritional support of patients with squamous cancer of the upper aerodigestive tract', *American Journal of Surgery*, 154(4), 359-362.
- Fobair, P. (1997) 'Cancer support groups and group therapies .1. Historical and theoretical background and research on effectiveness', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 15(1), 63-81.
- Fogel, J., Albert, S. M., Schnabel, F., Ditkoff, B. A. and Neugut, A. I. (2002) 'Internet use and social support in women with breast cancer', *Health Psychology*, 21(4), 398-404.
- Fogel, J., Albert, S. M., Schnabel, F., Ditkoff, B. A. and Neugut, A. I. (2003) 'Racial/ethnic differences and potential psychological benefits in use of the Internet by women with breast cancer', *Psycho-Oncology*, 12(2), 107-117.
- Fogel, J., Ribisl, K. M., Morgan, P. D., Humphreys, K. and Lyons, E. J. (2008) 'The underrepresentation of African Americans in online cancer support groups', *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 100(6), 705-712.
- Folkman, S. and Lazarus, R. S. (1980) 'An analysis of coping in a middle-aged community sample', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21(3), 219-239.
- Fong, T. C. and Ho, R. T. (2015) 'Re-examining the factor structure and psychometric properties of the Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer Scale in a sample of 364 Chinese cancer patients', *Support Care Cancer*, 23(2), 353-8.
- Fontana, A. & Frey, J. H. (2003) The Interview: From Structured Questions to Negotiated Text. In: N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S., (eds.), *Collecting and*

*Interpreting Qualitative Materials,* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed). Denzin, USA, SAGE Publications. pp. 61-106.

- Fortin, F. and Kirouac, S. (1976) 'Randomized controlled trial of preoperative patient education', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 13(1), 11-24.
- Fowler, G. A. (2012) Facebook: One Billion and Counting [online]. The Wall Street Journal.Aavailable from : <u>http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10000872396390443635404578036164</u> 027386112 [Accessed 14th November 2013].
- Fox, S. and Rainie, L. (2002) Vital decisions: How internet users decide what information to trust when they or their loved ones are sick. Washington, DC, Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Frampton, M. (2001) 'Psychological distress in patients with head and neck cancer: review', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 39(1), 67-70.
- Frankel, M., and Siang, S. (1999) Ethical and legal issues of human subjects research on the Internet Report of a workshop [online].Washington, DC: American Association for the Advancement of Science. Available from : <u>http://www.aaas.org/spp/sfrl/projects/intres/report.pdf</u> [Accessed 26th March 2013].
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C. and Nachmias, D. (1992) Research methods in the social sciences (4th ed.). New York, St. Martin's Press.
- Freedman, N. D., Abnet, C. C., Leitzmann, M. F., Hollenbeck, A. R. and Schatzkin, A. (2007) 'Prospective investigation of the cigarette smoking-head and neck cancer association by sex', *Cancer*, 110(7), 1593-1601.
- Frey, L. R., Kenneth N. and Cissna, K. N. (2009) *Routledge Handbook of Applied Communication Research*. Routledge, Abingdon-Oxford.
- Friedman, L. C., Baer, P. E., Lewy, A., Lane, M. and Smith, F. E. (1988) 'Predictors of psychosocial adjustment to breast cancer', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 6(1-2), 75-94.
- Friis, R. and Seller, T. (1999) *Epidemiology For Public Health Practice*. Gaitherburg, MD, Aspen.
- Fromme, E. K., Eilers, K. M., Mori, M., Hsieh, Y. C. and Beer, T. M. (2004) 'How accurate is clinician reporting of chemotherapy adverse effects? A comparison with patient-reported symptoms from the Quality-of-Life Questionnaire C30', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22(17), 3485-3490.
- Fukuyama, F. (1995) *Trust: The Social Virtues and the Creation of Prosperity*. New York, The Free Press.
- Fulk, J. and Collins-Jarvis, L. (2001) Wired meetings: technological mediation of organized gatherings. In: F, M. Jablin, and L, L. Putnam, (Eds), *The New*

Handbook of Organizational Communication: Advances in Theory, Research and Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. pp. 624-663.

- Furness, S., Glenny, A. M., Worthington, H. V., Pavitt, S., Oliver, R., Clarkson, J E., Macluskey, M., Chan, K. K., Conway, D. I.; CSROC Expert Panel. (2011) 'Interventions for the treatment of oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancer: chemotherapy', *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, (4),
- Gagliardi, C., Vespa, A., Papa, R., Mariotti, C., Cascinu, S. and Rossini, S. (2009) 'Social Support Networks and Depression of Women Suffering from Early-Stage Breast Cancer: A Case Control Study', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 27(2), 216-229.
- Gaiser, T. J. (1997) 'Conducting on-line focus groups A methodological discussion', Social Science Computer Review, 15(2), 135-144.
- Gamba, A., Romano, M., Grosso, I. M., Tamburini, M., Cantu, G., Molinari, R. and Ventafridda, V. (1992) 'Psychosocial adjustment of patients surgically treated for head and neck-cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 14(3), 218-223.
- Garzaro, M., Caldera, R., Pecorari, G., Amodeo, L., Varetto, A., Airoldi, M., Giordano, C. and Torta, R. (2007) 'Long term quality of life and psychological response after surgery and radiotherapy in head and neck cancer patients', *Ejc Supplements*, 5(4), 334-334.
- Geist, M. (2001) 'Is there a there there? Toward greater certainty for Internet jurisdiction', *Berkeley Technology Law Journal*, 16,(3). 1345-1406.
- Gengler, C. E. and Reynolds, T, J. (1993) *Laddermap: A Software Tool for Analyzing Laddering Data*. Vol. 5.4, Camden, New Jersey, Means-End Software.
- George, D. and Mallery, M. (2010) SPSS for Windows Step by Step: A Simple Guide and Reference, 17.0 update (10a ed.). Boston, Pearson
- Gibbons, C. J., Mills, R. J., Thornton, E. W., Ealing, J., Mitchell, J. D., Shaw, P. J., Talbot, K., Tennant, A. and Young, C. A. (2011) 'Rasch analysis of the hospital anxiety and depression scale (hads) for use in motor neurone disease', *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 9.
- Giddens, A. (1991) *Modernity and self-identity: Self and society in the late modern age.* Cambridge, Polity Press.
- Gil, Z. and Fliss, D. M. (2009) 'Contemporary Management of Head and Neck Cancers', *Israel Medical Association Journal*, 11(5), 296-300.
- Gilson, B. S., Gilson, J. S., Bergner, M., Bobbitt, R. A., Kressel, S., Pollard, W. E. and Vesselago, M. (1975) 'Sickness impact profile - development of an outcome measure of health-care', *American Journal of Public Health*, 65(12), 1304-1310.
- Girod, D. A., McCulloch, T. M., Tsue, T. T. and Weymuller, E. A. (1995) 'Risk-

factors for complications in clean-contaminated head and neck surgicalprocedures', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 17(1), 7-13.

- Glanz, K. and Lerman, C. (1992) 'Psychosocial impact of breast cancer a critical review', *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 14(3), 204-212.
- Glenny, A.M., Furness, S., Worthington, H. V., Conway, D. I., Oliver, R., Clarkson, J. E., Macluskey, M., Pavitt, S., Chan, K. K., Brocklehurst, P.; CSROC Expert Panel. (2010) 'Interventions for the treatment of oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancer: radiotherapy', *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, 8(12).
- Goffman, E. (1967) Interaction ritual: Essays on face-to-face behaviour. New York, Anchor.
- Goffman, E. (1971) *Relations in public: Microstudies of the public order*. New York, Basic Books
- Goffman, E. (1983) 'The Interaction Order', *American Sociological Review*, 48(1), 1-17.
- Golant, M., Lieberman, M., Giese-Davis, J., Winzelberg, A. and Ellis, W. (2004) 'Emotional expression and facilitation of online vs. face-to-face breast cancer support groups', *Psycho-Oncology*, 13(1), S18-S19.
- Goldberg D. and Williams P. (1988) *A user's guide to the general health questionnaire*. Windsor, UK, NFER-Nelson Publishing.
- Goldberg, D. P. (1978) *Manual of the General Health Questionnaire*, , Windsor.UK National, Foundation for Educational Research.
- Goldberg, R. J. and Cullen, L. O. (1985) 'Factors important to psychosocial adjustment to cancer a review of the evidence', *Social Science & Medicine*, 20(8), 803-807.
- Goldstein, L. H., Atkins, L. and Leigh, P. N. (2002) 'Correlates of quality of life in people with motor neuron disease (MND)', *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Other Motor Neuron Disorders*, 3(3), 123-129.
- Goldstein, L. H., Atkins, L., Landau, S., Brown, R. G. and Leigh, P. N. (2006) 'Longitudinal predictors of psychological distress and self-esteem in people with ALS', *Neurology*, 67(9), 1652-1658.
- Gonzalez, J. S., Penedo, F. J., Antoni, M. H., Durdan, R. E., Fernandez, M. I., McPherson-Baker, S., Ironson, G., Klimas, N. G., Fletcher, M. A. and Schneiderman, N. (2004) 'Social support, positive states of mind, and HIV treatment adherence in men and women living with HIV/AIDS', *Health Psychology*, 23(4), 413-418.
- Goodwin, J. S., Hunt, W. C. and Samet, J. M. (1991) 'A population-based study of functional status and social support networks of elderly patients newly diagnosed with cancer', *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 151(2), 366-370.

- Goodwin, P. J. (2005) 'Support groups in advanced breast cancer Living better if not longer', *Cancer*, 104(11), 2596-2601.
- Goodwin, W. J., Thomas, G. R., Parker, D. F., Joseph, D., Levis, S., Franzmann, E., Anello, C. and Hu, J. J. (2008) 'Unequal burden of head and neck cancer in the United States', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 30(3), 358-371.
- Gornick, M. E., Eggers, P. W. and Riley, G. F. (2004) 'Associations of race, education, and patterns of preventive service use with stage of cancer at time of diagnosis', *Health Services Research*, 39(5), 1403-1427.
- Gotay, C. C. and Moore, T. D. (1992) 'Assessing quality of life in head and neck cancer', *Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation*, 1(1), 5-17.
- Grassi, L., Buda, P., Cavana, L., Annunziata, M. A., Torta, R. and Varetto, A. (2005) 'Styles of coping with cancer: The Italian version of the mini-mental adjustment to cancer (Mini-MAC) scale', *Psycho-Oncology*, 14(2), 115-124.
- Green, C. A. and Pope, C. R. (1999) 'Gender, psychosocial factors and the use of medical services: a longitudinal analysis', *Social Science & Medicine*, 48(10), 1363-1372.
- Greenberg, R. S., Haber, M. J., Clark, W. S., Brockman, J. E., Liff, J. M., Schoenberg, J. B., Austin, D. F., Preston-Martin, S., Stemhagen, A. and Winn, D. M. (1991) 'The relation of socioeconomic status to oral and pharyngeal cancer', *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 2(3), 194-200.
- Greenfield, S., Kaplan, S. and Ware, J. E. (1985) 'Expanding patient involvement in care effects on patient outcomes', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 102(4), 520-528.
- Greenfield, S., Kaplan, S. H., Ware, J. E., Yano, E. M. and Frank, H. J. L. (1988) 'Patients participation in medical-care - effects on blood-sugar control and quality of life in diabetes', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 3(5), 448-457.
- Greer, S. (1985) Cancer: Psychiatric aspects. In: G-G. Kenneth, *Recent advances in clinical psychiatry*. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone. pp. 87–104.
- Greer, S., Morris, T., Pettingale, K. W. and Haybittle, J. L. (1990) 'Psychological response to breast-cancer and 15-year outcome', *Lancet*, 335(8680), 49-50.
- Greimel, E. R., Padilla, G. V. and Grant, M. M. (1998) 'Gender differences in outcomes among patients with cancer', *Psycho-Oncology*, 7(3), 197-206.
- Griffiths, K. M., Mackinnon, A. J., Crisp, D. A., Christensen, H., Bennett, K. and Farrer, L. (2012) 'The Effectiveness of an Online Support Group for Members of the Community with Depression: A Randomised Controlled Trial', *Plos One*, 7(12).

- Grissett, N. I. and Norvell, N. K. (1992) 'Perceived social support, social skills, and quality of relationships in bulimic women', *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 60(2), 293-299.
- Gritz, E. R., Carmack, C. L., de Moor, C., Coscarelli, A., Schacherer, C. W., Meyers, E. G. and Abemayor, E. (1999) 'First year after head and neck cancer: Quality of life', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17(1), 352-360.
- Guidry, J. J., Aday, L. A., Zhang, D. and Winn, R. J. (1997) 'The role of informal and formal social support networks for patients with cancer', *Cancer Practice*, 5(4), 241-246.
- Gutman, J. (1982) 'A means-end chain model based on consumer categorization processes', *Journal of Marketing*, 46(2), 60-72.
- Haddad, R. I. and Shin, D. M. (2008) 'Recent advances in head and neck cancer', *New England Journal of Medicine*, 359(11), 1143-1154.
- Hae-Young, K. (2013) 'Statistical notes for clinical researchers: assessing normal distribution (2) using skewness and kurtosis', *Restorative Dentistry and Endodontic*, 38(1), 52-54.
- Haisfield-Wolfe, M. E., McGuire, D. B. and Krumm, S. (2012) 'Perspectives on Coping Among Patients With Head and Neck Cancer Receiving Radiation', *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 39(3), 275-275.
- Haisfield-Wolfe, M. E., McGuire, D. B., Soeken, K., Geiger-Brown, J. and De Forge, B. R. (2009) 'Prevalence and correlates of depression among patients with head and neck cancer: a systematic review of implications for research', *Oncology nursing forum*, 36(3), E107-25.
- Haman, K. L. (2008) 'Psychologic distress and head and neck cancer: part 1--review of the literature', *The journal of supportive oncology*, 6(4), 155-63.
- Hammerlid, E., Silander, E., Hornestam, L. and Sullivan, M. (2001) 'Health-related quality of life three years after diagnosis of head and neck cancer - A longitudinal study', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 23(2), 113-125.
- Hammersley, M. (2008) Troubles with triangulation. In Bergman, Manfred Max (Eds.), *Advances in Mixed Methods Research*. London, Sage. pp. 22–36.
- Han, H. R. and Belcher, A. E. (2001) 'Computer-mediated support group use among parents of children with cancer - An exploratory study', *Computers in Nursing*, 19(1), 27-33.
- Hann, D. M., Oxman, T. E., Ahles, T. A., Furstenberg, C. T. and Stuke, T. A. (1995) 'Social support adequacy and depression in older patients with metastatic cancer', *Psycho-Oncology*, 4(3), 213-221.
- Hanna, E., Alexiou, M., Morgan, J., Badley, J., Maddox, A. M., Penagaricano, J., Fan, C. Y., Breau, R. and Suen, J. (2004) 'Intensive chemoradiotherapy as a

primary treatment for organ preservation in patients with advanced cancer of the head and neck - Efficacy, toxic effects, and limitations', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 130(7), 861-867.

- Harden, S. (2014) *Facebook Statistics* [online]. Statistic Brain Available from : <u>http://www.statisticbrain.com/facebook-statistics/</u> [Accessed 7th April 2014].
- Hardey, M. (1999) 'Doctor in the house: the Internet as a source of lay health knowledge and the challenge to expertise', *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 21(6), 820-835.
- Harrington, R. A., Lui, M. B. and Davis, K. (2010) 'The Belmont Report Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research', *Clinical Trials Manual from the Duke Clinical Research Institute: Lessons* from a Horse Named Jim, Second Edition, 332-341.
- Hashibe, M., Brennan, P., Benhamou, S., Castellsague, X., Chu, C., Paula Curado, M., Dal Maso, L., Dauct, A. W., Fabianova, E., Wunsch-Filho, V., Franceschi, S., Hayes, R. B., Herrero, R., Koifman, S., La Vecchia, C., Lazarus, P., Levi, F., Mates, D., Matos, E., Menezes, A., Muscat, J., Eluf-Neto, J., Olshan, A. F., Rudnai, P., Schwartz, S. M., Smith, E., Sturgis, E. M., Szeszenia-Dabrowska, N., Talamini, R., Wei, Q., Winn, D. M., Zaridze, D., Zatonski, W., Zhang, Z.-F., Berthiller, J. and Boffetta, P. (2007) 'Alcohol drinking in never users of tobacco, cigarette smoking in never drinkers, and the risk of head and neck cancer: Pooled analysis in the international head and neck cancer epidemiology consortium', *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 99(10), 777-789.
- Hassan, S. J. and Weymuller, E. A. (1993) 'Assessment of quality-of-life in head and neck-cancer patients', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 15(6), 485-496.
- Hassanein, K., Musgrove, B. T. and Bradbury, E. (2001) 'Functional status of patients with oral cancer and its relation to style of coping, social support and psychological status', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 39(5), 340-345.
- Hayat, M. J., Howlader, N., Reichman, M. E. and Edwards, B. K. (2007) 'Cancer statistics, trends, and multiple primary cancer analyses from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER) program', *Oncologist*, 12(1), 20-37.
- Hayes, A. F. (2013) Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: a regression-based approach, Guilford Press 2013
- Hayes, N. (1997) Theory-led thematic analysis: Social identification in small companies. In: N. Hayes (Ed.), *Doing qualitative analysis in psychology*. East Sussex: Psychology Press. .pp. 93–114.
- Hearn, F. (1997) Moral Order and Social Disorder: The American Search for Civil Society. New York, Aldine de Gruyter.

Heitzmann, C. A. and Kaplan, R. M. (1988) 'Assessment of methods for measuring

social support', *Health Psychology*, 7(1), 75-109.

- Heitzmann, C. A., Merluzzi, T. V., Jean-Pierre, P., Roscoe, J. A., Kirsh, K. L. and Passik, S. D. (2011) 'Assessing self-efficacy for coping with cancer: development and psychometric analysis of the brief version of the Cancer Behavior Inventory (CBI-B)', *Psycho-Oncology*, 20(3), 302-312.
- Helft, P. R., Hlubocky, F. and Daugherty, C. K. (2003) 'American oncologists' views of Internet use by cancer patients: A mail survey of American Society of Clinical Oncology members', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 21(5), 942-947.
- Helgeson, V. S. (1993) 'The onset of chronic illness its effect on the patient-spouse relationship', *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 12(4), 406-428.
- Helgeson, V. S. and Cohen, S. (1996) 'Social support and adjustment to cancer: Reconciling descriptive, correlational, and intervention research', *Health Psychology*, 15(2), 135-148.
- Heller, K. and Rook, K. S. (1997) Distinguishing the theoretical functions of social ties: Implications for support interventions. In: S. Duck (Ed.), *Handbook of personal relationships: Theory, research, and interventions*. 2nd ed. New Jersey, Wiley. pp. 649–670.
- Henderson, P. D. and Fogel, J. (2003) 'Support networks used by African American breast cancer support group participants', *The ABNF journal : official journal* of the Association of Black Nursing Faculty in Higher Education, Inc, 14(5), 95-8.
- Henderson, S. (1980) 'Development in social-psychiatry systematic study of social bonds', *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 168(2), 63-69.
- Hermaneck, P. and Sobin, LH. (1987) *TNM classification of malignant tumors*. *International Union Against Cancer*. 4th ed. Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Heron, D. (2005) 'Reducing treatment side effects for head and neck cancer', *British dental journal*, 199(9), 555.
- Hewson, C. (2010) Internet-mediated research and its potential role in facilitating mixed methods research. In: S. N. Hesse-Biber and P. Leavy (Eds.), *Handbook of emergent methods*. New York, Guilford. pp. 543–570.
- Hewson, C. and Buchanan, T. (2013) *Ethical guidelines for conducting internet mediated research*. Leicester, The British Psychological societ.
- Hirai K., Suzuki Y., Tsuneto S. et al. (2001) 'Self-efficacy scale for terminal cancer [Japanese] ', *Japanese Journal of Psychosomatic Medicine*, 41(1):19–27.
- Hirsh, B. (1980) Natural support systems and coping process: Creating personal communities. In: B. H. Gottlieb (ed.) *Social networks and social support*. Beverly Hills, CA: SAGE Publications. pp. 149-170.
- Ho, P. S., Yang, Y. H., Shieh, T. Y., Chen, C. H., Tsai, C. C. and Ko, Y. C. (2007)

'Ethnic differences in the occurrence of oropharyngeal cancer in Taiwan', *Public Health*, 121(10), 765-773.

- Ho, S. M. Y., Fung, W. K., Chan, C. L. W., Watson, M. and Tsui, Y. K. Y. (2003) 'Psychometric properties of the Chinese version of the Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer (Mini-MAC) scale', *Psycho-Oncology*, 12(6), 547-556.
- Ho, S. M., Fung, W. K., Chan, C. L., Watson, M. and Tsui, Y. K. (2003) 'Psychometric properties of the Chinese version of Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer (Mini-MAC) scale', *Psychooncology*, 12(6), 547-56.
- Hodges, L. J. and Humphris, G. M. (2009) 'Fear of recurrence and psychological distress in head and neck cancer patients and their carers', *Psycho-Oncology*, 18(8), 841-848.
- Hofstede, G. (1996) Cultures and organizations; software of the mind. intercultural co-operation and its importance for survival. McGraw-Hill (Revised edition).
- Holbrey, S. and Coulson, N. S. (2013) 'A qualitative investigation of the impact of peer to peer online support for women living with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome', *Bmc Womens Health*, 13. 51
- Holland, J. (1986) 'Special problems of cancer patients returning to work', *Transactions of the Association of Life Insurance Medical Directors of America*, 69, 87-94.
- Holstein, J., and Gubrium, J., F. (2012) Varieties of Narrative Analysis. Thousand Oaks CA, London, New Delhi, Singapore: Sage.
- Holsti, O. R. (1969) Content Analysis for the Social Sciences and Humanities. Menlo Park, CA, Addison Wesley.
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B. and Layton, J. B. (2010) 'Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: A Meta-analytic Review', *Plos Medicine*, 7(7).
- Honor Cancer Nursing (STTI) (2011) What are the side effects of chemotherapy for head and neck cancer [online]. Share Care. Available from : <u>http://www.sharecare.com/question/side-effects-head-neck-chemotherapy</u>. [Accessed 11 July 2011].
- Hoodin, F. and Weber, S. (2003) 'A systematic review of psychosocial factors affecting survival after bone marrow transplantation', *Psychosomatics*, 44(3), 181-195.
- Hooley, T., Wellens, J., and Marriott, J. (2012) *What is Online research?: Using the Internet for social science research.* New York, Bloomsbury Academic.
- Hopko, D. R. and Lejuez, C. W. (2008) *A cancer patient's guide to overcoming depression and anxiety*. Oakland, AC, New Harbinger Publications.
- Horney, D. J., Smith, H. E., McGurk, M., Weinman, J., Herold, J., Altman, K. and Llewellyn, C. D. (2011) 'Associations between quality of life, coping styles,

optimism, and anxiety and depression in pretreatment patients with head and neck cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 33(1), 65-71.

- Horowitz, A. M., Goodman, H. S., Yellowitz, J. A. and Nourjah, P. A. (1996) 'The need for health promotion in oral cancer prevention and early detection', *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 56(6), 319-330.
- Horowitz, M., Wilner, N. and Alvarez, W. (1979) 'Impact of event scale measure of subjective stress', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 41(3), 209-218.
- Horrigan, J. B. and Rainie, L. (2006) The Internet's growing role in life's major moments. Pew Internet & American Life Project Report [online]. Pew Internet & American Life Project Web site. Available from: http://www.pewinternet.org/2006/04/19/the-internets-growing-role-in-lifesmajor-moments/. [Accessed 27th January 2013].
- Hossain, L., and Wigand, R. T., (2004) 'ICT Enabled Virtual Collaboration through Trust', *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*,10(1), 00.
- House, J.S. (1981) Work Stress and Social Support. Reading, Mass, Addison-Wesley.
- Houston, T. K., Cooper, L. A. and Ford, D. E. (2002) 'Internet support groups for depression: A 1-year prospective cohort study', *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(12), 2062-2068.
- Howren, M. B., Christensen, A. J., Karnell, L. H., Van Liew, J. R. and Funk, G. F. (2013b) 'Influence of pretreatment social support on health-related quality of life in head and neck cancer survivors: Results from a prospective study', *Head* and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck, 35(6), 779-787.
- Howren, M.B., Christensen, A.J., Karnell, L.H., *et al.* (2011) 'Influence of pretreatment social support on post treatment depression and health – related quality of life in patients with head and neck cancer', *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*; 41 (sup 1), S59 – S59.
- Hoybye, M. T. (2002) Storytelling of breast cancer in cyberspace. On-line counteractions to the isolation and demeaning of illness experience. University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Science Shop.
- Hoybye, M. T., Dalton, S. O., Deltour, I., Bidstrup, P. E., Frederiksen, K. and Johansen, C. (2010) 'Effect of Internet peer-support groups on psychosocial adjustment to cancer: a randomised study', *British Journal of Cancer*, 102(9), 1348-1354.
- Hoybye, M. T., Johansen, C. and Tjornhoj-Thomsen, T. (2005) 'Online interaction. effects of storytelling in an Internet breast cancer support group', *Psycho-Oncology*, 14(3), 211-220.
- Hsiung, R. C. (2000) 'The best of both worlds: An online self-help group hosted by a mental health professional', *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 3(6), 935-950.

- Huang, M.-F., Yen, C.-F. and Lung, F.-W. (2010) 'Moderators and mediators among panic, agoraphobia symptoms, and suicidal ideation in patients with panic disorder', *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 51(3), 243-249.
- Huguenin, P. U., Taussky, D., Moe, K., Meister, A., Baumert, B., Lutolf, U. M. and Glanzmann, C. (1999) 'Quality of life in patients cured from a carcinoma of the head and neck by radiotherapy: The importance of the target volume', *International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics*, 45(1), 47-52.
- Hulbert-Williams, N. J., Hulbert-Williams, L., Morrison, V., Neal, R. D. and Wilkinson, C. (2012) 'The Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer Scale: reanalysis of its psychometric properties in a sample of 160 mixed cancer patients', *Psycho-Oncology*, 21(7), 792-797.
- Hulbert-Williams, N. J., Hulbert-Williams, L., Morrison, V., Neal, R. D., and Wilkinson C. (2012) 'The mini-mental adjustment to cancer scale: re-analysis of its psychometric properties in a sample of 160 mixed cancer patients', *Psychooncology*, 21(7), 792-7.
- Humphreys, L. (2007) 'Mobile social networks and social practice: A case study of dodgeball', Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 13(1).
- Humphris, G. M., Morrison, T. and Lindsay, S. J. (1995) 'The Modified Dental Anxiety Scale: validation and United Kingdom norms', *Community dental health*, 12(3), 143-50.
- Humphris, G. M., Rogers, S., McNally, D., Lee-Jones, C., Brown, J. and Vaughan, D. (2003) 'Fear of recurrence and possible cases of anxiety and depression in orofacial cancer patients', *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 32(5), 486-491.
- Hunt N., McHale, S.L. (2007) 'A practical guide to the e-mail interview', *Qualitative Health Psychology*, 17(10), 1415-1421.
- Huws, J.C., Jones, R.S.P., and Ingledew, D.K. (2001) 'Parents of children with autism using an e-mail group: A grounded theory study', *Journal of Health Psychology*, 6, 569–584.
- IARC (2012) Globocan 2012: Estimated cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide in 2012 [online]. Globocan. Available from : <u>http://globocan.iarc.fr/Pages/fact\_sheets\_population.aspx</u> [Accessed 18th April 2014].
- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer) (2008) Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide in 2008 [online]. International Agency for Research on Cancer IARC Globocan, 2008. Available from: <u>http://globocan.iarc.fr/</u> [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> May 2011].
- IARC (International Agency on Research on Cancer) (2004) Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Betel-quid and areca-nut chewing and some areca-nut related nitrosamines, vol. 85. Lyons, IARC.

- Iliades, C. (2010) *Head and Neck Cancer Can Be Tough on Your Sex Life* [online]. Care pages Available from: <u>http://www.carepages.com/cancer/head\_neck-cancer-and-sex.html</u>. [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> July 2011].
- Im, E. O. (2011) 'Online support of patients and survivors of cancer', *Seminars in oncology nursing*, 27(3), 229-36.
- Im, E. O. and Chee, W. (2004) 'Issues in Internet survey research among cancer patients', *Cancer Nursing*, 27(1), 34-42.
- Im, E. O., Chee, W., Tsai, H. M., Lim, H. J., Guevara, E. and Liu, Y. (2010) 'Evaluation Criteria for Internet Cancer Support Groups', *Cin-Computers Informatics Nursing*, 28(3), 183-188.
- Im, E. O., Chee, W., Tsai, H. M., Lin, L. C. and Cheng, C. Y. (2005) 'Internet cancer support groups - A feminist analysis', *Cancer Nursing*, 28(1), 1-7.
- Immanuel, K. (2011) *Laparoscopic Surgery* [online]. The American College of Gastroenterology. Available from : <u>http://www.acg.gi.org/patients/gihealth/pdf/ls.pdf</u> [Accessed 17<sup>th</sup> June 2011].
- Internet archive (2010) *Stay in touch with yahoo pager* [online]. Internet archive. Availablefrom: <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20101209020208/http://yhoo.cli</u> <u>ent.shareholder.com/press/ReleaseDetail.cfm?ReleaseID=173501</u> [Accessed 14th November 2013].
- Iro, H. and Waldfahrer, F. (1998) 'Evaluation of the newly updated TNM classification of head and neck carcinoma with data from 3247 patients', *Cancer*, 83(10), 2201-2207.
- Ishii, K. (2008) Uses and gratifications of online communities in Japan. Japan ,University of Tsukuba.
- Jackson, L. A. (1992) Physical appearance and gender. Albany, NY, SUNY Press.
- Jacobs, C., Lyman, G., Velezgarcia, E., Sridhar, K. S., Knight, W., Hochster, H., Goodnough, L. T., Mortimer, J. E., Einhorn, L. H., Schacter, L., Cherng, N., Dalton, T., Burroughs, J. and Rozencweig, M. (1992) 'A phase-iii randomized study comparing cisplatin and fluorouracil as single agents and in combination for advanced squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 10(2), 257-263.
- Jacoby, W. G. (2005) *Outliers and Influential data* [online]. Michigan State University. Available from: <u>http://polisci.msu.edu/jacoby/icpsr/regress3/lectures/week3/11.Outliers.pdf</u> [Accessed 27th April 2015].
- Jalowiec, A. and Powers, M. J. (1981) 'Stress and coping in hypertensive and emergency room patients', *Nursing Research*, 30(1), 10-15.
- James, N. and Busher, H. (2006) 'Credibility, authenticity and voice: dilemmas in online interviewing', *Qualitative Research Journal*, 6 (3), 403-20.

- Jemal, A., Siegel, R., Ward, E., Hao, Y., Xu, J., Murray, T. and Thun, M. J. (2008) 'Cancer statistics, 2008', *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 58(2), 71-96.
- Jiang, D. and Morrison, G. A. J. (2003) 'The influence of long-term tracheostomy on speech and language development in children', *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 67, S217-S220.
- Johansson, M., Ryden, A. and Finizia, C. (2011) 'Mental adjustment to cancer and its relation to anxiety, depression, HRQL and survival in patients with laryngeal cancer A longitudinal study', *Bmc Cancer*, 11.
- Johnson, N. (2001) 'Tobacco use and oral cancer: a global perspective', *Journal of dental education*, 65(4), 328-39.
- Johnston, M., Pollard, B. and Hennessey, P. (2000) 'Construct validation of the hospital anxiety and depression scale with clinical populations', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 48(6), 579-584.
- Jones, R. A. (1994) 'The ethics of research in cyberspace', *Internet Research-Electronic Networking Applications and Policy*, 4(3), 30-35.
- Jones, S. (1999) Studying the Net: Intricacies and Issues. In: S Jones (ed), *Doing Internet Research: Critical issues and methods for examining the Net.* Sage, Thousand Oaks.
- Jouniaux-Delbez, N., Delgadillo, D. and Taillibert, S. (2010) 'Depression, anxiety, fatigue and cognitive impairment: their contribution to brain tumor patients' quality of life Review', *Psycho-Oncologie*, 4(2), 116-122.
- Jovanovic, A., Kostense, P. J., Schulten, E. A., Snow, G. B. and van der Waal, I. (1992) 'Delay in diagnosis of oral squamous cell carcinoma; a report from The Netherlands', *European journal of cancer. Part B, Oral oncology*, 28B(1), 37-8.
- Ju, V. and Zhang, A. (2014) 'African American Cancer Patients' Social Network and Support', *Psycho-Oncology*, 23, 79-80.
- Kahn R. L. and Antonucci T. C. (1980) Convoys over the life-course: attachment, roles and social support. In: PB. Baltes, OG. Brim, editors. *Life-span development and behaviour*. New York, Academic Press. pp. 253-86.
- Kalichman, S. C., Benotsch, E. G., Weinhardt, L., Austin, J., Luke, W. and Cherry, C. (2003) 'Health-related Internet use, coping, social support, and health indicators in people living with HIV/AIDS: Preliminary results from a community survey', *Health Psychology*, 22(1), 111-116.
- Kalichman, S. C., Cain, D., Cherry, C., Pope, H., Eaton, L. and Kalichman, M. O. (2005) 'Internet use among people living with HIV/AIDS: Coping and healthrelated correlates', *Aids Patient Care and Stds*, 19(7), 439-448.
- Kalichman, S. C., Weinhardt, L., Benotsch, E., DiFonzo, K., Luke, W. and Austin, J. (2002) 'Internet access and Internet use for health information among people

living with HIV-AIDS', Patient Education and Counseling, 46(2), 109-116.

- Kang, J. I., Chung, H. C., Kim, S. J., Choi, H. J., Ahn, J. B., Jeung, H.-C. and Namkoong, K. (2008) 'Standardization of the Korean version of Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer (K-Mini-MAC) scale: factor structure, reliability and validity', *Psycho-Oncology*, 17(6), 592-597.
- Kaplan, B. H., Cassel, J. C. and Gore, S. (1977) 'Social support and health', *Medical care*, 15(5 SUPPL), 47-58.
- Karnell, L. H., Christensen, A. J., Rosenthal, E. L., Magnuson, J. S. and Funk, G. F. (2007) 'Influence of social support on health-related quality of life outcomes in head and neck cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 29(2), 143-146.
- Karnell, L. H., Funk, G. F. and Hoffman, H. T. (2000) 'Assessing head and neck cancer patient outcome domains', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 22(1), 6-11.
- Karnell, L. H., Funk, G. F., Christensen, A. J., Rosenthal, E. L. and Magnuson, J. S. (2006) 'Persistent posttreatment depressive symptoms in patients with head and neck cancer (Reprinted vol 28, pg 453, 2006)', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 28(5), 453-461.
- Karnofsky, DA. and Burchenal, JH. (1949) The Clinical Evaluation of Chemotherapeutic Agents in Cancer. In: MacLeod CM (Ed), *Evaluation of Chemotherapeutic Agents*. Columbia Univ Press.
- Kato, I. and Nomura, A. M. Y. (1994) 'Alcohol in the etiology of upper aerodigestive tract cancer', *Oral Oncology-European Journal of Cancer Part B*, 30B(2), 75-81.
- Kattainen, E., Merilainen, P. and Jokela, V. (2004) 'CABG and PTCA patients' expectations of informational support in health- related quality of life themes and adequacy of information in 1-year follow-up', *European journal of cardiovascular nursing : journal of the Working Group on Cardiovascular Nursing of the European Society of Cardiology*, 3(2), 149-63.
- Katz, M. R., Irish J. C., Devins, G. M., Rodin, G. M. and Gullane, P. J. (2000) Reliability and validity of an observer-rated disfigurement scale for head and neck cancer patients', *Head Neck*, 22, 132-141.
- Katz, M. R., Irish, J. C., Devins, G. M., Psych, C., Rodin, G. M. and Gullane, P. J. (2003) 'Psychosocial adjustment in head and neck cancer: The impact of disfigurement, gender and social support', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 25(2), 103-112.
- Katz, M. R., Irish, J. C., Devins, G. M., Rodin, G. M. and Gullane, P. J. (2000) 'Reliability and validity of an observer-rated disfigurement scale for head and neck cancer patients', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties* of the Head and Neck, 22(2), 132-141.

- Kawachi, I., Colditz, G. A., Ascherio, A., Rimm, E. B., Giovannucci, E., Stampfer, M. J. and Willett, W. C. (1996) 'A prospective study of social networks in relation to total mortality and cardiovascular disease in men in the USA', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 50(3), 245-251.
- Kazeniac, A. (2009) Social *networks: facebook takes over top spot, twitter climbs* [online]. Compete Pulse blog. Available from : <u>https://blog.compete.com/2009/02/09/facebook-myspace-twitter-social-network/</u> [Accessed14th November 2013].
- Kazi, R., De Cordova, J., Kanagalingam, J., Venkitaraman, R., Nutting, C. M., Clarke, P., Rhys-Evans, P. and Harrington, K. J. (2007) 'Quality of life following total laryngectomy: Assessment using the UW-QOL scale', *Orl-Journal for Oto-Rhino-Laryngology and Its Related Specialties*, 69(2), 100-106.
- Kazmer, M., and Xie, B. (2008) 'Qualitative interviewing in internet studies: Playing with the media, playing with the method', *Information, Communication, & Society*, 11, 257-278.
- Kealey, D.J. and Protheroe, D.R. (1996) 'The effectiveness of cross-cultural training for expatriates: An assessment of the literature on the issue', *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 20(2), 141-16.
- Kee, H. W., Knox, R. E., (1970) 'Conceptual and Methodological Considerations in the Study of Trust and Suspicion', *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 14, 357-366.
- Kendall, L. (1999) Recontextualising 'Cyberspace'. Methodological Considerations for On-line Research. In S Jones (ed) *Doing Internet Research: Critical issues and methods for examining the Net.* Sage, Thousand Oaks.
- Kennedy, T. L. M. (2000) 'An exploratory study of feminist experiences in cyberspace', *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 3(5), 707-719.
- Kerdpon, D. and Sriplung, H. (2001a) 'Factors related to advanced stage oral squamous cell carcinoma in southern Thailand', *Oral Oncology*, 37(3), 216-221.
- Kerdpon, D. and Sriplung, H. (2001b) 'Factors related to delay in diagnosis of oral squamous cell carcinoma in southern Thailand', Oral Oncology, 37(2), 127-131.
- Kessler, R. C., and McLeod, J. D. (1985) Social support and mental health in community samples. In S. Cohen and S. L. Syme (Eds.), *Social support and health*. Orlando, FL,Academic Press. pp. 219–240.
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., McGuire, L., Robles, T. F. and Glaser, R. (2002b) 'Psychoneuroimmunology and psychosomatic medicine: Back to the future', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 64(1), 15-28.
- Kim, E., Lee, B. and Menon, N. M. (2009) 'Social welfare implications of the digital divide', Government Information Quarterly, 26(2), 377-386.

- Kim, H. S. (2010) *The Nature of Theoretical Thinking in Nursing*. 2nd ed., New York, Springer Publication Company.
- Kim, J., Han, J. Y., Shaw, B., McTavish, F. and Gustafson, D. (2010) 'The Roles of Social Support and Coping Strategies in Predicting Breast Cancer Patients' Emotional Well-being Testing Mediation and Moderation Models', *Journal of Health Psychology*, 15(4), 543-552.
- King, S. (1996) Researching internet communities: Proposed ethical guidelines for the reporting of results [online]. The Information Society, 12,(2). Available from <u>http://www.indiana.edu/~tisj/readers/abstracts/12/12-2%20King2.html</u> [ Accessed 22<sup>nd</sup> March 2013].
- Kissun, D., Magennis, P., Lowe, D., Brown, J. S., Vaughan, E. D. and Rogers, S. N. (2006) 'Timing and presentation of recurrent oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma and awareness in the outpatient clinic', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 44(5), 371-376.
- Klein, D. N., Taylor, E. B., Dickstein, S. and Harding, K. (1988) 'Primary early-onset dysthymia - comparison with primary nonbipolar nonchronic major depression on demographic, clinical, familial, personality, and socioenvironmental characteristics and short-term outcome', *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 97(4), 387-398.
- Klemm, P. and Hardie, T. (2002) 'Depression in Internet and face-to-face cancer support groups: a pilot study', *Oncology nursing forum*, 29(4), E45-51.
- Klemm, P., Bunnell, D., Cullen, M., Soneji, R., Gibbons, P. and Holecek, A. (2003) 'Online cancer support groups - A review of the research literature', *Cin-Computers Informatics Nursing*, 21(3), 136-142.
- Klemm, P., Hurst, M., Dearholt, S. L. and Trone, S. R. (1999) 'Cyber solace Gender differences on Internet cancer support groups', *Computers in Nursing*, 17(2), 65-72.
- Klemm, P., Reppert, K. and Visich, L. (1998) 'A nontraditional cancer support group. The Internet', *Computers in nursing*, 16(1), 31-6.
- Kohda, R., Otsubo, T., Kuwakado, Y., Tanaka, K., Kitahara, T., Yoshimura, K. and Mimura, M. (2005) 'Prospective studies on mental status and quality of life in patients with head and neck cancer treated by radiation', *Psycho-Oncology*, 14(4), 331-336.
- Kokat, N. (2010) *Malignant Tumours of the Tonsil, Surgical Treatment* [online]. eMedicine. Available from: http://www.patient.co.uk/doctor/Mouth-and-Tongue-Cancer.htm. [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> December 2012].
- Komproe, I. H. and Rijken, P. M. (1995) Social Support for Elderly Women with Cancer: Helpful or Harmful? Unpublished Thesis, , The Netherlands: Utrecht.

- Komproe, I. H., Rijken, M., Ros, W. J. G., Winnubst, J. A. M. and Hart, H. T. (1997) 'Available support and perceived support: different support under stressful circumstances', *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14(1), 59-77.
- Kraan, C. F., Taal, E., Drossaert, C. H. C., El Lebrun, C., Smit, W. M., Seydel, E. R. and van de Laar, M. A. F. J. (2006a) 'Disadvantages of online support groups for people with arthritis, fibromyalgia and breast cancer disproved', *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, 54(9), S767-S768.
- Kraan, C. F., Taal, E., Drossaert, C. H. C., Seydel, E. R. and van de Laar, M. A. F. J. (2006b) 'People with arthritis, fibromyalgia and breast cancer feel empowered by their participation in online support groups', *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 65, 659-659.
- Kraut, R., Olson, J., Banaji, M., Bruckman, A., Cohen, J., and Couper, M. (2004) 'Psychological research online: Report of board of scientific affairs' advisory group on the conduct of research on the internet', *American Psychologist*, 59, 105-117.
- Krippendorff, K. (2004) *Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA, Sage.
- Krippendorff, K. (2012) Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology (3rd. ed). Thousand Oaks, CA, SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Krishnasamy, M. (1996) 'Social support and the patient with cancer: A consideration of the literature', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 23(4), 757-762.
- Kroenke, C. H., Kubzansky, L. D., Schernhammer, E. S., Holmes, M. D. and Kawachi, I. (2006) 'Social networks, social support, and survival after breast cancer diagnosis', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 24(7), 1105-1111.
- Kroenke, C. H., Kwan, M. L., Neugut, A. I., Ergas, I. J., Wright, J. D., Caan, B. J., Hershman, D. and Kushi, L. H. (2013) 'Social networks, social support mechanisms, and quality of life after breast cancer diagnosis', *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 139(2), 515-527.
- Kroenke, C. H., Michael, Y., Tindle, H., Gage, E., Chlebowski, R., Garcia, L., Messina, C., Manson, J. E. and Caan, B. J. (2012) 'Social networks, social support and burden in relationships, and mortality after breast cancer diagnosis', *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 133(1), 375-385.
- Kroenke, C. H., Quesenberry, C., Kwan, M. L., Sweeney, C., Castillo, A. and Caan, B. J. (2013a) 'Social networks, social support, and burden in relationships, and mortality after breast cancer diagnosis in the Life After Breast Cancer Epidemiology (LACE) Study', *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 137(1), 261-271.
- Kujan, O., Glenny, A. M., Duxbury, A. J., Thakker, N. and Sloan, P. (2003) 'Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer', *Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online)*, (4), CD004150.

- Kujan, O., Glenny, A. M., Oliver, R. J., Thakker, N. and Sloan, P. (2006) 'Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (3).
- Kuntz, A. L. and Weymuller, E. A. (1999) 'Impact of neck dissection on quality of life', *Laryngoscope*, 109(8), 1334-1338.
- Labov, W., and Waletzky, J. (1967) Narrative analysis: Oral versions of personal experience. In J. Helm, (Eds.), *Essays on the verbal and visual arts*. Seattle, American Ethnological Society/University of Washington Press. pp.12-44.
- Lakey, B. (2010) Social support: Basic research and new strategies for intervention. In: J. E. Maddux and J.P. Tangney (Eds.), *Social Psychological Foundations* of *Clinical Psychology*. New York, Guildford. pp. 177–194.
- Lakey, B. and Cronin, A. (2008) Low social support and major depression: Research, theory and methodological issues. In: K. S. Dobson and D. Dozois (Eds.), *Risk* factors for depression. Academic Press. pp. 385–408.
- Lakey, B. and Orehek, E. (2011) 'Relational Regulation Theory: A New Approach to Explain the Link Between Perceived Social Support and Mental Health', *Psychological Review*, 118(3), 482-495.
- Lakey, B., McCabe, K., Fisicaro, S., and Drew, J. (1996) 'Personal and environmental determinants of social support: Three generalizability studies', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70, 1270-1280.
- Lamberg, L. (1997) 'Online support group helps patients live with, learn more about the rare skin cancer CTCL-MF', *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*, 277(18), 1422-1423.
- Lambert, S. D. and Loiselle, C. G. (2007) 'Health information-seeking behavior', *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(8), 1006-1019.
- Lane, D. M. (2008) Online statistics education: An interactive multimedia course of study, influential observations [online]. Online Statistics Book. Available from: <u>http://onlinestatbook.com/2/regression/influential.html</u> [Accessed 27th April 2015].
- Lang, H., France, E., Williams, B., Humphris, G. and Wells, M. (2013) 'The psychological experience of living with head and neck cancer: a systematic review and meta-synthesis', *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(12), 2648-2663.
- Langer, E. J., Janis, I. L. and Wolfer, J. A. (1975) 'Reduction of psychological stress in surgical patients', *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 11(2), 155-165.
- Langford, C. P. H., Bowsher, J., Maloney, J. P. and Lillis, P. P. (1997) 'Social support: A conceptual analysis', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 25(1), 95-100.
- Larocco, J. M., House, J. S. and French, J. R. P. (1980) 'Social support, occupational stress, and health', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21(3), 202-218.

- Larsson, M., Hedelin, B. and Athlin, E. (2003) 'Lived experiences of eating problems for patients with head and neck cancer during radiotherapy', *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 12(4), 562-570.
- Laverick, S., Lowe, D., Brown, J. S., Vaughan, E. D. and Rogers, S. N. (2004) 'The impact of neck dissection on health-related quality of life', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 130(2), 149-154.
- Law, I. K. Y., Ma, E. P. M. and Yiu, E. M. L. (2009) 'Speech Intelligibility, Acceptability, and Communication-Related Quality of Life in Chinese Alaryngeal Speakers', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 135(7), 704-711.
- Lazar, J. and Preece, J. (1999) 'Designing and implementing web-based surveys', Journal of Computer Information Systems, xxxix(4), 63-67.
- Lazarus, R. S. (1991) 'Progress on a cognitive motivational relational theory of emotion', *American Psychologist*, 46(8), 819-834.
- Lazarus, R. S. and Folkman, S. (1984) Stress, appraisal and coping. New York, Springer.
- Lee, M. Y., Ng, S., Leung, P. P. Y., Chan C. L. W. and Leung, P.(2009) Integrative Body-Mind-Spirit Social Work: An Empirically Based Approach to to Assessment and Treatment. USA, Oxford University Press.
- Lehmann, W. and Krebs, H. (1991) 'Interdisciplinary rehabilitation of the laryngectomee', *Supportive Care in Cancer Patients Ii*, 121, 442-449.
- Leimeister, J. M., Schweizer, K. J., Krcmar, H. and Smedberg, A. (2012) 'Do Virtual Communities Have an Effect on the Social Network of Cancer Patients? Empirical Insights from Germany', *E-Health Communities and Online Self-Help Groups: Applications and Usage*, 72-84.
- Leimeister, J. M., Schweizer, K., Leimeister, S. and Krcmar, H. (2008) 'Do virtual communities matter for the social support of patients? Information Technology and People', 21 (4), 350-374.
- Lev, E. L. and Owen, S. V. (1996) 'A measure of self-care self-efficacy', *Research in Nursing & Health*, 19(5), 421-429.
- Levin, K. A. (2006) 'Study design III: Cross-sectional studies', *Evidence-Based Dentistry*, 7, 24–25.
- Lewicki, R. J. and Bunker, B. B. (1995) Trust in relationships: A model of development and decline. In B. B. Bunker, J. Z. Rubin, and Associates (Eds.), *Conflict, cooperation and justice: Essays inspired by the work of Morton Deutsch.* San Francisco, Jossey-Bass. pp.133-173.
- Lewicki, R. J. and Bunker, B. B. (1996) Developing and maintaining trust in work relationships. In R. Kramer and T. R. Tyler (Eds.), *Trust in organizations: Frontiers of theory and research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. pp. 114-139.

- Lewicki, R. J., McAllister, D. and Bies, R. (1998) 'Trust and distrust: New relationships and realities', *Academy of Management Review*, 23, 439-458.
- Lewicki, R. J., Tomlinson, R. C. and Gillespie, L. (2006) 'Models of interpersonal trust development: Theoretical approaches, empirical evidence and future directions', *Journal of Management*, 32(6), 991-1022
- Lieberman, M. A. (2008) 'Gender and online cancer support groups: Issues facing male cancer patients', *Journal of Cancer Education*, 23(3), 167-171.
- Lieberman, M. A., Golant, M., Giese-Davis, J., Winzlenberg, A., Benjamin, H., Humphreys, K., Kronenwetter, C., Russo, S. and Spiegel, D. (2003) 'Electronic support groups for breast carcinoma - A clinical trial of effectiveness', *Cancer*, 97(4), 920-925.
- Lin, N., Simeone, R. S., Ensel, W. M. and Kuo, W. (1979) 'Social support, stressful life events, and illness: a model and an empirical test', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 20(2), 108-119.
- Lin, N., Woelfel, M. W. and Light, S. C. (1985) 'The buffering effect of social support subsequent to an important life event', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 26(3), 247-263.
- Lindlof, T. R. and Shatzer, M. J. (1998) 'Media ethnography in virtual space: Strategies, limits, and possibilities', *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 42(2), 170-189.
- Linton, S. (2011) Bye Skype, Top 3 Free Replacements [online]. Ostatic. Available from: [Accessed 14<sup>th</sup> Nov 2013].
- List, M. A., Dantonio, L. L., Cella, D. F., Siston, A., Mumby, P., Haraf, D. and Vokes, E. (1996) 'The performance status scale for head and neck cancer patients and the functional assessment of cancer therapy head and neck scale -A study of utility and validity', *Cancer*, 77(11), 2294-2301.
- List, M. A., Mumby, P., Haraf, D., Siston, A., Mick, R., MacCracken, E. and Vokes, E. (1997) 'Performance and quality of life outcome in patients completing concomitant chemoradiotherapy protocols for head and neck cancer', *Quality* of Life Research, 6(3), 274-284.
- List, M. A., Rutherford, J. L., Stracks, J., Haraf, D., Kies, M. S. and Vokes, E. E. (2002) 'An exploration of the pretreatment coping strategies of patients with carcinoma of the head and neck', *Cancer*, 95(1), 98-104.
- Little, M., Jordens, C. F. C., Paul, K., Montgomery, K. and Philipson, B. (1998) 'Liminality: A major category of the experience of cancer illness', *Social Science & Medicine*, 47(10), 1485-1494.
- Little, M., Sayers, E. J., Paul, K. and Jordens, C. F. C. (2000) 'On surviving cancer', *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 93(10), 501-503.

- Liu, H. E. (2008) 'Changes of satisfaction with appearance and working status for head and neck tumour patients', *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 17(14), 1930-1938.
- Loader, B. D., Muncer, S., Burrows, R., Pleace, N. and Nettleton, S. (2002) 'Medicine on the line? Computer-mediated social support and advice for people with diabetes', *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 11(1), 53-65.
- Locati, L. D., Bossi P., and Licitra L., (2007) 'Changing epidemiology of head and neck cancer', Oncology News, 1(5), 8-11.
- Logemann, J. A., Pauloski, B. R., Rademaker, A. W., McConnel, F. M. S., Heiser, M. A., Cardinale, S., Shedd, D., Stein, D., Beery, Q., Johnson, J. and Baker, T. (1993) 'Speech and swallow function after tonsil base of tongue resection with primary closure', *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 36(5), 918-926.
- Lokker, M. E., van der Velden, L. A., Offerman, M. P. J., de Boer, M. F., Pruyn, J. F. A. and Teunissen, S. C. C. M. (2010) 'Symptoms of patients with incurable head and neck cancer. Prevalence and impact on daily functioning', *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 14, S13-S14.
- Lore, J. M. (1995) 'Early diagnosis and treatment of head and neck-cancer', *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 45(6), 325-327.
- Lowe, D. and Rogers, SN. (2008) University of Washington Quality of Life Questionnaire (UW-QOL v4), Guidance for scoring and presentation [online]. Merseyside Regional Head and Neck Cancer Center. Available from : <u>http://www.headandneckcancer.co.uk/File.ashx?id=10285</u> [Accessed 30<sup>th</sup> Sepytember 2012].
- Lubben, J. E. (1988) 'Assessing social networks among elderly populations', From Community Health, 11, 42–52.
- Luckett, T., Britton, B., Clover, K. and Rankin, N. M. (2011) 'Evidence for interventions to improve psychological outcomes in people with head and neck cancer: a systematic review of the literature', *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 19(7), 871-881.
- Luhmann N. (1988) Familiarity, confidence, trust: problems and alternatives. In D. Gambetta (Eds.), *Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations*. Cambridge, MA, Oxford University Press. pp. 94-108.
- Luhmann, N. (1979) Trust and Power. Chichester, John Wiley.
- Lund, A. and Lund, M. (2013) *Linear Regression Analysis using SPSS Statistics* [online]. Laerd Statistics. Available from: <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/linear-regression-using-spss-statistics.php</u> [Accessed 27<sup>th</sup> April 2015].
- Lutgendorf S. K., Anderson B., Buller R. E., Sorosky J. I. and Lubaroff D. M. (1999) 'Social support buffers levels of IL-6 in gynaecologic cancer patients', *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 21(suppl), S070.

- Lynch, J. (1977) The Broken Heart. New York, Basic Books.
- Ma, J. L. C. (1996) 'Desired and perceived social support from family, friends, and health professionals: A panel study in Hong Kong of patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 14(3), 47-68.
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M. and Williams, J. (2004) 'Confidence limits for the indirect effect: Distribution of the product and resampling methods', *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 39(1), 99-128.
- Macmillan (2010) External radiotherapy for head and neck cancer [online]. Macmillan cancer support. Available from : <u>http://www.macmillan.org.uk/Cancerinformation/Cancertypes/Headneck/Treat</u> ingheadneckcancers/Externalradiotherapy.aspx [Accessed 12th July 2011].
- Macmillan (2012) *Who we are, about us* [online]. Macmillan cancer support. Available from: <u>http://www.macmillan.org.uk/Aboutus/WhoWeAre/Our\_organisation.aspx#</u> [Accessed 13 October 2012].
- Macmillan Cancer Support (2015) *Living with or beyond cancer* [online]. Macmillan Cancer Support. Available from: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/GetInvolved/Campaigns/Weareaforceforchange/ Survivorship/Livingwithorbeyondcancer.aspx [Accessed 1<sup>st</sup> January 2015]
- MacQueen, K. M., McLellan, E., Metzger, D. S., Kegeles, S., Stauss, R. P., Scotti, R., Blanchard, L. and Trotter, R. T. (2001) 'What is community? An evidencebased definition for participatory public health', *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(12), 1929-1938.
- Madara, E., and White, B. J. (1997) 'On-line mutual support: the experience of a selfhelp clearinghouse', *Journal of Alliance of Information and Referral Systems*, 19, 91–107.
- Madden, M. and Fox, S. (2006) *Finding answers online in sickness and in health* [online]. Pew Internet and American Life Project Web site. Available form: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/pdfs/PIP\_Health\_Decisions\_2006.pdf</u>. [Accessed 17th March 2013].
- Madge, C. and O'Connor, H. (2002) 'On-line with e-mums: exploring the Internet as a medium for research', *Area*, 34(1), 92-102.
- Madrigal, D. and McClain, B. (2012) *Strengths and weaknesses of quantitative and qualitative research* [online]. Ux Matters. Available from: http://www.uxmatters.com/mt/archives/2012/09/strengths-and-weaknesses-of-quantitative-and-qualitative-research.php [Accessed 5<sup>th</sup> March 2015].
- Mak, W. W. S., Law, R. W., Woo, J., Cheung, F. M. and Lee, D. (2009) 'Social support and psychological adjustment to SARS: The mediating role of selfcare self-efficacy', *Psychology & Health*, 24(2), 161-174.

Malik, S. and Coulson, N. S. (2010) "They all supported me but I felt like I suddenly

didn't belong anymore': an exploration of perceived disadvantages to online support seeking', *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 31(3), 140-149.

- Malik, S. and Coulson, N.S. (2013) 'Coming to terms with permanent involuntary childlessness: a phenomenological analysis of bulletin board postings', *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, 9(1), 77-92.
- Malik, S. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2008) 'Computer-mediated infertility support groups: An exploratory study of online experiences', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 73(1), 105-113.
- Malik, S. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2011) 'A Comparison of Lurkers and Posters Within Infertility Online Support Groups', *Cin-Computers Informatics Nursing*, 29(10), 564-573.
- Maly, R. C., Bourque, L. B. and Engelhardt, R. F. (1999) 'A randomized controlled trial of facilitating information giving to patients with chronic medical conditions - Effects on outcomes of care', *Journal of Family Practice*, 48(5), 356-363.
- Manam, R. and Al-Sarraf, M. (2002) Head and neck cancer. In: Giaccone G, Schilsky R, Sondel P, (eds) Cancer Chemotherapy and Biological Response Modifiers, Annual 20. Amsterdam, Netherlands, Elsevier Sciencem. BV. 1-16.
- Mann, C. and Stewart, F. (2003) Internet Interviewing. In: Jaber F. Gubrium, & James A. Holstein (Eds.), *Postmodern Interviewing*. Thousand Oaks, CA, SAGE Publications. pp. 81-106.
- Manne, S. L., Sabbioni, M., Bovbjerg, D. H., Jacobsen, P. B., Taylor, K. L. and Redd,
  W. H. (1994) 'Coping with chemotherapy for breast-cancer', *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 17(1), 41-55.
- Manne, S. L., Taylor, K. L., Dougherty, J. and Kemeny, N. (1997) 'Supportive and negative responses in the partner relationship: Their association with psychological adjustment among individuals with cancer', *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 20(2), 101-125.
- Manuel, G. M., Roth, S., Keefe, F. J. and Brantley, B. A. (1987) 'COPING WITH CANCER', *Journal of Human Stress*, 13(4), 149-158.
- Marmot, M. G. and Wilkinson, R. D. (Eds.)(2006) *Social determinants of health*. Oxford, England, Oxford University Press.
- Martin, C. R. (2005) 'What does the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) Really Measure in Liaison Psychiatry Settings? '*Current Psychiatry Reviews*, 2005, 1, 69-73.
- Martin, S. D. and Youngren, K. B. (2002) 'Help on the net: internet support groups for people dealing with cancer', *Home healthcare nurse*, 20(12), 771-7.

Martinez-Conde, R., Aguirre, J. M., Burgos, J. J. and Rivera, J. M. (2001)

'Clinicopathological factors in early squamous cell carcinoma of the tongue and floor of the mouth, in Biscay (the Basque Country, Spain)', *Medicina oral* : organo oficial de la Sociedad Espanola de Medicina Oral y de la Academia Iberoamericana de Patologia y Medicina Bucal, 6(2), 87-94.

- Marur, S. and Forastiere, A. A. (2008) 'Head and neck cancer: Changing epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment (vol 83, pg 489, 2008)', *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 83(5), 604-604.
- Marur, S., D'Souza, G., Westra, W. H. and Forastiere, A. A. (2010) 'HPV-associated head and neck cancer: a virus-related cancer epidemic', *Lancet Oncology*, 11(8), 781-789.
- Massie, M. J. (2004) 'Prevalence of depression in patients with cancer', *Journal of the National Cancer Institute. Monographs*, (32), 57-71.
- Master, F. J. (2011) *Side effects of chemotherapy* [online]. Dr Farokh Master. Available from: <u>http://www.drfarokhmaster.com/articlespdf/SIDE%20EFFECTS%200F%20C</u> <u>HEMOTHERAPY.pdf</u>. [Accessed 12<sup>th</sup> July 2011].
- Mathieson, C. M., LoganSmith, L. L., Phillips, J., Macphee, M. and Attia, E. L. (1996) 'Caring for head and neck oncology patients - Does social support lead to better quality of life?', *Canadian Family Physician*, 42, 1712-1720.
- Matsuo, H. McIntyre, K. P. Tomazic, T. and Katz, B. (2004) *The online survey: Its contributions and potential problems* [online]. Saint Louis University. Available from: http://www.amstat.org/sections/srms/Proceedings/y2004/files/Jsm2004-000440.pdf [Accessed 24<sup>th</sup> February 2015].
- Matveev A. V. (2002) The advantages of employing quantitative and qualitative methods in intercultural research: Practical implications from the study of the perceptions of intercultural communication competence by American and Russian managers [online]. Russian Communication Association. Available from: http://www.russcomm.ru/eng/rca\_biblio/m/matveev01\_eng.shtml [Accessed 5<sup>th</sup> March 2015].
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H. and Schoorman, F. D. (1995) 'An Integrative Model of Organizational Trust', *Academy of Management Review*, 20, 709-734.
- McDonough, E. M., Boyd, J. H., Varvares, M. A. and Maves, M. D. (1996) 'Relationship between psychological status and compliance in a sample of patients treated for cancer of the head and neck', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 18(3), 269-276.
- McGoldrick, P. (2001) 'Reflections on coping with head and neck cancer', British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery, 39(5), 347-347.
- McGurk, M., Chan, C., Jones, J., O'Regan, E. and Sherriff, M. (2005) 'Delay in diagnosis and its effect on outcome in head and neck cancer', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 43(4), 281-284.
- McKnight, D. H. and Chevany, N. L. (2001) Trust and Distrust Definitions: One Bite at a Time. In R. Falcone, M. Singh, and Y. H. Tan (Eds.), *Trust in Cybersocieties*. Berlin Heidelberg, Springer-Verlag. pp. 27–54.
- McNair, D. M., Lorr, M., Droppleman, L. F. (Eds.) (1992) *Edits manual for the profile of mood states*. San Diego, Educational and Industrial Testing Service. pp. 1-40.
- McQuestion, MA. (2006) *A qualitative descriptive study of patients' experiences of receiving primary radiation therapy for head and neck cancer*, Unpublished master's thesis, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario.
- Mela, C. F. and Kopalle P. K. (2002) 'The impact of collinearity on regression analysis: the asymmetric effect of negative and positive correlations', *Applied Economics*, 34, 667-677.
- Mellon, S., Northouse, L. L. and Weiss, L. K. (2006) 'A population-based study of the quality of life of cancer survivors and their family caregivers', *Cancer Nursing*, 29(2), 120-131.
- Mendenhall, W. and Sincich, T. (1996) A second course in statistics: Regression analysis. 5th ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ, Prentice-Hall.
- Menezes Rodrigues, J. S. and Liston Andrade Ferreira, N. M. (2012) 'Structure and functionality of the social support network for adults with cancer', *Acta Paulista De Enfermagem*, 25(5), 781-787.
- Merchant, A., Husain, S. S. M., Hosain, M., Fikree, F. F., Pitiphat, W., Siddiqui, A. R., Hayder, S. J., Haider, S. M., Ikram, M., Chuang, S. K. and Saeed, S. A. (2000) 'Paan without tobacco: An independent risk factor for oral cancer', *International Journal of Cancer*, 86(1), 128-131.
- Merluzzi, T. V., Nairn, R. C., Hegde, K., Sanchez, M. A. M. and Dunn, L. (2001) 'Self-efficacy for coping with cancer: Revision of the cancer behavior inventory (version 2.0)', *Psycho-Oncology*, 10(3), 206-217.
- Merseyside Regional Head and Neck Cancer Center (2014) *Oral and oropharyngeal survival by p stage* [online]. Merseyside Regional Head and Neck Cancer Center. Available from : <u>http://www.headandneckcancer.co.uk/For+patients/About+Cancer/Survival.as</u> <u>px</u> [Accessed on 19 April 2014].
- Meyer, T. K., Kuhn, J. C., Campbell, B. H., Marbella, A. M., Myers, K. B. and Layde, P. M. (2004) 'Speech intelligibility and quality of life in head and neck cancer survivors', *Laryngoscope*, 114(11), 1977-1981.
- Michael, Y. L., Berkman, L. F., Colditz, G. A., Holmes, M. D. and Kawachi, I. (2002) 'Social networks and health-related quality of life in breast cancer survivors -A prospective study', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 52(5), 285-293.
- Michl, P., Pazdera, J., Prochazka, M., Pink, R. and Stosova, T. (2010) 'Human papillomavirus in the etiology of head and neck carcinomas', *Biomedical*

Papers-Olomouc, 154(1), 9-12.

- Microsoft (1999) *Microsoft launches MSN messenger service* [online]. Microsoft. Available from : <u>https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/news/press/1999/jul99/messagingpr.aspx</u> [Accessed 18<sup>th</sup> November 2013].
- Milbury, K. and Badr, H. (2012) 'Observed Social Support Behaviors and Cancer-Related Cognitive Processing in Couples Coping with Head and Neck Cancer (HNC)', *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 21(3), 563-564.
- Miller, P. M. and Ingham, J. G. (1976) 'Friends, confidants and symptoms', *Social Psychiatry*, 11(2), 51-58.
- Minear, D. and Lucente, F. E. (1979) 'Current attitudes of laryngectomy patients', *Laryngoscope*, 89(7), 1061-1065.
- Mishler, E., G. (1986) *Research interviewing: context and narrative*. Cambridge, MA, Harvard University Press
- Misztal, B. (1996) *Trust in modern societies: The search for the bases of social order.* oxford, Massachusetts, Polity Press.
- Mitchell, R. E., Billings, A. G. and Moos, R. H. (1982) 'Social support and wellbeing: Implications for prevention programs', *The journal of primary prevention*, 3(2), 77-98.
- Mitra, A. and Cohen, E. (1999) Analyzing the web. directions and challenges. In: S Jones (Eds.) *Doing internet research: critical issues and methods for examining the Net*. Sage. Thousand Oaks.
- Mizsur, G. (1997) 'Helping patients find support on the Internet', *Nursing*, 27(8), 28-28.
- Mo, P. K. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2008) 'Exploring the communication of social support within virtual communities: A content analysis of messages posted to an online HIV/AIDS support group', *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 11(3), 371-374.
- Mo, P. K. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2010a) 'Empowering processes in online support groups among people living with HIV/AIDS: A comparative analysis of 'lurkers' and 'posters'', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(5), 1183-1193.
- Mo, P. K. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2010b) 'Living with HIV/AIDS and Use of Online Support Groups', *Journal of Health Psychology*, 15(3), 339-350.
- Mo, P. K. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2012) 'Developing a model for online support group use, empowering processes and psychosocial outcomes for individuals living with HIV/AIDS', *Psychology & Health*, 27(4), 445-459.
- Mo, P. K. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2013) 'Online support group use and psychological health for individuals living with HIV/AIDS', *Patient Education and*

Counseling, 93(3), 426-432.

- Mo, P. K. H. and Coulson, N. S. (2014) 'Are online support groups always beneficial? A qualitative exploration of the empowering and disempowering processes of participation within HIV/AIDS-related online support groups', *International journal of nursing studies*, 51(7), 983-93.
- Mo, P.K.H. and Coulson, N.S. (2011) Exploring how online support groups empower individuals living with HIV/AIDS: Analysis of messages in HIV/AIDS online support groups. In: , ed., *Internet Policies and Issues*, Nova Publishers.
- Molassiotis, A., VanDenAkker, O. B. A., Milligan, D. W. and Goldman, J. M. (1997) 'Symptom distress, coping style and biological variables as predictors of survival after bone marrow transplantation', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 42(3), 275-285.
- Molina, M. A., Cheung, M. C., Perez, E. A., Byrne, M. M., Franceschi, D., Moffat, F. L., Livingstone, A. S., Goodwin, W. J., Gutierrez, J. C. and Koniaris, L. G. (2008) 'African American and Poor Patients Have a Dramatically Worse Prognosis for Head and Neck Cancer An Examination of 20,915 Patients', *Cancer*, 113(10), 2797-2806.
- Moore, C. E. and Durden, F. (2010) 'Head and Neck Cancer Screening in Homeless Communities: HEAL (Health Education, Assessment, and Leadership)', *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 102(9), 811-816.
- Moore, K. A., Ford, P. J. and Farah, C. S. (2014) 'Support needs and quality of life in oral cancer: a systematic review', *International Journal of Dental Hygiene*, 12(1), 36-47.
- Moorey, S., Greer, S., Watson, M., Gorman, C., Rowden, L., Tunmore, R., Robertson, B. and Bliss, J. (1991) 'The factor structure and factor stability of the hospital anxiety and depression scale in patients with cancer', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 255-259.
- Morphy, B. (2006) 'Chemoradiotherapy for head and neck cancer: 'local' side effects are actually systemic', *The journal of supportive oncology*, 4(2), 88.
- Morris, D. (1994) The naked ape. London, Vintage/Ebury.
- Morton, R. P. and Izzard, M. E. (2003) 'Quality-of-life outcomes in head and neck cancer patients', *World Journal of Surgery*, 27(7), 884-889.
- Mosedale, J. R. and Puech, J. L. (1998) 'Wood maturation of distilled beverages', *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 9(3), 95-101.
- Mueller, D. P. (1980) 'Social networks a promising direction for research on the relationship of the social-environment to psychiatric-disorder', *Social Science & Medicine Part a-Medical Sociology*, 14(2A), 147-161.
- Munro, A. J. (1995) 'An overview of randomized controlled trials of adjuvant chemotherapy in head and neck-cancer', *British Journal of Cancer*, 71(1), 83-

91.

- Murphy, B. A., Ridner, S., Wells, N. and Dietrich, M. (2007) 'Quality of life research in head and neck cancer: A review of the current state of the science', *Critical Reviews in Oncology Hematology*, 62(3), 251-267.
- Murphy, BA., Cmelak, A., Bayles, S., Dowling, E. and Billante, C. (2004) Head and neck cancer. In: E. Doyle, N. Cherny, K. Claman, (Eds.) *Oxford textbook of palliative medicine*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Muszbek, K., Szekely, A., Balogh, E. M., Molnar, M., Rohanszky, M., Ruzsa, A., Varga, K., Szollosi, M. and Vadasz, P. (2006) 'Validation of the hungarian translation of hospital anxiety and depression scale', *Quality of Life Research*, 15(4), 761-766.
- Mykletun, A., Stordal, E. and Dahl, A. A. (2001) 'Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) scale: factor structure, item analyses and internal consistency in a large population', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 179, 540-544.
- Naser, M. (2002) *10 Advantages of Online Surveys* [online]. Smart survey. Available from : <u>http://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/articles/10-advantages-of-online-</u> <u>surveys/</u> [Accessed 27 February 2014].
- National Cancer Institute (2014) *About survivorship research: survivorship definitions* [online]. National Cancer Institute. Available from: http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/ocs/ . [Accessed 1<sup>st</sup> January 2015].
- National Cancer Institute (2014) Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program: SEER stat fact sheets: oral cavity and pharynx cancer [online]. SEER. Available from: <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/oralcav.html</u> [Accessed on 17 April 2013].
- Nations, D. (2012) *Microsoft timeline and profile* [online]. About.com Web Trends. Available from : <u>http://webtrends.about.com/od/profi3/p/Microsoft-bio.htm</u> [Accessed 18th Nov 2013].
- Nausheen, B., Gidron, Y., Peveler, R. and Moss-Morris, R. (2009) 'Social support and cancer progression: A systematic review', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 67(5), 403-415.
- Nazar, G., Garmendia, M. L., Royer, M., McDowell, J. A., Weymuller, E. A., Jr. and Yueh, B. (2010) 'Spanish validation of the University of Washington Quality of Life questionnaire for head and neck cancer patients', *Otolaryngology-Head* and Neck Surgery, 143(6), 801-807.
- NCCS (The National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship) (2014) *NCCS's definition of a survivor* [online]. The National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship. Available from: http://www.canceradvocacy.org/about-us/our-history/ [Accessed 1<sup>st</sup> January 2015].

- NCPHSBBR (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research) (1979) *The Belmont Report. Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research* [online]. National Institutes of Health. Available from : <u>http://videocast.nih.gov/pdf/ohrp\_appendix\_belmont\_report\_vol\_2.pdf</u> [Accessed 21 March 2013].
- Neuling, S. J. and Winefield, H. R. (1988) 'Social support and recovery after surgery for breast-cancer frequency and correlates of supportive behaviors by family, friends and surgeon', *Social Science & Medicine*, 27(4), 385-392.
- Newell, R., Ziegler, L., Stafford, N. and Lewin, R. J. (2004) 'The information needs of head and neck cancer patients prior to surgery', *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 86(6), 407-410.
- Nguyen, N. P., Frank, C., Moltz, C. C., Vos, P., Smith, H. J., Karlsson, U., Dutta, S., Midyett, A., Barloon, J. and Sallah, S. (2005) 'Impact of dysphagia on quality of life after treatment of head-and-neck cancer', *International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics*, 61(3), 772-778.
- NHMRC (National Health and Medical Research Council) (1999) National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Research Involving Humans. [online]. NHMRC. Available <u>from:http://www.health.gov.au/nhmrc/publications/pdf/NatState35.pdf</u> [Accessed 19 March 2013].
- NHS (2014) Symptoms of mouth cancer [online]. NHS. Available from: http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Cancer-of-the-mouth/Pages/Symptoms-v2.aspx [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> December 2012].
- NHSBSP (2006) Advisory Committee on Breast Cancer Screening. NHSBSP Publication No 61.
- Nicolson, G. L. (1986) 'Tumor oncogene expression and the metastatic phenotype', *Cancer Reviews*, 3, 25-57.
- NIH (National Institute of Health) (2002) Cognitive and emotional health project the health brain, Demographic and Social Factors [online]. National Institute of Health. Available from: <u>http://trans.nih.gov/CEHP/HBPdemosocialsupport.htm</u> [Accessed 28<sup>th</sup> September 2012].
- Nonnecke, B., Andrews, D. and Preece, JJ. (2006) 'Non-public and public online community participation: needs, attitudes and behavior', *Electronic Commerce Research*, 6, 7–20.
- Norbeck, J. S. (1981) 'Social support: a model for clinical research and application', *ANS. Advances in nursing science*, 3(4), 43-59.
- Norman, R. M. G., Malla, A. K., Manchanda, R., Harricharan, R., Takhar, J. and Northcott, S. (2005) 'Social support and three-year symptom and admission outcomes for first episode psychosis', *Schizophrenia Research*, 80(2-3), 227-234.

- Nosek, B. A., Banaji, M. R. and Greenwald, A. G. (2002) 'E-research: Ethics, security, design, and control in psychological research on the Internet', *Journal of Social Issues*, 58(1), 161-176.
- Nosek, B. A., Banaji, M. R., and Greenwald, A. G. (2002) 'Eresearch: Ethics, security, design, and control in psychological research on the Internet', *Journal of Social Issues*, 58, 161-176.
- Numata, T., Muto, H., Shiba, K., Nagata, H., Terada, N. and Konno, A. (2000) 'Evaluation of the validity of the 1997 International Union Against Cancer TNM classification of major salivary gland carcinoma', *Cancer*, 89(8), 1664-1669.
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978) Psychometric Theory (2nd ed.). New York, McGraw Hill
- O'Brien, R. M. (2007) 'A Caution Regarding Rules of Thumb for Variance Inflation Factors', *Quality & Quantity*, 41 (5), 673.
- O'Reilly, M. and Parker, N. (2013) 'Unsatisfactory Saturation': A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research', *Qualitative Research*, 13(2), 190-197.
- Oishi, H., Ohta, S., Inaba, H., Yoshida, H. and Takagi, A. (2004) 'Anterior cervical approach for resection of brachial plexus schwannoma expanding into the thoracic apex', *Kyobu geka*. *The Japanese journal of thoracic surgery*, 57(6), 459-63.
- Ojo, B., Genden, E. M., Teng, M. S., Milbury, K., Misiukiewicz, K. J. and Badr, H. (2012) 'A systematic review of head and neck cancer quality of life assessment instruments', *Oral Oncology*, 48(10), 923-37.
- Okabayashi, H., Sugisawa, H., Yatomi, N., Nakatani, Y., Takanashi, K., Fukaya, T. and Shibata, H. (1997) 'The impact of conjugal bereavement and the buffering effect of social support on the health of elderly people', *Japanese Journal of Psychology*, 68(3), 147-154.
- Oldenburg, R. (2000) Celebrating the third place: Inspiring stories about the "great good places" at the heart of our communities. New York, Marlowe & Company.
- Oliver, R. J., Clarkson, J. E., Conway, D. I., Glenny, A., Macluskey, M., Pavitt, S., Sloan, P.; CSROC Expert Panel., Worthington HV. (2011) 'Interventions for the treatment of oral and oropharyngeal cancers: surgical treatment', *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, 2011 (9),
- Olson, J, C. and Reynolds, T, J., (1983) Understanding Consumers' Cognitive Structures: Implications for Marketing Strategy. In: L., Percy, and A, G., Woodside, (Eds.) *Advertising and Consumer Psychology*. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Opdenakker, R. (2006) 'Advantages and Disadvantages of Four Interview Techniques in Qualitative', *Qualitative Social Research*, 7(4), Art. 11.

- Orr, J. M., Sackett, P. R. and DuBois, C. L. Z. (1991) 'Outlier detection and treatment in I/O Psychology: A survey of researcher beliefs and an empirical illustration', *Personnel Psychology*, 44, 473-486.
- Orth, J. E., Stiles, W. B., Scherwitz, L., Hennrikus, D. and Vallbona, C. (1987) 'Patient exposition and provider explanation in routine interviews and hypertensive patients blood-pressure control', *Health Psychology*, 6(1), 29-42.
- Osborne, J. and Waters E. (2002) 'Four assumptions of multiple regression that researchers should always test', *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 8(2).
- Osborne, J. W. and Amy O. (2004) The power of outliers (and why researchers should always check for them) [online]. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 9(6). Available from: <u>http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=9&n=6</u> [Accessed 1<sup>st</sup> May 2015].
- Osborne, J. W., Christensen, W. R., & Gunter, J. (2001) Educational Psychology from a Statistician's Perspective: A Review of the Power and Goodness of Educational Psychology Research. Paper presented at the national meeting of the American Education Research Association (AERA), Seattle, WA.
- Page, B.J., Delmonico, D.L., Walsh, J., L'Amoreaux, N.A., Nanninhirsh, C., Thompson, R.S., Ingram, A., and Evans, A. (2000) 'Setting up on-line support groups using the Palace software', *Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 25, 133–145.
- Pai, S. I. and Westra, W. H. (2009) 'Molecular Pathology of Head and Neck Cancer: Implications for Diagnosis, Prognosis, and Treatment', Annual Review of Pathology-Mechanisms of Disease, 4, 49-70.
- Pallant, J. (2013) SPSS survival manual: a step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS. London, Open University press.
- Pallant, J. F. and Tennant, A. (2007) 'An introduction to the Rasch measurement model: An example using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)', British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 46, 1-18.
- Parkin, D. M., Pisani, P. and Ferlay, J. (1993) 'Estimates of the worldwide incidence of 18 major cancers in 1985', *International Journal of Cancer*, 54(4), 594-606.
- Patel, S.G. and Shah, J. P. (2005) 'TNM staging of cancers of the head and neck: striving for uniformity among diversity', *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 55, 242-258.
- Pauloski, B. R., Logemann, J. A., Rademaker, A. W., McConnel, F. M. S., Heiser, M. A., Cardinale, S., Shedd, D., Lewin, J., Baker, S. R., Graner, D., Cook, B., Milianti, F., Collins, S. and Baker, T. (1993) 'Speech and swallowing function after anterior tongue and floor of mouth resection with distal flap reconstruction', *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 36(2), 267-276.

Pauloski, B. R., Rademaker, A. W. and Logemann, J. A. (2000) 'Pretreatment

swallowing function in patients with head and neck cancer ', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 22(5), 474-482.

- Paydarfar, J. A. and Birkmeyer, N. J. (2006) 'Complications in head and neck surgery - A meta-analysis of postlaryngectomy pharyngocutaneous fistula', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 132(1), 67-72.
- Pedhazur, E. J. (1997) Multiple Regression in Behavioral Research (3rd ed.). Orlando, FL, Harcourt Brace.
- Penedo, F. J., Traeger, L., Benedict, C., Thomas, G., Dahn, J. R., Krause, M. H. and Goodwin, W. J. (2012) 'Perceived social support as a predictor of diseasespecific quality of life in head-and-neck cancer patients', *The journal of supportive oncology*, 10(3), 119-23.
- Penner, J. L. (2009) 'Psychosocial care of patients with head and neck cancer', *Seminars in oncology nursing*, 25(3), 231-41.
- Penner, J. L., McClement, S. E. and Sawatzky, J.-A. V. (2007) 'Management of dysphagia in advanced oropharyngeal cancer', *International journal of palliative nursing*, 13(5), 206-12.
- Petersen, P. E., Bourgeois, D., Bratthall, D. and Ogawa, H. (2005) 'Oral health information systems towards measuring progress in oral health promotion and disease prevention', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 83(9), 686-693.
- Petrosky, M. J. and Birkimer, J. C. (1991) 'The relationship among locus of control, coping styles, and psychological symptom reporting', *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 47(3), 336-345.
- Petti, S. (2009) 'Lifestyle risk factors for oral cancer', *Oral Oncology*, 45(4-5), 340-350.
- Petticrew, M., Bell, R. and Hunter, D. (2002) 'Influence of psychological coping on survival and recurrence in people with cancer: systematic review', *British Medical Journal*, 325(7372), 1066-1069.
- Pinquart, M. and Duberstein, P. R. (2010) 'Associations of social networks with cancer mortality: A meta-analysis', *Critical Reviews in Oncology Hematology*, 75(2), 122-137.
- Piquet, M. A., Ozsahin, M., Larpin, I., Zouhair, A., Coti, P., Monney, M., Monnier, P., Mirimanoff, R. O. and Roulet, M. (2002) 'Early nutritional intervention in oropharyngeal cancer patients undergoing radiotherapy', *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 10(6), 502-504.
- Polz, D., Polz-Dacewicz, M., Morshed, K. and Jedrych, M. (2010) 'Prevalence of human papillomavirus in oral and oropharynx squamous cell carcinoma', *Bulletin of the Veterinary Institute in Pulawy*, 54(4), 675-681.

- Pope, C and Mays, N. (2006) *Qualitative Research in Health Care (3rd ed)*. London, BMJ books.
- Popper, K. (2005) The Logic of Scientific Discovery Routledg. Taylor & Francis groups
- Preacher, K. J. and Hayes, A. F. (2004) 'SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models', *Behavior Research Methods Instruments & Computers*, 36(4), 717-731.
- Preacher, K. J. and Hayes, A. F. (2008) 'Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models', *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879-891.
- Preece, J. (1999) 'Empathy Online', Virtual Reality. 4, 74-84.
- Price, G., Roche, M., Wight, R. and Crowther, R. (2010) *Profile of head and neck cancers in England: secular and geographical trends in the incidence, mortality and survival of laryngeal and oropharyngeal cancers.* Ociu, NCIN at NHS.
- Pruyn, J. F. A., Dejong, P. C., Bosman, L. J., Vanpoppel, J., Vandenborne, H. W., Ryckman, R. M. and Demeij, K. (1986) 'Psychosocial-aspects of head and neck-cancer - a review of the literature', *Clinical Otolaryngology*, 11(6), 469-474.
- Pruyn, JFA., Borne, HW., Reuver, RSM., Bosman, LJ., Pelwijk, MA. and Jong, PC. (1988) ' The locus of control scale for cancer patients', *Tijdschr Soc Gezondheidsz*, 66, 404–408.
- Purinthrapibal, S., Boddy, J., Batten, L. and Nilmanat, K. (2012) 'The characteristics of personal social networks of breast cancer patients in southern thailand: a qualitative case study', *Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 8, 294-294.
- Putnam, R., D. (2000) *Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community*. New York, Simon and Schuster.
- Quelhas, R. and Costa, M. (2009) 'Anxiety, Depression, and Quality of Life in Parkinson's Disease', *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 21(4), 413-419.
- Rad M., Chamani G.a, Zarei MR. and Hashemipour M. (2010) 'Epidemiological aspects of head and neck cancers in a group of Iranian population', *Journal of Dentistry (Shiraz University of Medical Sciences)*, 10, 50- 56.
- Radin, P. (2006) "'To me, it's my life": Medical communication, trust, and activism in cyberspace', *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(3), 591-601.
- Radin, P. (2006) "'To me, it's my life'': Medical communication, trust, and activism in cyberspace', *Social Science and Medicine*, 62(3), 591-601.

- Radloff LS. (1977) 'The CES-D: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population', *Applied Psychological Measurement*;3:385–401.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977) 'The center for epidemiologic studies depression scale a self report depression scale for research in the general population', *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385-401.
- Radoï, L., and Luce, D. (2013) 'A review of risk factors for oral cavity cancer: the importance of a standardized case definition', Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 41(2), 97-109.
- Rafferty, S. M. (2006) 'Evidence of early tobacco in northeastern North America?', *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 33(4), 453-458.
- Ragin, C. C. R., Modugno, F. and Gollin, S. M. (2007) 'The epidemiology and risk factors of head and neck cancer: a focus on human papillomavirus', *Journal of Dental Research*, 86(2), 104-114.
- Rahmqvist, M. and Bara, A.-C. (2007) 'Patients retrieving additional information via the Internet: A trend analysis in a Swedish population, 2000-05', *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 35(5), 533-539.
- Rains, S. A. and Young, V. (2009) 'A Meta-Analysis of Research on Formal Computer-Mediated Support Groups: Examining Group Characteristics and Health Outcomes', *Human Communication Research*, 35(3), 309-U5.
- Ramadas, K., Sankaranarayanan, R., Jacob, B. J., Thomas, G., Somanathan, T., Mahe, C., et al. (2003) 'Interim results from a cluster randomized controlled oral cancer screening trial in Kerala', *India Oral Oncolgy*, 39(6), 580-8.
- Ramirez, M. J. F., Ferriol, E. E., Domenech, F. G., Llatas, M. C., Suarez-Varela, M. M. and Martinez, R. L. (2003) 'Psychosocial adjustment in patients surgically treated for laryngeal cancer', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 129(1), 92-97.
- Rapaport, M. H., Clary, C., Fayyad, R. and Endicott, J. (2005) 'Quality-of-life impairment in depressive and anxiety disorders', *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(6), 1171-1178.
- Rathmell, A. J., Ash, D. V., Howes, M. and Nicholls, J. (1991) 'Assessing quality of life in patients treated for advanced head and neck cancer', *Clinical oncology* (*Royal College of Radiologists (Great Britain)*), 3(1), 10-6.
- Ratsch, C. (2005) *The encyclopedia of psychoactive plants: ethnopharmacology and its applications*. Vermont, Inner Traditions.
- Reeves, P.M. (2000) 'Coping in cyberspace: The impact of internet use on the ability of hivpositive individuals to deal with their illness', *Journal of Health Communication*, 5(Suppl.1), 47–59.
- Reich, M., Lesur, A. and Perdrizet-Chevallier, C. (2008) 'Depression, quality of life and breast cancer: a review of the literature', *Breast Cancer Research and*

*Treatment*, 110(1), 9-17.

- Reid, E. (1996) 'Informed consent in the study of on-line communities: Areflection of the effects of computer mediated social research', Information Society, 12, 169-174.
- Reips, U. D. (2002) 'Standards for Internet-based experimenting', *Experimental Psychology*, 49, 243-256.
- Relic, A., Mazemda, P., Arens, C., Koller, M. and Glanz, H. (2001) 'Investigating quality of life and coping resources after laryngectomy', *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 258(10), 514-517.
- Revenson, T. A. (1994) 'Social support and marital coping in chronic illness', *Annals* of *Behavioral Medicine*, 6, 122–130.
- Revenson, T. A., Kayser, K., and Bodenmann, G. (Eds.). (2005) *Couples coping with stress: Emerging perspectives on dyadic coping*. Washington, DC, American Psychological Association.
- Reynolds, P. and Kaplan, G. A. (1990) 'Social connections and risk for cancer prospective evidence from the alameda county study', *Behavioral Medicine*, 16(3), 101-110.
- Rice, R. E. (2001) The internet and health communication: a framework of experiences. In: RE. Rice, JE. Katz (Eds.) *The internet and health communication: experiences and expectations*. Thousand Oaks, Sage. pp. 5– 46.
- Rich, A. M. and Radden, B. G. (1984) 'Prognostic indicators for oral squamous-cell carcinoma a comparison between the tnm and stnmp systems', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 22(1), 30-36.
- Ridge, J. A., Glisson, B. S., Horwitz, E. M. and Meyers, M. O. (2004) Head and Neck Tumors. In; Textbook of *cancer management: a multidisciplinary approach* (8th ed). The University of Michigan, CMP.
- Ries, L. A. G., Eisner, M. P., Kosary, C. L., Hankey, B. F., Miller, B. A., Clegg, L., et al (2005) SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2002, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD.
- Riessman, C. K. (1993) Narrative analysis. Newbury Park, CA, Sage.
- Riessman, C. K. (2008) *Narrative Methods for the Human Sciences*. CA, USA, SAGE Publications.
- Roberts, C. S., Cox, C. E., Shannon, V. J. and Wells, N. L. (1994) 'A closer look at social support as a moderator of stress in breast-cancer', *Health & Social Work*, 19(3), 157-164.
- Rodriguez, C., Rowe, M. and Horgas, A. (2006) 'Head and neck cancer: Technology feasibility of a speech generating device during the post-operative period',

Oncology Nursing Forum, 33(2), 466-466.

- Rodriguez, J. C. (1999) 'Legal, ethical, and professional issues to consider when communicating via the Internet: A suggested response model and policy', *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 99(11), 1428-1432.
- Rogers, S. N., Ahad, S. A. and Murphy, A. P. (2007) 'A structured review and theme analysis of papers published on 'quality of life' in head and neck cancer: 2000-2005', Oral Oncology, 43(9), 843-868.
- Rogers, S. N., Gwanne, S., Lowe, D., Stat, C., Humphris, G., Yueh, B. and Weymuller, E. A. (2002) 'The addition of mood and anxiety domains to the University of Washington quality of life scale', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 24(6), 521-529.
- Rogers, S. N., Hannah, L., Lowe, D. and Magennis, P. (1999) 'Quality of life 5-10 years after primary surgery for oral and oro-pharyngeal cancer', *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery*, 27(3), 187-191.
- Rosenoer, J., Isaacs, S., Macklin, R. and Silverman, S. (1995) 'Observational research on the electronic superhighway; Problems on the Internet: a lawyer's perspective; The networker's perspective; Bioethics perspective; User's perspective', *Ethics & behavior*, 5(1), 105-18.
- Rouse, M. (2009) *Face book definition* [online] WhatIs.com. Available from: <u>http://whatis.techtarget.com/definition/Facebook</u> [Accessed 13th November 2013].
- Rozmovits, L. and Ziebland, S. (2004) 'What do patients with prostate or breast cancer want from an Internet site? A qualitative study of information needs', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 53(1), 57-64.
- Russell, D. W. (1996) 'UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure', *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 66(1), 20-40.
- Ryun, N. (2010) *Face book: A Beginner's Guide* [online]. Amercan Major. Available from: <u>http://cmrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Facebook-Beginners-</u> <u>Guide.pdf</u> [Accessed 14th November 2013].
- Saikaew, K. R., Krutkam, W., Pattaramanon, R., Leelathakul, N., Chaipah, K., and Chaosakul, A. (2011) Using facebook as a supplementary tool for teaching and learning [online]. Khon Kaen University, Thailand. Available from: <u>http://gear.kku.ac.th/~krunapon/research/pub/usingFB4Learning.pdf</u> [Accessed 14th April 2014].
- Sakai, A., Okami, K., Onuki, J., Miyasaka, M., Furuya, H. and Iida, M. (2008) 'Statistical analysis of post-operative complications after head and neck surgery', *The Tokai journal of experimental and clinical medicine*, 33(3), 105-9.

- Sale, J. M., Lohfeld, L. H. and Brazil, K. (2002) 'Revisiting the quantitative qualitative debate: Implications for mixed methods research', *Quality and Quantity*, 36, 43-53.
- Salem, D. A., Bogat, G. A. and Reid, C. (1997) 'Mutual help goes on-line', *Journal of Community Psychology*, 25(2), 189-207.
- Salmons, J. E. (2010) Online interviews in real time. Thousand Oaks, CA, Sage.
- Sankaranarayanan, R., Mathew., B. Jacob, B. J., Thomas, G., Somanathan, T., Pisani P, et al. (2000) 'Early findings from a community-based, cluster-randomized, controlled oral cancer screening trial in Kerala, India', *Cancer*, 88(3), 664-73.
- Sankaranarayanan, R., Ramadas, K., Thara, S., Muwonge, R., Thomas, G., Anju, G., et al. (2013) 'Long term effect of visual screening on oral cancer incidence and mortality in a randomized trial in Kerala, India', *Oral Oncology*, 49 (4), 314-21.
- Sankaranarayanan, R., Ramadas, K., Thomas, G., Muwonge, R., Thara, S., Mathew, B., et al. (2005) 'Effect of screening on oral cancer mortality in Kerala, India: a cluster-randomised controlled trial', *Lancet*, 365(9475), 1927-33.
- Sapp, A. L., Trentham-Dietz, A., Newcomb, P. A., Hampton, J. M., Moinpour, C. M. and Remington, P. L. (2003) 'Social networks and quality of life among female long-term colorectal cancer survivors', *Cancer*, 98(8), 1749-1758.
- Sarason B. R., Shearin E. N., Pierce G. R. and Sarason I. G. (1987) 'Interrelationships of social support measures: theoretical and practical implications', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 813–832.
- Sarason, B. R., Sarason, I. G., and Gurung, R. A. R. (1997) Close personal relationships and health outcomes: A key to the role of social support. In: S. Duck (Eds.), *Handbook of personal relationships* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed), USA, John Wiley & Sons. pp. 547–573.
- Sarason, I. G., Levine, H. M., Basham, R. B. and Sarason, B. R. (1983) 'Assessing social support - the social support questionnaire', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44(1), 127-139.
- Sarkar, S., Mehta, S. A., Tiwari, J., Mehta, A. R. and Mehta, M. S. (1990) 'Complications following surgery for cancer of the larynx and pyriform fossa', *Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 43(4), 245-249.
- Sasieni, P., Adams, J. and Cuzick, J. (2003) 'Benefit of cervical screening at different ages: evidence from the UK audit of screening histories', *British Journal of Cancer*, 89(1), 88-93.
- Sassler, A. M., Esclamado, R. M. and Wolf, G. T. (1995) 'Surgery after organ preservation therapy analysis of wound complications', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 121(2), 162-165.
- Sayed, S. I., Elmiyeh, B., Rhys-Evans, P., Syrigos, K. N., Nutting, C. M., Harrington,

K. J. and Kazi, R. (2009) 'Quality of life and outcomes research in head and neck cancer: A review of the state of the discipline and likely future directions', *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 35(5), 397-402.

- Scalbert, A., Williamson, G., (2000) 'Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols', *Journal of Nutrition*, 130(Suppl.), 2073S-85S.
- Schag, C. A. C., Ganz, P. A. and Heinrich, R. L. (1991) 'Cancer rehabilitation evaluation system - short form (cares-sf) - a cancer specific rehabilitation and quality-of-life instrument', *Cancer*, 68(6), 1406-1413.
- Schag, C. A. C., Ganz, P. A., Polinsky, M. L., Fred, C., Hirji, K. and Petersen, L. (1993) 'Characteristics of women at risk for psychosocial distress in the year after breast cancer', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 11(4), 783-793.
- Scheier, M. F. and Carver, C. S. (1987) 'Dispositional optimism and physical wellbeing - the influence of generalized outcome expectancies on health', *Journal* of *Personality*, 55(2), 169-210.
- Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S. and Bridges, M. W. (1994) 'Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem) - a reevaluation of the life orientation test', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(6), 1063-1078.
- Schipper, H. and Levitt, M. (1985) 'Measuring quality of life risks and benefits', *Cancer Treatment Reports*, 69(10), 1115-&.
- Schipper, H., Clinch, J., McMurray, A. and Levitt, M. (1984) 'Measuring the quality of life of cancer-patients the functional living index, cancer development and validation', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 2(5), 472-483.
- Schram, M. T., Baan, C. A. and Pouwer, F. (2009) 'Depression and quality of life in patients with diabetes: a systematic review from the European depression in diabetes (EDID) research consortium', *Current diabetes reviews*, 5(2), 112-9.
- Schwab, J. A. (2007) *Data analysis* [online]. The University of Texas at Austin. Available from: http://www.utexas.edu/courses/schwab/sw388r7/Tutorials/ [Accessed 2<sup>nd</sup> March 2015].
- Schwartz, S. R., Yueh, B., McDougall, J. K., Daling, J. R. and Schwartz, S. M. (2001) 'Human papillomavirus infection and survival in oral squamous cell cancer: A population-based study', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 125(1), 1-9.
- Schwarzer, R. and Leppin, A. (1989) 'Social support and health: A meta-analysis', *Psychology and Health: An International Journal*, 3, 1-15.
- Schwarzer, R. and Leppin, A. (1991) 'Social support and health a theoretical and empirical overview', *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 8(1), 99-127.
- Schwarzer, R. and Leppin, A. (1992) 'Possible impact of social ties and support on morbidity and mortality', *Meaning and Measurement of Social Support*, 65-83.

- Schwarzer, R. and Rieckmann, N. (2002) 'Social support, cardiovascular disease, and mortality', *Heart Disease: Environment, Stress and Gender*, 327, 185-197.
- Scott, C. R. (1999) Communication technology and group communication. In: L. R. Frey (Eds.), *The handbook of group communication theory and research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. pp. 432–472.
- Scott, J, C. (1999) Geographies of trust, geographies of hieracrchies. In M. E. Warren, (Eds.), *Democracies and Trust*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. pp. 273-290.
- Scully, C. and Bagan, J. (2009) 'Oral squamous cell carcinoma overview', *Oral Oncology*, 45(4), 301-308.
- Seckin, G. (2011) 'I Am Proud and Hopeful: Age-Based Comparisons in Positive Coping Affect Among Women Who Use Online Peer-Support', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 29(5), 573-591.
- Seeman, T. E. and Syme, S. L. (1987) 'Social networks and coronary-artery disease a comparison of the structure and function of social-relations as predictors of disease', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 49(4), 341-354.
- SEER (National Cancer Institute. Surveillance, epidemiology, and End Results Program) (1984) 'Cancer patient survival statistics: Update', Annual Cancer Statistics Review, 24, 1 - 8.
- SEER (Surveillance epidemiology and end results) (2004) SEER Cancer statistics review 1975–2004 [online]. National Cancer Institute. Available from : http://seer.cancer.gov/ statfacts/html/oralcav [Accessed 25 July 2011].
- SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program) (2007) National Cancer Institute, US National Institutes of Health. (www.seer.cancer.gov) SEER\*Stat Database: Incidence—SEER 9 Regs Public-Use, Nov 2006 Sub (1973–2004), Linked to County Attributes, Total US, 1969–2004 Counties, National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, Cancer Statistics Branch, released April 2007, based on the November 2006 submission.
- Seikaly, H., Calhoun, K. H., Stonestreet, J. S., Rassekh, C. H., Driscoll, B. P. and Averyt, P. (2001) 'The impact of a skilled nursing facility on the cost of surgical treatment of major head and neck tumors', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 127(9), 1086-1088.
- Semple, C. J., Dunwoody, L., Kernohan, W. G., McCaughan, E. and Sullivan, K. (2008) 'Changes and challenges to patients' lifestyle patterns following treatment for head and neck cancer', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 63(1), 85-93.
- Semple, C., Parahoo, K., Norman, A., McCaughan, E., Humphris, G. and Mills, M. (2013) 'Psychosocial interventions for patients with head and neck cancer', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (7).

- Semple, C., Parahoo, K., Norman, A., McCaughan, E., Humphris, G. and Mills, M. (2013) 'Psychosocial interventions for patients with head and neck cancer', *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, 16(7),
- Seymour, W. (2001) 'In the Flesh or Online? Exploring Qualitative Research Methodologies', *Qualitative Research Journal*, 1(2), 147-168.
- Shah, J. P. and Lydiatt, W. (1995) 'Treatment of cancer of the head and neck', *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 45(6), 352-368.
- Shah, S., Har-El, G. and Rosenfeld, R. M. (2001) 'Short-term and long-term quality of life after neck dissection', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 23(11), 954-961.
- Shaha, A. R. (1992) 'Marginal mandibulectomy for carcinoma of the floor of the mouth', *Journal of Surgical Oncology*, 49(2), 116-119.
- Sharf, B. F. (1997) 'Communicating breast cancer on-line: Support and empowerment on the Internet', *Women & Health*, 26(1), 65-84.
- Sharf, B. F. (1997) 'Communicating breast cancer on-line: Support and empowerment on the Internet', *Women and Health*, 26(1), 65–84.
- Sharf, B. F. (1999) Beyond netiquette: The ethics of doing naturalistic discourse research on the Internet. In: S. Jones (Ed.) *Doing internet research*. London: Sage. pp. 243-256.
- Sharp, J. (2000) 'The Internet Changing the way cancer survivors receive support', *Cancer Practice*, 8(3), 145-147.
- Shavers, V. L., Harlan, L. C., Winn, D. and Davis, W. W. (2003) 'Racial/ethnic patterns of care for cancers of the oral cavity, pharynx, larynx, sinuses, and salivary glands', *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 22(1), 25-38.
- Shaw, B. R., Hawkins, R., McTavish, F., Pingree, S. and Gustafson, D. H. (2006) 'Effects of insightful disclosure within computer mediated support groups on women with breast cancer', *Health Communication*, 19(2), 133-142.
- Shaw, H. J. (1976) 'Early diagnosis of cancer in head and neck', *British Medical Journal*, 1(6006), 379-383.
- Sheehan, K. B. and Hoy, M. B. (1999) 'Using e-mail to survey internet users in the united states: ethodology and assessment', *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*, 4 (3).
- Sherbourne, C. D. and Stewart, A. L. (1991) 'The mos social support survey', *Social Science & Medicine*, 32(6), 705-714.
- Sherman, A. C., Simonton, S., Adams, D. C., Vural, E. and Hanna, E. (2000) 'Coping with head and neck cancer during different phases of treatment', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 22(8), 787-793.

- Shiboski, C. H., Schmidt, B. L. and Jordan, R. C. K. (2007) 'Racial disparity in stage at diagnosis and survival among adults with oral cancer in the US', *Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology*, 35(3), 233-240.
- Short, P. F., Vasey, J. J. and Tunceli, K. (2005) 'Employment pathways in a large cohort of adult cancer survivors', *Cancer*, 103(6), 1292-1301.
- Siegrist, M., Earle, T, C., and Gutscher, H., (2007) Trust in co-operative risk management: uncertainty and scepticism in the public mind. London, Earthscan.
- Silverman S. (1993) Oral cavity toxicity. In: John M, Flam M, Legha S, Phillips T, (Eds.) *Chemoradiation: an integrated approach to cancer treatment*. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger. pp. 511–523.
- Singer, S., Danker, H., Dietz, A., Kienast, U., Pabst, F., Meister, E. F., Oeken, J., Thiele, A. and Schwarz, R. (2008) 'Sexual problems after total or partial laryngectomy', *Laryngoscope*, 118(12), 2218-2224.
- Sixsmith, J. and Murray, C. D. (2001) 'Ethical issues in the documentary data analysis of Internet posts and archives', *Qualitative Health Research*, 11(3), 423-432.
- Sjolander, C. and Ahlstrom, G. (2012) 'The meaning and validation of social support networks for close family of persons with advanced cancer', *BMC nursing*, 11, 17-17.
- Skinner, H. (2002) *Promoting health through organizational change*. San Francisco, Benjamin Cummings.
- Skype (2009) Usernames, aliases and nicknames your Skype passport [online]. Skype. Available from: <u>http://www.skype.com/en/features/</u> [Accessed 14<sup>th</sup> November 2013].
- Smith, G. I., Yeo, D., Clark, J., Choy, E. T., Gao, K., Oates, J. and O'Brien, C. J. (2006) 'Measures of health-related quality of life and functional status in survivors of oral cavity cancer who have had defects reconstructed with radial forearm free flaps', *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 44(3), 187-192.
- Smith, J. (1998) ""Internet patients" turn to support groups to guide medical decisions', *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 90(22), 1695-1697.
- Snaith, R. P. and Taylor, C. M. (1985) 'Irritability definition, assessment and associated factors', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 147(AUG), 127-136.
- So, W. K. W., Chan, R. J., Chan, D. N. S., Hughes, B. G. M., Chair, S. Y., Choi, K. C. and Chan, C. W. H. (2012) 'Quality-of-life among head and neck cancer survivors at one year after treatment - A systematic review', *European Journal* of Cancer, 48(15), 2391-2408.
- Sommer, B. A. (2006) *Content analysis* [online]. University of California. Available from:

http://psychology.ucdavis.edu/faculty\_sites/sommerb/sommerdemo/content/ [Accessed 29<sup>th</sup> January 2015].

- Spangler, S. L. (2009) The relationship between quality of life and social support among adolescent survivors of childhood cancer. Doctor of Psychology (Psy.D.) Doctoral Thesis / Dissertation.
- Sparkes, A. C. (2005) Narrative analysis: Exploring the whats and hows of personal stories. In: I. Holloway, (Eds.), *Qualitative Research in Health Care*. Buckingham, Open University Press. pp. 191-209.
- Speight, P. M., Palmer, S., Moles, D. R., Downer, M. C., Smith, D. H., Henriksson, M. and Augustovski, F. (2006) 'The cost-effectiveness of screening for oral cancer in primary care - Introduction', *Health Technology Assessment*, 10(14), 1-+.
- Spertus, E. (1996) Social and Technical Means for Fighting On-Line Harassment." Paper given at Virtue and Virtuality: Gender, Law, and Cyberspace Conference [online]. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Available from: <u>http://people.mills.edu/spertus/Gender/glc/glc.html</u> [Accessed 16th March 2013].
- Spiegel, D., Bloom, J. R. and Yalom, I. (1981) 'GROUP SUPPORT FOR PATIENTS WITH METASTATIC CANCER', Archives of General Psychiatry, 38(5), 527-533.
- Spiegel, D., Kraemer, H. C., Bloom, J. R. and Gottheil, E. (1989) 'Effect of psychosocial treatment on survival of patients with metastatic breast-cancer', *Lancet*, 2(8668), 888-891.
- Sproull, L., and Faraj, S. (1997) Atheism, Sex and databases: The net as a social technology. In: S. Keisler, (Ed.) *Culture of the Internet*. Mahwah, NJ, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. pp. 35-52.
- Stanton, A. L. and Snider, P. R. (1993) 'Coping with a breast-cancer diagnosis a prospective-study', *Health Psychology*, 12(1), 16-23.
- Stanton, A. L., Danoff-Burg, S., Cameron, C. L., Bishop, M., Collins, C. A., Kirk, S. B., Sworowski, L. A. and Twillman, R. (2000) 'Emotionally expressive coping predicts psychological and physical adjustment to breast cancer', *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(5), 875-882.
- Statistics' New Zealand (1996) *Living arrangements and housing, New Zealand Now,* 65 Plus [online]. Statistics' New Zealand. Available from : <u>http://www2.stats.govt.nz/domino/external/pasfull/pasfull.nsf/0/4c2567ef0024</u> 7c6acc256b6d00035854/\$FILE/chapt-05.pdf [Accessed 21st Febraury 2014].
- Stellman, J. M. (1998) *Encyclopaedia of Occupational Health and Safety*. 4<sup>th</sup> ed. Geneva, International Labor Office.
- Stewart, K., and Williams, M. (2005) 'Researching online populations: the use of online focus groups for social research', *Qualitative Research*, 5, 395416.

- Stice, E., Barrera, M. and Chassin, L. (1998) 'Prospective differential prediction of adolescent alcohol use and problem use: Examining the mechanisms of effect', *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107(4), 616-628.
- Stice, E., Presnell, K. and Spangler, D. (2002) 'Risk factors for binge eating onset in adolescent girls: A 2-year prospective investigation', *Health Psychology*, 21(2), 131-138.
- Stieger, S., and Gortiz, A. S. (2006) 'Using instant messaging for internet-based interviews', *Cyber Psychology & Behavior*, 9, 552-559.
- Sturgis, E. M. and Cinciripini, P. M. (2007) 'Trends in head and neck cancer incidence in relation to smoking prevalence - An emerging epidemic of human papillomavirus-associated cancers?', *Cancer*, 110(7), 1429-1435.
- Sturgis, E. M., Wei, Q. Y. and Spitz, M. R. (2004) 'Descriptive epidemiology and risk factors for head and neck cancer', *Seminars in Oncology*, 31(6), 726-733.
- Subramanian, S., Sankaranarayanan, R., Bapat, B., Somanathan, T., Thomas, G., Mathew, B., Vinoda, J. and Ramadas, K. (2009) 'Cost-effectiveness of oral cancer screening: results from a cluster randomized controlled trial in India', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 87(3), 198-206.
- Sudweeks, F. and Rafaeli, S. (1996) How to get a hundred strangers to agree? Computer-mediated communication and collaboration. In: T.M. Harrison, T.D. Stephen, (eds.) Computer networking and scholarship in the 21st century university. New York: SUNY. pp. 115–136.
- Sullivan, C. F. (2003) 'Gendered cybersupport: A thematic analysis of two online cancer support groups', *Journal of Health Psychology*, 8(1), 83-103.
- Survey Onics (2011) Salary satisfaction survey [online]. Survey Onics. Available from: <u>http://www.surveyonics.com/Survey/salary-satisfaction-survey.aspx</u> [Accessed 24th September 2012].
- Susan, M. and Clingman, R. M. T. (2005) Cancer questionnaire [online]. A Healing Experience Massage, Massage Therapy Englewood Colorado. Available from: http://www.ahealingexperiencemassage.com/wpcontent/uploads/2011/09/Cancer-Questionnaire.pdf [Accessed 26th September 2012].
- Tabachnick, B. G. and Fidell, L. S. (2007) Using multivariate statistics. Boston, Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.
- Tanavsuu, T. (2013) How can they be so good?: The strange story of Skype [online].Arstechnica.Available from<a href="http://arstechnica.com/business/2013/09/skypes-secrets/">http://arstechnica.com/business/2013/09/skypes-secrets/</a> [Accessed on 14Nov 2013].
- Tannen, D. (1990) You just don't understand: women and men in conversation. New York: William Morrow.

- Taylor, J. C., Terrell, J. E., Ronis, D. L., Fowler, K. E., Bishop, C., Lambert, M. T., Myers, L. L., Duffy, S. A. and Univ Michigan Head Neck Canc, T. (2004) 'Disability in patients with head and neck cancer', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 130(6), 764-769.
- Taylor, J. J. (2013) Confusing stats terms explained: Heteroscedasticity [online]. Stats Make Me Cry. Available from: http://www.statsmakemecry.com/smmctheblog/confusing-stats-termsexplained-heteroscedasticity-heteroske.html. [Accessed 12<sup>th</sup> March 2015].
- Taylor, S. E. (2006) Health Psychology. New York, McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- Taylor, S. E., Falke, R. L., Mazel, R. M., and Hilsberg, B. L. (1988) Sources of satisfaction and dissatisfaction among members of cancer support groups. In:
  B. H. Gottlieb (Ed.) *Marshaling social support: Formats, processes, and effects.* Newbury Park, CA, Sage. pp. 187–208.
- Teichgraeber, J., Bowman, J. and Goepfert, H. (1986) 'Functional-analysis of treatment of oral cavity cancer', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 112(9), 959-965.
- Telecompaper (2011) *Skype grows FY revenues 20%, reaches 663 mln users* [online]. Telecompaper Available from: <u>http://www.telecompaper.com/news/skype-grows-fy-revenues-20-reaches-663-mln-users--790254</u> [Accessed 14<sup>th</sup> November 2013].
- Tempelaar, R., De Haes, J.C.J.M., Van den Heuvel W.J.A., Van Nieuwenhuijzen M.G. and Pennink B.W.J. (1987) 'A measuring instrument for positive and negative social experiences (kank-er) patients. ', *T Soc Health Products*, 65, 648-653.
- Tennant, A. and Conaghan, P. G. (2007) 'The Rasch measurement model in rheumatology: What is it and why use it? When should it be applied, and what should one look for in a Rasch paper?', Arthritis & Rheumatism-Arthritis Care & Research, 57(8), 1358-1362.
- Terrell, J. E., Nanavati, K. A., Esclamado, R. M., Bishop, J. K., Bradford, C. R. and Wolf, G. T. (1997) 'Head and neck cancer-specific quality of life - Instrument validation', Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, 123(10), 1125-1132.
- Terrell, J. E., Nanavati, K., Esclamado, R. M., Bradford, C. R. and Wolf, G. T. (1999) 'Health impact of head and neck cancer', *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 120(6), 852-859.
- Terrell, J. E., Ronis, D. L., Fowler, K. E., Bradford, C. R., Chepeha, D. B., Prince, M. E., Teknos, T. N., Wolf, G. T. and Duffy, S. A. (2004) 'Clinical predictors of quality of life in patients with head and neck cancer', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 130(4), 401-408.
- Thaxton, L., Emshoff, J. G. and Guessous, O. (2005) 'Prostate cancer support groups: A literature review', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 23(1), 25-40.

- Thephamongkhol K., Browman GP., Hodson DI., et al. (2003) The role of chemotherapy with radiotherapy in the management of patients with newly diagnosed locally advanced squamous cell or undifferentiated nasopharyngeal cancer. Practice Guideline 5–7[online]. Cancer Care Ontario Practice Guideline Initiative Available from: <u>http://www.cancercare.on.ca/pdf/pebc5-7f.pdf</u>. [Accessed 15th October 2011].
- Thoits, P. A. (1986) 'Social support as coping assistance', *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 54(4), 416-423.
- Thomas, D. (2010) Analysis of senior management teams in organisations that have demonstrated a proclivity for growth. UK, lulu.com
- Thomas, S. F. and Marks, D. F. (1995) 'The measurement of coping in breast-cancer patients', *Psycho-Oncology*, 4(3), 231-237.
- Thompson, P. J. (2002) 'Field change and oral cancer: New evidence for widespread carcinogenesis?', *International Journal of Oral Maxillofacial Surgery*, 31, 262–6.
- Torgrud, L. J., Walker, J. R., Murray, L., Cox, B. J., Chartier, M. and Kjernisted, K. D. (2004) 'Deficits in perceived social support associated with generalized social phobia', *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 33(2), 87-96.
- Trenholm, S., and Jensen, A, (2000) Interpersonal communication. Belmont, CA, Wadsworth.
- Tri-Council of Canada (2000) Tri-Council policy statement: Ethical conduct for research involving humans [online]. Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada "NSERC". Available from : <u>http://www.nserc.ca/programs/ethics/english/policy.htm</u> [Accessed 25th March 2013].
- Trotti, A. (2000) 'Toxicity in head and neck cancer: A review of trends and issues', International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics, 47(1), 1-12.
- Trotti, A., Colevas, A. D., Setser, A., Rusch, V., Jaques, D., Budach, V., Langer, C., Murphy, B., Cumberlin, R., Coleman, C. N. and Rubin, P. (2003) 'CTCAE v3.0: Development of a comprehensive grading system for the adverse effects of cancer treatment', *Seminars in Radiation Oncology*, 13(3), 176-181.
- Turk, D. C. and Okifuji, A. (1999) 'Does sex make a difference in the prescription of treatments and the adaptation to chronic pain by cancer and non-cancer patients?', *Pain*, 82(2), 139-148.
- Turkle, S. (1999) 'Looking toward cyberspace: Beyond grounded sociology -Cyberspace and identity', Contemporary Sociology-a Journal of Reviews, 28(6), 643-648.
- Turner, J. W., Grube, J. A. and Meyers, J. (2001) 'Developing an optimal match within online communities: An exploration of CMC support communities and traditional support', *Journal of Communication*, 51(2), 231-251.

- Turner, R. J. (1981) 'SOCIAL SUPPORT AS A CONTINGENCY IN PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING', Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 22(4), 357-367.
- Uchino, B. N. (2006) 'Social support and health: A review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes', *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 29(4), 377-387.
- Uchino, B. N. (2009) 'Understanding the Links Between Social Support and Physical Health: A Life-Span Perspective With Emphasis on the Separability of Perceived and Received Support', *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 4(3), 236-255.
- Urist, M. M., Obrien, C. J., Soong, S. J., Visscher, D. W. and Maddox, W. A. (1987) 'Squamous-cell carcinoma of the buccal mucosa - analysis of prognostic factors', *American Journal of Surgery*, 154(4), 411-414.
- Van Cann, E. M., Dom, M., Koole, R., Merkx, M. A. W. and Stoelinga, P. J. W. (2005) 'Health related quality of life after mandibular resection for oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma', *Oral Oncology*, 41(7), 687-693.
- van der Waal, I. (2009) 'Potentially malignant disorders of the oral and oropharyngeal mucosa; , Classification and present concepts of management', *Oral Oncology*, 45(4-5), 317-323.
- Van Sonderen, E. (1991)*The measurement of social support*. University Press, Groningen, The Netherlands.
- van Uden-Kraan, C. F., Drossaert, C. H. C., Taal, E., Seydel, E. R. and van de Laar, M. A. F. J. (2008a) 'Self-Reported Differences in Empowerment Between Lurkers and Posters in Online Patient Support Groups', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 10(2).
- van Uden-Kraan, C. F., Drossaert, C. H. C., Taal, E., Seydel, E. R. and van de Laar, M. A. F. J. (2009) 'Participation in online patient support groups endorses patients' empowerment', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 74(1), 61-69.
- van Uden-Kraan, C. F., Drossaert, C. H. C., Taal, E., Shaw, B. R., Seydel, E. R. and van de Laar, M. A. F. J. (2008b) 'Empowering processes and outcomes of participation in online support groups for patients with breast cancer, arthritis, or fibromyalgia', *Qualitative Health Research*, 18(3), 405-417.
- Vanwyk, C. W., Stander, I., Padayachee, A. and Groblerrabie, A. F. (1993) 'The areca nut chewing habit and oral squamous-cell carcinoma in south-african indians a retrospective study', *South African Medical Journal*, 83(6), 425-429.
- Vartanian, J. G., Carvalho, A. L., Yueh, B., Furia, C. L. B., Toyota, J., McDowell, J. A., Weymuller, E. A., Jr. and Kowalski, L. P. (2006) 'Brazilian-Portuguese validation of the University of Washington Quality of Life questionnaire for patients with head and neck cancer', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 28(12), 1115-1121.

- Vermorken, J. B. (2005) 'Medical treatment in head and neck cancer', Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 16 Suppl 2, ii258-64.
- Vidhubala, E., Ravikannan, R., Mani, C. S., Karthikesh, M. and Latha (2006) 'Coping preferences of head and neck cancer patients Indian context', *Indian journal of cancer*, 43(1), 6-11.
- Vogt, T. M., Mullooly, J. P., Ernst, D., Pope, C. R. and Hollis, J. F. (1992) 'Social networks as predictors of ischemic-heart-disease, cancer, stroke and hypertension - incidence, survival and mortality', *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 45(6), 659-666.
- Vokes, E. E., Kies, M. S., Haraf, D. J., Stenson, K., List, M., Humerickhouse, R., Dolan, M. E., Pelzer, H., Sulzen, L., Witt, M. E., Hsieh, Y. C., Mittal, B. B. and Weichselbaum, R. R. (2000) 'Concomitant chemoradiotherapy as primary therapy for locoregionally advanced head and neck cancer', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 18(8), 1652-1661.
- Wagner, M. K., Armstrong, D. and Laughlin, J. E. (1995) 'Cognitive determinants of quality-of-life after onset of cancer', *Psychological Reports*, 77(1), 147-154.
- Walther, J. B. (1996) 'Computer-mediated communication: Impersonal, interpersonal, and hyperpersonal interaction', *Communication Research*, 23(1), 3-43.
- Walther, J. B. (2002) 'Research ethics in Internet-enabled research: human subjects issues and methodological myopia', *Ethics and information technology*, 4, 205-16.
- Walther, J. B. and Boyd, S. (2002) Attraction to computer-mediated social support. In: C. A. Lin and D. Atkin (Eds.) *Communication technology and society: Audience adoption and uses* Cresskill, NJ, Hampton Press. pp 153-188.
- Ware, J. E. and Sherbourne, C. D. (1992) 'The mos 36-item short-form health survey (sf-36) .1. conceptual-framework and item selection', *Medical Care*, 30(6), 473-483.
- Ware, J. E., Kosinsk, M., Turner-Bowker, D. M. and Gandek, B. (2002) How to score version 2 of the SF-12 Health Survey (with a supplement documenting version 1). Lincoln RI, QualityMetric Incorporated; 2002.
- Warnakulasuriya, S. (2009a) 'Global epidemiology of oral and oropharyngeal cancer', *Oral Oncology*, 45(4-5), 309-316.
- Warnakulasuriya, S. (2009b) 'Causes of oral cancer an appraisal of controversies', *British Dental Journal*, 207(10), 471-475.
- Warnakulasuriya, S., Johnson, N. W., van der Waal, I. (2007) 'Nomenclature and classification of potentially malignant disorders of the oral mucosa', *Journal of Oral Pathology and Medicine*, 36, 575–80.

Waskul, D. and Douglas, M. (1996) 'Considering the electronic participant: Some

polemical observations on the ethics of online research', Information Society, 12(2), 129-139.

- Watson, M. and Homewood, J. (2008) 'Mental Adjustment to Cancer Scale (c): psychometric properties in a large cancer cohort', *Psycho-Oncology*, 17(11), 1146-1151.
- Watson, M., Greer, S., Blake, S. and Shrapnell, K. (1984) 'Reaction to a diagnosis of breast-cancer - relationship between denial, delay and rates of psychological morbidity', *Cancer*, 53(9), 2008-2012.
- Watson, M., Greer, S., Pruyn, J. and Vandenborne, B. (1990) 'LOCUS OF CONTROL AND ADJUSTMENT TO CANCER', *Psychological Reports*, 66(1), 39-48.
- Watson, M., Greer, S., Rowden, L., Gorman, C., Robertson, B., Bliss, J. M. and Tunmore, R. (1991) 'Relationships between emotional control, adjustment to cancer and depression and anxiety in breast-cancer patients', *Psychological Medicine*, 21(1), 51-57.
- Watson, M., Greer, S., Young, J., Inayat, Q., Burgess, C. and Robertson, B. (1988) 'Development of a questionnaire measure of adjustment to cancer - the mac scale', *Psychological Medicine*, 18(1), 203-209.
- Watson, M., Law, M., Dossantos, M., Greer, S., Baruch, J. and Bliss, J. (1994) 'The mini-mac further development of the mental adjustment to cancer SCALE', *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 12(3), 33-46.
- Watt, J.H. (1999) Internet systems for evaluation research. In: G. Gay and Bennington (eds), *Information technologies in evaluation: social, moral epistemological and practical implications*. San Francisco, Josey-Bass, no. 84. pp.23-44.
- Weber, R. P. (1990) *Basic content analysis, second edition*. Newbury Park, CA, Sage Publications.
- Wei, K.R., Yu, Y. L., Yang, Y. Y., Ji, M. F., Yu, B. H., Liang, Z. H. and Reng, X. (2010) 'Epidemiological Trends of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma in China', *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 11(1), 29-32.
- Wei, W. I., Kwong, D. L. W. (2010) 'Current Management Strategy of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma', *Clinical & Experimental Otorhinolaryngol*, 3(1), 1-12.
- Weible, R. and Wallace, J. (1998) 'The impact of the Internet on data collection', *Marketing Research*, 10(3), 19-23.
- Weis, J. (2003) 'Support groups for cancer patients', *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 11(12), 763-768.
- Weiser, E. B. (2000) 'Gender differences in internet use patterns and Internet application preferences: A two-sample comparison', *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 3(2), 167-178.

- Weisman, A. D. and Worden, J. W. (1976) 'Existential plight in cancer significance of 1st 100 days', *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 7(1), 1-15.
- Weisman, A. D., Worden, J. W. and Sobel, H. J. (1980) *Psychosocial screening and interventions with cancer patients* [research report]., Boston Mass: Project Omega, Department of Psychiatry, Harvard Medical School.
- Weiten, W., Lloyd, M. A., Dunn, D. S., Hammer E. Y., (2008) *Psychology Applied to Modern Life: Adjustment in the 21st Century.* Belmont, Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Welin, L., Larsson, B., Svardsudd, K., Tibblin, B. and Tibblin, G. (1992) 'Social network and activities in relation to mortality from cardiovascular-diseases, cancer and other causes - a 12 year follow-up of the study of men born in 1913 and 1923', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 46(2), 127-132.
- Wellman, B., and Gulia, M. (1999) Net Surfers don't ride alone: Virtual communities as communities. In: B. Wellman (Ed.), *Networks in the Global Village*. Boulder, CO, Westview Press. pp. 331-366.
- Weymuller, E. A., Alsarraf, R., Yueh, B., Deleyiannis, F. W. B. and Coltrera, M. D. (2001) 'Analysis of the performance characteristics of the University of Washington Quality of Life instrument and its modification (UW-QOL-R)', *Archives of Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 127(5), 489-493.
- Whale, Z., Lyne, P. A. and Papanikolaou, P. (2001) 'Pain experience following radical treatment for head and neck cancer', *European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society*, 5(2), 112-20.
- Wheeless, L. R. (1978) 'A follow-up study of the relationships among trust, disclosure, and interpersonal solidarity', *Human Communication Research*, 4(2), 135-147.
- White, M. (2002) 'Representations or People? ', Ethics and Information Technology 4: 249–266.
- White, M. and Dorman, S. M. (2001) 'Receiving social support online: implications for health education', *Health Education Research*, 16(6), 693-707.
- White, M. H. and Dorman, S. M. (2000) 'Online support for caregivers Analysis of an Internet Alzheimer mailgroup', *Computers in Nursing*, 18(4), 168-176.
- WHO (1984) 'Control of oral cancer in developing countries', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 62(6), 817-830.
- WHO (1986) IARC International Agency for Research on Cancer monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans vol. 38. Tobacco smoking. 421P. IARC: LYON.
- WHO (2001) World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki (2000) [Online].
   Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 2001,79 (4), 373-4. Available

from: <u>http://www.who.int/bulletin/archives/79%284%29373.pdf</u> [Accessed 24<sup>th</sup> March 2013].

- WHO (2007) International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision, Version for 2007 [Online]. WHO. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/classifications/apps/icd/icd10online/</u> [Accessed 23<sup>rd</sup> March 2011].
- WHO (World Health Organization) (1973) Report of a meeting of investigators on the histological definition of precancerous lesions. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- Wicks, P., Abrahams, S., Masi, D., Hejda-Forde, S., Leigh, P. N. and Goldstein, L. H. (2007) 'Prevalence of depression in a 12-month consecutive sample of patients with ALS', *European Journal of Neurology*, 14(9), 993-1001.
- Wilkinson, M. J. B. and Barczak, P. (1988) 'Psychiatric screening in general-practice comparison of the general health questionnaire and the hospital anxiety depression scale', *Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners*, 38(312), 311-313.
- Williams, A. M., Young, J., Nikoletti, S. and McRae, S. (2004) 'Reasons for attending and not attending a support group for recipients of implantable cardioverter defibrillators and their carers', *International journal of nursing practice*, 10(3), 127-33.
- Williams, R. G. (1981) 'The early diagnosis of carcinoma of the mouth', *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 63(6), 423-425.
- Wills, T. A. and Cleary, S. D. (1996) 'How are social support effects mediated? A test with parental support and adolescent substance use', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(5), 937-952.
- Winzelberg, A. (1997) 'The analysis of an electronic support group for individuals with eating disorders', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 13(3), 393-407.
- Winzelberg, A. J., Classen, C., Alpers, G. W., Roberts, H., Koopman, C., Adams, R. E., Ernst, H., Dev, P. and Taylor, C. B. (2003) 'Evaluation of an Internet support group for women with primary breast cancer', *Cancer*, 97(5), 1164-1173.
- Wood J. J. and Inman C. C. (1993) In a different mode: masculine styles of communicating closeness. *Journal of Appllied Community Research*, 21, 279-295.
- Woolgar, J. A. and Scott, J. (1995) 'Prediction of cervical lymph-node metastasis in squamous-cell carcinoma of the tongue floor of mouth', *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck*, 17(6), 463-472.
- Worell, J. (2001) Encyclopedia of women and gender: sex similarities, differences, and the impact of society on gender, Volume 2., London, Academic Press.

- Wortman, C. B. (1984) 'Social support and the cancer-patient conceptual and methodologic issues', *Cancer*, 53(10), 2339-2360.
- Wright, K. (2002) 'Motives for communication within on-line support groups and antecedents for interpersonal use', Communication Research Reports, 19, 89–98.
- Wu, A. W., Revicki, D. A., Jacobson, D. and Malitz, F. E. (1997) 'Evidence for reliability, validity and usefulness of the Medical Outcomes Study HIV Health Survey (MOS-HIV)', *Quality of Life Research*, 6(6), 481-493.
- Yahoo (2008) *Features Yahoo Messenger* [online]. Yahoo. Available from: <u>http://messenger.yahoo.com/features</u> [Accessed 15<sup>th</sup> Novomber 2013].
- Youssef, F. A. (1984) 'Crisis-intervention a group-therapy approach for hospitalized breast-cancer patients', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 9(3), 307-313.
- Yu, T., Wood, R. E. and Tenenbaum, H. C. (2008) 'Delays in diagnosis of head and neck cancers', *Journal of the Canadian Dental Association*, 74(1), 61-61C.
- Yun, G. W. and Trumbo, C. W. (2000) 'Comparative response to a survey executed by post, e-mail, and web form', *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*, 6(1),.
- Zabora, J., Brintzenhofeszoc, K., Curbow, B., Hooker, C. and Piantadosi, S. (2001) 'The prevalence of psychological distress by cancer site', *Psycho-Oncology*, 10(1), 19-28.
- Zabrodsky, M., Calabrese, L., Tosoni, A., Ansarin, M., Glugliano, G., Bruschini, R., Tradati, N., De Paoli, F., Tredici, P., Betka, J. and Chiesa, F. (2004) 'Major surgery in elderly head and neck cancer patients: immediate and long-term surgical results and complication rates', *Surgical Oncology-Oxford*, 13(4), 249-255.
- Zaiontz, C. (2014) *Multiple regression: Autocorrelation* [online]. Real statistics using excel. Available from: http://www.real-statistics.com/multiple-regression/autocorrelation/ [Accessed 12<sup>th</sup> March 2015].
- Zemore, R. and Shepel, L. F. (1989) 'Effects of breast-cancer and mastectomy on emotional support and adjustment', *Social Science & Medicine*, 28(1), 19-27.
- Ziebland, S., Chapple, A., Dumelow, C., Evans, D., Prinjha, S. and Rozmovits, L. (2004) 'How the internet affects patients' experience of cancer: a qualitative study', *British Medical Journal*, 328(7439), 564-+.
- Zigmond, A. S. and Snaith, R. P. (1983) 'The hospital anxiety and depression scale', *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 67(6), 361-370.
- Zimmerman, D. W. (1995). Increasing the power of nonparametric tests by detecting and down weighting outliers. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 64(1), 71-78.

- Zou, K. H., Tuncali, K. and Silverman, S. G. (2003) 'Correlation and simple linear regression', *Radiology*, 277(3), 617-622.
- Zucca, A., Lambert, S. D., Boyes, A. W. and Pallant, J. F. (2012) 'Rasch analysis of the Mini-Mental Adjustment to Cancer Scale (mini-MAC) among a heterogeneous sample of long-term cancer survivors: A cross-sectional study', *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 10.
- Zwahlen, R. A., Dannemann, C., Graetz, K. W., Studer, G., Zwahlen, D., Moergeli, H., Drabe, N., Buechi, S. and Jenewein, J. (2008) 'Quality of life and psychiatric morbidity in patients successfully treated for oral cavity squamous cell cancer and their wives', *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 66(6), 1125-1132.

## Appendices

## Appendices

Appendix 1: Types and ingredients of alcohol (adapted from; Mosedale and Puech, 1998; Scalbert and Williamson, 2000)

| Beers             | Wine              | Spirits and liqueurs |
|-------------------|-------------------|----------------------|
| - Carbone Dioxide | - Carbone dioxide | - Esters             |
| - Minerals        | - Minerals        | - Aldehydes          |
| Potassium         | • Potassium       | - Terpenes           |
| • Phosphate       | • Iron            | - Ethereal oils      |
| • Sodium          | • Phosphates      | - Acids              |
| - Amino acids     | Calcium           | • Fatty acids        |
| - Organic acids   | - Organic acids   | Acetic acid          |
| - Inorganic acids | - Vitamins        | - Alcohols           |
| - Poly-phenols    | - Poly-phenols    |                      |
| - Carbohydrates   | - Carbohydrates   |                      |
|                   | • Sugar           |                      |
|                   | • Pectin          |                      |
|                   | - Alcohols        |                      |

Appendix 2: Brief descriptions for studies conducted on the issue of racial disparities in survival for patients with H&N cancer

| Author   | Aim   | Study<br>design    | Sample   | Method  | Result or conclusion  |
|--|---|--------------------|--|---|---|
| Franco <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (1993)          | To verify the actual<br>prognostic effect of race<br>and gender in survival<br>among patients with<br>cancer of the mouth   | Retro-<br>spective | 4527   | -Analysis of 15-year survival over 28 year<br>period<br>-Proportional Hazard Regression to control<br>stage and treatment method  | Race: survival difference for lip cancer<br>Gender: survival difference for gum, floor<br>of mouth and other oral sub sites   |
| Caplan<br>and<br>Hertz-<br>Picciotto<br>(1998) | To investigate the<br>relation between race<br>and survival for patients<br>with oral and<br>pharyngeal cancer and<br>to assess whether this<br>association differ by<br>stage at diagnosis | Retro-<br>spective | 1272<br>White: 961<br>Black: 311                                   | <ul> <li>-include all blacks and whites registered<br/>between 1978- 1990</li> <li>-proportional Hazard Regression Model to<br/>calculate hazard ratio for all-cause mortality<br/>within 18 month of diagnosis</li> <li>- adjusting for site, grade, age and time<br/>dependent interaction</li> </ul> | Blacks have higher all- cause mortality<br>than whit people diagnosed at the same<br>stage of oral and pharyngeal cancer  |
| Moore <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (2001)           | To assess whether age<br>and race are independent<br>prognostic factors for<br>survival in patients<br>treated for oral and<br>pharyngeal cancer  | Retro-<br>spective | 909<br>Whites: 815<br>African<br>Americans: 94                     | <ul> <li>-Kaplan-Meier survival estimate to analyse<br/>survival time after diagnosis</li> <li>- Cox Proportional Hazard Model and log<br/>Rank test to analyse the effect of risk factors<br/>in association with survival</li> </ul>  | African Americans had poorer survival<br>results with age and race rising as<br>independent prognostic factors of survival<br>after treatment for cancer of oral cavity<br>and pharynx  |
| Shavers<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2003)             | To assess if racial<br>disparities in pattern of<br>care might have a role in<br>survival disparities in<br>African Americans and<br>Hispanics  | Retro-<br>spective | 471<br>White: 224<br>African<br>Americans:<br>163<br>Hispanics: 84 | <ul> <li>-Data obtained from SEER and from US census 1970.</li> <li>-SEER summary stage for all for al stage analysis</li> <li>-Charlson's Co-morbidity Score for racial difference in Co-morbid conditions</li> <li>- SUDAAN for all data analysis</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>There are racial disparities in diagnosis, tumour stage and treatment of selected H&amp;N cancer.</li> <li>African Americans are less frequently received treatment for cancer than both white and Hispanic</li> </ul> |
| Morse<br>and Kerr<br>(2006)                    | To review statistics and<br>long-term trends in<br>incidence, survival and  | Retro-<br>spective |  | -Data obtained from SEER (1975-2002)<br>-Data analysed by joint point Regression<br>Programme   | Although the incidence and mortality<br>rates of oral and pharyngeal cancer have<br>declined recently in the US, racial   |

|                                       | mortality of oral and<br>pharyngeal cancer<br>among American<br>Whites and Blacks  |                    |   |  | disparities still exist   |
|---------------------------------------|--|--------------------|---|--|---|
| Ho <i>et al</i> .<br>(2007)           | To investigate the<br>pattern of oro-<br>pharyngeal cancer<br>among variation of<br>ethnic groups in Taiwan  | Retro-<br>spective | Mortality<br>sample:<br>M (8858)<br>F(1320)<br>Incidence<br>sample:<br>M( 15949)<br>F(2465) | <ul> <li>-Data obtained from Taiwanese Cancer<br/>Registry and the Taiwan Vital Statistics<br/>(1979-1997)</li> <li>- Sample divided into 3 ethnic groups</li> <li>-both ages standard incidence and mortality<br/>rates were estimated</li> </ul>   | There is an ethnic difference in the<br>pattern of oropharyngeal tumour in<br>Taiwan could be due to difference in<br>exposure to risk factors or as result of<br>genetic differences   |
| Shiboski<br><i>et al.</i><br>(2007)   | To investigate the<br>distribution of survival<br>rate and stage at<br>diagnosis among adults<br>with oral cancer in<br>relation to race and<br>overtime | Retro-<br>spective | 46855   | -Data obtained from SEER (1973- 2002)<br>-analysis by tumour size, stage at diagnosis<br>and 5- year relative survival rates   | There are significant racial differences<br>among adults with oral cancer regarding<br>stage at diagnosis and survival. The<br>possible explanation for lower survival<br>among Blacks is difference in access and<br>use of health care services   |
| Goodwin<br>et al.<br>(2008)           | To review data in<br>disparities in H&N<br>cancer focusing on the<br>possible cause of this<br>issue   | Retro-<br>spective | 27451<br>Whites: 24569<br>M(16726)<br>F(7843)<br>Blacks 2882<br>M(2034)<br>F( 848)          | -Data obtained from SEER (1975- 2003) to<br>assess incidence, mortality and survival of<br>H&N cancer  | Greater burden of H&N tumour was<br>observed among black Americans. The<br>actual cause is unknown, but some factors<br>such as accessibility to and quality of<br>health care, incidence of co-morbid<br>conditions, biologic/ genetic factors, diet<br>and exposure to carcinogen were<br>implicated. |
| Molina <i>et</i><br><i>al.</i> (2008) | To identify the impact<br>of ethnicity, race and<br>socioeconomic status on<br>H&N cancer patients   | Retro-<br>spective | 20915<br>White: 89.7%<br>African<br>Americans:<br>8.4%                                      | <ul> <li>-data obtained from Florida Cancer Data</li> <li>System and Florida Agency for Health Care</li> <li>Administration (1998- 2002)</li> <li>SSPS was used for statistical analysis</li> <li>Chi- Square Test for correlation between</li> <li>variable and Kaplan Meier Method to</li> <li>calculate 5- year survival</li> </ul> | H&N cancer s has general high mortality<br>with uneven impact on African-American<br>and poor patients. Significant disparities<br>by race and SES are not completely<br>explained by under- treatment, co-morbid<br>conditions or demographics.  |

| Du and | To assess whether racial | Retro-   | 7840          | -Data were obtained from SEER (1991-          | There is no significant difference in the |
|--------|--------------------------|----------|---------------|---|---|
| Liu    | disparities continue in  | spective | White; 6108   | 2002)   | risk of mortality among African           |
| (2010) | Medicare- insured old    | 1        | African       | -Chi- Square Test was used to test            | Americans and Hispanics compared with     |
|        | patient with H&N         |          | American: 522 | distribution of characteristics among racial/ | white in particular locations of H&N      |
|        | tumour                   |          | Hispanic: 376 | ethnic groups                                 | cancers except a slight elevation in all- |
|        |                          |          | Asian: 252    | - Kaplan Meier Method to calculate survival   | cause mortality risk in African Americans |
|        |                          |          | Other: 222    | rate  | with oral cancer.                         |
|        |                          |          |               | - multivariate Logistic Regression analysis   |   |
|        |                          |          |               | to evaluate the Odd ratio of various          |   |
|        |                          |          |               | treatments and adjusted for other variables   |   |
|        |                          |          |               | - the Cox proportional Hazard Regression      |   |
|        |                          |          |               | model to Analyse the survival using SAS       |   |
|        |                          |          |               | system  |   |

Appendix 3: List of head and neck cancer OSGs available in 2011
| 1.  | The cancer forums                               | http://www.cancerforums.net/forums/40-Head-and-Neck-Cancer-Thyroid-Cancer-       |
|-----|---|--|
|     |   | Forum/page3?order=desc   |
| 2.  | Head & neck cancer (CancerCompass)              | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-                |
|     |   | <u>cancer/1,0,119,39.htm</u>   |
| 3.  | Jaw Cancer (CancerCompass)                      | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-cancers/jaw-    |
|     |   | <u>cancer/1,0,119,39,41.htm</u>  |
| 4.  | Laryngeal Cancer (CancerCompass)                | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-                |
|     |   | cancers/laryngeal-cancer/1,0,119,39,22.htm                                       |
| 5.  | Pharyngeal Cancer (CancerCompass)               | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-                |
|     |   | cancers/pharyngeal-cancer/1,0,119,39,28.htm                                      |
| 6.  | Salivary Gland (CancerCompass)                  | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-                |
|     |   | cancers/salivary-gland-cancer/1,0,119,39,43.htm                                  |
| 7.  | Squamous Cell (CancerCompass)                   | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-                |
|     |   | cancers/squamous-cell/1,0,119,39,44.htm  |
| 8.  | Throat Cancer (CancerCompass)                   | http://www.cancercompass.com/message-board/cancers/head-and-neck-cancers/throat- |
|     |   | <u>cancer/1,0,119,39,6.htm</u>   |
| 9.  | Cancer Survivors Network                        | http://csn.cancer.org/forum/164  |
| 10. | Cancer Focus                                    | http://cancerfocus.org/forum/forumdisplay.php?f=25                               |
| 11. | Merseyside Regional Head and Neck Cancer Centre | http://www.headandneckcancer.co.uk/Forum.aspx                                    |
| 12. | Med Help  | http://www.medhelp.org/forums/HeadNeck-Cancer/show/323                           |
| 13. | Macmillan                                       | http://community.macmillan.org.uk/cancer_types/head-neck-cancer/discussions.aspx |
| 14. | Introduce yourself (OCF)*                       | http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=2&page=1   |
| 15. | General Board (OCF)                             | http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=1&page=1   |
| 16. | Symptoms and Diagnosis (OCF)                    | http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=3&page=1   |
| 17. | Coping / Anger and Fear (OCF)                   | http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=5&page=1   |
| 18. | Medications, Treatment, Procedures (OCF)        | http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=6&page=1   |

URL

# OSG

- 19. Currently in Treatment (OCF)
- 20. After Treatment Issues (OCF)
- 21. Eating, Speech, Swallowing, and Alternative Feeding (OCF)
- 22. Caregiver / Co-Survivor Forum (OCF)
- 23. Insurance and Financial Forum (OCF)
- 24. Oral Cancer Recurrence (OCF)
- 25. Activism (OCF)
- 26. Adjunctive Therapy (OCF)
- 27. Introduce yourself (MCF)\*\*
- 28. General chat (MCF)
- 29. Survivor Stories (MCF)
- 30. Patient Based Research (MCF)
- 31. Medications, Treatment, Procedures (MCF)
- 32. Questions & Answers (MCF)
- 33. Laryngectomees Forum (MCF)
- 34. Spiritual Bouquet (MCF)
- 35. Light Humour (MCF)
- 36. Adult Humour (outrageous not for the sensitive) (MCF)
- 37. Helpful Tips (MCF)
- 38. Recipes and Food Tips (MCF)
- 39. Chat about Sport, TV, Movies, Books, etc (MCF)
- 40. Useful Websites & Books (MCF)
- 41. Projects, Fund & Awareness Raising (MCF)
- 42. Participate in a Poll (MCF)
- 43. Topix
- 44. Wrong Diagnosis [WD] or Better Medicine
- 45. Acor.org [association of cancer online resource]

http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=7&page=1 http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=12&page=1 http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=17&page=1

http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=9&page=1 http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=10&page=1 http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=19&page=1 http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=8&page=1 http://oralcancersupport.org/forums/ubbthreads.php?ubb=postlist&Board=11&page=1 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/75510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/55510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/78510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/3381064033 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/19510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/46510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/415104212 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/109102483 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/455107774 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/3761023803 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/26510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/9001080951 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/5761077532 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/66510549 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/541103626 http://rdoc.org.uk/eve/forums/a/frm/f/3441004042 http://www.topix.com/forum/health/oral-cancer http://forums.wrongdiagnosis.com/forumdisplay.php?f=3169 http://listserv.acor.org/SCRIPTS/WA-ACOR.EXE?A0=HEAD-NECK-ONC

| 46. | Daily Strength                    | http://www.dailystrength.org/c/Head-and-Neck-cancers/support-group                            |
|-----|-----------------------------------|---|
| 47. | Stupid cancer                     | http://forums.stupidcancer.com/forumdisplay.php?44-Head-Neck-                                 |
|     |                                   | <u>Cancer&amp;s=80082e68fd03c129765da0a459b21e7b</u>  |
| 48. | Throat cancer (Health boards)     | http://www.healthboards.com/boards/forumdisplay.php?f=208                                     |
| 49. | Oral cancer (Health boards)       | http://www.healthboards.com/boards/forumdisplay.php?f=204                                     |
| 50. | Tonsil Cancer Support Forum       | http://www.tonsilcancersupport.com/bboard/  |
| 51. | Throat cancer (MDJunction)        | http://www.mdjunction.com/forums/throat-cancer-discussions                                    |
| 52. | head and neck cancer (MDJunction) | http://www.mdjunction.com/forums/head-and-neck-cancers-discussions                            |
| 53. | mouth cancer (MDJunction)         | http://www.mdjunction.com/forums/mouth-cancer-discussions                                     |
| 54. | Lip and oral cancer (MDJunction)  | http://www.mdjunction.com/forums/lip-oral-cancer-discussions                                  |
| 55. | Dreddy Clinic.com                 | http://www.dreddyclinic.com/forum/viewforum.php?f=77&sid=f75bb4eeb1d94f78d2<br>a0bbe94fa4f40d |
| 56. | Inspire                           | http://www.inspire.com/groups/head-and-neck-cancer-alliance/                                  |

\*\* OCF (Oral Cancer Foundation), \*MCF (Mouth Cancer Foundation)

Appendix 4: Brief definitions of Social Support Behaviour Code (Cutrona and Suhr, 1992).

|      | Support type         | Purpose of Communication                                       |  |
|------|----------------------|--|--|
| Info | rmational support    | · •  |  |
| 1    | Suggestion / advice  | Offers ideas and suggest actions                               |  |
| 2    | Referral             | Refers the recipient to some other source of help              |  |
| 3    | Situation appraisal  | Reassure or redefine the situation                             |  |
| 4    | Teaching             | Provide detailed information, facts, or news about the         |  |
|      |                      | situation or about skills needed to deal with the situation    |  |
| Tang | gible Assistance     |  |  |
| 5    | Loan                 | Offer to lend the recipient something (including money)        |  |
| 6    | Direct task          | Offers to perform a task directly related to the stress        |  |
| 7    | Indirect task        | Offers to take over one or more of the recipient's other       |  |
|      |                      | responsibilities while the recipient is under stress           |  |
| 8    | Active participation | Offers to join the recipient in action that reduce the stress  |  |
| 9    | Willingness          | Express willingness to help                                    |  |
| Este | em support           |  |  |
| 10   | Compliments          | Says positive things about the recipient or emphasize the      |  |
|      | •                    | recipient's abilities.   |  |
| 11   | Validation           | Express agreement with the recipient's perspective on the      |  |
|      |                      | situation  |  |
| 12   | Relief of blame      | Tries to alleviate the recipient's feelings of guilt about the |  |
|      |                      | situation  |  |
| Netv | vork support         |  |  |
| 13   | Access               | Offers to provide the recipient with access to new             |  |
|      |                      | companions   |  |
| 14   | Presence             | Offers to spend time with the person, to be there              |  |
| 15   | Companions           | Reminds the person of availability of companions, of others    |  |
|      |                      | who are similar in interests or experience.                    |  |
| Emo  | tional support       |  |  |
| 16   | Relationship         | Stresses the importance of closeness and love in               |  |
|      | _                    | relationship with the recipient                                |  |
| 17   | Physical Affection   | Offers physical contact, including hugs, kisses, hand          |  |
|      |                      | holding, shoulder patting                                      |  |
| 18   | Confidentiality      | Promises to keep the recipient's problems in confidence        |  |
| 19   | Sympathy             | Express sorrow or regret for the recipient's situation or      |  |
|      |                      | distress   |  |
| 20   | Listening            | Attentive comments as the recipient speaks                     |  |
| 21   | Understanding/       | Express understanding of the situation or discloses a          |  |
|      | Empathy              | personal situation that communicates understanding             |  |
| 22   | Encouragement        | Provide the recipients with hope and confidence                |  |
| 23   | Prayer               | Prays with the recipient                                       |  |

Appendix 5: A modified version of Social Support Behaviour Code (Mo and Coulson, 2008)

|      | Support type                           | Purpose of Communication  |  |
|------|--|---|--|
| Info | rmational support                      |   |  |
| 1    | Advice                                 | Offers ideas and suggest actions                                |  |
| 2    | Referral                               | Refers the recipient to some other source of help               |  |
| 3    | Situation appraisal                    | Reassure or redefine the situation                              |  |
| 4    | Teaching                               | Provide detailed information, facts, or news about the          |  |
|      | C                                      | situation or about skills needed to deal with the situation     |  |
| 5    | Sharing own                            | Involves the sharing experience that served as references       |  |
|      | experience                             | rather than education   |  |
| Este | em support                             |   |  |
| 6    | Compliments                            | ments Says positive things about the recipient or emphasize the |  |
| -    | r                                      | recipient's abilities.  |  |
| 7    | Validation                             | Express agreement with the recipient's perspective on the       |  |
|      |  | situation   |  |
| 8    | Relief of blame                        | Tries to alleviate the recipient's feelings of guilt about the  |  |
|      |  | situation   |  |
| Netv | vork support                           |   |  |
| 9    | Access                                 | Offers to provide the recipient with access to new              |  |
| -    |  | companions  |  |
| 10   | Presence                               | Offers to spend time with the person, to be there               |  |
| Emo  | tional support                         |   |  |
| 11   | Expression of care                     | Contain expression of concern to other members                  |  |
| 12   | Relationship                           | Stresses the importance of closeness and love in relationship   |  |
|      | · ···································· | with the recipient  |  |
| 13   | Physical Affection                     | Offers physical affection, including hugs, kisses, hand         |  |
| -    | <b>y</b>                               | holding, shoulder patting                                       |  |
| 14   | Confidentiality                        | Promises to keep the recipient's problems in confidence         |  |
| 15   | Empathy                                | Express understanding of the situation or discloses a           |  |
| -    | r ···· J                               | personal situation that communicates understanding              |  |
| 16   | Sympathy                               | Express sorrow or regret for the recipient's situation or       |  |
|      | ~ y p y                                | distress  |  |
| 17   | Encouragement                          | Provide the recipients with hope and confidence                 |  |
| Tan  | gible Assistance                       |   |  |
| 18   | Loan                                   | Offer to lend the recipient something (including money)         |  |
| 19   | Perform direct task                    | Offers to perform a task directly related to the stress         |  |
| 20   | Express willingness                    | Express willingness to help                                     |  |
| 21   | Perform indirect task                  | sk Offers to take over one or more of the recipient's other     |  |
|      |  | responsibilities while the recipient is under stress            |  |

Appendix 6: A modified version of Social Support Behaviour Code (Mo and Coulson, 2008) after Pilot study

|    | Support type           | Purpose of Communication                                   |  |
|----|------------------------|--|--|
|    | Informational support  | <u> </u>   |  |
| 1  | Advice                 | Offers ideas and suggest actions                           |  |
| 2  | Referral               | Refers the recipient to some other source of help          |  |
| 3  | Situation appraisal    | Reassure or redefine the situation                         |  |
| 4  | Teaching               | Provide detailed information, facts, or news about the     |  |
|    |                        | situation or about skills needed to deal with the          |  |
|    |                        | situation  |  |
| 5  | Sharing own experience | Involves the sharing experience that served as             |  |
|    |                        | references rather than education                           |  |
|    | Esteem support         |  |  |
| 6  | Compliments            | Says positive things about the recipient or emphasize      |  |
|    | -                      | the recipient's abilities.                                 |  |
| 7  | Validation             | Express agreement with the recipient's perspective on      |  |
|    |                        | the situation  |  |
| 8  | Relief of blame        | Tries to alleviate the recipient's feelings of guilt about |  |
|    |                        | the situation  |  |
|    | Network support        |  |  |
| 9  | Access                 | Offers to provide the recipient with access to new         |  |
|    |                        | companions   |  |
| 10 | Presence               | Offers to spend time with the person, to be there          |  |
|    | Emotional support      |  |  |
| 11 | Expression of care     | Contain expression of concern to other members             |  |
| 12 | Relationship           | Stresses the importance of closeness and love in           |  |
|    |                        | relationship with the recipient                            |  |
| 13 | Physical Affection     | Offers physical affection, including hugs, kisses, hand    |  |
|    |                        | holding, shoulder patting                                  |  |
| 14 | Confidentiality        | Promises to keep the recipient's problems in               |  |
|    |                        | confidence   |  |
| 15 | Empathy                | Express understanding of the situation or discloses a      |  |
|    |                        | personal situation that communicates understanding         |  |
| 16 | Sympathy               | Express sorrow or regret for the recipient's situation     |  |
|    |                        | or distress  |  |
| 17 | Encouragement          | Provide the recipients with hope and confidence            |  |
| 18 | prayer                 | Prays with and/or for the recipient                        |  |
|    | Tangible Assistance    |  |  |
| 19 | Loan                   | Offer to lend the recipient something (including           |  |
| _  |                        | money)   |  |
| 20 | Perform direct task    | Offers to perform a task directly related to the stress    |  |
| 21 | Express willingness    | Express willingness to help                                |  |
| 22 | Perform indirect task  | Offers to take over one or more of the recipient's         |  |
|    |                        | other responsibilities while the recipient is under        |  |
|    |                        | stress   |  |

Appendix 7: Coursaris and Liu (2009) coding scheme for supportseeking messages...

| Sought support                | Description   |
|-------------------------------|---|
| Seeking informational support | Included specific questions concerning the situation to<br>obtain factual information, evaluate certain situation or to<br>seek suggestions or advice |
| Seeking emotional support     | Show emotional or psychological weakness and need for comfort   |
| Seeking esteem support        | Validation for perspective/relief of blame  |
| Seeking network support       | Asking for prolonged or contact with others in similar situation  |
| Seeking tangible support      | Asking for financial, material, equipment, asking to be<br>shown an aspect of care on a one-to-one basis  |
| Sharing personal experiences  | Share personal conditions, thoughts, and feelings related to the issue with others initially and spontaneously.                                       |
| Expression of gratitude       | Expressed straightforward thankfulness for the recipient's previous support   |
| Congratulations               | Express joy or acknowledgment of the recipient's achievement or good fortune  |

Appendix 8: A modified version of Coursaris and Liu (2009) coding scheme after pilot study

| Sought support                | Description   |
|-------------------------------|---|
| Seeking informational support | Included specific questions concerning the situation<br>to obtain factual information, evaluate certain<br>situation or to seek suggestions or advice |
| Seeking wellbeing information | Specific questions about how to offer support to others   |
| Seeking emotional support     | Show emotional or psychological weakness and need for comfort   |
| Seeking esteem support        | Validation for perspective/relief of blame  |
| Seeking network support       | Asking for prolonged or contact with others in similar situation  |
| Seeking tangible support      | Asking for financial, material, equipment, asking to<br>be shown an aspect of care on a one-to-one basis  |
| Sharing personal experiences  | Share personal conditions, thoughts, and feelings<br>related to the issue with others initially and<br>spontaneously.                                 |
| Expression of gratitude       | Expressed straightforward thankfulness for the recipient's previous support   |
| Congratulations               | Express joy or acknowledgment of the recipient's achievement or good fortune  |
| Expressions of care           | Expression of concern for others  |
| Encouragement                 | Sending messages of hope and confidence   |

Appendix 9: List of head and neck cancer Facebook groups available in 2013

|    | Facebook Support Groups                                      | No of<br>members<br>Feb 2013 | Open/Clo<br>sed | Date<br>started |
|----|--|------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| 1  | Head and Neck Cancer Support Backus                          | 15                           | Closed          | Feb 2012        |
| 2  | Laryngectomy Care Club (Prothsahanteam.org)                  | 150                          | Closed          | Nov 2012        |
| 3  | Laryngectomy support   | 212                          | Open            | Mar 2012        |
| 4  | Lary's Speakeasy Laryngectomy throat cancer                  | 15                           | Closed          | Aug 2011        |
| 5  | Mouth Cancer Awareness                                       | 107                          | Open            | Dec 2012        |
| 6  | Mouth Cancer Cup 'Saucer Kings'                              | 9                            | Closed          | Apr 2012        |
| 7  | Oral Cancer Awareness  | 95                           | Open            | Nov 2011        |
| 8  | Oral cancer fighting club                                    | 465                          | Open            | Jul 2012        |
| 9  | Oral Cancer Foundation (OCF)                                 | 5832                         | Open            | Nov 2012        |
| 10 | PNG Mouth Cancer Awareness Program.                          | 3486                         | Closed          | Jan 2012        |
| 11 | Prevent Mouth Cancer   | 411                          | Open            | Mar 2011        |
| 12 | Survivors of Head and Neck Cancer                            | 686                          | Closed          | Jan 2012        |
| 13 | Survivors of tongue cancer                                   | 25                           | Open            | Mar 2012        |
| 14 | The Laryngectomy   | 59                           | Open            | Oct 2012        |
| 15 | The swallows head and neck cancer support group buy and sell | 1,238                        | Closed          | Jan 2013        |
| 16 | Throat and oral cancer survivors                             | 165                          | Open            | Oct 2011        |
| 17 | Throat Cancer Awareness                                      | 126                          | Open            | Aug 2011        |
| 18 | Thyroid Head and Neck Cancer (THANC)<br>Foundation           | 290                          | Open            | Oct 2008        |
| 19 | Tonsil Cancer Support Group                                  | 25                           | Closed          | Apr 2013        |

Appendix 10: Brief description of the OSGs used for sample recruitment in Study 2...

### - Macmillan Head and Neck Cancer Group

An online group belong to Macmillan Cancer Support and designed for anyone affected by H&N cancers, including oral cancer, throat and larynx. Macmillan Cancer Support is one of the biggest British charities and offers specialist health care, financial and information support to individuals affected by cancer and helps them with some medical needs. Macmillan also looks at the emotional, practical and social impact of cancer, and fights for better care to people affected by cancer. The goal of this charity is to access to and improve the lives of each person living with cancer in the UK (Macmillan, 2012).

### - The Oral Cancer Foundation

The Oral Cancer Foundation is an American national public service, non-profit entity intended to diminish suffering and save lives through research, education, prevention, advocacy, and patient support activities directed for people living with H&N cancer, including mouth cancer, throat cancer and tonsil cancer. An anonymous and free patient / survivor discussion forum is open to the public, enable individuals currently fighting H&N cancer and their families to achieve inspiration and insights from others have preceded them to this site. It is closely monitored for suitability of information exchanged. In spite of the main forum, the Oral Cancer Foundation has other social networking sites on Facebook, Twitter, flicker and YouTube (OCF, 2012).

### - Survivors of Head and Neck Cancer

A Face Book support group aimed to act as a source of physical, emotional and spiritual encouragement for people who live/lived with any kind of H&N cancer, their families and caregivers. This group is also welling to offer a comfortable place to share common experiences and discuss ideas for all of its users (Greco, 2014).

#### <u>Throat and oral cancer survivors</u>

A face book Group provides online support to survivors of cancers of the throat and neck, and also to their families, and caregivers (Gev, 2012).

Appendix 11: Invitation message for participation in the online questionnaire

"This posting is intended to reach people who are accessing this online support group and who have been diagnosed with head and neck cancer at some point. If you do not meet the above description, please ignore this and no need to continue".

We are writing to ask you to take part in a research study being conducted by the School of Clinical Dentistry, University of Sheffield. The purpose of the research is to explore the role of online support groups and forums for people who live with head and neck cancer. We are interested in whether the use of such groups is related to better psychological outcomes for people living with head and neck cancer and, if so, the processes by which this may come about. In the future we hope to use the findings to identify ways to plan and develop such groups to provide maximum support for people with head and neck cancer and their families.

With this email, there is an attached file, which gives more information on the research study. If, after reading it, you would like to take part in the study, please click on the following link to access and complete our questionnaires and the consent form.

#### The link to our questionnaires is:

### https://docs.google.com/a/sheffield.ac.uk/spreadsheet/viewform?formkey=dEh6UUpIbXd 1Q0E2bEc3RTFpQ3ZickE6M. Q

It would be very helpful to us if you could complete the questionnaires and consent form within 7 days.

If after reading the information leaflet you would like more information then please feel free to contact, Mr Eamar Al Gtewi, Dr Sarah Baker or Dr Janine Owens, at the address given below. We would like to stress that your participation is entirely voluntary and that you can withdraw at any time All information supplied will be treated confidentially and only used for research purposes.

May we take this opportunity to thank you for your time.

Yours sincerely,

| Mr Eamar Al Gtewi  | Dr Sarah Baker  | Dr Janine Owens   |
|--|---|---|
| Phone<br>+44(0)7413691901<br>Email:<br><u>mdp08eea@sheffield.ac</u><br>. <u>uk</u> | Phone +44(0)114<br>2717837<br>Email :<br><u>s.r.baker@sheffield.ac</u><br>.uk | Phone: +44 (0) 114 271<br>7891<br>Email:<br>jan.owens@sheffield.ac<br>.uk |
|  |   |   |

Person-centred and population oral health research group School of Clinical Dentistry University of Sheffield Claremont Crescent Sheffield S10 2TA http://www.shef.ac.uk/dentalschool/research/papor **Appendix 12: Information sheet for Study 2** 



School Of Clinical Dentistry.

#### Academic Unit of Dental Public Health

Head of Unit

Professor Peter G Robinson BDS, MSc, PhD, FRACDS, FDSRCS, FFPH, FHEA

Claremont Crescent Sheffield S10 2TA

**Telephone:** +44 (0) 114 271 7885 (office) **Fax:** +44 (0) 114 271 7843 **Email:** ohd@sheffield.ac.uk

## **INFORMATION SHEET**

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide whether to take part, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take the time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish.

Please remember that all details will be kept anonymous, confidential and used solely for research purposes.

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.

## **The Research Project**

Title: "The role of online support groups for individuals with head and neck cancer"

**Purpose:** Social support is increasingly recognised as playing an important role in individual's health; particularly helping people cope with the diagnosis, progression, and outcomes of cancer. There has been an increase in the number of people using the internet for advice, information, and support related to various health conditions, including cancer. To date, many online groups have been established for individuals and their carers to discuss issues relating to their head and neck cancer. This research project aims to investigate whether the frequency of using such groups is related to better psychological outcomes for people who live with head and neck cancer and, if so, the processes by which this may come about.

To do this, we are asking patients with head and neck cancer who use such online groups or groups to complete a questionnaire. There is no funding for this project; it is part of a doctoral dissertation being conducted in the School of Clinical Dentistry at the University of Sheffield.

### Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you have experienced head and neck cancer and you are currently using online forums. Your participation will enable us, in the future, to plan and develop such forums to provide maximum support for people who live with head and neck cancer and their families.

The project aims to recruit around 239 individuals with head and neck cancer.

## Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part, and you are free to withdraw at any time. If you do decide to take part, you should keep this information sheet. You will also be asked to fill in a consent form. You should keep one copy of the consent form until the end of the study.

If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason by simply closing the web browser.

## What will happen to me if I take part?

If you decide to take part you are asked to complete a series of short questionnaires. In the questionnaires, you will first be asked to confirm some demographic information such as, gender and age followed by, some questions about your cancer such as the site and stage of treatment. Then you will be asked to complete some questions related to how you cope, your support and social networks, anxiety, depression and quality of life. Many of the questions may seem similar in what they are asking; even if this is the case, we would ask you to complete all of the questions. There are no right or wrong answers; we simply want your opinion. For all questions, you will be asked to indicate your preferences by either choosing between a few options or rating the scenario presented.

#### What do I have to do?

If you would like to take part, simply fill in the consent form and complete the questionnaires, then just click on the submit button at the end.

If you would be willing, we are asking a small group of individuals to take part in a short online interview to explore the issues raised and the role of online support groups in more detail. If you would be willing to take part, please indicate so at the end of the questionnaires.

## What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

There are no known risks for individuals who take part.

#### What are the possible benefits of taking part?

Whilst there might be no immediate or direct benefits for those people participating in the project, the information you provide us with will help us gain a better understanding of how online support groups may have an impact on the quality of life of individuals with head and neck cancer in relation to improving support, coping strategies and reducing anxiety and depression. It is hoped that this study will help advance awareness of the importance of online head and neck cancer groups in potentially improving psychological outcomes.

#### Do I have to participate in the interview?

We are asking a small group of individuals (approximately 30) to take part in a further online interview to explore in more detail the role of online support groups in head and neck cancer. You do not have to take part in the interview. Even if you decide to take part, again you are free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason.

#### What should I do if I want to take part in the interview?

If you would like to take part in the interview, simply respond 'yes' to the question at the end of the questionnaires and then indicate a suitable means by which we can contact you. We will contact you about arranging a suitable time.

## Do I have to answer all the questions during the interview?

No, the interview will be flexible and you have the right to answer or refuse any question and you can stop the interview at any time according to your situation and convenience.

## Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information that you provide us for this study will be kept strictly confidential. The whole study will be conducted according to guidance on ethics from the University of Sheffield / UK (<u>www.shef.ac.uk</u>). To protect your privacy the following measures will be taken to ensure that no-one, apart from the principal researcher, has access to your identity:

- All the information and responses that you give will be completely anonymous. Your name is not required.
- All information supplied will be kept confidential.

### What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results from the information you provide will be used to help us gain a fuller picture of the role of online support forums for people with head and neck cancer in terms of support, coping and quality of life.

No-one will be able to recognise your identity in any report or related publication based on the results of the study. Following completion of the study a completed report will be placed on the forum or sent to you by email giving a summary of our findings and recommendations.

## Who is organising and funding the research?

There is no funding for this project; it is part of a PhD programme in the School of Clinical Dentistry at the University of Sheffield. The principal researcher is a PhD student and the co-researchers are academic members of staff at the University of Sheffield.

### Who has reviewed the study?

The study's protocol has been reviewed and ethically approved by School of Clinical Dentistry, The University of Sheffield, in accordance with the University Research Ethics policy.

### What if I have questions?

This project is being supervised by Dr Sarah Baker and Dr Janine Owens, School of Clinical Dentistry, The University of Sheffield. For further information please contact: Researcher: Eamar Al Gtewi, <u>mdp08eea@sheffield.ac.uk</u>, +44(0)7413691901, Supervisors: Dr Sarah Baker, <u>s.r.baker@sheffield.ac.uk</u>, +44 (0) 114 271 7837 or Dr Janine Owens jan.owens@sheffield.ac.uk +44 (0) 114 271 7891.

Thank you for reading this and I hope you wish to participate.

A copy of this information sheet and the consent form should be kept by you during the research study either in your email, computer or hard printed copy if you are able to print.

Date: 05/12/2012

Version number: 1

**Appendix 13: Consent form for Study 2** 



School Of Clinical Dentistry.

### Academic Unit of Dental Public Health

**Head of Unit** Professor Peter G Robinson BDS, MSc, PhD, FRACDS, FDSRCS, FFPH, FHEA

Claremont Crescent Sheffield S10 2TA

**Telephone:** +44 (0) 114 271 7885 (office) **Fax:** +44 (0) 114 271 7843 **Email:** ohd@sheffield.ac.uk

# CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: The role of online support groups for individuals with head and neck cancer'

Name of Researchers: Mr Eamar Algtewi, Dr Sarah Baker and Dr Janine Owens

## Please check box

| 1. | I confirm that I have read and understand the information<br>sheet dated 05 December 2012 (version: 1) for the above  |  |
|----|---|--|
| 2. | study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.<br>I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am<br>free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, and |  |
| 3. | without there being any negative consequences<br>I understand that my responses will be kept strictly<br>confidential and give permission for the researcher to have                  |  |
| 4. | access to my anonymised responses.<br>I agree to take part in the above study.  |  |

Date: \_\_/\_\_/20\_\_\_\_

By clicking the "Agree" button below, you agree that you have read, understand, and agree to take part in above study.

 $\square$  Please tick this box to proceed.

Appendix 14: Instruction leaflet for the online questionnaire and interview



School Of Clinical Dentistry.

### Academic Unit of Dental Public Health

Head of Unit Professor Peter G Robinson BDS, MSc, PhD, FRACDS, FDSRCS, FFPH, FHEA

Claremont Crescent Sheffield S10 2TA

**Telephone:** +44 (0) 114 271 7885 (office) **Fax:** +44 (0) 114 271 7843 **Email:** ohd@sheffield.ac.uk

## **INSTRUCTION LEAFLET**

Thank you for agreeing to participate. As explained in the information leaflet, you are being asked to complete a series of questions that explore the use of online support groups, support, coping and quality of life relating to head and neck cancer. Everybody is different; you may find that some of the statements do not apply to you, that is OK, please give the response that best fits how you feel. Remember, there are no right or wrong answers.

### **Instructions:**

We would like you to read and accept the consent form. Its purpose is to safeguard that you have understood the aim of the study and your involvement in it. Please print and keep one copy of the consent form until the end of the study. Even after accepting the consent form you can withdraw from the study at any time if you wish to do so.

Please complete the questionnaires at a time when you are on your own, in their order. Try not to spend too much time on each statement, give your first response. Most responses need you to click the appropriate response. However, in some cases if you are asked to write a brief explanation to a question, please do this in the space indicated.

Once completed would you kindly click on the submit button at the end of the questionnaire.

Regarding the interview:

- If you would like to participate in the interview just answer (yes) to the relevant question and indicate a suitable chatting mean of contact and you will be will be contacted later for suitable appointment.
- The appointments will be flexible according to your suitable time and you will have the right to cancel or amend the appointment according to your situations.
- The interview will last between 20-30 minutes
- The interviewer will start this online interview by typing the first question in a small text box of the chat software and will send it to you. You will read the question in a text box and then can send an answer to the interviewer the same way.
- You have the right to withdraw at any time during the interview.

We would like to stress that all information is anonymous and will be treated in the strictest confidence and only used for the purpose of this research

May we take this opportunity to thank you for your participation and remind you that if you wish to discuss any aspect of the research do not hesitate to contact us at the address given above.

With regards

Mr Eamar Al Gtewi (PhD student) Dr Sarah Baker (Health Psychologist) Dr Janine Owens (Heath Promotion Expert) Appendix 15: Questionnaires for study 2, Part 1

## <u>QUESTIONNAIRES</u> (Questionnaires was formatted for use on Google Drive)



School of Clinical Dentistry University of Sheffield

# The role of online support groups for head and neck cancer

# Questionnaire

# A. About you

1. What is your age?

\_\_\_\_\_ years

# 2. Which of the following describes you?

□ Male

□ Female

3. What country do you live in?

# 4. What is your religion?

- $\Box$  No religion
- Christian (all denominations)
- □ Muslim
- Buddhist
- □ Hindu
- □ Jewish
- □ Sikh
- Any other religion (Please specify)
- $\Box$  Prefer not to say

# 5. What is your marital status?

- □ Married / Living with a partner
- □ Widowed
- □ Single
- Other,..... Please specify: \_\_\_\_\_

 $\square$  Prefer not to say

# 6. Who else lives in your household?

Please click all of the boxes that apply

□ No-one, I live alone

□ Children

□ Siblings

Other relatives (e.g. parents, grandparents)

□ Non-family members

Anyone else,..... Please specify: \_\_\_\_\_

# 7. How satisfied are you with your income?

□ Totally insufficient,

# □ Somewhat insufficient

- $\Box$  Sufficient for essential needs
- $\square$  More than sufficient

# **B.** About your cancer

## 1. Where is/was your cancer located?

# $\Box$ Lip and mouth

(Lips, tongue, under my tongue, gum, jaw bones, roof of my mouth, cheeks, salivary gland)

Throat

□ Vocal cords

 $\Box$  I am not sure

# 2. Which of the following describes your cancer stage?

| Stage | I |
|-------|---|
| Druge |   |

- □ Stage II
- □ Stage III
- □ Stage IV
- □ I am not sure

# 3. Has the cancer spread into other organs (metastatic)?

| □ Yes |
|-------|
|-------|

| $\Box$ | No |
|--------|----|
|--------|----|

 $\Box$  I am not sure

# 4. What treatment(s) or therapies have you undergone so far?

| Chemotherapy                        | $\Box$ Colour, Art or Music Therapy |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Radiation                           | Spiritual Healing                   |
| Surgery                             | Prayer                              |
| Acupuncture/Oriental Medicine       | $\Box$ Meditation or Self-Healing   |
| □ Naturopathy                       | Psychological Counselling           |
| Herbology or Nutritional Consulting | Face-to Face Support Groups         |
| Online Support Groups               | □ Massage or other Bodywork         |
| Others                              | □ I am not sure                     |

# 5. In which treatment stage are you now?

Pre-diagnosis

- Pre-treatment
- Under-treatment
- Post-treatment
- $\Box$  I am not sure

# 6. How long approximately have you been diagnosed with this cancer?

\_\_\_\_\_ years \_\_\_\_\_months

# C. About using online support groups

**1.** Approximately <u>how many days in the past month</u> have you spent accessing head and neck cancer-related online support groups (i.e. forums, chat rooms, bulletin boards)?] \_\_\_\_\_\_ days

**2.** Approximately, <u>how many hours per day in the past month</u> have you spent accessing head and neck cancer-related online support groups (i.e. forums, chat rooms, bulletin boards)?

\_\_\_\_\_ hours

**3.** Approximately, how <u>long have you been accessing</u> these online groups (head and neck cancer -related online support groups)?

\_\_\_\_\_ years \_\_\_\_\_ months \_\_\_\_\_ days

4. Are you a member of an online support group for head and neck cancer?

- $\square$  Yes (if yes go to question 5)
- $\square$  No (if no go to question 8)

5. How long have you been member of an online support group for head and neck cancer?

\_\_\_\_\_ years \_\_\_\_\_ months

6. Approximately, how many messages have you posted requesting advice or support to that online group?

7. How many messages have you sent as a response to other people's messages in that online group?

8. Could you tell us why you decided to participate in an online support group?

- Because I was curious how other members were doing
- □ It was part of my daily routine
- $\square$  When I had a question about my health condition
- □ To enjoy myself
- $\square$  When I heard new information about my health condition
- $\square$  When I had a lot of symptoms
- $\square$  Before visiting a doctor
- □ After visiting a doctor
- $\Box$  When I had new symptoms
- Because I felt lonely
- $\square$  Because other members expected me to be here

- $\Box$  To stay in touch with other members
- $\Box$  To help other members in their health condition
- □ Other reason (please specify)

9. In your view, has being a member of an online support group made any difference to how you cope with your cancer?

10. What do you consider to be the main advantages of participating in an online support group?

11. Are there any problems you have experienced in participating in an online support group?

 $\begin{array}{c} \square \\ \square \\ \end{array} \\ \text{No} \\ \text{Yes} \end{array}$
#### D. About support you receive from others

The following questions ask about your social support. Please read each question and click the response that most closely describes your current situation.

## **1.** How many close friends do you have, people that you feel at ease with, can talk to about private matters?

[] None [] 1 or 2 [] 3 to 5 [] 6 to 9 [] 10 or more [] Unknown

2. How many of these close friends do you see at least once a month?

[] None [] 1 or 2 [] 3 to 5 [] 6 to 9 [] 10 or more [] Unknown

**3.** How many relatives do you have, people that you feel at ease with, can talk to about private matters?

[ ] None [ ] 1 or 2 [ ] 3 to 5 [ ] 6 to 9 [ ] 10 or more [ ] Unknown

4. How many of these relatives do you see at least once a month?

[] None [] 1 or 2 [] 3 to 5 [] 6 to 9 [] 10 or more [] Unknown

5. Do you participate in any groups other than online groups, such as a senior centre, social or work group, religious-connected group, self-help group, or charity, public service, or community group?

[] No

[] Yes [] Unknown

#### 6. About how often do you go to religious meetings or services?

[] Never or almost never
[] Once or twice a year
[] Every few months
[] Once or twice a month
[] Once a week
[] More than once a week
[] Unknown

### 7. Is there someone available to you whom you can count on to listen to you when you need to talk?

[] None [] 1 or 2 [] 3 to 5 [] 6 to 9 [] 10 or more [] Unknown

#### 8. Is there someone available to give you good advice about a problem?

[] None [] 1 or 2 [] 3 to 5 [] 6 to 9 [] 10 or more [] Unknown

#### 9. Is there someone available to you who shows you love and affection?

[ ] None [ ] 1 or 2 [ ] 3 to 5 [ ] 6 to 9 [ ] 10 or more [ ] Unknown

# 10. Can you count on anyone to provide you with emotional support (talking over problems or helping you make a difficult decision)?

[ ] None [ ] 1 or 2 [ ] 3 to 5 [ ] 6 to 9 [ ] 10 or more [] Unknown

# **11.** Do you have as much contact as you would like with someone you feel close to, someone in whom you can trust and confide?

[] None [] 1 or 2 [] 3 to 5 [] 6 to 9 [] 10 or more [] Unknown

#### E. About confidence in doing things related to your cancer.

This questionnaire contains many things that a person might do when receiving treatment for cancer. *We are interested in your judgment of how confident you are that you can accomplish those things*. Make sure your ratings accurately reflect your confidence whether or not you have done it in the past. So, your ratings reflect your confidence that you can do these things now (or in the near future).Please read each numbered item. Then rate that item on how confident you are that you can accomplish that behaviour. check a number on the scale. If you check a "1" you would be stating that you are not at all confident that you can accomplish that behaviour. If you check a "9" you would be stating that you are totally confident that you are moderately confident that you can accomplish that behaviour. Numbers in the middle of the scale indicate that you are not sure about an item, please rate it as best you can.

#### How confident are you in:

#### 1. Maintaining independence

| Not at all |   |   |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally   |
|------------|---|---|---|------------|---|---|---|-----------|
| confident  |   |   |   | confident  |   |   |   | confident |
| 1          | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

#### 2. Maintaining a positive attitude

| Not at all |   |           |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally |
|------------|---|-----------|---|------------|---|---|---|---------|
| confident  |   | confident |   |            |   |   |   |         |
| 1          | 2 | 3         | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9       |

#### 3. Maintaining a sense of humour

| Not at all |   |   |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally   |
|------------|---|---|---|------------|---|---|---|-----------|
| confident  |   |   |   | confident  |   |   |   | confident |
| 1          | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

#### 4. Expressing negative feelings about cancer

| Not at all |   |   |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally   |
|------------|---|---|---|------------|---|---|---|-----------|
| confident  |   |   |   | confident  |   |   |   | confident |
| 1          | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

#### 5. Maintaining work activity

| Not at all |   |   |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally   |
|------------|---|---|---|------------|---|---|---|-----------|
| confident  |   |   |   | confident  |   |   |   | confident |
| 1          | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

# 6. Remaining relaxed throughout treatments and not allowing scary thoughts to upset me

| Not at all |   |           |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally |
|------------|---|-----------|---|------------|---|---|---|---------|
| confident  |   | confident |   |            |   |   |   |         |
| 1          | 2 | 3         | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9       |

#### 7. Actively participating in treatment decisions

| Not at all |   |   |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally   |
|------------|---|---|---|------------|---|---|---|-----------|
| confident  |   |   |   | confident  |   |   |   | confident |
| 1          | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

#### 8. Asking doctors questions

| Not at all |   |           |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally |
|------------|---|-----------|---|------------|---|---|---|---------|
| confident  |   | confident |   |            |   |   |   |         |
| 1          | 2 | 3         | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9       |

#### 9. Seeking consolation

| Not at all |   |   |   | Moderately |   |   |   | Totally   |
|------------|---|---|---|------------|---|---|---|-----------|
| confident  |   |   |   | confident  |   |   |   | confident |
| 1          | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

#### 10. Sharing feelings of concern

| Not at all |   | Moderately |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |
|------------|---|------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|
| confident  |   | confident  |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |
| 1          | 2 | 3          | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 |  |

#### 11. Managing nausea and vomiting

| Not at all | Moderately | Totally |
|------------|------------|---------|
|            | ACC        |         |

| confident |   |   |   | confident |   |   |   | confident |
|-----------|---|---|---|-----------|---|---|---|-----------|
| 1         | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5         | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9         |

### 12. Coping with physical changes

| Not at all |                   |   |   | Moderately |   |           |   |   |
|------------|-------------------|---|---|------------|---|-----------|---|---|
| confident  | nfident confident |   |   |            |   | confident |   |   |
| 1          | 2                 | 3 | 4 | 5          | 6 | 7         | 8 | 9 |

**F. About feelings of anxiety and depression** Tick the box beside the reply that is closest to how you have been feeling in the past week. Don't take too long over you replies: your immediate is best.

| D | Α |  | D | Α |                                   |
|---|---|--|---|---|-----------------------------------|
|   |   | I feel tense or 'wound up':              |   |   | I feel as if I am slowed          |
|   |   | _  |   |   | down:                             |
|   | 3 | Most of the time                         | 3 |   | Nearly all the time               |
|   | 2 | A lot of the time                        | 2 |   | Very often                        |
|   | 1 | From time to time, occasionally          | 1 |   | Sometimes                         |
|   | 0 | Not at all                               | 0 |   | Not at all                        |
|   |   |  |   |   |                                   |
|   |   | I still enjoy the things I used to       |   |   | I get a sort of frightened        |
|   |   | enjoy:                                   |   |   | feeling like 'butterflies' in the |
|   |   |  |   |   | stomach:                          |
| 0 |   | Definitely as much                       |   | 0 | Not at all                        |
| 1 |   | Not quite so much                        |   | 1 | Occasionally                      |
| 2 |   | Only a little                            |   | 2 | Ouite Often                       |
| 3 |   | Hardly at all                            |   | 3 | Very Often                        |
| 5 |   |  |   | 5 | very onen                         |
|   |   | I get a sort of frightened feeling as if |   |   |                                   |
|   |   | a got a soft of finghtened feeling as I  |   |   | I have lost interest in my        |
|   |   | sometiming awrun is about to nappen:     |   |   | appearance:                       |
|   | 3 | Very definitely and guite hedly          | 3 |   | appearance.                       |
|   | 3 | Very definitely and quite badly          | 2 |   | L don't take as much agen as L    |
| _ | Z | res, but not too badiy                   | Ζ |   | should                            |
|   | 1 | A little, but it doesn't worry me        | 1 |   | I may not take quite as much      |
|   | 0 | Not at all                               | 0 |   | I take just as much care as       |
|   | Ŭ |  | Ŭ |   | ever                              |
|   |   |  |   |   |                                   |
|   |   | I can laugh and see the funny side of    |   |   | I feel restless as I have to be   |
|   |   | things:                                  |   |   | on the move:                      |
| 0 |   | As much as I always could                |   | 3 | Very much indeed                  |
| 1 |   | Not quite so much now                    |   | 2 | Quite a lot                       |
| 2 |   | Definitely not so much now               |   | 1 | Not very much                     |
| 3 |   | Not at all                               |   | 0 | Not at all                        |
|   |   |  |   |   |                                   |
|   |   | Worrying thoughts go through my          |   |   | I look forward with enjoyment     |
|   |   | mind:                                    |   |   | to things:                        |
|   | 3 | A great deal of the time                 | 0 |   | As much as I ever did             |
|   | 2 | A lot of the time                        | 1 |   | Rather less than I used to        |
|   | 1 | From time to time, but not too often     | 2 |   | Definitely less than I used to    |
|   | 0 | Only occasionally                        | 3 |   | Hardly at all                     |
|   |   | · · ·                                    |   |   |                                   |
|   | 1 | I feel cheerful:                         | 1 | 1 | I get sudden feelings of panic:   |
| 3 |   | Not at all                               |   | 3 | Very often indeed                 |
| 2 |   | Not often                                |   | 2 | Quite often                       |
| 1 |   | Sometimes                                |   | 1 | Not very often                    |
| 0 |   | Most of the time                         |   | 0 | Not at all                        |
|   |   |  |   |   |                                   |
|   |   | I can sit at ease and feel relaxed       |   |   | I can enjoy a good book or radio  |
|   |   | r can bit at case and reer related.      |   |   | or TV program:                    |
|   | 0 | Definitely                               | 0 |   | Often                             |
|   | 1 | Usually                                  | 1 |   | Sometimes                         |
|   | 2 | Not Often                                | 2 |   | Not often                         |
|   | 3 | Not at all                               | 3 |   | Very seldom                       |
|   |   |  |   |   |                                   |

### G. How do you cope with your illness?

|               |   | Definitely  | Does not    | Applies to | Definitely |
|---------------|---|-------------|-------------|------------|------------|
|               |   | does not    | apply to me | me         | applies to |
|               | At the many of I talks and down to the    | apply to me |             |            | me         |
| $\frac{1}{2}$ | At the moment I take one day at a time    |             |             |            |            |
| 2             | I see my miless as a Chanenge             |             |             |            |            |
| 3             | I ve put mysell in the hands of God       |             |             |            |            |
| 4             | I feel like giving up                     |             |             |            |            |
| 5             | I feel very angry about what has          |             |             |            |            |
| 6             | I feel completely at a loss about what to |             |             |            |            |
| 0             | do  |             |             |            |            |
| 7             | It is a devastating feeling               |             |             |            |            |
| 8             | I count my blessings                      |             |             |            |            |
| 9             | I worry about the cancer returning or     |             |             |            |            |
|               | getting worse                             |             |             |            |            |
| 10            | I try to fight the illness                |             |             |            |            |
| 11            | I distract myself when thoughts about     |             |             |            |            |
|               | my illness come into my head              |             |             |            |            |
| 12            | I can't handle it                         |             |             |            |            |
| 13            | I am apprehensive                         |             |             |            |            |
| 14            | I am not very hopeful about the future    |             |             |            |            |
| 15            | I feel there is nothing I can do to help  |             |             |            |            |
| 1.6           | myself                                    |             |             |            |            |
| 16            | I think this is the end of the world      |             |             |            |            |
| 17            | Not thinking about it helps me cope       |             |             |            |            |
| 18            | I am very optimistic                      |             |             |            |            |
| 19            | I've had a good life what's left is a     |             |             |            |            |
| 20            | bonus                                     |             |             |            |            |
| 20            | I feel that life is hopeless              |             |             |            |            |
| 21            | l can't cope                              |             |             |            |            |
| 22            | I am upset about having Cancer            |             |             |            |            |
| 23            | I am determined to beat this disease      |             |             |            |            |
| 24            | Since my cancer diagnosis I now realise   |             |             |            |            |
|               | howprecious life is and I'm making the    |             |             |            |            |
| 25            | MOSt Of It                                |             |             |            |            |
| 23            | happened to me                            |             |             |            |            |
| 26            | I make a positive effort not to think     |             |             |            |            |
| _0            | about my illness                          |             |             |            |            |
| 27            | I deliberately push all thoughts of       |             |             |            |            |
|               | cancer out of myMind                      |             |             |            |            |
| 28            | I suffer great anxiety about it           |             |             |            |            |
| 29            | I am a little frightened                  |             |             |            |            |

### H. Your experience of online support groups

We are interested in the role online support groups play in people's lives. Could you tell us how often the following events have taken place throughout your experience using online support groups?

|      |  | Never | Rarely | Sometimes | Often | Very |
|------|--|-------|--------|-----------|-------|------|
|      |  |       |        |           |       | onen |
| 1    | Someone in the group pays you a compliment?  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 2    | Someone in the group confides in you?  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 3    | Someone in the group asks you for your help or advice?   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 4    | Someone in the group points out your strengths?  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 5    | Someone in the group is interested in you?   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 6    | Someone in the group consoles you?   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 7    | Someone in the group offers you sound advice?  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 8    | Someone in the group reassures you?  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 9    | Someone in the group invites you to have (personal) contact outside this online support group? |       |        |           |       |      |
| 10   | Someone in the group starts a private  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 11   | Someone in the group pays particular   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 11   | attention to you in special cases, such as   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 12   | Someone in the group gives you   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 13   | You share your worries and fears with  |       |        |           |       |      |
|      | other members?   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 14   | Someone in the group is empathic?  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 15   | Company (manager in the arrow shows  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 15   | you the positive side of living with the disease   |       |        |           |       |      |
| 16   | Someone/message in the group helps you take a more positive attitude towards life              |       |        |           |       |      |
| 17   | Someone/message in the group shows you how to value life                                       |       |        |           |       |      |
| 18   | Someone/message in the group helps you<br>understand more the meaning of life                  |       |        |           |       |      |
| 19   | Someone/message in the group helps you find new and worthwhile goals                           |       |        |           |       |      |
| 20   | Someone/message in the group helps you find the direction in which life is headed              |       |        |           |       |      |
| 21   | Someone/message in the group offers you  |       |        |           |       |      |
| - 22 | Someone/message in the group helps you   |       |        |           | -     |      |

|    | know more about yourself                     |  |  |  |
|----|--|--|--|--|
| 23 | Someone/message in the group helps you       |  |  |  |
|    | reinterpret the meaning of a situation in a  |  |  |  |
|    | more positive manner                         |  |  |  |
| 24 | Someone/message in the group shows           |  |  |  |
|    | optimism about the situation you have        |  |  |  |
|    | gone through                                 |  |  |  |
| 25 | Someone/message in the group shows           |  |  |  |
|    | you that there are people worse off than     |  |  |  |
|    | you  |  |  |  |
| 26 | Someone/messages in the group helps          |  |  |  |
|    | you realize you are not so bad off after all |  |  |  |
| 27 | Others are an example to you?                |  |  |  |
| 28 | You recognize yourself in the stories of     |  |  |  |
|    | other online support group members?          |  |  |  |
|    |  |  |  |  |
| 29 | Information exchanged is valuable            |  |  |  |
| 30 | Information exchanged is in line with the    |  |  |  |
|    | information I receive from my care           |  |  |  |
|    | providers                                    |  |  |  |
| 31 | Information exchanged is correct             |  |  |  |
| 32 | Information exchanged is reliable            |  |  |  |
| 33 | Information exchanged is understandable      |  |  |  |
| 34 | Information exchanged is usable              |  |  |  |
| 35 | Information exchanged is new                 |  |  |  |
| 36 | Information exchanged is of added value      |  |  |  |
|    | to the information I receive from my care    |  |  |  |
|    | providers                                    |  |  |  |
| 37 | Information exchanged is applicable to       |  |  |  |
|    | my present situation                         |  |  |  |
|    |  |  |  |  |
| 38 | You can share your everyday experiences      |  |  |  |
|    | with others                                  |  |  |  |
| 39 | You can offer advice and support to          |  |  |  |
|    | others?                                      |  |  |  |

#### I. About quality of life related to your cancer

This questionnaire asks about your health and quality of life **over the past seven days**. Please answer all of the questions by checking one box for each question.

- 1. **Pain**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- □ I have no pain.
- $\Box$  There is mild pain not needing medication.
- □ I have moderate pain requires regular medication (codeine or nonnarcotic).
- $\Box$  I have severe pain controlled only by narcotics.
- $\Box$  I have severe pain, not controlled by medication.
- 2. **Appearance**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\square$  There is no change in my appearance.
- $\Box$  The change in my appearance is minor.
- □ My appearance bothers me but I remain active.
- $\Box$  I feel significantly disfigured and limit my activities due to my appearance.
- $\Box$  I cannot be with people due to my appearance.
- 3. Activity. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  I am as active as I have ever been.
- $\Box$  There are times when I can't keep up my old pace, but not often.
- $\Box$  I am often tired and have slowed down my activities although I still get out.
- $\Box$  I don't go out because I don't have the strength.
- $\Box$  I am usually in bed or chair and don't leave home.
- 4. **Recreation**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  There are no limitations to recreation at home or away from home.
- $\Box$  There are a few things I can't do but I still get out and enjoy life.
- $\Box$  There are many times when I wish I could get out more, but I'm not up to it.
- $\Box$  There are severe limitations to what I can do, mostly I stay at home and watch TV.
- $\Box$  I can't do anything enjoyable.
- 5. **Swallowing**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  I can swallow as well as ever.
- □ I cannot swallow certain solid foods.

- $\Box$  I can only swallow liquid food.
- $\Box$  I cannot swallow because it "goes down the wrong way" and chokes me.
- 6. **Chewing**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  I can chew as well as ever.
- $\Box$  I can eat soft solids but cannot chew some foods.
- $\Box$  I cannot even chew soft solids.
- 7. **Speech**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\square$  My speech is the same as always.
- $\Box$  I have difficulty saying some words but I can be understood over the phone.
- $\Box$  Only my family and friends can understand me.
- $\Box$  I cannot be understood.
- 8. **Shoulder**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  I have no problem with my shoulder.
- $\square$  My shoulder is stiff but it has not affected my activity or strength.
- $\square$  Pain or weakness in my shoulder has caused me to change my work.
- $\Box$  I cannot work due to problems with my shoulder.
- 9. **Taste**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  I can taste food normally.
- $\Box$  I can taste most foods normally.
- $\Box$  I can taste some foods.
- $\Box$  I cannot taste any foods.
- 10. **Saliva**. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\square$  My saliva is of normal consistency.
- $\Box$  I have less saliva than normal, but it is enough.
- $\Box$  I have too little saliva.
- $\Box$  I have no saliva.
- 11. Mood. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\square$  My mood is excellent and unaffected by my cancer.

- $\square$  My mood is generally good and only occasionally affected by my cancer.
- $\Box$  I am neither in a good mood nor depressed about my cancer.
- $\Box$  I am somewhat depressed about my cancer.
- $\Box$  I am extremely depressed about my cancer.
- 12. Anxiety. (Check one box:  $\Box$ )
- $\Box$  I am not anxious about my cancer.
- $\Box$  I am a little anxious about my cancer.
- $\Box$  I am anxious about my cancer.
- $\Box$  I am very anxious about my cancer.

| Which issues have been the most important to you <u>during the past 7 days?</u> |            |         |  |  |  |  |
|---|------------|---------|--|--|--|--|
| Check $\Box$ up to 3 boxes.   |            |         |  |  |  |  |
| Pain  | Swallowing | Taste   |  |  |  |  |
| Appearance  | Chewing    | Saliva  |  |  |  |  |
| Activity  | □ Speech   | Mood    |  |  |  |  |
| Recreation  | □ Shoulder | Anxiety |  |  |  |  |
|   |            |         |  |  |  |  |

#### GENERAL QUESTIONS

**I.** Compared to the month before you developed cancer, how would you rate your health-related quality of life? (check one box:  $\Box$ )

- $\square$  Much better
- □ Somewhat better
- $\Box$  About the same
- □ Somewhat worse
- □ Much worse

**II.** In general, would you say your **health-related quality of life** <u>during the past 7 days</u> has been: (check one box:  $\Box$ )

- □ Outstanding
- □ Very good
- □ Good
- Fair
- Poor
- □ Very poor

**III.** Overall quality of life includes not only physical and mental health, but also many other factors, such as family, friends, spirituality, or personal leisure activities that are important to your enjoyment of life. Considering everything in your life that contributes to your personal well-being, rate your **overall quality of life** <u>during the past 7 days</u>. (check one box:  $\Box$ )

- □ Outstanding
- □ Very good
- Good
- □ Fair
- Poor
- □ Very poor

**IV.** Please describe any other issues (medical or nonmedical) that are important to your quality of life and have not been adequately addressed by our questions (you may attach additional files if needed and send them by email to the emails provided in the information sheet).



Many thanks for completing this questionnaire. It will be a valuable contribution to our study.

#### One last question:

In the course of the next few weeks, it may be that we would like to contact you by any of the following ways that you feel it is convenient to you (phone, Skype, yahoo messenger, MSN or Paltalk) at any time suitable for you to organise a short interview regarding your experiences of using online support groups. Would you be willing to help us by participating in this interview? Please check.....

T YES

□ <sub>NO</sub>

If you have further comments, please feel free to write them in the space provided below (or by email to the addresses provided on the information sheet).

Thank you for your help

**Appendix 16: Ethical approval for Study 2** 



Of Sheffield.

The

University

Mr Eamar Al Gtewi The School of Clinical Dentistry University of Sheffield 19 Claremont Crescent Sheffield S10 2TA School Of Clinical Dentistry.

University Research Ethics Committee (School of Clinical Dentistry)

Research Ethics Lead - Dr Lynne BingleClaremont CrescentSheffield S10 2TATelephone:+44 (0)114 271 7951Fax:+44 (0)114 271 7894Email:I.bingle@sheffield.ac.uk

5<sup>th</sup> December 2012

#### Full title of study: The role of online support groups for head and neck cancer Reference number: 56

On behalf of the committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research based on the revised supporting documentation. If any further changes are made to these documents the Ethics Committee should be informed and their opinion requested.

With the Committee's best wishes for the success of this project

Yours sincerely

Lynne Bingle Research Ethics Lead



Appendix 17: Scatterplot of Regression Standardised Residuals against Regression Standardised Predicted of each model



-3

-2



0

Regression Standardized Predicted Value

0 0

### Model (2)



### Scatterplot Dependent Variable: Adjustment

0











Scatterplot



### Model (6)



**Appendix 18: Regression plots between the variables in the models.** 

|      | QoL  | Depression   | Adjustment   | Anxiety   | Self-efficacy | Empowerment  |
|------|--|--|--|---|---------------|--|
|      | (Model1 &2)  | (Model 3)  | (Model 4)  | (Model 5)   | (Model 6)     | (Model 7)  |
| TsU  | W10         W10 <th><math display="block"> = \left[ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></th> <th></th> <th><math display="block">\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></th> <th></th> <th>An or a constraint of the second seco</th> | $ = \left[ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ |  | $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ |               | An or a constraint of the second seco |
| *S.N |  |  |  |   |               |  |
| *S.E |  |  | Prove + 1.82   |   |               |  |
| *Anx | 1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000<br>1000   |  | Prove - Lim<br>Prove |   |               |  |
| *Dep |  |  | Wave-1400<br>Weight of the second secon   |   | Prove-Land    |  |



\* S.N= Social Network, S.E= Self-efficacy, Anx= Anxiety, Dep =Depression, Adj= Adjustment, Emp= Empowerment

Appendix 19: Histogram for the residuals of each regression model





















Appendix 20: Normal Propability Plot P-P Plot) of Regression Standardised Residuals of each regression model Model (1)





Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual





Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual





Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual







Model (6)

Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual





Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Appendix 21: Box Plot of Regression standardised residuals of each regression model









I Standardized Residual





Appendix 22: Normal Q-Q Plot of Standardised Residual for each regression model...












Appendix 23: Leverage Value and Cook's Distance labelled by the ID of candidates.

























Appendix 24: Histograms of shape of the distribution for each variable







Anxiety



10-

Empowerment



6.12 Appendix 25: Aide memoir used for the interviews for study 2, Part 2

- 1. How did you find out about the online support group?
- 2. Do you use computers frequently?
- 3. What was your initial feeling about this type of group?
- 4. What influenced you to join the online group?
- 5. What level of participation do you have with the group?
- 6. What do you feel when you contribute to this type of group?
- 7. What does this type of group offer you?
- 8. In what ways do you feel your life has improved as a result of the group?
- 9. What do you think may have happened if you had no contact with the group?
- 10. What do you feel that online support groups offer?